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to be healthy and secure on your own.

, Meaningful connections are what help i, ,

vou be vour best - physically, emotionally,

financially - on your journey through life'

At Cigna, we're creating powerful connections

wlth you and around you - conhections that
:i" ,o3r1 ideas, strengthen partner5hips and i.'

': sustain trust;,Connections,that channel the

best in you, helping you take first steps after

surgeries or final steps over finish lines.
'' r:t . ,1111,,1t ,..,,,, ,, ,],,,

Through meaningful connections, we're_l
:.:: ::.:.. ili , ::rr

joining you together with the people,

programs and services that help you '':

irr,achieve what matters most to your.health, ,'

well-beinq and sense of security.
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consistent success by addressing our customers'
desire for affordable and personalized solutions
which - consistent with Cigna's mission - help
improve their health, well-being and sense of security.

This remained the case in 2014 when, for the fifth
consecutive year, Cigna delivered competitively

attractive financial results to our shareholders.

OUR STRATEGY:

GO DEEP
WiiHlN IARCE i [r.D GEOGRAF'ilES AND 3UYi\G SEGl"iEr.N I S

GO GLOBAL
TO LEViiirGE OUR CAtAelLlTlES lN A EcRDf Ri=SS FASHIc\l

GO INDIVIDUAL
TO EISGAG= AND SSRVE ]Nf \EEDS C- INDiVi}L]ALS

This outstanding track record continues to be

driven by the disciplined execution of our "Go

Deep, Go Global, Go Individual" strategy, as we

continue to invest in new capabilities, personalize

our product and service offerings, and expand

our geographic footprint.



David l"l. cordani
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.'CIGNA WILL DOUBLE THE SIZE OF OUR
BUSINESS IN 7 TO B YEARS."

We also continue to innovate through meaningful

investments ranging from new clinical programs

and aligned customer incentives, to the expanded

use of enabling technologies and programs for

health care professionals.

We believe that Cigna has the right strategy

and growth framework to continue meeting

and exceeding the needs of our customers and

clients - giving us the foundation to achieve our
goals, including:

) Growing revenues by eight to ten percent

in 2015;

) Doubling the size of our business over the

next seven to eight years and;

) Delivering on our long-term Earnings Per

Share objective of 1O to 13 percent compound
growth on an annual basis.

2O14 Performance Highlights; Another Year

of Strong Results

First, let's review Cigna's 2014 financial performance.

Cigna's full-year consolidated revenue increased

by eight percent, to approximately $35 billion.

Adjusted income from operations* was $2 billion,

or $7.43 per share - representing a per-share

increase of nine percent compared with 2013.

Cigna reported shareholders' net income for the

full- year of $2,1 billion.

ln the five years since implementing our "Go Deep,

Go Global, Go Individual" strategy, Cigna has

delivered compound annual growth of 14 percent

for revenues and 14 percent for adjusted income

from operations* on a per share basis.

Further, over the past five years, we have

continued to deliver industry leading medical

cost trend results.

'Adjusted Income from Operations and Adjusted Income from Operations per share are non-GAAP measures used to describe the Company's financial
results Definitlons of Adjusted Income From Operatlons on a consolidaled and segment bas s are contained in l.4anagement's Discussion and Analysis of
Financlal Condilion and Results of Operations (N4D&A) on page 32 and 45, respectively, ot the Form lO-K included in this annual report The MD&A also
includes reconciliations of Adjusted Income from Operations to the most directly comparable GAAP measures
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Business Segment Performance Highlights

Each of Cigna's business segments - Global

Health Care, Global Supplemental Benefits,

and Group Disability and Life - delivered strong
growth in 2014 over the prior year, as we grew

our number of customer relationships to more

than 85 million worldwide.

GLOBAL HEALTH CARE

Cigna's Global Health Care business segment
provides health care, wellness and preventive

solutions to individuals and employers around

the world. In another strong year for this segment,

we grew premiums and fees by seven percent,

to $24.5 billion, reflecting growth in all of our

Global Health Care businesses, including

continued growth in our fast-growing self-funded

and specialty products businesses. We ended

2014with 14.5 million global medical customers,

representing an increase of approximately

38O,OOO customers during the year (excluding

limited benefits customers).

We continue to effectively manage medical

costs that reflect better health outcomes and

strong clinical excellence for our customers and

clients, as a result of our deep, collaborative

relationships with physicians and our focus on

the personalization of care.

For example,in2Ol4 we surpassed our goal of
1OO Collaborative Accountable Care Organization

arrangements with large physician groups, serving

more than 1.4 million customers. Cigna also

introduced a new suite of value-based initiatives,

which we refer to as Cigna Collaborative Care,

to include small physician groups, specialists

and hospitals, all with an eye to improving care

for our customers.

GLOBAL SUPPLEMENTAL BENEFITS

Cigna's Global Supplemental Benefits business

segment, which provides supplemental health,

life and accident insurance in several markets

around the world - including Medicare supplement

coverage in the United States - once again

delivered attractive growth and profitability

for our shareholders, Our highlights included

formally launching our Cigna Health Insurance
joint venture in India, and continued success in

Korea, where we continue to innovate and grow,

serving millions of customers.

Premiums and fees for this segment grew by

14 percent year-over-year, with adjusted income

from operations* of $23O million - reflecting

attractive operating margins, and continued

strategic investments to drive future growth.



GROUP DISABILITY AND LIFE

Our Group Disability and Life business segment -
which provides life, accident and disability insurance,

along with back-to-work programs - delivered

solid results, with premiums and fees increasing

by six percent over 2013, and full-year adjusted

income from operations* of $317 million. These

results reflected favorable claims experience in

Cigna's life insurance business and a lower

operating expense ratio. Cigna continues to be a

leader in group disability product sales, and we

maintain a strong share of the market for group

disability, life and accident solutions as well as for

leave of absence programs such as Family and

Medical Leave Act (FMLA) administration.

Creating a more sustainable health care

environment

We are proud of the results we've generated for

our shareholders as well as for those we serve

around the world.

Market by market, the global environment is

a challenging one for those of us in the health

service sector. lt's far more so for the millions of
individuals trying to manage their health, and the

health of their families, in a way that's effective,

affordable and relevant to their personal needs.

The anxiety and confusion of consumers

surrounding their health care is easy to

understand.

For example, in the United States, health care

costs have grown faster than the economy over the

past three decades, with health care expenditures

on pace to represent $l of every $5 produced by

the United States economy by 2021.

Further, chronic diseases - many of them

preventable with better lifestyle and behavior

choices - represent about 75 percent of United

States health care spending. Chronic diseases are

the leading cause of death and disability in the

United States, accounting for seven out of every

ten deaths each year.

At the same time, there's a significant

"disconnect" between individuals and their

medical costs, with too many people acting

as passive consumers of health care, in large

part because of the difficulty in navigating and

engaging with a high-cost, fragmented system.

Yet, these same consumers of health care are

expected to understand and select from more

choices than ever before.

Ultimately, these individuals want peace of mind.

Fulfilling these needs is a dynamic process, as

customer needs evolve and vary over time due

to life and health stage changes.





It is clear that, as a society, we are long past due

for a reasoned dialogue on health care in the

United States, exploring how employer groups,

government and health care suppliers can work

together to build a sustainable system better
equipped to provide quality, affordable care

over the long term - a system which transcends

its historic focus on sick care and addressing

existing illness, to one more adequately focused

on the preventive care, and lifestyle and behavior

improvements, that help people avoid getting sick

in the first place.

At Cigna, we believe consumers of health care

services deserve more choice, higher quality,

transparency and affordability.

LETTER TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS

No single entity has all of the answers to get us

there. From Cigna's perspective, we believe we

can take major steps toward a sustainable health

care system by increasing the effectiveness of

what we already know is working today and for
which Cigna strongly advocates, including:

) Access to quality medical care through

employer-sponsored plans, a robust

individual market and a variety of safety

nets available to those in need;

) lmproved affordability, which includes

rewarding doctors and hospitals based

on quality outcomes;

) Broadening choice for all purchasers of

health care insurance and services;

Making costs and quality of care as

transparent as possible, and

Engaging individual customers of health

care as important partners.

,.OUR GUIDING FRAMEWORK DRIVES
DIFFERENTIATHD VALUE FOR CUSTOMERS

AND STAKFHOLDERS."
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Society's desire for improvement is evident.

From an employer-group perspective, Cigna sees

our clients increasingly focused on engaging their

workforces to drive improved health outcomes.

To continue doing so, they require choices of

effective and efficient health and productivity

services, including more benefit choices that

are valued by their employees, ranging from

employer-funded base offerings to employee-paid

voluntary benefits; and innovative engagement

tools, including incentive and network programs

that yield superior value from both a quality and

affordability perspective.

Similarly, as government funding of health costs

continues to grow, governments across the globe

are seeking paths to better drive improved quality

and health outcomes at affordable costs - including

high-value based social programs for the neediest

members of the population as well as innovative

programs for the higher risklhigher complexity

populations, such as Medicare/Medicaid dual

eligible individuals in the United States, and the

a9ed, blind and disabled populations.

Finally, health care professionals are seeking new

partnerships that leverage information, incentives

and care resources to help them navigate to a

value-based performance and reimbursement

environment. We're seeing this approach gain

momentum in the United States.

,,CIGNA U/ILL CONTINUE TO GRCW
THROUGH AFFORDABILITY AND PERSONALIZATION""

Affordability and personalization

For Cigna, market needs and expectations are

framed in the context of two strategic imperatives

that guide our approach as we respond to, engage

and interact with our customers: affordability and

the oersonalization of services.

There's an inherent and natural tension involved

in striking the right balance between affordability

and personalization - a balance which Cigna aims

to strike by:

) Understanding our customers'unique needs,

in part by leveraging data analytics and insights;

) Localizing our operations to meet the needs

of a specific market or country;

) Fulfilling our brand promise of helping

individuals in a personally relevant way, and

? Harnessing our breadth of talent - more than

35,OOO team members around the world

Cigna is committed to continuing to participate in,

and play a convening role in prompting constructive

dialogue on how we can best create a sustainable

health care system. At the same time, we will

continue to incorporate these elements in our own

organization, and ensure we are positioned to rise

to these opportunities and challenges.



Converting challenges into growth opportunities

To achieve our growth goals in a disruptive global

environment for health care, Cigna has built a guiding

framework - comprising three main components:

) Leveraging our core capabilities in existing

businesses;

) Effectively deploying capital;

) Pursuing new and emerging opportunities.

Taken together, Cigna believes this framework will

enable us to continue driving differentiated value

for our customers and shareholders over time.

LEVERAGING OUR CORE CAPABILITIES

As part of this first component, we see significant

opportunity to leverage the three pillars of our

"Go Deep, Go Global, Go Individual" strategy, to

focus on markets and segments where we are

well-positioned to continue winning in the market.

Our existing portfolio, along with our focused

execution, will play a significant role in doubling

the size of business over the next seven to eight
years, which will result in an average annual revenue

growth rate of eight to ten percent. Our 2015

outlook is consistent with this goal.

CAPITAL DEPLOYIYENT

Relative to the second part of our framework -
targeted and effective capital deployment - our

oortfolio of businesses continued to contribute

significant free cash flow for shareholders.

Over the past five years, we have effectively

deployed capital through a balance of investments

in our business portfolio, strategic mergers and

acquisitions, and share repurchase. A good, recent

example of this is our agreement to purchase

QualCare Alliance Networks - an acquisition

directly aligned with our Go Deep strategy, and

ou r physician-partnership strategy.

We also have a strong track record of generating

high levels of free cash flow, which provides us

with financial flexibility, and the opportunity to

deploy capital to create additional value for our

shareholders. And given the health of our balance

sheet and underlying capitalization levels of our

subsidiaries, we expect to have $1.8 billion doitars

of capital available for deployment in 20]5.
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NEW AND EMERGING OPPORTUNITIES

The third component of our framework where

we will seek to drive additional value for our

shareholders is through new and emerging

opportunities.

These opportunities include:

) New distribution marketplaces such as

public and private exchanges;

) Geographic expansion, such as new Medicare

Advantage markets in the United States and

expanding international opportunities;

) New buying segments and service

expansions, such as Medical Service

Organization offerings for the benefit

of integrated health care professionals.

Cigna is well-positioned to pursue each of these

potentially attractive future growth opportunities

that are aligned with our strategy. As such, we

have dedicated resources to fuel future exoansion

in these areas.

Conqlusion

Cigna remains confident in the strength of our
product and service portfolio, our financial

flexibility, and our ability to build on our current

markets and segments as well as to create new

opportunities in target geographies.

The proven effectiveness of our "Go Deep, Go

Global, Go Individual" strategy, along with our

framework for longer-term growth, puts us in a

strong position to meet our goals of:

) Growing revenues by eight to ten percent

in 2O15;

) Doubling the size of our business over the

next seven to eight years and

? Delivering on our long-term Earnings Per

Share growth objective of between 1O to 13

percent compound growth on an annual basis.

Our 35,OOO-plus employees around the world

remain committed, day in and day out, to living

Cigna's mission of helping the people we serve

improve their health, well-being and sense of

security. On behalf of our entire organization,

I thank you for your support of Cigna.

1fl-';/,4 H-
David M. Cordani

President and

Chief Executive Off icer

Cigna Corporation
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Cigna uses its d*ep insrghts to ccnnect custorners

Keeping our promise

Evidence of how we provide affordability and

personalization can be found in the United States

and around the world. For example, during the

2014fall benefits enrollment period, millions of
United States Cigna customers were introduced

to Cigna Health Matters", a way to make health

management more interesting by combining our

health coaches, mobile applications, social media

and games to help customers and their families

evaluate their health, find tools to improve their

health, track their progress and earn rewards.

Additionally, Cigna and Samsung teamed up to

create a digital health coaching tool that fits in

the palm of customers' hands. "Coach by Cigna"

is available at no additional charge to Samsung

Galaxy S'5 smartphone and Noteo4 users around

the globe. This app helps customers collect and

evaluate their health and wellness progress,

create a personalized lifestyle improvement

program, and ultimately achieve their health

and wellness goals.

Another example of how we live the brand

promise is through the work of Cigna-

HealthSpring', which serves our Medicare

and Medicaid customers. After a successful

pilot in Tennessee, we're expanding our heart

with innovative, personalized prcducts, programs
anCI servrces.

ln2014, Cigna launched a new brand campaign

with a promise to customers to work together

with them to lead healthier, more secure lives.

Our brand promise, Together, all the way." is

based on insights rooted in research and

experience, which tell us that customers want

us to work as their partners. When it comes to

staying well - physically, financially, emotionally -
we're with our customers all the way.

Affordability and personalizatisn

Affordability and personalization are central to

our brand promise. Affordability means helping

customers find the right care, at the right price.

Affordability also compels us to help customers

get the most value from their benefit plans - and

to help them lower their costs as their health

improves. One important way we do this is

through maximizing the relationship between our

customers and health care professionals to help

customers get quality, cost-effective care,

Personallzation means we use the insights we've
gleaned from customers to segment individuals

into groups with common needs. This allows us

to deliver personally relevant products and services

to each group of customers.



failure remote patient monitoring program in

collaboration with Intel-GE Care Innovations'u.

Patients with a prior admission to the hospital

for heart failure receive a tablet to assess their

health for at least 90 days. The tablet helps

customers interact with a Cigna-HealthSpring'

nurse practitioner, track their health metrics and

learn how to manage their condition at home.

Customers know they have easy and direct access

to someone who cares about them and their health.

Further demonstrating our understanding of

customers, Cigna led an effort to replace the

lnternational Symbol of Access - the iconic

"wheelchair" symbol, created in 1969 - with a

new icon. Led by Cigna's People With Different

Abilities Colleague Resource Group, a support

and networking group within Cigna, the new

image shows a more active figure that emphasizes

ability rather than disability. The icon serves

as affirmation of our commitment to help our

customers achieve their full potential both inside

and outside of the workplace. Through Cigna's

efforts, Phoenix, AZ became the latest city to

approve the new symbol for use in business

parking areas.

Cigna's new brand
expression, To gether, all
the way.* focuses on being
a partner to our customers.

Hazel, a customer with
Cigna-HealthSpring',
stays active through
ballroom dancing.

Cigna helped to create a

new handicapped parking
icon focused on ability
rather than disability.

ln !nternational ma rkets

In China, the first-ever Cigna and CMB Home

Shopping Channel aired recently on Jia You-

Hyundai Home Shopping Channel, and replicated

the success we've had in distributing direct-to-

consumer products in Korea. In Turkey, as part

of our joint venture with Finansbank, a leading

Turkish bank, Cigna Finans Pension and Insurance

Advisors are available in banks to help educate

customers and encourage them to consider

their future needs.

In India, Cigna TTK is developing prevention

and wellness programs for a country with diverse

needs and an explosive growth in the rates of

chronic disease, where 60 million people struggle

with diabetes. And in Korea, where more than

33 percent of the Korean population is over 50
years old, Cigna Korea launched "Heyday," the

first health care membership program in Korea.

Through Heyday, seniors enjoy various health

and wellness programs and services with no

membership fee.

Wherever Cigna customers are, we're showing

that we listen and we care, connecting them to

the people, products and programs that help

them improve their health, well-bein9 and sense

of security,



fnspired by the work of others, the Cigna
Foundaticn is connectinE wiih ncnprofrt partners
to wcrk together to create a healthier more
secure world,

FINDING INSPIRATION

ln2014, the Cigna Foundation created a new

grant-making platform focused on impact

investing - moving beyond financial support
to creating strong partnerships with nonprofits.

The partnerships also mean involving Cigna

employees to share their skills and talents with

the community.

This approach to grants brought the Cigna

Foundation together with change agents far and

wide. Arogya World, for example, is a nonprofit
partner in engaging people in India to improve

their health. With the Cigna Foundation's support,

Arogya is creating a mobile app that will house

heart and kidney disease education, awareness

and prevention information. The mobile app will be

distributed to India's workforce through employers.

In New York, with the help of the Cigna

Foundation, the New York Botanical Garden

is conducting world-class research to improve

health outcomes for Latino and Caribbean

populations living in New York City through a

new discipline known as urban ethnobotany.

This program is teaching health professionals

how to understand and communicate with their
patients who use plant-based remedies. We

expect this research will be of importance to
the medical community around the world.

In the northeast neighborhood of Hartford, CT,

the Cigna Foundation's work with Community

Solutions is designed to turn around the health

of a neighborhood ravaged by poverty, in an

area where life expectancy is 10 years lower

than in other surrounding neighborhoods. This

work involves looking at the root causes of high

emergency room use by residents, as well as how

home visits and better housing and employment

options can improve health.

Additionally in 2014, Cigna employees organized

the company's largest-ever volunteer effort, with
'l,OOO Connecticut employees packing 25O,OOO

meals for Feeding Children Everywhere. The

meals were delivered to needy children in Kenya.

All of this work expresses the Cigna Foundation's

passion for removing the barriers people face in

their daily lives so that everyone has a chance to

achieve their best health.
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1 Samahope raises funds
to help the needy get
life-saving surgeries
around the world

2 The New York Botanical
Garden helps doctors
understand their
hrtiant<' 

' 
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based remedies.

3 Cigna employees in
Hartford, CT run for
the March of Dimes'

4 Community Solutions
improves health and
wellness in a Hartford
neighborhood

5 Achilles studies the
impact of running
to help children
with autism

6 Giris on the Run helps
girls learn to be healthy
and self-confident

7 Arogya World helps
prevent chronic disease
in India through mobile
pnone messages

8 Children in tVemphis,
TN receive food for
the weekends through
Blessings in a Backpack

9 Stylists with the
University of Maryland
HAIR program teach
clients about the
im^^rtrn.d af eaneor

prevention
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Cigna ccnnections make an irnpact worldwiCe,

Research with customers

Our studies with customers tell a similar story of

lowering costs and improving health. For example,

Cigna research shows that a single phone call

from a nurse to high-risk heart and respiratory

patients, after they've been discharged from the

hospital, can reduce future readmissions by 22

percent. This is significant from a cost perspective,

as readmissions represent 30 percent of total

inpatient costs.

Cigna also monitored the health outcomes of

customers with hepatitis C who have undergone

treatment using Sovaldio as part of a combination

prescription therapy, and found that 91 percent

of our customers were cured after completing

treatment.

And for the eighth year in a row, a Cigna Choice

Fund'study demonstrated that an account-

based approach - in which customers use

savings and reimbursement accounts in higher

deductible plans - is helping millions of customers

reduce their health care expenses without

compromising their care. When compared with

customers in other types of health plans, our

Choice Fund customers are more likely to use

health improvement programs, comply with

evidence-based medicine best practices, and

We strive tc be a positive force for change in the
lives of custorners, clients and communittes.

The imoact we have on those we serve can be

life-changing, and is measured in statistics as

well as by the individual stories from our

customers and clients.

,A proven difference

Within Cigna, for example, 94 percent of

employees and families are tobacco-free, and

nearly 70 percent of employees and families

report they're at a healthy weight.

Through our collaboration with physiclans and

other health care professionals, we're improving

health care costs and quality. Among our 23 Cigna

Collaborative Care arrangements with two or

more years of experience, 91 percent are having

success controlling total medical costs, while

78 percent are having success with improving the

quality of health care - and 74 percent are having

success with both total medical costs and quality.
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access information on quality and cost, resulting

in improved health risk profiles and lower total

medical expenses. For example, Choice Fund

customers used the emergency room at a five
percent lower rate than individuals enrolled in

HMO and PPO plans.

Choice Fund products provide tools and

information accessible online and via mobile

devices to empower customers to make cost-

conscious decisions about their health and

health spending.

Personal stories and recognition

Around the world, our individual stories are

compelling. For example, we helped a family who

moved from the United States to Sweden, whose

five-year-old needed her anti-seizure medicine.

The family hadn't yet become a part of Sweden's

health care system. A Cigna nurse case manager

took charge and made sure that the child received

the medicine she needed. Another example is the

businessman who suffered from chronic kidney

failure, whose job required him to travel around

the world. His Cigna nurse case manager stepped

up and arranged his dialysis for him wherever he

was in the world.

We're proud of this level of service to customers,

which led to a 2014 International Employee

Benefits Provider of the Year award, given

to Cigna Global Health Benefits'for overall

excellence by the Expatriate Management and

Mobility Awards. This is the third time in four
years that Cigna has won the recognition.





Committed to corporate responsibility and

the environment

Our success depends on earning trust through

responsible business practices, corporate

citizenship and service that meets our customers'

needs, all through a unique approach to

corporate responsibility called Cigna Connects.

ln2Q14, Cigna took its commitment to

corporate responsibility (CR) to the next level

by issuing the 2013 Cigna Connects Corporate

Responsibility Report, available online at Cigna,

com,/CorporateResponsibility. Cigna's fi rst CR

report provides a detailed look at the company's

environmental, social and governance policies

and priorities, and explores how they support the

company's core businesses and benefit Cigna

stakeholders and society. The report provides

relevant facts, figures and stories about CR

initiatives at Cigna, including the company's

new 2017 environmental targets: a nine percent

reduction in greenhouse gas emissions, a nine

percent reduction in energy use, and a three

percent reduction in water consumption.

MAKING AN IMPACT

Additionally, representative of our continuous

improvement, Cigna's score on the 2014 CDP

Climate Change Information Request improved

from a disclosure score of 59/1OO in 2013 to

86/100, and our performance band moved

from C to B.

Through Cigna Connects, the company aims

to serve as a catalyst for change and a convener

of stakeholders in the more than 30 countries

in which we operate. With more than 35,OOO

colleagues, we're united by the goal of building a

better world for today and for future generations.



CIGNA IN PERSPECTIVE

Cigna is a global health service leader that
provrdes meCical, dental, disabllity, life and
accident insurance, and related products and
services to customers in the United States
onC arcund the globe.

Global Hea|th Care

Global Health Care includes a commercial line

of business encompassing United States and

i nternational operations. Commercial offers a

broad line of insured and self-insured medical,

dental, behavioral health, vision, prescription drug

benefit plans, health coaching programs and other
products and services that may be integrated to
provide comprehensive global health care benefit
programs to employers and their employees,

including globally mobile individuals.

Global Health Care also includes a government

line of business that offers Medicare Advantage,

Medicare Part D and Medicaid olans for Medicare

or Medicaid-eligible individuals, primarily seniors.

A significant portion of our Medicare Advantage

customers are served by physicians in innovative
plan models designed to improve health outcomes

and lower medical costs. Cigna offers Medicare

Advantage plans in l6 states and the District of
Columbia, Medicare Part D plans in all 50 states

and the District of Columbia, and Medicaid plans

in select markets in Texas and lllinois. In 2015, we

expect to expand Medicaid operations.

Global Supplernental Fenefits

Global Supplemental Benefits offers supplemental

health, life and accident insurance products in

select international markets and the United States.

With licenses and partnerships across Asia-Pacific,

Europe and North America, Cigna offers products

and services to local citizens and globally mobile

individuals. Global Supplemental Benefits also

offers Medicare supplement coverage.

Group Disability and Life

Group Disability and Life provides insurance

products and related services for group long-

and short-term disability insurance, group life

insurance, and accident and specialty insurance.

Cigna markets products in all 50 states, the

District of Columbia, Puerto Rico, the United

States Virgin lslands and Canada. Group disability
programs are designed to help improve employee

productivity and lower employers' overall absence

costs. Products are coupled with comprehensive

tools and services for easy benefit management.
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CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FOR\TARD.
LOOKING STATEMENTS
This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of
1995. Forward-looking statements are based on Cignat current expectations and projections about future trends, events and uncertainties. These

statements are not historical facts. ForwardJooking statements may include, among orhers, statements concerning our business strategy, strategic

or operational initiatives, including our abiliry to deliver improved heaith services outcomes and productiviry for our customers and clients while
lowering the costs of health care; future growth and expansion; future financial or operating performance; economic, regulatory or competitive

environments; and our projected cash position, future pension funding and financing or capital deployment plans. You may identifr forward-

looking statements by the use of words such as "believe," "expect," "plan," "intend," "anticipate," "estimate,"'ptedict," "potential," "may,"
'thould," "will" or other words or expressions of similar meaning, although not all forward-looking statements contain such terms.

Forward-looking statements are subject to risks and uncertainties, both known and unknown, that could cause actual results to differ materially

from those expressed or implied in forward-looking statements. Such risks and uncertainties include, but are not limited to: our abiliry to achieve

our financial, strategic and operational plans or initiatives; our abiliry to predict and manage medical costs and price effectively and develop and

maintain good relationships with physicians, hospitals and other health care providers; our abilicy to identif, potential strategic acquisitions or
transactions or realize che expected benefits ofsuch strategic transactions; the subsrantial level ofgovernment regulation over our business and the

potential effects ofnew laws or regulations or changes in existing laws or regulations; the outcome oflitigation, regulatory audits, investigations

and actions and/or guaranry firnd assessments; uncertainties surrounding participation in government-sponsored programs such as Medicare; and

unfavorable industry, economic or political conditions, as well as more specific risks and uncertainties discussed in Part I, Item lA - Risk Factors

and Part II, Item 7 - Managementt Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations of this Form 10-K and as

described from time to time in our future reports filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission. You should not place undue reliance on
forwardlooking statements, which speak only as of the date they are made, are not guarantees of furure performance or results, and are subject to
risks, uncertainties and assumptions that are difficult to predict or quanti0r. Cigna undertakes no obligation to update or revise any forward-

looking statement, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, excepr as may be required by law.
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ITEM 1. Business

Overview

Cigna Corporation, together with its subsidiaries (either individually
or collectively referred to as "Cigna," the "Company," "we," "our" or
"us") is a globa.l health services organization dedicated to a mission of
helping individuals improve their health, well-being and sense of
security. To execute on our mission, Cignat strategy is to "Go Deep",
"Go Global" and "Go Individual" with a differentiated set of medical,

dental, disabiliry, life and accident insurance and related products and

services offered by our subsidiaries. \We:

. GO DEEP by targeting key segments and geographies;

. GO GLOBAL with solutions that leverage our capabilities in a

borderless environment; and

. GO INDMDUAL to better understand and satisfy the holistic
needs of each person we serve.

In an increasingly retail oriented marketplace, we deliver affordable
and personalized products and services to customers through
employer-based, government-sponsored and individual coverage

arrangements. 'We increasingly collaborate with health care providers
'S?'e present the financial results of our businesses in the following three

to transition from volume-based fee for service arrangements toward a

more value-based system designed to increase qualiry of care, lower

costs and improve health outcomes. Ve operate a customer-centric

organization enabled by keen insights regarding customer needs,

localized decision-making and talented professionals committed to
bringing our "Together All the \flay' brand promise to life.

fu of Decembe r 31, 2014, our consolidated shareholders' equity was

$10.8 billion, assets were $55.9 billion and we reported revenues of
$34.9 billion for 2014. Our revenues are derived principally from
premiums on insured products, fees from self-insured products and

services, mail-order pharmacy sales and investment income.

As explained in Note 22 to the Consolidated Financial Statements,

effective with the first quarter of 20\4, we began combining the

results of our run-off reinsurance business with other immaterial

operating segments in Other Operations for segment reporting

purposes. Prior year segment information has been conformed to the

current year presentation.

reportable segmen$:

Global Health Care Aggregates the Commercial and Government operating segments:

Commercial
Encomoasses both our U.S. commercial and certain international health care businesses.

Sewes imployers and their employees, including globally mobile individuals, and other
groups (e.g., governmental and non-governmental organizations, unions and associations).
In addition, our U.S. commercial health care business also serves individuals.
Offers our insured and self-insured customers medical, dental, behavioral health, vision,
and prescription drug benefit plans, health advocacy proBrams and other products and
services that may be integrated as part of a comprehensive globa.l health care benefit

Program.

Gouernment
. Offers Medicare Advantage, Medicare Part D and Medicaid plans.

Offers supplemental health, liFe and accident insurance products in selected international markets
and the U.S.

Provides group long-term and short-term disabiliry group life, accident and specialty insurance

CIGNA CORPORAIION - 2014 Form 10-K I
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\W'e present the remainder of our segment results in Other Operatiozs, consisting of the corporate-owned life insurance business ('COLI),
run-offreinsurance and settlement annuiry businesses and deferred gains associated with the sales ofthe individual life insurance and annuiry and

retirement benefits businesses.

Key tansactions

Over the past three years, we have entered into a number of
transactions that are helping us to achieve our strategic goals by:

(1) repositioning the portfolio for growth in targeted geographies,

product lines, buying segments and distribution channels;

(2) improving our strategic and financial flexibiliry; and (3) pursuing

additional opportunities in high growth markets with particular focus

on individuals. Specifi cally:

. In June 2073, we entered into a ten-year pharmacy benefit

management services agreement with Catamaran Corporation
("Catamaran'). Under this agreement, we utilize Catamararis

technolory and service platforms, retail necwork contracting and

claims processing services.

. In February 2013, we effectively exited our Run-off guaranteed

minimum death benefit ("GMDB" also known as "VADBe") and

guaranteed minimum income benefit ("GMIB") reinsurance

businesses by entering into an agreement with Berkshire Hathaway

Life Insurance Company of Nebraska ("Berkshire") to reinsure

l00o/o of our future exposures for these businesses, net of
retrocessional arrangements in place as ofFebruary 4,2013, up to a

specified limit.

.Ln2012, we entered into three strategically significant transactions

targeting several key markets: seniors, individual and global

supplemencal benefits:

' lWe acquired HealthSpring, a Medicare Advantage provider, to
assist us in serving individuals across their life stages and deepen

our presence in a number of geographic markets. This acquisition

brought us industryJeading physician partnership capabilities,

deepened our existing client and customer relationships, and

facilirated a broader deployment of our range of health and

wellness capabilities and product offerings.

. \7e acquired Great American Supplemental Benefits to both
strengthen our capabilities in the individual market and facilitate

our expansion into the Medicare supplement business.

. \7e entered into a joint venture with Finansbank to expand our

global fooryrint in Tirrkey.

Global Health Care

Health Care Reform

The Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act and the Health Care

and Education Reconciliation Act (collectively referred to throughout
this Form l0-K as "Health Care Reforrn' or "PPACA') continues to

have a significant impact on our business operations. The effects of
Health Care Reform are discussed throughout this Form l0-K where

appropriate, including in the Global Health Care business

description, Regulation, fusk Factors, Management's Discussion and

Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, and the

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Other Information

The financial information included in this Annual Report on

Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended Decem\er 31, 2014
("Form l0-K") is in conformity with accounting principles generally

accepted in the United States of America ("GAAP"), unless otherwise

indicated. Industry rankings and percentages set forth herein are for

the year ended December 31, 2014 unless otherwise indicated. In
addition, statements set forth in this document concerning our rank
or position in an industry or particular line of business have been

developed internally, based on publicly available information, unless

otherwise noted.

Cigna Corporation was incorporated in Delaware in 1981. Our
annual, quarterly and current reports, proxy statements and other

filings, and any amendments to these filings, are made available free of
charge on our website (http://www.cigna.com, under the "Investors -
Quarterly Reports and SEC Filings" captions) as soon as reasonably

practicable after we electronically file these materials with, or furnish
them to, the Securities and Exchange Commission Ghe "SEC"). Ve
use our website as a channel of distribution for material company

information. Important information, including news releases, analyst

presentations and financial information regarding Cigna is roudnely

posted on and accessible at www.cigna.com. See "Code of Ethics and

Other Corporate Governance Disclosures" in Part III, Item 10

beginning on page 117 oF this Form 10-K for additional available

information.

The Global Health Care segmenc constitutes approximately 80o/o of
our revenues and aggregates the Commercial and Government

operating segments due to their similar economic characteristics,

products and services and regulatory environment. \(e seek to
differentiate ourselves through deep customer insights, resulting in
personalized solutions and service, and high qualiry physician

partnerships to optimize quality and affordabiliry of care for our

customers and clients. rVe expect to accomplish these goals, in part, by

2 CIGNA CORPORAIION - 2014 Form I}-K

targeting selected geographies and market segments and by

accelerating our engagement with employers and individuals. The
health care delivery system is moving away from a volume-based

reimbursement system to a value orientation. \(e are actively driving
this' volume-to-value" transition through our continued partnership

with preferred health care professionals and our internal investment in
people, process and technology.



Our Commercial operating segment encompasses both our U.S.

commercial and certain international health care businesses serving

employers and their employees, including globally mobile individuals,

and other groups (e.g., governmentd and non-governmental

organizations, unions and associations). In addition, our U.S.

commercial health care business also serves individuals through our

product offerings both on and off the public health insurance

exchanges. Through this segment, we offer our insured and

self-insured customers medical, dental, behavioral health, vision, and

prescription drug benefit plans, health advocacy programs and other
products and services that may be integrated as part of a

comprehensive global health care benefit program. Our Government

operating segment offers Medicare Advantage, Medicare Part D and

Medicaid plans.

Principal Products and Services

Commercial Medicnl Heahh Phns - U,S. and
International

The Commercial operating segment, either directly or through its

partners, offers some or all of its products in all 50 stares, the District
of Columbia, the U.S. Virgin Islands, Canada, Europe, the Middle
East, and Asia. We offer a variery of medical plans including:

. Managed Care Plans includ.ing Networh, Networh Open Acces and
Open Acces Plus. We offer a product line of Health Maintenance

Approximately 90olo of our commercial medical customers are in funding arrangements where lower medical costs directly benefit our corporare
clients and employees who share in the cost of their coverage. The funding arrangements available for our commercial medical and denral health
plans are as follows:
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Organization ('HMO") and indemnity managed care benefit plans

that use meaningful cost-sharing incentives to encourage the use of
"in-networli' versus "out-of-networli' health care providers and
provide the option to select a primary care physician. The national

provider network for Managed Care Plans is somewhat smaller than

the national network used with the preferred provider ("PPO") plan
product line. Generally, customers may use non-participating health

care professionals, but the customers' cost-sharing obligation is

usually greater for out-of-network care.

. PPO Planl Our PPO product line features a network with broader

provider access than the Managed Care Plans. The preferred
provider product line may be at a higher medical cost than our
Managed Care Plans.

. Choice FunS Suite of Consamer-Driuen Products. Our medical

plans are often integrated with the Cigna Choice Fund suite of
products, including Health Reimbursement Accounts ("HRA"),

Health Savings Accounts ('HSA) and Flexible Spending Accounts
("FSA') that are designed to encourage cusromers to play an acrive

role in understanding and managing their health and associated

expenses. Customers can use these accounts to finance eligible
health care expenses and other approved services. In mosr cases,

these products are combined with a high deductible medical plan.
'We continue to experience strong growth in these products and they

represent a rapidly growing percentage of our overall medical

Administrative Services

Only ("ASO" or
"self-insured")

82o/o . ASO plan sponsors are responsible for self-funding all claims, but may purchase srop loss

insurance to limit exposure for claims in excess of a predetermined amount.
. V'e collect fees from plan sponsors for providing access to our parricipating provider nefwork

and for other services and programs including: claims administrarion; behavioral health; disease

management; utilization management; cost conrainment; dental; and pharmacy benefit

management.
. In some casesr we provide performance guarantees associated with meeting cerrain service

standards, clinical ourcomes or financial merrics.

Insured - Experience
Rated

60/o Premium charged during the policy period ("initial premium') may be adjusred following rhe

policy period for actual claim, and in some cases, administrative cost experience of rhe

policyholder.
lWhen claims and expenses are less than the initial premium charged (an "experience surplus"),

rhe poliryholder may be retrospectively credired for a porrion of this premium.
However, iFclaims and expenses exceed the inirial premium (an "experience deficii'), we

generally bear the risk. In certain cases, experience deficits may be recovered through future year

experience surpluses if rhe policyholder renews.

Insured - Gurumteed
Cost

l2o/o . We establish the cost to the policyholder at the beginning of a policy period and generally

cannot subsequently adjust premiums to reflect actual claim experience until the next annual

renewat.
. Employers and other groups with guaranreed cost policies are generally smaller rhan rhose with

experience-rated group policia; accordingly, our claim md expense assurnpdons may be based

in whole or in part on prior experience ofrhe poliryholder or on a pool ofpolicyholders,
depending on the policyholdert size and the statistical credibiliry of their experience.

. HMO and individual plans (medical and dental) are offered on a guaranreed cost basis only.

CIGNA CORPOMIION - 2014 Form 10-K 3
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Ve offer stop loss insurance coverage for ASO plans that provides

reimbursement for claims in excess of a predetermined amount for
individuals ("specific"), the entire group ("aggregate"), or both. Our
experience rated group medical insurance policies include funding
options similar to stop loss coverage.

In most states, individual and group insurance premium rates must be

approved by the applicable state regulatory 
^genq 

(rypically

department of insurance) and state laws may restrict or limit the use of
rating methods. Premium rates for groups and individuals are subject

ro stare review for reasonableness. In addition, Health Care Reform

subjects individual and small group policy rate increases above an

identified threshold to review by the United States Department of
Health and Human Services ('HHS) and requires payment of
premium refunds on individual and group medical insurance

products if minimum medical loss ratio (.'MLR) requirements are

not met. In our individual business, premiums may also be adjusted as

a result of the government risk mitigation programs. The MLR
represents the percentage of premiums used to pay medical claims and

expenses for activities that improve the quality of care. See the
"Regulation ' section of this Form l 0-K for additional information on

the commercial MLR requirements and the risk mitigation programs

of Health Care Reform.

Gouernment Heahh Pkns

Medicare Advantage
'\(/'e offer Medicare Advantage plans in 16 states and the District of
Columbia through our Cigna-HealthSpring brand. Under a Medicare

Advantage plan, Medicare-eligible beneficiaries may receive hedth
care benefits, including prescription drugs, through a managed care

health plan such as our coordinated care plans. A significant portion
of our Medicare Advancage customers receive medical care from our
innovative plan models that focus on developing highly engaged

physician neworks, aligning payment incentives to improved health

outcomes, and using timely and transparent data sharing. Ve are

focused on continuing to expand these models in the fuure.

'W'e receive revenue from the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid
Services ("CMS) for each plan customer based on customer

demographic data and actual customer health risk factors compared to
the broader Medicare population. Ve also may earn additional
revenue from CMS related to quality performance measures (known

as "Medicare Stars"). Additional premiums may be received from
customers, representing the difference berween CMS subsidy

payments and the revenue determined as part of our annual Medicare

Advantage bid submissions. Beginning in 2014, Health Care Reform

requires Medicare Advantage and Medicare Part D plans to meet a

minimum MLR of 85%. If the MLR for a CMS contract is less than

85o/o,we are required to pay a rebate to CMS and could be subject to
additional sanctions if the MLR continues to be less than 85%o for
successlve yeats.

Medicare Part D

Our Medicare Part D prescription drug program provides a number of
plan options, as well as service and information support to Medicare
and Medicaid eligible customers. Our plans are available in all 50
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states and the District of Columbia and offer the savings of Medicare

combined with the flexibility to provide enhanced benefits and a drug
list tailored to individuals'specific needs. Retirees benefit from broad

nerwork access and value-added services intended to help keep them

well and save them money.

Medicaid

'We offer Medicaid coverage to low income individuals in selected

markets in Texas and Illinois. Our Medicaid customers benefit from
many of the coordinated care aspects of our Medicare Advantage

programs. Ve expect to further expand our Medicaid operations

during 2015 under existing contracts.

Speciahy Produc*

Our specidty products and services described below are designed to
improve the qualiry of and lower the cost of medical services and help

customers achieve better health outcomes. The vast majority of these

products can be sold on a standalone basis, but we believe they are

most effective when integrated with a Cigna-administered health

plan. Our specialry products are focused in the areas of medical,

behavioral, pharmacy management, dental and vision.

Medical Specialty

. Cost-Containment Seruice.Y/e administer cost-containment

programs on behalf of our clients and customers for health care

services and supplies that are covered under hedth benefit plans.

These programs may involve vendors who perform activities

designed to control health costs by reducing out-of-network
utilization, including educating customers regarding the availabiliry

of lower cost, in-network services, reviewing provider bills, and

recovering overpayments from other payers or health care providers.
'W'e 

charge fees For providing or arranging for these services.

. Heahh Aduocdcy. We offer a wide array of medical management,

disease management, and other health advocacy services to
employers and other plan sponsors to help individuals improve their
health, well-being and sense of securiry. These services are offered to
customers covered under plans that we administer, as well as plans

insured or administered by competing insurers or third-parry
administrators. Our health advocacy programs and services include

early intervention in the treatment of chronic conditions. We also

offer online tools and software to help customers manage their
health and an array ofhealth coaching programs designed to address

lifatyle management issues such as stress, weight, and tobacco

cessation.

Behavioral Health
'We arrange for behavioral health care services for customers through

our network ofapproximately 89,000 participating behavioral health

care professionals and 1 1,400 facilities and clinics. 'We offer behavioral

health care case management services, employee assistance programs

("EAP"), and work/life programs to employers, governmenr entities

and other groups sponsoring health benefit plans. 'We focus on

integrating our programs and services with medical, pharmary and

disabiliry programs to facilitate customized, holistic care.



Pharmacy Management
'\?'e offer prescription drug plans to our commercial and governmenr
(Medicare/Medicaid) customers both in conjunction with our
medical products and on a stand-alone basis..\fith a necwork ofover

74,000 pharmacies, Cigna Pharmacy Management is a comprehensive

pharmacy benefits manager (.'PBM") offering clinical inregration

programs and specialry pharmacy solutions. Ve also offer high

qualiry efficient, and cost-effective mail order, telephone and on-line
pharmaceutical fulfillment services through our home delivery

oPerauon.

Our medical and pharmacy coverage can meet the needs of customers

with complex medical conditions requiring specialty pharmaceuticals.

These rypes of medications are covered under both pharmacy and

medical benefits and can be expensive, often requiring associated lab

work and administration by a health care professional. Therefore,

coordination is critical in improving affordabiliry and outcomes.

Clients with Cigna-administered medical and pharmacy coverage

benefit from continuiry of care, integrated reporting, and aggressive

unit cost discounts on all specialry drugs.

Dental
'W'e offer a variety of dental care products including dental health

maintenance organization plans ("Dental HMO) in 37 states, dental

preferred provider organization ("Dental PPO") plans in 48 states and

the District of Columbia, exclusive dental provider organization

plans, traditional dental indemniry plans and a dental discount

program. Employers and other groups qm purchase our products as

stand-alone products or integrated with medical products.

Additionally, individual custome$ can purchase Dental PPO plans in
conjunction with individual medical policies.

As of December 31, 2014, our dental customers totaled
approximately 12.9 million, most of whom are in self-insured plans.

Our customers access care from one of the largest Dentd PPO

neworks and Dental HMO networla in the U.S., with approximately
134,000 Denml PPO health care professionals and 20,000 Dental
HMO health care professionals.

Vision

Cigna Vision offers flexible, cost-effective PPO coverage that includes

a range of both in and out-of-network benefits for routine vision

services offered in conjunction with our medical and dental product
offerings. Our national vision care network, consisring of
approximately 69,700 health care providers in over 24,800 locations,

includes private practice ophthalmologist and optometrist offices, as

well as retail eye care centers.

Service and Quality
Customer Seruice

For U.S.-based customers, we operate 18 service centers that together

processed approximately 158 million medical claims in 2014. As oF

December 31,2014, we operated l5 call centers, and provide service

to customers 24 hours a day,365 days a year.

PART I
ITEM ]. Business

In our international health care business, we have a service model
dedicated to the unique needs of our L3 million customers around
the world. '!?'e 

service them from 8 service cent€rs that are available

24 hours a day, 365 days a year.

Tbchnology

Technology continues to play a significant role in the execution ofour
Go Deep, Go Global, Go Individual strategy. Our information
technology (lT) investments and priorities are focused on building a

rerail-centric IT infrastructure and developing innovative business

capabilities that support affordable health solutions and create a

personalized customer experience. \7e continue to leverage

technology, information and analltics globally to engage our
customers in more meaningful, relevant and customized methods,

guided by their needs, preferences, likes and interests. Our
investments in digital, mobile, gamification, social media and big data

enable us to create solutions that improve health and wellness. Vith
increased engagement across the health care ecosystem, we believe that
cechnology can significantly upgrade the customer experience and

improve care delivery through collaboration with delivery systems,

enabling rhe rransition from a volume based fee-for-service system to a

value based healrh care marketplace. \(hile focusing on innovation,

we will remain focused on the delivery of strong foundational IT
capabilities including optimization and resilience of the core

infrastructure; building appropriate business continuity and disaster

recovery capabilides; and developing layered information protection

and srrengthened cybersecuriry solutions. We will also continue to
seek opporrunities to expand rhe role technology plays in delivering

value ro our customers and partners.

ar"hry Medical Care

Our commitment to promoting qualiry medical care to the people we

serve is reflected in a variety of activities.

Health Improvement through Delivery System

Engagement

Cigna is committed to developing innovative solutions that span the

delivery system. 'We are focused on executing our connected care

strategy thar engages providers and customers to achieve affordability
and access at the local market level. 'We continue to increase our
engagement with physicians and hospitals by rapidly developing the
rypes of arrangements discussed below. More than one million
medical customers are currenrly serviced by more than 48,000 health

care providers in these cypes of arrangements.

. Colttboratiae Accotmtabb C.are Orgadzations (*CAG"). Yle
increasingly collaborate with physicians and other health care

professionals and facilities to improve the qualiry ofcare and patient

satisfaction while lowering medical costs, resulting in improved

overall value. This collaboration is illustrated by our 114 CAC
arrangements, spanning 28 states and reaching 1.2 million
customers and by our commitment to continue increasing the

number oF CACs over the next several years. Our goal is to reach

135 of these programs in 2015.
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'We continue to grow Cignat National Hospital Qualiry Incentive

Program with compensation to 195 hospitals tied to qualiry metrics

and we expect to add an additional 100 hospitals over the next two
years. Additionally, we continue to develop our arrangements with
specialists through innovative programs such as National Ob/Gyn
and our episode-of-care program focused on deliveries along with
hip and knee replacements.

Our Patient Care Collaboration program will put the small

physician practice first by providing them with key actionable

patient information to improve outcomes in a way that fits their
practice needs. The program is newly developed and we anticipate

piloting with select physicians in a few markets in 2015.

. Delhtery System Alliancas. W'e are now forming alliances with
hospitals and hospital systems that will provide access to quality,

value-based care in local communiries.

. Ind4mdent hactiee Associations - Cigna-HeahbSpn'zg. !tr7ith the

innovative physician engagement models in our Cigna-

HealthSpring business, we utilize a variery of business arrangements

that shift the physiciant reimbursement from the traditional
fee-for-service model to one that is focused on rewarding qualiry
medical outcomes and an enhanced parient experience at a lower

cost. In these arrangements, the physician groups share financial

outcomes with us. The Cigna-HealthSpring clinical model also

includes outreach to new and at-risk patients to ensure they are

accessing their primary care physician.

Participating Provider Network
'We provide our customers with an extensive network of participating
health care professionals, hospitals, and other facilities, pharmacies

and providers of health care services and supplies. In most instances,

we contract with them directly; however, in some instances, we

contract with chird parties for access to their provider newvorks and

care management services. In addidon, we have entered into strategic

alliances with several regional managed care organizations (e.g., Tirfts

Health Plan, HealthPartners, Inc., Health Alliance Plan, and MVP
Health Plan) to gain access to their provider networks and discounts.

'We credential physicians, hospitals and other health care professionals

in our participating provider networks using qualiry criteria that meet

or exceed the standards of external accreditation or state regulatory

agencies, or both. Typicalln most health care professionals are

re-credentided every three years.

The Cigna Care Neworh, a benefit design option available in 70
service areas across the U.S., is a subset of participating specialist

physicians so designated based on specific clinical qualiry and

cost-efficiency criteria. Customers pay reduced co-payments or
co-insurance when they receive care from a specialist designated as a

Cigna Care Network physician, Participating specialists are evaluated

regularly for the Cigna Care Network designation.

LocalPlus@ is a select network oflocal, qualiry doctors and hospitals

designed to offer clients greater affordability, by limiting the network
to a subset of qualiry cost-efficient physicians and hospitals. Ve
currently offer LocalPlus in l2 markets and will expand this approach

in additional markets in 2015.

Onsite Medicd Care

. Cigna Medical Groap is a multi-specialty medical group practice

that delivers primary care and certain specialcy care services through
23 medical facilities and approximately 150 employed clinicians in
the Phoenix, fuizona metropolitan area. All of the these health care

centers have received accreditation as a Patient Centered Medical

Home from the National Committee for Quality Assurance

("NCQ,{') a private, nonprofit organization dedicated to improving
health care qualiry. Cigna Medical Group holds the highest level of
this accreditation (level 3). Cigna Medical Group has the greatest

number of practices and physicians in the state of Arizona with this

accreditation.

. Cigna Onsite Heahh. Our onsite services include more rhan 150

health centers at various employer sites that offer health coaching,

wellness seminars and biometric screenings.

. LfuinglVell Heahh Centers. Our Medicare Advantage customers

may receive care from a team ofphysicians, nurse practitioners and

pharmacists. Ve operate seven free-standing clinics and six
"embedded" clinics that incorporate the principles and resources of
stand-alone clinics while a.llowing the customer to continue .local

office visits to his or her primary care physician.

External Validation
'We continue to demonstrate our commitment to qualiry and have a

broad scope of qualiry programs validated through nationally
recognized external accreditation organizations. !7'e retained Health

Plan accreditation from the NCQA in 36 of our markets. Addidonal
NCQA recognitions include Full Accreditation for Managed

Behavioral Healthcare Organization for Cigna Behavioral Health,

accreditation with Performance Reporting for 'Wellness & Health
Promotion, accreditation for our wellness programs and Physician &
Hospital Qualiry Certification for our provider transparency program.
'We 

have Full Accreditation for Health Utilization Management, Case

Management and Pharmacy Benefit Management from UMC, an

independent, nonprofi t health care accrediting organization dedicated

to promoting health care qualiry through accreditation, certification
and commendation.

\i?'e participate in the NCQAs Health Plan Employer Data and

Information Set ("HEDISo") Q"rliry Compass Report, whose

Effectiveness of Care measures are a standard set of metrics to evaluate

the effectiveness of managed care clinical programs. Our national

results compare favorably to industry averages.
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Markets and Distribution
lVe offer health care and related products and services in the following customer segments or markets:
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o/o of Medical
Customers

National Multi-state employers with 5,000 or more U.S.-based, full-time employees. Ve primarily offer ASO funding

solutions in this market segment.

Middle Market Employers generally with 250 ro 4,999 U.S.-based, full-time employees. This segment also includes single-site

employers with more than 5,000 employees, Taft-Hartley plans and other third party payers. We offer ASO,

experience-rated and guarmteed cosr funding solutions in this market segment.

Select Employers generally with 5l-249 eligible employees. We offer ASO and guaranteed cost funding soludons in this

market segment.

Individuals in ten states: Arizona, California, Colorado, Connecticut, Florida, Georgia, North Carolina, South

Carolina, Gnnessee and Texas. In 2014 we offered coverage on the state-run public health insurmce exchange in

Colorado, as well as rhe federally facilirated exchanges in Arizona, Florida, Tennessee and Texas. In 2015 we will
expand our public *chmge participation to include the state-run exchange in Maryland and the federally facilitated

exchanges in Georgia and Missouri. Consistent with the regulations for Individual PPACA compliant plans, we

offer plans only on a guaranteed cost basis in rhis market segrnent.

Offers Medicare Advartage (both to individuals who are post-65 redrees, as well as employer group sponsored pre-

and post-65 retirees), Prescription Drug programs, and Medicaid products.

Focused on che needs of local and multinational companies and organizations and their local and globally mobile

employees and dependents. 'We offer guaranteed cost, experience-rated and ASO funding solutions in this market

segment,

Individual

Government

International

26o/s

52o/o

8o/o

2o/o

9o/o

3o/o

Competition and Industry Developments

Our business is subiect to

indusrv consolidation that
intense competition and continuing

has created an even more comDetitive

business environment. In certain geographic locations, some health

care companies may have significant market share positions, but no

one comperitor dominates the health care market nationally. \(e
expect a continuing trend ofconsolidation in the industry given the

current economic and political environment. 'We also expect

continued verrical integration, with the line blurring between

clinicians and hospitals, and traditional insurers.

Competition in the health care market exists both for employers and

other groups sponsoring plans and for the employees in those

instances where the employer offers its employees a choice of products

from more than one health care company. Most group policies are

subject to annual review by the policyholder, who may seek

competitive quotations prior to renewal. Ve expect competition to

increase in the individual market as a result of the growth in the public
health insurance exchanges under Health Care Reform. Given the

relatively immature individual market and limited data around claim

experience, vr'e expect some uncertainty and competitive volatiliry
through the initial years ofthe exchange roll out. Some ofthe risk is

mitigated by the government risk mitigacion programs.

The primary competitive factors affecting our business are qualiry and

cost-effectiveness of service and provider neworks; effectiveness of
medical care management; products that meet the needs of employers

and their employees; total cost management; technology; and

effectiveness ofmarketing and sales. Financial strength ofthe insurer,

as indicated by ratings issued by nationally recognized rating agencies,

is also a competitive factor. '!?'e believe that our health advocacy

capabilities, holistic approach to consumer engagement, breadth of
product offerings, clinical care and medical management capabilities

and array of product funding options are competitive advantages in
meeting the diverse needs of our customer base. We also believe that
our focus on helping to improve the health, well-being and sense of
security of the customers we serve will dlow us to differentiate

ourselves from our competitors.

Cigna Guided SolutionssM, is our proprietary retail health insurance

exchange targeting clients that value fully integrated solutions, and

focusing on engaging employees in their health and their health

spending. It leverages Cignat abiliry to provide a fully integrated

soludon with our broad spectrum of plans and services, and broad

suite of funding options, focused on improving total cost, health, and

improved productivity. Together with integrated robust decision-

support tools, employees will be able to make appropriate trade-off
decisions and select plans that best fit them and their families.

In addition, Cigna participates on many third party private exchanges.
'We actively evaluate private exchange participation opportunities as

they emerge in the market, and target our participation to those

models that best align wirh our mission and value proposition. To

date, we have commirted to participate with numerous private

exchanges for both acrive employees and retirees.

\7e employ sales representatives to distribute our products and

services through insurance brokers and insurance consultants or
directly to employers, unions and other groups or individuals. 'We also

employ representatives to sell utilization review services, behavioral

health care and pharmacy management, and employee assistance

services directly to insurance companies, HMOs, third parry

administrators and employer groups. As of December 31, 2014, our

field sales force consisted ofover 1,250 sales representatives in more

than 132 field locations. In our Cigna-HealthSpring business,

Medicare Advantage enrollment is generally a decision made

individually by the customer, and accordingly, sales agents and

representatives focus their efforts on in-person contacrs with potential

enrollees, as well as telephonic and group selling venues.
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Our principal competitors in the U.S.-based business are:

. other large insurance companies that provide group health and life
insurance products;

. Blue Cross and Blue Shield organizations;

. stand-alone HMOs and PPOs:

. HMOs afiiliated with major insurance companies and hospita-ls;

and

. national managed pharmacy, behavioral health and utilization
review services companies.

The primary competitors of the international health care business

include U.S. and European health insurance companies with global

health benefits operarions. The primary competitors fot our
international health care operations in the United Kngdom and Spain

are regional and local insurers.

Competition also arises from smaller regional or specialry companies

with strength in a particular geographic area or product line,

adminisrative service firms and, indirectly, self-insurers. In addition
to these traditional competitors, a new group of competitors has

emerged. Some of these newer competitors, such as hospitals and

companies that offer web-based tools for employers and employees,

are focused on delivering employee benefits and services through
interner-enabled technology that allows consumers to take a more

active role in the management of rheir health. This can be

accomplished through financial incentives, access to enhanced quality
medical data and other information sharing. The effective use of our
health advocacy, customer insight and physician engagement

capabilities, along with decision support tools (some of which are

web-based) and enabling technology are critical to success in the

health care industry, and we believe our capabilities in these areas will
be competitive differentiators.

The health insurance marketplace will continue to be shaped by

Health Care Reform. ln 2016, Health Care ReForm expands the small

group market definition to employers with 100 or less employees,

subjecting insurers in this market to community rating. The results of
rhe 2014 Congressional elections add additional uncertainry as to the

effects that Health Care Reform may have going forward. See the
"Reguladon' section of this Form 10-K for additional information
regarding Health Care Reform.

On February 20, 2015, CMS issued its Advance Notice of
Methodological Changes for Calendar Year 2016 for Medicare

Advantage Capitation Rates, Part C and Part D Payment Policies (the

"Notice"). The final terms are expected to be published on April 6,

2015. While the terms contained within the Notice are within the

range of our expectations, there remain numerous open issues and

substantial uncertainties regarding the final terms of the Notice. 'We

expect that CMS will receive a significant number of comments fiom
interested parties (including Cigna) prior to issuing the final te.ms;

however, there can be no assurance that CMS will amend its current

posicions. Given the uncertainry regarding the final terms of the

Notice, we cannot reliably esdmate the impact on our business,

revenues or results of operations in 2016 and beyond; under certain

circumstances, it is possible that the impact could be materially

adverse. In addition, we expect to adjust our programs and services in
response to the proposed 2016 terms.

Global Supplemental Benefits

Our Global Supplemental Benefits segment offers supplemental

health, life and accident insurance products primarily in Asia, Europe

and rhe United States. Vith local licenses and partnerships in
approximately 15 countries and jurisdictions, we are able to offer
products and services to local citizens and globally mobile individuals.

In China, TLrkey, and India, we offer products and services through
joint ventures. This segment constituted 9%o of our consolidated

revenues for the year ended December 37,2014.

'We continue to distinguish ourselves in the global supplemental

health, life and accident businesses through our differentiated

direct-to-consumer distribution, customer insights and marketing

capabilities. \(e enter new markets when the opportunity to bring our
product and health solutions is attractive. Over the past severd years,

we have continued to extend our product offerings and geographic

reach. For example, in 2014, we began offering products in India
through our joint venture with TTK Group. In 2012, we extended

our reach in Turkey through the joint venture with Finansbank and

expanded into the U.S. Medigap and supplemental lines of business

through the acquisition of Great American Supplemental Benefits.

Principal Products and Services

Supplemental Hedth, Life and Accident Insurance

Supplemental health, life and accident insurance products generally

provide simple, affordable coverage of risla for the health and

financial securiry of individuals. Supplemental health products

provide specified payments for a variery of health risla and include

personal accident, accidental death, critical illness, hospitalization,

travel, dental, cancer and other dread disease coverages. W'e also offer

customers individual private medical insurance, term and variable

universal life insurance, and certain savings products.

Medicare Supplement Plans

Ve offer individual Medicare Supplement plans that provide retirees

with federally standardized Medigap-sryle plans. Retirees may select

among the various plans with specific plan options to meet their
unique needs and may visit, without the need for a referral, any health

care professional or faciliry that accepts Medicare throughout the

United States.
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Pricing and Reinsurance

Premium rates for our global supplemental benefits products are based

on assumptions about mortaliry morbidiry customer acquisition and

retencion, customer demographics, expenses and target profit
margins, as well as interest rates, For variable universal life insurance

products, fees consist of mortaliry administrative, asset management

and surrender charges assessed against the contractholdert fund

balance. Mortaliry charges on variable universal life may be adjusted

prospectively to reflect expected mortaliry experience. Most contracts

permit premiurn rate changes at least annually.

A global approach to underwriting risk management allows for each

local business to underwrite and accept risk within specified limits.

Retentions are centrally managed through cost effective use ofexternal

reinsurance to limit our liabiliry on per life, per risk, and per went
(catastrophe) bases.

Markets and Distribution

Our supplemental health, life and accident insurance products sold in

foreign countries are generally marketed through distribution partners

with whom the individual insured has an affinity relationship. These

products are sold primarily through direc marketing channels, such as

outbound telemarketing, and in-branch bancassurance (where we

partner with a bank and use the bank's sales channels to sell our

insurance products). Marketing campaigns are conducted through
these channels under a variery of arrangements with affiniry partners,

including banks, credit card companies and other financial and

non-financial institutions. 'We 
also market directly to consumers via

direct response television and the Internet. In certain countries, we

market our products through captive and third parry brokers. Our
Medicare supplement product line is distributed primarily through
independent agents and telemarketing directly to the consumer.

South Korea represents our single largest geographic market for

Global Supplemental Benefits. For information on this concenrration

of risk for the Global Supplemental Benefits segmentt business in
South Korea, see "Other Items Affecting Results of Global

Supplemental Benefits" in the Global Supplementa.l Benefits section

of the MD&A beginning on page 52 of this Form l0-K.

For our supplemental health, life and accident insurance products sold

in foreign markets we are increasingly exposed to geopolitica.l,

currency and other risks inherent in foreign operations. Also, given

that we bill and collect a significant portion of premiums through
credit cards, a substantial contraction in consumer credit could impact

our ability to retain existing policies and sell new policies. A decline in
customer retention would result in both a reduction oFrevenue and an

acceleration of the amortization of acquisition-related costs. Changes

Group Disability and Life

PART I
ITEM 1. Business

in regulation for permitted distribution channels also may impact our

business or results.

Competition
'!?'e expect that the competitive environment for global supplemenral

benefits will continue to intensifr as U,S., Europe and other regional-

based insurance and financial services providers more aggressively

pursue expansion opportunities across geographies, especially in Asia.

\(i'e believe competirive factors will include branding, product and

distribution innovation and differentiation, efficient management of
marketing processes and costs, commission levels paid to distribution
partners, the quality of claims, local network coverage, customer

services and talent acquisition and retention. Additionally, in most

overseas markets, perception of financial strength also will likely
continue to be an important competitive factor.

Our competitors are primarily locally-based insurance companies,

including insurance subsidiaries of banks primarily in fuia and

Europe and multi-national companies. Insurance company

competitors in this segment primarily focus on traditiond product
distribution through captive agents, with direct marketing being

secondary channels. We estimate that we have less than 2% market

share of the total insurance premiums in any given market in which
we oPerate.

In the Medicare supplement business, the principal competitive

factors are underwriting and pricing, relative operating efficiency,

broker relations, and the qualicy of claims and customer service. Our
primary competitors in this business include U.S.-based health

insurance companies,

Industry Developments

Pressure on social health care systems, a rapidly aging population and

increased wealth and education in developing insurance markets are

leading to higher demand for products providing health insurance and

financial securiry. In the supplemental health, life and accident

business, direcr marketing channels continue to grow and attract new

competitors with industry consolidation among financial institutions
and other affiniry partners. Recent fuian affinity deals have involved

multinational insurers making large upfront payments to financial

institutions for long term (over 10 years) exclusive regional

distribution rights throughout rheir retail operations.

Data privacy regulation has tightened in all markets, in the wake of
data privacy news scandals, impacting affinity partner and customer

il1,;j.: 
toward direct marketing of insurance and other financial

Our Group Disability and Life segment provides group long-term and

short-term disabiliry insurance, group life insurance, accident and

specialty insurance and related services. We market these products and

services in all 50 states, the District of Columbia, Puerto Rico, the

U.S. Vrgin Islands and Canada. All products and services are offered

by subsidiaries of Cigna Corporation.
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Products and Services

Group Disability

Long-term and short-term group disability insurance products
generally provide a fixed level ofincome to replace a portion ofwages
lost because of disabiliry. Group disability coverage is cypically
employer-paid or a combination of employer and employee-paid, but
also may include coverage paid for entirely by ernployees. As part of
our group disability insurance products, we also provide assistance to
employees in returning to work and assistance to their employers in
managing the cost of employee disabiliry. We are an industry leader in
helping employees rerurn co work quickly, resuhing in higher
productiviry and lower cost for employers and a better qualiry of life
for their employees.

'W'e 
seek to integrate our disabiliry insurance products with other

disabiliry benefit programs, behavioral programs, medical programs,

social security advocacy, and administration of federal and state

Family and Medical lrave Act (FM[A) laws and other leave of
absence programs.'We believe this integration provides our custom€rs

with increased efficiency and effectiveness in disabiliry claims

management, enhances productivity and reduces overall costs to
employers. This integration also provides early insight into employees

at risk for future disabiliry claims. Coordinating the administracion of
these disabiliry programs with medical programs offered by our health
care business provides enhanced opportunities to influence ourcomes,

reduce the cost of both medical and disabiliry events and improve the
return to work rate. The benefits of this inregrated approach also

include:

. using information from the health care and disability databases to
help identifr, treat and manage disabilities before rhey become

chronic, longer in duration and more costly; and

. proactively reaching out to assist employees suffering from a mental
health or chronic condition, either as a primary condirion or as a

result of another condition.

Our disabiliry products and services are offered on a fully insured,

experience-rated and ASO buis, although mosr are fully insured. As
measured by 2014 premiums and fees, disabiliry consritured
approximately 490/o of this segmenrt business. Approximately 13,800
insured disabiliry policies covering over 7.5 million lives were in force
as of December 31, 2014.

Group Life Insurance

Group life insurance products offered include term life and universal

life. Group term life insurance may be employer-paid basic life
insurance, employee-paid supplemental life insurance or e.

combination thereof. Group universal life insurance is an

employee-paid, voluntary life insurance product in which the owner
may accumulate a cash value. The cash value earns interest at rates

declared from time to time, subject to a minimum guaranteed

contracted rate, and may be borrowed, withdrawn, or, within certain
limits, used to fund future life insurance coverage.

fu measured by 2014 premiums and fees, group life insurance

constituted approximarely 450/o of this segmenrt business.

Approimately 8,700 group life insurance policies covering over

6 million lives were in force as of December 31,2014.

Other Products and Services
'We also offer personal accident insurance coverage, consisting
primarily of accidental death and dismemberment and travel accident
insurance to employers. Group accident insurance may be

employer-paid or employee-paid. In additlon, we offer specialty
insurance services that consist primarily ofdisabiliry and life, accident,

and hospital indemniry products to professional or trade associations

and financial institutions.

'We also provide a number of voluncary products and services that are

rypically paid by the employee and offered at the employert worlaite.
Our plans provide employers with administrative solutions designed

to provide employers with a complete and simple way to manage rheir
benefits program. Recently, we have brought to market two additional
voluntary offerings - accidental injury insurance and critical illness

coverage, Both products provide additional dollar payouts to
employees for unexpected accidents or more serious illnesses.

Pricing and Reinsurance

Premiums charged for disabiliry and term life insurance producrs are

usually established in advance of the policy period and are generally
guaranteed for one to three years and selectively guaranteed for up to
five years; policies are generally subjecc to termination by the

policyholder or by the insurance company annually. Premium rates

reflect assumptions about future claims, expenses, credir risk,
investment returns and profit margins. These assumptions may be

based in whole or in part on prior experience of the account or on a
pool of accounts, depending on the group size and the statistical
credibiliry of the experience that varies by product.

Premiums for group universal life insurance products consisr of
mortaliry and administrative charges assessed against the
policyholdert fund balance. Interest credited and mortaliry charges

for group universal life may be adjusted prospectively to reflect
expected interest and mortaliry experience. Mortality charges are

subject to maximum guaranteed rates and interest credited on cash

values is subject to minimum guaranteed rates as stated in the policy.

The effectiveness of return to work programs and morbidiry levels will
impact the profitabiliry of disabiliry insurance products. Our previous

claim experience and industry data indicate a correladon between

disability claim incidence levels and economic conditions, with
submitted claims rising under adverse economic conditions, although
this impact is not clear. For life insurance products, the degree to
which future experience deviates from mortality and expense

assumptions also affects profi tabiliry.
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To reduce our exposure to large individual and catastrophic losses

under group life, disability and accidental death policies, we purchase

reinsurance from a diverse group of unaffiliated reinsurers. Our
comprehensive reinsurance program consists of excess of loss treaties

and catastrophe coverage designed to mitigate earnings volatility and

provide surplus protection.

Markets and Distribution
Ve market our group disability and life insurance products and

services to employers, employees, professional and other associations

and groups in the National, Middle Market and Select segments. In
marketing these products, we primarily sell through insurance brokers

and consultants and employ a direct sales force consisting of
approximately 235 sales professionals in 27 office locations as of
December 31,2014.

Competition
The principal competitive factors that affect the Group Disability and

Life segment are underwriting and pricing, the qualicy and

effectiveness of claims management, relative operating efficiency,

investment and risk management, distribution methodologies and

producer relations, the breadth and variery of products and services

offered, and the qua.liry of customer service. For certain products with
longer-term liabilities, such as group long-term disabiliry insurance,

the financial strength ofthe insurer, as indicated by ratings issued by

nationally recognized rating agencies, also is a competitive factor.

The principal competitors of our group disabiliry, life and accident

businesses are other large and regional insurance companies that
market and distribute these or similar rypes of products. As of
December 31,2014, we are one ofthe top five providers ofgroup
disabiliry, life and accident insurance in the United States, based on

oremiums.

Other Operations

PART I
ITEM l. Business

Industry Developments

Employers are expressing a growing interest in employee wellness,

absence management and productiviry and likewise are recognizing a

strong link between employee health, productiviry and their
profitabiliry. As this interest grows, we believe our healthy lifesryle and

return-to-work programs and integrated family medical leave,

disabiliry and health care programs position us to deliver integrated

solutions for employers and employees. W'e also believe that our
strong disability management portfolio and fully integrated programs

provide employers and employees tools to improve health status. This
focus on managing the employeet total absence enables us to increase

the number and likelihood of interventions and minimize disabline

events.

The group insurance market remains highly competitive as the rising
cost of providing medical coverage to employees has forced companies

to re-evaluate their overall employee benefit spending, resulting in
lower volumes of group disabiliry and life insurance business and

more competitive pricing. Demographic shifts have further driven

demand for products and services that are sufficiently flexible to meet

the wolving needs of employers and employees who want innovative,

cost-effective soludons to their insurance needs. Employers continue

to shift towards greater employee participatory coverage and voluntary
purchases.'!?1th our broad suite ofvoluntary offerings and continued

focus on developing additional voluntary products and service

capabilities, we believe we are well positioned to meet the needs of
both employers and employees as the market shifts to become more

retail-focused.

Over the past few years, there has been heightened review by state

regulators of the claims handling practices within the disabiliry and

life insurance industry. This has resulted in an increase in coordinated,

multi-state examinations that target specific rnarket practices in
addition to regularly recurring examinations of an insurer's overall

operations conducted by an individual state's regulators. \fe have been

recently subject to such an examination. See Note 23 to the

Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information.

fu discussed in the "Overview'section on page I of this Form 10-K,

beginning in 2014, we combined the results of the Run-off
Reinsurance segment with other immacerial segments in Other
Operations. Throughout this Form l0-K, prior year information has

been conformed to the current year presentation. Other Operations

includes the following four businesses:

Corporate-owned Life Insurance ("COLI")
The principal products of the COLI business are permanent insurance

contracts sold to corporations to provide coverage on the lives of
certain employees for the purpose of financing employer-paid future
benefit obligations. Permanent life insurance provides coverage that,

when adequately funded, does not expire after a term ofyears. The
contracts are primarily non-participating universal life policies. Fees

for universal life insurance products consist primarily of mortality and

administrative charges assessed against the policyholder's fund
balance. Interest credited and mortaliry charges for universal life and

mortality charges on variable universal life may be adjusted

prospectively to reflect expected interest and mortality experience. To

reduce our exposure to large individual and catastrophe losses, we

purchase reinsurance from unafiiliated reinsurers.

Run-off Reinsurance

Our reinsurance operations are an inactive business in run-off mode.

In February 2013, we effectively exited the GMDB and GMIB
businesses by reinsuring 100o/o of our future exposures, net of
retrocessional arrangements in place at that time, up to a specified

limit. For additional information regarding this reinsurance

transaction. see Note 7 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Individual Life Insurance and Annuity and
Retirement Benefits Businesses

This business includes deferred gains recognized from the 1998 sale of
the individual life insurance and annuiry business and the 2004 sale of
the retirement benefits business. For more information regarding the

sale of these businesses and the arrangements that secure our
reinsurance recoverables for the retirement benefits business, see

Note 7 of the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Investments and Investment Income

Run-off Setdement Annuity Business

Our semlement annuiry business is a closed, run-off block of single

premium annuity contracts. These contracts are primarily liabiliry
settlements with approximately 23o/o of the liabilities associated with
payments that are guaranteed and not contingent on survivorship. For

contracts that involve non-guaranteed payments, such payments are

contingent on the survival of one or more parties involved in the

setdement.

General Accounts

Our investment operations provide investment management and

related services for our corporate invested assets and the insurance-

related invested assets in our General Account ("General Account
Invested Assets"). 'We acquire or originate, direcdy or through
intermediaries, a broad range of investments including private

placement and public securities, commercial mortgage loans, real

estate, mezz:nine, private equicy partnerships and short-term
investments. Invested assets also include policy loans that are fully
collateralized by insurance policy cash values. Invested Assets are

managed primarily by our subsidiaries and, to a lesser extent, external

managers with whom our subsidiaries contract. Net investment

income is included as a component o[ segmenc earnings for each of
our reporting segments and Corporate. Realized investment gains
(losses) are reported by segment but excluded from segment earnings.

For additional information about invested assets, see the "Investment

Assets" section of the MD&A beginning on page 55 and Notes 10 to
14 of our Consolidated Financial Statements.

Ve manage our investment portfolios to reflect the underlying
characteristics of related insurance and contractholder liabilities and

capital requirements, as well as regulatory and tax considerations

pertaining to those liabilities and state investment laws. Insurance and

contractholder liabilities range from short duration health care

products to longer term obligations associated with disabiliry and life
insurance products and the run-off settlement annuiry business.

fusets supporting these liabilities are managed in segregated

investment pordolios to facilitate matching of asset durations and

cash flows to those of corresponding liabilities. Investment strategy

and results are affected by the amount and timing ofcash available for
invesrment, competition for investments, economic conditions,

interest rates and asset allocation decisions. 'We routinely monitor and

evaluate the status of our investments, obtaining and analyzing

relevant investment-specific information and assessing current

economic conditions, trends in capital markets and other factors such

as industry sector, geographic and/or property-specific information.

Separate Accounts

Our subsidiaries or external advisors manage Separate Account assets

on behalf of contractholders. These assets are legally segregated from
our other businesses and are not included in General Account

Invested Assets. Income, gins and losses generally accrue directly to
the contractholders. As ofDecember 31,2014, our Separate Account
assets consisted of:

. $3.8 billion in separate account assets that constitute a portion of
the assets of the Cigna Pension Plan;

. $3.5 billion in separate account assets thar support Variable

Universd Life products sold as a part of our corporate-owned life
insurance business, as well as through our Global Supplemental

Benefits segment; and

. $1.0 billion in separate account assets that supporr primarily health

care and other disabiliry and life products.

Regulation

The laws and regulations governing our business continue to increase

each year and are subject to frequent change. Ve are regulated by

state, federal and international regulatory agencies that generally have

discretion to issue regulations and interpret and enforce laws and
rules. These regularions can vary significantly from jurisdiction to

,jurisdiction, and the interpretation of existing laws and rules also may

change periodically. Domestic and international governments

continue to enact and consider various legislative and regulatory

proposals that could materially impact the health care system. See

"Regulatory and Legislative Developments" on page 13.

Our insurance and HMO subsidiaries must be licensed by the

iurisdictions in which thev conduct business. These subsidiaries are

subject to numerous state, federal and internationa.l regulations

related to their business operations, including, but not limited to:

. the form and content of customer contracts including benefit

mandates (including special requirements for small groups);

. premium rates and medical loss ratios;

. the content of agreements with participating providers oF covered

servrces;

. producer appointment and compensation;

. claims processing and appeals;

. underwriting practices;
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. retnsurance arranSements;

. solvency/financial reporting;

. unfair trade and claim practices;

. protecting the privacy and confidentialicy of the information
received from customers;

. risk sharing atrangements with providers;

. reimbursement or payment levels for Medicare services;

. advertising; and

. the operation ofconsumer-directed plans (including health savings

accounts, health reimbursement accounts, flexible spending

accounts and debit cards).

In addition, our international subsidiaries are subject to regulations in
international jurisdictions where foreign insurers may be faced with
more onerous regulations than their domestic comperirors. The
broader regulatory environment may include anti-corruprion laws,

economic sanctions laws, various insurance, tax, tariff and trade laws

and regulations, corporate governance, employment, intellectual
propercy and investment laws and regulation, discriminatory licensing

procedures, compulsory cessions of reinsurance, required localization
of records and funds, higher premium and income taxes, and

requirements for local participation in an insurert ownership. In
addition, the expansion of our operations into foreign countries
increases our exposure ro certain U.S. laws, such as the Foreign
Corrupt Practices Act of 1977 ('FCPA). See page 15 for further
discussion of international regulations.

The business of administering and insuring ernployee benefit
programs in the United States, particularly health care programs, is

heavily regulated by state and federal laws and administrative agencies,

such as state departments ofinsurance, and federal agencies including
HHS, CMS, the Internal Revenue Service ("IRS") and the
Departments of Labor, Tieasury and Justice, as well as the courrs.

Health savings accounts, health reimbursemenr accounts and flexible
spending accounts also are regulated by the Department of the
Tieasury and the IRS.

Our operations, accounts and other boola and records are subjec to
examination at regular intervals by regulatory agencies, including state

insurance and health and welfare departments, state boards of
pharmacy and CMS to assess compliance with applicable laws and
regulations. In addition, our current and past business pracrices are

subject to review by, and from time to rime we receive subpoenas and
other requests of information from, various state insurance and health
care regulatory authorities, attorneys generd, the Office of Inspecor
General ('OIG), the Department of Labor and other scate and
federal authorities, including inquiries by, and testimony before

commiftees and subcommittees of the U.S. Congress regarding
certain of our business practices. These examinations, reviews,

subpoenas and requests may result in changes to or clarifications of
our business practices, as well as fines, penalties or other sancrions.

Regulatory and Legislative Developments

The federal and state governmenrs in the United States as well as

governments in other countries where we do business continue ro

PART I
ITEM 1. Business

enact and consider many broad-based legislative and regulatory
proposals that could materially impact various aspects ofour business.

Health Care Reform

The Padent Protection and Affordable Care Act and the Health Care

and Education Reconciliation Act (collectively referred to as "Healrh
Care Reform") mandates broad changes affecting insured and

self-insured health benefit plans that impact our current business

model, including our relationship with current and future cusromers,

producers and health care providers, products, services, processes and
technology. Most of the key provisions of Health Care Reform are

now effective. Health Care Reform left many details ro be established

through regulations. \X4rile federal agencies have published proposed

and final regulations with respecr ro mosr provisions, many issues

remain uncertain. In addition, certain provisions of Health Care

Reform have been subject to legal challenge, including the case

currently pending before the U.S. Supreme Court as to whether
premium subsidies are available for eligible residents in states that have

not established state-based exchanges. Other provisions of Health
Care Reform have been amended or delayed, such as rhe employer
mandate, which will be phased in during 2015 and 2016 based on
employer size. The employer mandate requires employers with 50 or
more full-time employees to offer health insurance rhat is affordable
and provides minimum value (each as defined under Health Care

Reform) to full-time employees and children up ro age 26 or be

subject to penalties.

Key Provisions of Health Care Reform in Effect

Various fees, including the beahb inswance industry tax a.nd the
reinsarance fee, were assessed beginning in 2014. The health
insurance indusrry assessment, tocding $8.0 billion for the industry in
2014 and. increasing to $13.9 billion by 2017,is not tax deducrible.
Our share of this industry tax is determined based on our proporuon
of premiums for both our commercial and government risk businesses

to the industry total. The reinsurance fee is a temporary (2014-2016)
fixed dollar per customer levy on all .insurers, HMOs and self-insured
group health plans and is tax deductible.

The heahh insurance exchange enrollment process began on
October l, 2013 with coverage first effective in2014. Each state has a

state-based, a state and federal partnership, or a federally-facilitated
health insurance exchange for individuals and small employer groups

to purchase insurance coverage.

Because individuals seeking to purchase health insurance coverage

beginning in 2014 either on or off the exchanges are guaranteed to be

issued a policy, Health Care Reform provides programs designed to
reduce the risk for participating health insurance companies

including: 1) a temporary (2014-2016) reinsurance program; and
(2) a premium stabilization program comprised of rwo components: a

temporary program (2014-2016) limiting insurer gains and losses,

and a permanent program that adjusts premiums based on rhe reladve

health status of the customer base. See Note 2 to the Consolidared
Financial Statements and the Introduction to the MD&A contained
in this Form l0-K for additional information on these programs.
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Commercial minimum medical loss ratio requirements, as

prescribed by HHS, became effective in January 2011 and require

payment of premium rebates to group and individual policyholders if
certain annual MLRs are not met in our commercial business. In
December 2014, rhe federal government enacted legislation that
provides permanent relief from certain Health Care Reform

requirements for expatriate health coverage (including the MLR
requirements). For the financial impact of the commercial MLR
requirements on our results, see the "Overview' section of our
MD&A in this Form l0-K.

Other provisions already in effect include reduced Medicare

Advantage premium rates, the requirement to cover preventive

services with no enrollee coscsharing, banning the use of lifetime and

annual limits on the dollar amount of essential health benefits,

increasing restrictions on rescinding coverage and extending coverage

of dependents to the age of 26. Health Care Reform also changed

certain tax laws that effectively limit tax deductions for cerrain

employee compensation paid by health insurers.

Our Medicare Adtantage and Medicare Part D prescription drug
phn bwinesses also have been impacted by Health Care Reform in a

variety of additional wap beginning in 2014, including mandated

minimum reductions to risk scores, transition of Medicare Advantage
"benchmark' rates to Medicare fee-for-service pariry, reduced

enrollment periods and limitations on disenrollment, providing
"quality bonuses" for Medicare Advantage plans with a rating for four
or five stars from CMS and mandated consuner discounts on brand
name and generic prescription drugs for Medicare Part D plan

participants in the coverage gap. Beginning in 2014, Health Care

Reform requires Medicare Advantage and Medicare Part D plans to
meet a minimum MLR of 85o/o. Under the finalized regulations

promulgated by HHS, if the MLR for a CMS contract is less than

85olo, we are required to pay a penalry to CMS and could be subject to

additional sanctions if the MLR continues to be less than 85%o for
successive years. Through Health Care Reform and other federal

legislation, funding for Medicare Advantage plans has been and may

continue to be altered.

'We 
have substantially implemented the key provisions of Health Care

Reform. Management continues to be actively engaged with
regulators and policymakers with respect to rule-making. For rhe

financial effects of certain Health Care Reform provisions, see the

Overview section of our MD&A beginning on page 32 of this

Form lO-K. In addition, accounting policies around the governmentt
risk mitigation programs are further disclosed in Note 2 to the

Consolidated Financial Statements.

Regulation of Insurance Companies

Financial Reporting, Internal Control and Corporate
Governance

Regulators closely monitor the financial condition oF licensed

insurance companies and HMOs. Srates regulate the form and
content ofstatutory financial statements, the rype and concentration

of permitted investments, and corporate governance over financial

reporting. Our insurance and HMO subsidiaries are required to file
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periodic financial reports and schedules with regulators in most ofthe
jurisdictions in which they do business as well as annual financial

statements audited by independent registered public accounting

firms. Certain insurance and HMO subsidiaries are required to file an

annual report of internal control over financial reporting with most
jurisdictions in which they do business. Insurance and HMO
subsidiaries'operations and accounts are subject to examination by

such agencies. W'e expect states to expand regulacions relating to
corporate governance and internal conttol activities of insurance and

HMO subsidiaries as a result of an amendment by the National
Association of Insurance Commissioners ("NAIC") to its Annual
Financial Reporting Model Regulation that has elements similar to
corporare governance and risk oversight disclosure requirements

under federal securities laws. The NAIC formally adopted these

requirements :nlare2014, which apply to all U.S. insurers beginning

in 2016.

Guaranty Associations, Indemnity Funds, Risk Pools

and Administrative Funds

Most states and certain non-U.S. jurisdictions require insurance

companies to support guaranty associations or indemnity funds that
are established to pay claims on behalf of insolvent insurance

companies. In the United States, to pay such claims, these associations

levy assessments on member insurers licensed in a particular state.

Certain srates require HMOs to participate in guaranty funds, special

risk pools and administrative funds. For additional information about

guaranry fund and other assessments, see Note 23 to our Consolidated
Financial Statements.

Certain stares continue to require health insurers and HMOs to

parricipate in assigned risk plans, joint underwriring authorities, pools

or other residual market mechanisms ro cover risks not acceptable

under normal underwriting standards, although some states have

eliminated these requirements as a result of Health Care Reform.

Solvency and Capital Requirements

Many states have adopted some form of the NAIC model solvency-

relared laws and risk-based capital rules ("RBC rules") for life and

health insurance companies. The RBC rules recommend a minimum
level of capiml depending on the types and qualiry of investments

held, the rypes ofbusiness written and the types ofliabilities incurred.

Ifthe ratio ofthe insurer's adjusted surplus to its risk-based capital falls

below statutory required minimums, the insurer could be subject to

regulatory actions ranging from increased scrutiny to conservatorship.

In addition, various non-U.S. jurisdictions prescribe minimum
surplus requirements that are based upon solvency, liquidity and

reserve coverage measures. During 2014, our HMOs and life and

hedth insurance subsidiaries, as well as non-U.S. insurance

subsidiaries, were compliant with applicable RBC and non-U.S.

surplus rules.

ln2012, the NAIC adopted the Risk Management and Own Risk and

Solvency Assessment Model Act ('ORSA'). ORSA provides

requirements and principles for maintaining a group solvency

assessment and a risk management framework and reflects a broader

approach to U.S. insurance regulation. ORSA, which includes a



requirement to file an annual ORSA Summary Report in the lead

state of domicile, now must be adopted into law by each state. Our
insurance business in the United States will be subject to these

requirements thar are expected to become effective in 2015. W'e will
be prepared to file an ORSA Summary Report with our lead state

regulator consistent with the requirements.

Holding Company Laws

Our domestic insurance companies and certain of our HMOs are

subject to state laws regulating subsidiaries of insurance holding
companies. Under such laws, certain dividends, distributions and

other transactions benveen an insurance or an HMO subsidiary and

its affiliates may require notification to, or approval by, one or more

state insurance commissioners.

Marketing, Advertising and Products

In most states, our insurance companies and HMO subsidiaries are

required to certii/ compliance with applicable advertising regulations

on an annual basis. Our insurance companies and HMO subsidiaries

are also required by most states to file and secure regulatory approval

of products prior to the marketing, advertising, and sale of such

products.

Licensing Requirements

Certain of our subsidiaries are pharmacies that dispense prescription

drugs to participants of benefit plans administered or insured by our
HMO and insurance company subsidiaries. These pharmacy-

subsidiaries are subject to state licensing requirements and regulation

as well as U.S. Drug Enforcement Agency registration requirements.

Other laws and regulation affecting our pharmacy-subsidiaries include

federal and state laws concerning labeling, packaging, advertising and

adulteration of prescription drugs and dispensing of controlled

substances,

Certain subsidiaries contract to provide claim administration,

utilization management and other relared services for the

administration of self-insured benefit plans. These subsidiaries may be

subject to state third-party administration and other licensing

requirements and regulation.

Our international subsidiaries are often required to be licensed when

entering new markets or starting new operations in certain
jurisdictions. The licensure requirements for these subsidiaries vary by
country and are subject to change.

International Regulations

Our operations outside the United States expose us to laws of multiple
jurisdictions and the rules and regulations ofvarious governing bodies

and regulators, including those related to financial and other

disclosures, corporate governance, privacy, data protection, data

mining, data transfe! labor and employrnent, consumer protection,

direct-to-consumer communications activities, anti-corruption and

anti-money laundering. Foreign laws and rules may include

requirements that are different from or more stringent than similar

requirements in the United States.

PART I
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Our operations in countries outside the United States:

. are subject to local regulations in the locations in which our
subsidiaries conduct business.

. in some cases, are subject to regulations in the locations of
customers, and

. in all cases, are subject to the FCPA.

The FCPA prohibits offering, promising, providing or authorizing

others to give anything of value to a foreign government official or
employee to obtain or retain business or otherwise secure a business

advantage. In many countries outside ofthe United States, health care

professionals are employed by the government. Violations of the

FCPA and other anti-corruption laws may result in severe criminal
and civil sanctions as well as other penalties, and the SEC and

Department ofJustice have increased their enforcement activities with
respect to FCPA. The UK Bribery Act of 2010 applies to all

companies with a nexus to the United Kingdom. Under this act, any

voluntary disclosures of FCPA violations may be shared with United
Kingdom authorities, thus potentially exposing companies to liabiliry
and potential penalties in multiple jurisdictions.

If our employees or agents hil to comply with applicable laws

governing our international operations, we may face investigations,

prosecutions and other legal proceedings and actions that could result

in civil penalties, administrative remedies and criminal sanctions. See

the Risk Factors section beginning on page l8 for a discussion ofrisks
related to operating globally.

Federal Regulations

Employee Retirement Income Security Act and the

Public Health Service Act

Our domestic subsidiaries sell most of their products and services to
sponsors of employee benefit plans that are governed by the Employee

Retirement Income Securiry Act of 1974, as amended ("EzuSA").

ERISA is a complex set offederal laws and regulations enforced by the

IRS and the Department oFLabor, as well as the courts. Our domestic

subsidiaries are subject to requirements imposed by ENSA affecting

claim payment and appeals procedures for individual health insurance

and insured and self-insured group health plans and for the insured

dental, disability, life and accident plans we administer. Our domestic

subsidiaries also may contractually agree to comply with these

requirements on behalf of the self-insured dental, disabiliry, life and

accident plans they administer.

Many provislons of Health Care Reform impacting insured and

self-insured group health plans were incorporated into ENSA. The
health insurance reform provisions under ERISA were also

incorporated into the Public Health Service Act and are directly
applicable to health insurance issuers (i.e., health insurers and

HMO'.

Plans subject to ENSA also can be subject to state laws and the legal

question of whether and to what extent EzuSA preempts a state law

has been, and will continue to be, subiect to court interpretation.
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Medicare Regulations

Several oF our subsidiaries engage in businesses that are subject to
federal Medicare regulations, such as:

. those offering individual and group Medicare Advantage (HMO)

covera8e;

. those offering Medicare Pharmacy (Part D) products that are subject

to federal Medicare regularions; and

. billing of Medicare Part B claims on behalf of providers with whom

we have contractual management agreements.

In our Medicare Advantage business, we contract with CMS to
provide services to Medicare beneficiaries pursuant to the Medicare

program. As a result, our right to obtain payment (and the

determination of the amount of such payments), enroll and retain

members and expand into new service areas is subject to compliance

with CMS' nurnerous and complex regulations and requirements that
are frequently modified and subject to administrative discretion.

Marketing and sales activities (including those of third-party brokers

and agents) are also heavily regulated by CMS and other

governmental agencies, including applicable state departments o[
insurance. We expect to continue to allocate significant resources to
our compliance, ethics and fraud, waste and abuse programs to
comply with the laws and regulations governing Medicare Advantage

and prescription drug plan progtams.

Several of our subsidiaries are also subject to reporting requirements

pursuant to Section 1l I of the Medicare, Medicaid and SCHIP
Extension Act of 2007,

Federal Audits of Government Sponsored Health Care

Programs

Participation in government sponsored health care programs subjects

us to a variety offederal laws and regulations and risks associated with
audits conducted under these programs. These audits may occur in
years subsequent to our providing the relevant services under audit.

These risks may include reimbursement claims as well as potential

fines and penalties. For example, with respect to our Medicare

Advantage business, CMS and the Office of the Inspector General

perform audits to determine a healrh plan's compliance with federal

regulations and contractual obligations, including compliance with
proper coding practices (sometimes referred to as "Risk Adjustment
Data Validation Audits" or "MDV audits") and compliance with
fraud and abuse enforcement practices rhrough Recovery Audit
Contractor ("RAC) audits in which rhird-parry contractors conduct

post-payment reviews on a contingency fee basis to detect and correct

improper payments. See "Business - Global Health Care" beginning
on page 2 of this Form l0-K for additional information about our
participation in government health-related programs.

The federal government has made investigating and prosecuting

health care fraud and abuse a prioriry. Fraud and abuse prohibitions
encompass a wide range of activities, including kickbacks for referral

of customers, billing for unnecessary medical services, improper
marketing, and violation of patient privacy rights. The regulations

and contractual requirements in this area are complex, are frequently

modified, and are subject to administrative discretion. \fle expect to
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continue to allocate significant resources to comply with these

reguladons and requirements and to maintain audit readiness.

Prwacy, Security and Data Standards Regulations

The federal Health Insurance Portabiliry and Accountabiliry Act of
1996 and its implementing reguladons ("HIPAA) imposes minimum
standards on health insurers, HMOs, health plans, health care

providers and clearinghouses for the privacy and security ofprotected
health information. HIPAA also established rules that standardize the

format and content of certain electronic transactions) including, but
not limited to, eligibiliry and claims. ICD-9 is the current electronic

code system for diagnosis and procedures for hospital claims. Entities

subject to HIPAA are required to update their transaction formats for
electronic data interchange standards and convert to new ICD-10
diagnosis and procedure codes. The effective date for ICD-10
conversion is October 1, 2015.

HIPAA'S privacy and securiry requirements were expanded by the

Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health
Act ("HITECH") through additional contracting requirements for
covered entities, the extension of privacy and security provisions to

business associates, the requirement to provide notification to various

parties in the event ofa data breach ofprotected health information,
and enhanced financial penalties for HIPAA violations, including

potential criminal penddes for individuals.

The federal Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act generally places restrictions on

the disclosure of non-public information to non-affiliated third
parties, and requires financial institutions, including insurers, to

provide customers with notice regarding how their non-public
personal information is used, including an opportuniry to "opt oud' of
certain disclosures. State departments ofinsurance and certain federal

agencies adopted implementing regulations as required by federal law.

A number of states have adopted data security laws and regulations,

regulating data security and requiring security breach notification that
may apply to us in certain circumstances. Neither HIPAA nor the

Gramm-Leach-Bliley privacy regulations preempt more stringent state

laws and regulations.

Dodd-Frank Act and Investment-Related Regulations

The Dodd-Frank'Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act
(the "Dodd-Frank Act") provides for a number of reforms and

regulations in the corporate governance, financial repordng and

disclosure, investments, rax and enforcement areas. The Dodd-Frank
Act established a Federal Insurance Office (the "FIO") to develop

federal policy on insurance matters. While the FIO does not have

authority over health insurance, it may have authority over other pans

of our business, such as life insurance. Additional rulemaking by the

SEC and other regulatory authorities continues. 'W'e are closely

monitoring how these regulations might impact us; however, the full
impact may not be knolvn for several years until regulations become

fully effective.

Depending upon their nature, our investment management activities are

subject to U.S. federal securities laws, ENSA and other federal and state

laws governing investment related activities. In many cases, the



investment management activities and investmens of individual

insurance companies are subject to regulation by multiple jurisdictions.

Office of Foreign Assets Control Sanctions and

Anti-Money Laundering

'We also are subject to regulation by the Office of Foreign Assets

Control of the Department of the Tieasury, which administers and

Miscellaneous
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enforces economic and trade sanctions based on U.S. foreign policy
and national security goals against targeted foreign countries and

regimes.

Certain of our products are subject to Department of the Tieasury

anti-money laundering regulations under the Bank Secrecy Act.

In addition, we may be subject to similar regulations in non-U.S.
jurisdictions in which we operate.

Premiums and fees from CMS repre-sented 2lo/o of our total
consolidated revenues for the year ended Decemb er 31,2014 under a

number of contracts.'We are not dependent on business from one or a

few customers. Other than CMS, no one customer accounted for
100/o or more of our consolidated revenues in 2014.'We are not
dependent on business from one or a few brokers or agents. In
addition, our insurance businesses are generally not committed to

accept a fixed portion of the business submitted by independent

brokers and agents, and generally all such business is subject to
approval and acceptance.

\(e had approximately 37 ,200 employees as of December 31, 2014;
36,500 employees as of Decembet 31,2013; and 35,800 employees as

of December 31, 2012.
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Item 1A. Risk Factors
As a krge com?dn! operating in a complex industry, we encoilnter ll
uariety ofrisks and uncertaintiet that could haue a material aduerse effect

on our business, liquidity, resubs ofoperations orfnancial condition. You

should carefully considzr each of the risks and uncertaintiet discused

beloa in Mdnagementi Discussion and Analysis of Resuhs of Operations

and Findncial Condiion and information conuined eheuhere in this

Annual Report on Form I 0-K. These isks and uncertaintiet are not the

only ones we face. Additional rishs and uncertainties not presently hnown

t)r.rt o, ,ror., ,unently belieue to be imrnaterial ma1 also aduersell ffict

Our business is subject to sabstantial gouemment
regulntion, as well ds new krus or reguktions or
changes in existing laws or regalations that could
ltaue a material aduerse ffict on our business, resubs

of operntions, fnancial condition and liquidity.

Our business is regulated at the federal, state, local and international
levels. The laws and rules governing our business and related

interpretations, including, among others, those associated with
Health Care Reform, are increasing in number and complexiry are

subject to frequent change and can be inconsistent or in conflict with
each other. As a public company with global operations, we are subject

to the laws of multiple jurisdictions and the rules and regulations of
various governing bodies, such as those related to financial and other
disclosures, cotporate governance, privacy, data protection, labor and

employment, consumer protection, tax and anti-corruption.

'W'e must identifr, assess and respond to new trends in the legislative

and regulatory environment, as well as comply with the various
eisting regulations applicable to our business. Existing or future laws,

rules, regulatory interpretations or judgments could force us to change

how we conduct our business, restrict revenue and enrollment growth,
increase health care, technology and administrative costs, including
capital requirements, and require enhancements to our compliance
infrastructure and internal conuols environment. Existing or future

laws and rules also could require us to take other actions such as

changing our business practices, thereby increasing our liability in
federal and state courts for coverage determinations, contracr

interpretation and other actions.

In the foreseeable future, the impact of existing regulations and future

regulatory and legislative changes could materially adversely affect our
business, results ofoperations, financial condition and cash flows by,

among other things:

. reducing the potential for growth in revenues and customers by
disrupting the employer-based market (currently the primary
market for our Commercial operating segment) i[ employers cease

to offer health care coverage for their employees;

. restricdng revenue, premium and customer growth in ceitain
products and markets or expansion inro new markets;

. increasing health care or other benefit costs through enhanced or
guaranteed coverage requirements;
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. increasing operating costs through the imposirion of new regulatory

requirements, increased taxes and other financial assessments;

. restricting our abiliry to increase premium rates to meet costs

(including denial or delays in approval and implementation of those

rates);

. limicing the level of margin we can earn on premiums through

mandated minimum medical loss ratios and required rebates in rhe

event we do not meet mandated minimum rados;

. restricting our ability to participate in and derive revenue from
government'sponsored programs; and

. significantly reducing the level of Medicare program payments.

Specifically, in the United States, significant changes are occurring in
the health care system as a result of Health Care Reform. Subsmndally

all of rhe key provisions of Health Care Reform are now effective.

\Vhile federal agencies have published interim and final regulations

with respect to certain requirements, many issues remain uncertain. It
is difficult to predict the impact of Hedth Care Reform on our
business due to the lawk complexiry, the political environment, the

continuing development of implementing regulations and

interpretive guidance, legal challenges and possible frrture legislative

changes. Ve are unable to predict how these events will develop and

what impact they will have on Health Care Reform, and in turn, on

our business including, but not limited to, our relationships with
current and future customers, producers and health care providers,

products, services, processes and technology. Further, if we fail to
effectively implement or adjust our strategic and operational

initiatives, such as by reducing operating costs, adjusting premium
pricing or benefit design or transforming our business model, in
response to Health Care Reform and any other future legislative or
regularory changes, this Failure may have a material adverse effect on

our results of operations, financial condition and cash flows,

including, but not limited to, our ability to maintain the value of our
goodwill and other intangible assets.

Our insurance and HMO subsidiaries must be licensed by and are

subject to the regulations of the jurisdictions in which they conduct

business. For example, health maintenance organizations and

insurance companies are regulated under state insurance holding
company regulations and other health care-related regulations. State

regulations mandate minimum capital or restricted cash reserve

requirements and subject us ro assessments under guaranty fund laws

and related regulations for certain obligations to claimants of
insolvent insurance companies, which would expose our business to
the risk of insolvency of a competitor in these states. We also

participate in the emerging private exchange marketplace and the

extent to which states may issue regulations that apply to private

exchanges remains uncertain.

In addition to the regulations discussed above, we are required to
obtain and maintain insurance and other regulatory approvals to
market many oF our products, increase prices for certain regulated

products and consummate some of our acquisitions and dispositions.

Delays in obtaining or failure to obtain or maintain these approvals

could reduce our revenue or increase our costs.



The health care industry also is regularly subject to negative media

attention, including as a result of the political environment and the

ongoing debare concerning Health Care Reform. Such publiciry may

adversely affect our stock price and reputation in certain markets.

For more information on regulation, see "Business - Regulation" in
Part I, Item I of this Form 10-K. See also the description of Health

Care Reformt minimum medical loss ratio and customer rebate

requirements in the "Business - Global Health Card' section

beginning on page 2 of this Form l0-K.

'W'e 

face rishs related to litigation, reguktor! audits
and inuestigations.
'We are routinely involved in numerous claims, lawsuits, regulatory

audits, investigations and other legal matters arising in the ordinary

course of business, including that of administering and insuring

employee benefit programs. These could include benefit claims,

breach of contract actions, tort claims, claims disputes under federal

or state laws and disputes regarding reinsurance arrangements,

employment and employment discrimination-related suits, anri-trust
claims, employee benefit claims, wage and hour claims, tax, privacy,

intellectual property and real estate disputes. In addition, we have

incurred and likely will continue to incur liability for practices and

claims related to our health care business, such as marketing

misconduct, failure to timely or appropriately pay for or provide

health care, provider nework structure, poor outcomes for care

delivered or arranged, provider disputes, including disputes over

compensarion or contractual provisions, and claims related to
self-funded business. There are currently, and may be in the future,

attempts to bring class action lawsuits against the industry or, absent a

class action, individual plaindffs may bring multiple claims regarding

the same subject matter against us and other companies in our
industry.

Court decisions and legislative activity may increase our exposure for
any of rhese rypes of claims. In some cases, substantial non-economic

or punitive damages may be sought. 'We 
seek to procure insurance

coverage to cover some oFthese potential liabilities. However, certain

potential liabilities may not be covered by insurance, insurers may

dispute coverage or the amount of insurance may be insufficient to
cover the entire damages awarded. In addition, certain types of
damages, such as punitive damages, may not be covered by insurance,

and insurance coverage for all or certain Forms of liabiliry may become

unavailable or prohibitively expensive in the future. It is possible that

the resolution of current or future legal matters and claims could

result in losses material to our results of ooerations, financial

condition and liquidity.

'We 
are frequently the subject of regulatory market conduct and other

reviews, audits and investigations by state insurance and health and

welfare departments, attorneys general, CMS and the OIG and

comparable authorities in foreign jurisdictions. \With respect to our
Medicare Advantage business, CMS and OIG perform audits to
determine a health plant compliance with federal regulations and

contractual obligations, including compliance with proper coding

practices and fraud and abuse enforcement practices through audits

designed to detect and correct improper payments. There also

continues to be heightened review by federal and state regulators of

PART I
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business and reporting practices within the health care and disabiliry

insurance industry and increased scrutiny by other state and federal

governmental agencies (such as state attorney general offices)

empowered to bring criminal actions in circumstances that could have

previously given rise only to civil or administrative proceedings. These

regulatory audits or reviews or actions by orher governmental agencies

could result in changes to or clarifications ofour business practices,

retroactive adjustments to certain premiums, significant fines,

pendties, civil liabilities, criminal liabilities or other sanctions,

including restrictions on our abilicy to operate, that could have a

material adverse effect on our business, results ofoperation, financial

condition and liquidity.

A description of material pending legal actions and other legal mamers

is included in Note 23 to our Consolidated Financial Statements

included in this Form l0-K. The outcome of litigation and other legal

matters is always uncertain, and outcomes that are not jusdfied by the

evidence or existing law can occur.

Future ltetformnnce of our business will depend on
our ability to execute our strdtegic and operntional
in iti atiu e s effe c tiu e ly.

The future performance of our business will depend in large part on

our abiliry to effectively implement and execute our strategic and

operational initiacives including: (1) driving growth in targeted

geographies, product lines, customer buying segments and

distribution channels; (2) improving our strategic and financial

flexibiliry; and (3) pursuing addidonal opportunities in high-growth
markets with particular focus on individuals. Successfully executing

these initiatives depends on a number offactors, including our abiliry

. differentiate our products and services from those of our
comPeutofs;

. develop and introduce new products or programs, particularly in
tesponse to government reguladon and the increased focus on

consumer-directed products;

. grow our commercial product poftfolio, including expanded

participation in the public health insurance exchanges;

. identify and introduce the proper mix or integration of products

that will be accepted by the marketplace;

. attract and retain sufficient numbers of qualified employees;

. attract, develop and maintain collaborative relationships with a

sufficient number of qualified partners, including physicians and

other health care providers in an environment ofgrowing shortages

of primary care profess.ionals and consolidation within the provider

industry;

. transition health care providers from volume-based fee for service

arrangements to a value-based system;

. improve medical cost competitiveness in targeted markets;

. manage our medical and administrative costs effectively;

. manage our balance sheet exposures effectively, including our

pension funding obligations; and
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. reduce our Global Hedth Care operating expenses to achieve

sustainable benefits.

Ifthese initiatives fail or are not executed effecdvely, it could harm our
consolidated financial position and results ofoperations. For example,

efforts to reduce operating expenses while maintaining the necessary

resources and talent pool are important and, if not managed

effectively, could have long-term effecrs on our business by negatively

impacting our ability ro drive improvements in the quality of our

products. For our strategic initiatives to succeed, rse must effectively

integrate our operations, including our acquired businesses, actively

work to ensure consistency throughout the organization, and promote

a global mind-set and a focus on individual customers. If we fail to do

so, our business may be unable to grow as planned, or the result of
expansion may be unsatisfactory. In addition, the current competitive,

economic and regulatory environment requires our organization to
adapt rapidly and nimbly to new opportunities and challenges. 'We

will be unable to do so ifwe do not make important decisions quickly,

define our appetite for risk specifically, implement new governance,

managerial and organizational processes smoothly and communicate

roles and responsibilities clearly.

As a globnl co?npan!, we face political, legal,

operationa[ regulntory4 economic and other rishs

that present challenges and coruld negat:iuely ffi6s
our muhinational oPerations and/or our long-term
grouth.

As a global company, our business is increasingly exposed to risks

inherent in foreign operations. These 
-risla, 

which can vary

substantially by market, include political, legal, operational,

regulatory, economic and other risks, including government

intervention that we do not face in our U.S. operations. The global

nature of our business and operations may present challenges

including, but not limited to, those arising from:

. varying regional and geopolitical business conditions and demands;

. regulation that may discriminate against U.S. companies, favor

nationdization or expropriate assets;

. price controls or other pricing issues and exchange controls or other
restrictions that prevent us from transferring firnds from these

operations out of the countries in which we operate or converting

local currencies that our foreign operations hold into U.S. dollars or
other currencies;

. foreign currency exchange rates and fluctuations that may have an

impact on the future costs or on future sales and cash flows from our
international operations, and any measures that we may implement
to reduce the effect of volatile currencies and other risks of our
international operations may not be effective;

. our reliance on local sales forces for some operations in countries

that may have labor problems and/or less flexible employee

relationships that can be difficult and expensive to terminate, or
where changes in local regulation or law may disrupt business

oPerauons;

. effectively managing our partner relationships in countries outside

of the United States:

. managing more geographically diverse operations and projects;

. operating in new foreign markets that may require considerable

management time before operations generate any significant

revenues and earnings;

. the need to provide data protection on a globd basis and sufficient

levels of technical support in different locations;

. political insability or acts of war, terrorism, natural disasters or

pandemics in locations where we operate; and

. general economic and political conditions.

These factors may increase in significance as we continue to expand

globally, and any one of these challenges could negatively affect our

operations or long-term growth, For example, due to the

concentration of business in South Korea, the Global Supplemental

Benefits segment is exposed to potential losses resulting from
economic, regulatory and geopolitical developments in that country,

as well as foreign currency movements affecting the South Korean

currency, that could have a significant impact on the segmentt results

and our consolidated financial results.

International operations also require us to devote significant resources

to implement controls and systems in new marke ts to comply, and to

ensure that our vendors and partners comply, with U.S. and foreign

laws prohibiting bribery, corruption and money laundering, in
addition to other regulatlons regarding, among other things, our

products, direct-to-consumer communications, customer privacy and

data protection. Violations of these laws and regulations could result

in fines, criminal sanctions against us, our officers or employees,

restrictions or outright prohibitions on the conduct of our business,

and significant reputational harm. \(e must regularly reassess the size,

capability and location of our globd infrastructure and make

appropriate changes, and must have effective change management

processes and internal controls in place to address changes in our
business and operations. Our success depends, in part, on our abilicy

ro anticipate these risks and manage these difficulties. Our failure to

comply with laws and regulations governing our conduct outside the

United States or to establish constructive relations with non-U.S.

regulators could have a material adverse effect on our business, results

of operations, financial condition, liquidity and long-term growth.

There are atffious rishs associated with participating
in goaentment-sltonsored progr"n ns, sucb as Medicare,
inc luding delt en den c e up ot, goa ernment funding
changes occurring as a ?'esub of Healtlt Care Refornt,

complinnce with gouernment corxtracts and increased
regulatorJt otersight.

Through our Cigna-HealthSpring business, we contract with CMS

and various state governmental agencies to provide managed health

care services, including Medicare Advantage plans and Medicare-

approved prescription drug plans. Revenues from Medicare programs

are dependent, in whole or in part, upon annual funding from the

federal government through CMS and/or applicable state or local
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governments. Funding for these programs is dependent on many

factors outside our control, including general economic conditions,

condnuing government efforts to contain health care costs and

budgetary constraints at the federal or applicable state or local level

and general political issues and priorities. These entities generally have

the right to not renew or cancel their contracts with us on short notice

without qluse or iffunds are not available. Unanticipated changes in
funding, such as the application ofsequestration by the federal or state

governments, could substantially reduce our revenues and

profitabiliry.

The Medicare program has been the subject of recent regulatory

reform initiatives, including Health Care Reform. The premium rates

paid to Medicare Advantage plans are established by contract,

although the rates differ depending on a combination of factors, many

of which are outside our control. Effective in 2012, Health Care

Reform ties a portion of each Medicare Advantage plan's

reimbursement to the plant "star rating" by CMS, with those plans

receiving a rating of three or more stars eligible for quality-bxed
bonus payments. The star rating system considers various measures

adopted by CMS, including, among other things, qualiry of care,

preventative services, chronic illness management and customer

satisfaction. Beginning in 2015, plans must have a star rating of four

or higher to qualifr for bonus payments. Our Medicare Advantage

plans' operating results, premium revenue and benefit offerings are

likely ro continue to be significantly determined by their star ratings.

If we do not maintain or continue to improve our star ratings, our
plans may not be eligible for full-level qualiry bonuses, which could
adversely affect the benefits that our plans can offe! reduce our
cusromer base and/or reduce margins.

Contracts with CMS and the various state governmental agencies

contain certain provisions regarding data submission, provider

network maintenance, quality measures, claims payment, continuiry
of care, call center performance and other requirements. If we fail to

comply with these requirements, we may be subject to fines or
penalties that could impact our profirabiliry.

In addition, any failure to complywith various state and federal health

care laws and regulations, including those directed at preventing fraud

and abuse in government funded programs, could result in
investigations or litigation, such as actions under the federal False

Claims Act and similar whistleblower statutes under state laws. This
could subject us to fines, limits on expansion, restrictions or
exclusions from programs or other agreements with federal or state

governmental agencies that could adversely impact our business, cash

flows, financial condition and results of operations.

In addition, our Medicare Advantage and Medicare prescription drug
businesses face a number of other risks including potential
uncollectible receivables resulting from processing and/or verifring
enrollmenr, inadequate underwriting assumptions, inabiliry to receive

and process correct information or increased medical or
pharmaceutical costs. Actual results may be materially different than

our assumptions and estimates regarding these complex and

wide-ranging programs, which could have a material adverse effect on

our business, financial condition and results of operations.

IrEM 1A. o,Jffij

If we fail to deuehp and naintdin satisfactory
rektionships with pbysicians, hospitak and other
heabh care prouiders, our business and resubs of
operations ma1 be aduersely affeeted.

'W'e contract with physicians, hospitals and other health care providers

for services rendered to our customers. Our results of operations are

substantially dependent on our abilicy to contract for these services at

competitive prices. In any particular market, physicians, hospitals and

health care providers could refirse to contract, demand higher

payments or take other actions that could result in higher medical

costs or less desirable products for our customers. In some markets,

certain providers, particularly hospitals, physician/hospital

organizations and multi-specialry physician groups,

significant or controlling market positions that could
diminished bargaining position for us. Ifproviders refirse to conrracr

with us, use their market position to negotiate favorable contracts or
place us at a competitive disadvantage, our ability to market products

or to be profitable in those areas could be materially and adversely

affected.

Our abiliry to develop and maintain satisfactory relationships with
health care providers also may be negatively impacted by other factors

not associated with us, such as changes in Medicare and/or Medicaid

reimbursement levels, increasing revenue and other pressures on

health care providers and consolidation activiry among hospitals,

physician groups and health care providers. For example, ongoing

reductions by CMS and state governments in amounts payable to
providers, particularly hospitals, for services provided to Medicare and

Medicaid enrollees may pressure the financial condition of certain

providers and, in turn, adversely impact our ability to maintain or
develop new cost-effective health care provider contracts or result in a

loss of revenues or customers.

Recent and continuing consolidation among physicians, hospitals and

other health care providers, development of accountable care

organizations and other changes in the organizational structures that
physicians, hospitals and health care providers choose may change the

way these providers interact with us and may change the competitive

landscape in which we operate. In some instances, these organizations

may compete directly with us, potentially affecting the way that we

price our products or causing us to incur increased costs ifwe change

our operacions to be more competitive. Our focus on developing

collaborative accountable care organizations and independent practice

associations or similar business arrangements with physicians and

other health care providers may not achieve intended benefits, which
could adversely affect our strategy or prospects.

Out-of-network providers do not have an understanding with us

about the amount of compensation due for their services. Some states

define by law or regulation the amounts due, but in most instances it
is not defined or is established by a standard that is not clearly

translanble into dollar terms. In such instances, providers may believe

chat they were underpaid and may litigate or arbitrate their dispute

with us or try to recover from our customers the difference beween

what we have paid them and the amount they charged us. The
outcome of disputes where we do not have a provider contract may

cause us to pay higher medical or other benefit coscs than we

projected.

may have

result in a
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We are dependent on the success of our relationsltips
with third parties for various seruices and functions,
htcluding but not limited to, pharmacy benefit
,nanagenzent seruices,

To improve operating costs, productivity and efficiencies, we

outsource to, or enter into partnership arrangements with, third
parties for selected services and functions, such as pharmacy benefit

management, information technology, independent practice

associations, medical management, call centers and claim services.

Our operations may be vulnerable if these third parties fail to satisfr

their obligadons to us or iF the arrangement is terminated in whole or

in part for any reason or if there is a contractual dispute benveen us

and these third parties. Even though contracts are intended to provide

certain protections, we have limited control over the actions of third
parties. For example, noncompliance with any privacy or securiry laws

and regulations or any security breach involving one ofour third-parry

vendors or a dispure beween us and a third parry vendor related to

our arrangement could have a material adverse effect on our business,

results oI operations, financial condition, liquidiry and reputation. In
addition, with respect to outsourced services or functions to third
parties in foreign j urisdictions, we also are exposed to risla inherent in
conducring business outside of the United States.

Outsourcing also may require us to change our existing operations,

adopt new processes for managing these providers and/or redistribute

responsibilities to realize the potential productivity and operational

efficiencies. If there are delays or difficulties in changing business

processes or our third party vendors do not perform as expected, we

may not realize, or realize on a timely basis, the anticipated economic

and other benefits of these relationships. This could result in
substantial cosrs or regulatory compliance issues, divert managementt

attention from other strategic activities, negatively affect employee

morale or create other operational or financial problems for us.

Terminating or rransitioning in whole or in part arrangements with
key vendors could result in additional costs or penalties, risks of
operadonal delays or potential errors and control issues during the

termination or transition phase. We may not be able to find an

alternative vendor in a timely manner or on acceptable terms. If there

is an interruption in business or loss ofaccess to data resulting from a

termination or transition, we may not be able to meet the demands of
our customers and, in turn, our business and results of operations

could be unfavorably impacted.

Acquisitions, joint uentures and other transnctions
inuolue rishs and we mdy not realize the expected

benefts because of inagration dfficulties,
underperformance relatiae to our exPecta.tio?ts and
other cltallenges.

As part of our growth strateg/, we regularly consider and enter into

strategic transactions, including mergers, acquisitions, joint ventures.

licenses and other relationships (collectively referred to as

"transactions"), with the expectation that these transactions will result

in various benefits. Our abiliry to achieve the anticipated benefits of
these transactions is subject to numetous uncertainties and risks,

including our abiliry to integrate operations, resources and systems in
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an efficient and effective manner. 'We could also face challenges in

implementing business plans; changes in laws and regulations or
conditions imposed by regulators applicable to the business; retaining

key employees; and general competidve factors in the marketplace.

These events could result in increased costs, decreases in expected

revenues, earnings or cash flow, and goodwill or other intangible asset

impairment charges. Further, \ve may finance transactions by issuing

common stock for some or all of the purchase price, which could

dilute the ownership interests of our shareholders, or by incurring
additional debt that could impact our abiliry to access capital in the

future.

In addidon, effecdve internal controls are necessary to provide reliable

and accurate financial reports and to mitigate the risk of fraud. The

integration ofbusinesses is likely to result in our systems and internal

controls becoming increasingly complex and more difficult to
manage. Any difficulties in assimiladng businesses into our control
system could cause us to fail to meet our financial reporting
obligations. Ineffective internal controls also could cause investors to

lose confidence in our reported financial information, which could

negatively impact the trading price of our stock and our access to

capital.

Our business depends orr our ability to ffictiuely
inaest in, implement improaements to dnd proPerl!
,naintain the u.ninterrupted operation and data
integrity of our information technology and other
business systeru*

Our business is highly dependent on maintaining both effective

information systems and the integrity and timeliness of the data we

use to serve our customers and healrh care professionals and to operate

our business. Ifour data were found to be inaccurate or unreliable due

to fraud or other errot or ifwe or the third-parry sewice providers

were to fail to maintain informarion systems and data integriry

effectively, we could experience operational disruptions thar may

impact our customers and health care professionals and hinder our

ability to establish appropriate pricing for products and services, retain

and attract customers, establish reserves and report financial results

timely and accurately and maintain regulatory compliance, among

other things.

Our information technology strategy and execution are critical to our

continued success. Increasing regulatory and legislative mandated

changes will place additional demands on our information technology

infrastructure that could have a direct impact on available resources

for projects more directly tied to strategic initiatives. 'We must

continue to invest in long-term solutions that will enable us to
anticipate customer needs and expectations, enhance the customer

experience, act as a differentiator in the market and protect against

rybersecurity risks and threats. Our success is dependent, in large part,

on maintaining the effectiveness of existing technology systems and

continuing to deliver and enhance technology systems that support

our business processes in a cost-efficient and resource-efficient

manner. \7e also must develop new systems to meet current market

standards and keep pace with continuing changes in information

processing technology, evolving industry and regulatory standards and

customer needs. Failure to do so may impede our abiliry to deliver



services at a competitive cost. Furthet because system development

projects are long-term in nature, they may be more cosdy than

expected to complete and may not deliver the expected benefits upon

completion.

In addition, our business is highly dependent upon our abiliry to
perform, in an efficient and uninrerrupted fashion, necessary business

functions, such as claims processing and payment, internet support

and customer call centers, and processing new and renewal business.

Unavailabiliry, cyber-attack or other failure of one or more of our
information technology or other systems could cause slower response

times, resulting in claims not being processed as quickly as clients or
customers desire, decreased levels of client or custorner service and

satisfaction, and harm to our reputation. Because our information

technology and other systems interface with and depend on third-
party systems, we could experience service denials if demand for such

service exceeds capacity or a third-party system fails or experiences an

interruption. If sustained or repeated, such business interruptions,
systems failures or service denials could have material adverse effects

on our business, results of operations, financial condition and

liquidity.

We rnay be subject to cyber-attacks. If we are anable
to ?reuent ar contain the fficts of nny suclt attacks,
we mn! sffir exposure to substantial liability,
rePuttttiondl harrn, hss of reuenue or other damages.

Our business depends on our clients' and customers' willingness to

enfiust us with their health-related and other sensitive personal

information. Computer systems may be vulnerable to physical

break-ins, computer viruses, programming errors, attacks by third
parties or similar disruptive problems. As we increase the amount of
personal information that we store and share digitally, our exposure to

these data security and related cybersecuriry risks increases, including
the risk ofundetected attacks, damage, loss or unauthorized disclosure

or access, and the cost ofattempring to protect against these risks also

increases. 'We have implemenred securiry technologies, processes and

procedures to protect consumer identity; however, there are no

assurances that such measures will be effective aeainst all rypes of
breaches.

Events that negatively affect that trust, including failing to keep our
information technology systems and our clients' and customers'

sensitive information secure from attack, damage, loss or
unauthorized disclosure or access, whether as a result ofour action or
inaccion or that ofour business associates or vendors, could adversely

affect our reputation, membership and revenues and also expose us to
mandatory disclosure to the media, litigation and other enforcement

proceedings, material fines, penalties and/or remediation costs, and

compensatory special, punitive and statutory damages, consent orders

and other adverse actions, any of which could adversely affect our

business, results of operations, financial condition or liquidiry.

PART I
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If we fail t0 cornpb with applicable priuaqt, security,
and data laws, regulations and standttrds, our
business and reputatiotx could be materially and
ndaersely affected.

The collection, maintenance, protecdon, use, transmission, disclosure

and disposal of sensitive personal information are regulated at the

federal, state, international and industry levels and requirements are

imposed on us by conrracts with customers. In some cases, such laws,

rules and regulations also apply to our vendors and require us to
obtain written assurances of their compliance with such requirements

or may hold us liable for any violations by our vendors. International
laws, rules and regulations governing the use and disclosure of such

inFormation are generally more stringent than in the United States,

and they vary from jurisdiction to jurisdiction.

These laws, rules and requirements are subject to change. Compliance

with new privacy and security laws, reguladons and requirements may

result in increased operating costs, and may constrain or require us to
alter our business model or operations. For example, the HITECH
amendments to HIPM may further restrict our ability to collect,

disclose and use sensitive personal information and may impose

additional compliance requirements on our business. \(hile we have

prepared for the transition to ICD-10, if unforeseen clrcumstances

arise, it is possible that we could be exposed to investigations and

allegations of noncompliance, which could have a material adverse

effect on our results ofoperations, financial position and cash flows.

In addidon, if some providers continue to use ICD-9 codes on claims

after the final implementation date, we will have to rejecc such claims,

leading to claim resubmissions, increased call volume and provider
and customer dissatisfaction. Further, providers may use ICD-10
codes differently than they used ICD-9 codes in the past, potentially
resulting in lost revenues under risk adjustment. During the transition

to ICD-I0, certain claims processing and payment information we

have historically used to establish our reserves may not be reliable or
available in a timely manner. If we do not adequately implement the

new ICD-10 coding set, or if providers in out network do not
adequately transition to the new ICD-10 coding set, our results of
operations, financial position and cash flows may be materially

adversely affected.

Effectiue Preaention, detection and control slstems

dre critical to maintain regulator! compliance and
preuent fyaud and failur"e of these systerns could
aduarefu affect us,

Federal and state governmen$ have made investigating and

prosecuting health care and other insurance fraud and abuse a prioriry.
Fraud and abuse prohibitions encompass a wide range of activities,

including kickbacks for referral of members, billing for unnecessary

medical services, improper marketing, and violations of patient

privacy rights. The regulations and contractual requirements

applicable to us are complex and subject to change. In addition,

ongoing vigorous law enforcement, a highly technical regulatory

scheme and the Dodd-Frank Act legisladon and related regulations

being adopted to enhance regulators' enforcemenr powers and

whistleblower incentives and protections mean that our compliance

efforts in this area will continue to require significant resouices.

CIGNA CORPOMTION - 2014 Form r}-K 23



PART I
ITEM lA. Risk Factors

Failure of our prevention, detection or control systems related to

regulatory compliance or the failure of employees to comply with our
internal policies, including data systems securiry or unethical conduct

by managers and employees, could adversely affect our reputation and

also expose us to litigation and other proceedings, fines and penalties.

In addition, provider or custornet fraud that is not prwented or

detected could impact our medical costs or those of our self-insured

customers. Further, during an economic downturn, we may

experience increased fraudulent claims volume that may lead to
additional costs due to an increase in disputed claims and litigation.

Our pharmacy benefit Tnandgement business and
rekted operations are subject to a number of rishs

arrd uncertainties that are in addition to those we

face in our heahlt care business.

Notwithstanding our pharmacy benefits management services

arrangement with a third-party vendor, we remain responsible to

regulators and members for the delivery oF pharmacy benefits. This

business is subject to federal and state regulation, including federal

and state anti-remuneration laws, ERISA, HIPAA and laws related to

the operation of Internet and mail-service pharmacies. In addition,

certain ofour subsidiaries are pharmacies subject to state licensing and

U.S. Drug Enforcement Agency registration requirements and laws

concerning labeling, packaging, advertising and adulteration of
prescription drugs and dispensing of controlled substances.

Noncompliance with such regularions by us or our third-parcy vendor

could have material adverse effects on our business, results of
operations, financial condition, liquidity and reputation.

Our pharmacy benefit management business also would be adversely

affected by an inability to contract on favorable terms with
pharmaceutical manufacturers and we could suffer claims and

reputational harm in connection with purported errors by mail order

or retail pharmacy businesses.

In operating onsite clinics and other types of medical

facilities, we mn! be subject to additional liability
that could resub ht signifcnnt tirue and expense.

In addicion to contracting with physicians and other health care

providers for services, we employ physicians and other health care

professionals at onsite low acuity and primary care clinics that we

operate for our customers, as well as certain clinics for our employees.

In addition, our Cigna-HealthSpring business operates Living\Vell
health centers and we own and operate multispecialcy health care

centers, low acuity clinics and other types ofcenters in the Phoenix,

fuizona metropolitan area that employ physicians and other health

care professionals. fu a direct employer of health care professionals

and as an owner or operator of medical facilities, we are subject to
liabiliry for negligent acts, omissions, or injuries occurring at one of
these clinics or caused by one of our employees. Even if any claims

brought against us are unsuccessful or without merit, we still have to

defend against such claims. The defense of any actions may result in
significant expenses that could have a material adverse effect on our
business, results of operations, financial condition and liquidiry.

'We 
face price competition and other pressures that

could resub in premiums that are insrfficient to
coaer the cost of the heeilth care seruices deliuered to

our members and inadeErate medical ckims
reseraes,

Vhile health plans compete on the basis of many service and quality-
related factors, we expect that price will continue to be a significant

basis of competition. Our client and customer conrracts are subject to
negotiation as clients and customers seek to contain their costs,

including by reducing benefits offered or elected. Alternatively, our
clients and customers may purchase different types of products that

are less profitable, or move to a competitor to obtain more Favorable

premiums. Each of these events would likely negatively impact our

financial results.

Further, federal and state regulatory agencies may restrict our ability
to implement changes in premium rates. For example, Health Care

Reform includes an annual rate review requirement to prohibit

unreasonable rate increases in the individual and small group health

insurance markets. Fiscal concerns regarding the continued viabilicy

of programs such as Medicare may cause decreasing reimbursement

rates, delays in premium payments or insufficient increases in

reimbursement rates for government-sponsored programs in which we

participate. Any limitation on our ability to maintain or increase our

premium or reimbursement levels, or a significanr loss of membership

resulting from our need to increase or maintain premium or
reimbursement levels, could adversely affect our business, cash flows,

financial condition and results of operations.

In addition, factors such as business consolidations, strategic alliances,

legislation and marketing practices will likely continue to create

pressure to contain or otherwise restrict premium price increases,

despite increasing medical costs. For example, the Gramm-Leach-

Bliley Act gives banks and other financial institutions the ability to be

affiliated with insurance companies. This may lead to new

competitors with significant financial resources. Our product margins

and growth depend, in part, on our abiliry to compete effectively in
our markets, set retes appropriately in highly competitive markets to
keep or increase our market share, increase membership as planned,

and avoid losing accounts with favorable medical cosc experience

while retaining or increasing membership in accounts with
unfavorable medical cosc experience.

Premiums in the health care business are generally set for one-year

periods, based on our estimate o[ firture health care costs over such

period. Actual costs may exceed what we estimate and charge in
premiums due to factors such as medical cost inflation, higher than

expected utilization ofmedical services, new or costly treatments and

technology, and membership mix. Our health care costs also are

affected by external events that we cannot forecast or project and over

which we have little or no control, such as influenza-related health

care costs, epidemics, pandemics, terrorist attacks or other man-made

disasters, natural disasters or other events that materially increase

utilization ofmedical and/or other covered services, as well as changes

in members' health care utilization patterns and provider billing
practices. Our profitability depends, in part, on our ability to

accurately predict and control future health care costs through
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underwriting criteria, provider contracting, utilization management
and product design.

'We record medical claims reserves on our balance sheet for estimated

future payments. \i7hile we continually review estimates of future
payments relating to medical claims costs for services incurred in the
current and prior periods and make adjustments to our reserves, the
actual health care costs may exceed the reserves we have recorded.

Signif.cant stoch marhet or interest rate declines
could resah in addiional anfunded pension
obligations, resuhing in tbe need for additional plan

funding by us and increasel pension ocpenses.

'We currently have unfunded obligations in our frozen pension plans.

A significant decline in the value ofthe plans' equity and fixed income
investments or unfavorable changes in applicable laws or regulations

could materially increase our expenses and change the timing and
amount ofrequired plan funding. This could reduce the cash available

to us, including our subsidiaries. 'We also are exposed to rnrerest rate

and equity risk associated with our pension and other post-retiremenr
obligations. Sustained declines in interest rates could haye an adverse

impact on the funded status of our pension plans and our
reinvestment yield on new investments. See Note 9 to our
Consolidated Financial Statements for more information on our
obligations under the pension plan.

Sigificant cbanges in nmrbet interest rates ffict the
aalue of our financial htstuments that promise a

fixed return or benefit and tlte unlue of particukr
assets and liabilities.

As an insurer, we have substantial investment assets that support
insurance and contractholder deposit liabilides. Generally low levels

ofinterest rates on lnvestments, such as those experienced in U.S. and
foreign financial markets during recent years, have negatively
impacted our level of investment income earned in recent periods.

Substantially all ofour investment assets are in fixed interest-yielding
debt securities of varying maturities, fixed redeemable preferred
securities and commercial mortgage loans. The value of these

investment assets can fluctuate significantly with changes in market
conditions. A rise in interest rares would likely reduce rhe value ofour
investment portfolio and increase interest expense ifwe were to access

our available lines of credit.

A downgrade in the financidl strength rdtings of our
insurance subsidiaries could adaersely ffict new snles

and retention of currertt business, and a downgrade
in our debt ratings would inrease the cost of
bonowed funds and negat;aeb affect our ability to
access capitaL

Financial strength, claims paying abiliry and debt ratings by
recognized rating organizations are each important factors in
establishing the competitive position ofinsurance and health benefits

companies, Ratings information by nationally recognized ratings
agencies is broadly disseminated and generally used throughout the

PART I
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industry. We believe that the claims paying abiliry and financial
strength ratings ofour principal insurance subsidiaries are important
factors in marketing our products to certain customers. Our debt
ratings impact both the cost and availabiliry of future borrowings, and

accordingly, our cost of capital. Each of rhe rating agencies reviews

ratings periodically and there can be no assurance that current ratings
will be maintained in the future. A downgrade of these ratings in the
future could make it more difficult to either marker our producs
successfully or raise capiral to support business growth within our
insurance subsidiaries.

Global marhet, economic and geopolitical conditions
ma! cnuse fluctuations in equity marhet prices,
interest rates dnd tedit spredds that could impact
our ability to raise or deploy capital and ffict our
oaerdll liquidity.

If the equity and credit markets experience extreme volarility and
disruption, there could be downward pressure on stock prices and
credit capacity for certain issuers without regard to those issuers'

underlying financial strength. Extreme disruption in the credit
markets could adversely impact our availabiliry and cost of credit in
the future. In addition, unpredictable or unstable market conditions
or conrinued pressure in the global or U.S. economy could resulr in
reduced opportunities to find suitable opportuniries to raise capita.l.

As of December 31,2014, our outstanding long-term debt totaled

$5.0 billion. In the event of adverse economic and industry
conditions, we may be required to dedicate a grearer percentage ofour
cash flow from operations ro the paymenc ofprincipal and interest on
our debt, thereby reducing the funds we have available for other
purposes, such as investments in ongoing businesses, acquisitions,
dividends and stock repurchases. In these circumstances, our abiliry to
execute our strategy may be limited, our flexibiliry in planning for or
reacting to changes in business and market conditions may be

reduced, or our access to capital markets may be limited such that
additional capital may nor be available or may be available only on
unfavorable terms.

Unfauorable dnelopments in economic cond;tions
ma1 adaerseb offttt our business, resubs of
oPerations and fnancial condition.

Global economic conditions continue to be challenging. Many
hctors, including geopolitical issues, confidence in any economic
recoveries and any future economic downturns, availabiliry and cost of
credit and other capital and consumer spending, can negarively

impact expectations for the U.S. and global economies. Our results of
operations could be materially and adversely affected by the impact of
unfavorable economic conditions on our cusromers (both employers

and individuals), health care providers and third-parry vendors. For
example:

. Employers may take action ro reduce their operadng costs by
modi$'ing, delaying or canceling plans to purchase our products or
making changes in the mix of products purchased that are

unfavorable to us.
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. Higher unemployment rates and workforce reductions could result

in lower enrollment in our employer-based plans (including an

increase in the number of employees who opt out of employer-based

plans) or our individual plans.

. Because of unfavorable economic conditions or Health Care

Reform, employers may stop offering health care coverage to
employees or elect to offer this coverage on a voluntary, employee-

funded basis as a means to reduce their operating costs.

. Our historical disability claim experience and industry data indicate

that submimed disabiliry claims rise under adverse economic

conditions.

. If customers are not successful in generating sufficient profits or are

precluded from securing financing, they may not be able to pay, or
may delay payment of, accounts receivable that are owed to us.

. Our customers or potential customers may force us to compete

more vigorously on factors such as price and service to retain or
obtain their business.

. A prolonged unfavorable economic environment could adversely

impact the financial position of hospitals and other health care

providers, potentially increasing our medical cosrs as these providers

attempt to maintain revenue levels in their efforts to adjust to their
own economic challenges.

. Our third-party vendors could significantly and quickly increase

their prices or reduce their output to reduce their operating costs.

Our business depends on our ability to perform necessary business

functions in an efficienr and uninterrupted fashion.

These factors could lead to a decrease in our customer base. revenues

or margins and/or an increase in our operatrng costs.

In addition, during a prolonged unfavorable economic environment,

state and federal budgets could be materially and adversely affected,

resulting in reduced reimbursements or payments in state and federal

government programs, such as Medicare and Social Security. These

state and federal budgerary pressures also could cause the government

to impose new or a higher level oftaxes or assessments on us, such as

premium taxes on insurance companies and HMOs and surcharges or

fees on select fee-for-service and capitated medical claims. Although
we could attempt to mitigate or cover our exposure from such

increased costs through, among other things, increases in premiums,

there can be no assurance that we will be able to mitigate or cover all of
such costs, which may have a material adverse effect on our business,

results of operations, financial condition and liquidiry.

We are silbject to the credit rish of our reinsurers.

We enter into reinsurance arrangements with other insurance

companies, primarily to limit losses from large exposures or to permit
recovery of a portion of direct losses. W'e also may enter into
reinsurance arrangements in conneccion with acquisition or

divestiture ffansacdons when the underwriting company is not being

acquired or sold.

Under all reinsurance arrangements, reinsurers assume insured losses,

subiect to certain limications or exceptions that may include a loss

limit. These arrangements also subject us to various obligations,

representations and warranties with the reinsurers. Reinsurance does

not relieve us of liability as the originating insurer. W'e remain liable to
the underlying policyholders if a reinsurer defaults on obligations

under the reinsurance arrangement. Although we regularly evduate

the financial condirion of reinsurers to minimize exposure to
significant losses from reinsurer insolvencies, reinsurers may become

financially unsound. IF a reinsurer fails to meet its obligations under

the reinsurance conffact or if the liabilities exceed any applicable loss

limit, we will be forced to cover the claims on the reinsured policies.

The collecrability of amounts due frorn reinsurers is subject to

uncertainry arising from a number of factors, including whether the

insured losses meet the quali$'ing conditions of the reinsurance

contract. whether reinsurers or their affiliates have the financial

capacity and willingness to make payments under the terms of the

reinsurance contract, and the magnirude and rype of collateral

supporting our reinsurance recoverable, such as by holding suffrcient

qualifring assets in crusts or letters ofcredit issued. Although a portion
of our reinsurance exposures are secured, the inabiliry to collect a
material recovery from a reinsurer could have a material adverse effect

on our results ofoperations, financial condition and liquidiry.
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ITEM 18. Unresolved Staff Comments
None.

ITEM 2. Properties
Our global real estate portfolio consists of approximately 8.3 million
square feet oF owned and leased properties. Our domestic portfolio
has approximately 6.2 million square feet in 37 states, the District of
Columbia, Puerto Rico and the Virgin Islands. Our International
properties contain approximately 2.1 million square feet located

throughout the following countries: Belgium, Canada, China, France,

Hong Kong, India, Indonesia, Kenya, Malaysia, Netherlands, New
Zealand, Singapore, South Korea, Spain, Sweden, Switzerland,

Thiwan, Thailand, Tirrkey, United fuab Emirates, and the United
Kingdom.

Our principal, domestic office locations, including various support

operations, along with Group Disability and Life Insurance, Health

PART I
ITEM 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

Services, Core Medical and Service Operations and the domestic

office of our Global Supplemental Benefits business are the \iirilde

Building located at 900 Cottage Grove Road in Bloomfield,
Connecticut (our corporate headquarters) and Two Liberty Place

located at 160l Chestnut Street in Philadelphia, Pennsylvania. The
\Wilde Building measures approximately 833,000 square feet and is
owned, while Two Liberry Place measures approximately 462,000
square feet and is leased office space.

'We 
believe our properties are adequate and suitable for our business as

presently conducted. The foregoing does not include information on

investment properdes.

ITEM 3. Legal Proceedings
The information contained under "Litigation Matters" in Note 23 to ov Financial Statements beginning on page 114 of this Form lO-K, is

incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 4. Mine S"ftty Disclosures
Not applicable.
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EXECUTI\IE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT
All officers are elected to sewe for a one-year term or until their
successors are elected. Principal occupations and employment during
the past five years are listed below.

LISA R. BACUS, 50, Executive Vice President and Global Chief
Markedng Officer of Cigna beginning May 2013; Executive Vice

Presidenr and Chief Marketer at American Family Insurance from
February 2008 uncil May 2013.

MARK L. BOXER, 55, Executive Vice President and Global Chief
Information Officer of Cigna beginningApril 20ll; Deputy Chief
Information Officer, Xerox Corporation; and Group President,

Government Health Care, for Xerox Corporation/Affiliated
Computer Services from March 2009 until April 2011.

DAVID M. CORDANI, 49, Chief Executive Officer of Cigna

beginning December 2009; Director since October 2009; President

beginning Iune 2008; and Chief Operating Omcer from June 2008

until December 2009.

HERBERT A. FzuTCH, 64, President, Cigna HealthSpring

beginning January 2012; and Chairman of rhe Board and Chief
Executive Officer of HealthSpring and its predecessor,

NewQuest, LLC, from commencement of operations in September

2000 unril HealthSpring was acquired by Cigna in January 2012.

NICOLE S. JONES, 44, Executive Vice President and General

Counsel of Cigna beginning June 2011; Senior Vice President and

General Counsel of Lincoln Financial Group from May 2010 undl

June 2011; Vice President and Depury General Counsel of Cigna

from April 2008 until May 2010; and Corporate Secretary of Cigna

from September 2006 until April 2010.

THOMAS A. McCARIHY, 58, Executive Vice President and Chief
Financial Officer of Cigna beginning J:dry 2013; Vice President of
Finance with responsibiliry for treasury, tax, strategy and corporate

development, and management of run-offreinsurance from February

2003 until Jluly 2013; Acting Chief Financial Officer from September

20 l0 until June 20 I 1, and Tieasurer from July 2008 until June 20 I 1.

MAITHE\fl G. MANDERS, 53, President, U.S. Commercial

Markets and Global Health Care Operations beginning June 2014;
President, Regional and Operations from November 2011 until June
2014; President, U.S. Service, Clinical and Specialry from January
2010 until November 2011; and President of Cigna HealthCare,

Total Health, Productivity, Nerwork & Middle Market from June
2009 undl January 2010.

JOHN M. MUMBITO, 56, Executive Vice President, Human
Resources and Services of Cigna beginning August 2003.

IASON D. SADLER,46, President, International Markets beginning

Ilune 2014; President, Global Individual Health, Life and Accident
from July 2010 until June 2074, and Managing Director Insurance

Business Hong Kong, HSBC Insurance Asia Limited from January
2007 until July 2010.
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ITEM 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related
Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of
Equity Securities

The information under the caption "Quarterly Financial Data- Stock

and Dividend Data" appears on page ll5 and the number of
shareholders of record as of December 31, 2014 appears under the

caption "Highlights" on page 3l of this Form l0-K. Cigna's common

stock is listed with, and uades on, the New York Stock Exchange

under the svmbol "CI".

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

The following table provides information about Cignat share repurchase activiry for the quarter ended December 31, 2014:

Approxinate dollar value of shares

Totd # ofshares Average price paid Toal # ofshares purchased as part of that may yet be purchased as part

October 1-31,2014
November 1-30,2014
December l-31,2014

r,619,626
1,or4,804

1,208,630

$ 89.54

$ 102.39

$ 103.46

$ 41r,255,576

$ 307,618,626

$ 682,648,486

r,619,398
1,012, 1 1 5

1,207,945

Total 3,843,060 $ 97.31 3,839,458 N/A
(I)Inclu&t:barstcnderedb7mplo7eaaspaytntoftuelwithheaontheaaciscof*ochopiowandtheuestingofra*icedcockgranudundotbcCompan7ieqit7compnsaotpbns.

Enplqca tendzftd 228 sharc in Octobt, 2,689 in Novmbo and 685 thncs in Decmba 2014.

(2)Cignabashadarepurhascprogramfor,f'anl1ear''andhahaduaringhwkofrepurchreautborityandaaiuityanderthisprogram.The2rogranhasnoupiraiontc'
actiuit1underthisprogramfrontimet0timcandaLoremouetwch'uspen'iou,gentratl1withoatpablicannouncement.In2014,theCompan1reparchasedl8.5nillionshartr
appwimztely $1.6 billion. Faruining authoiztion undu the program ut appwimately $68j million u of December 31, 2014. FromJanury I, 2015 through Februry 25, 2015, tbe

Company rcpurchued 1.9 million sharafor approximately $217 million. The Ampanyi Board of Direcan inoedsed sharc repurebase autboity b1 $500 milbon on Februry 25, 2015.
Remaining autboizttion xndr the prugram wa $966 milhon as ofFcbrazry 25, 2015,

(3) Approximate dolkr ualue of shares is rc of tbe kst date of the applicable month
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Five Year Cumulative Total Shareholder Return*
December 3l,2OO9 - December 3l,2Ol4

$350

$200

$150

$100

$50

$o

r2l3u09 t2l3ut0 r2lSutl r2l3rl12 r2l3ur3 r2l3rlt4

__{- cigna

-+- s&P 5oo Inds

.@ S&P Mmaged Health Care, Life & Health Ins. Inde:res**

$300

$250

t2l3rlo9 r2l3rlro r2l3rlrl r2l3llr2 Lt14

249 $ 293

S&P 500 Index $ 100 $ 115 $ 136 r80

S&PManagedHeafthCare,Life&Healthlns. Indexes** $ toO $ 113 $ 135 $ 145 $ 218 $ 277
* ,4sumet that thc ualae of ilc inuestmnt in Cigna common tocb and erch inda wre $100 on December 31, 2009 and that all diuidends ufr reinuetted,

** \Yeigbted auerage of SdP Managed Heahh Care (75o/o) and Life and Hedbh luurance (25%o) Indexes.

30 CIGNA CORPORAIION - 2014 Form L0-K



PART II
ITEM 6. Selected Financial Data

ITEM 6. Selected Financial Data
The selected financial data should be read in conjunction with Managementt Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations and the Consolidated Financial Statements and accompanying notes included elsewhere herein.

Highlights

(Dolhn in miltiou shan amoant) 20t4 2013

Revenues

Premiums and fees and other rwenues

Net investment income

Mail order pharmacy revenues

Realizcd investment sai

TOTAL REVEI.ILJES

Results of Operationrl

Global Health Care

Global Supplemental Benefits

Group Disabiliry and Life

Other Operations(l)

Corporate

Realized investment gains, net of taxes

Shareholders' net income

Income (loss) attributable to noncontrolli lnterests

NET INCOME
Shareholders' net income per share:

Basic

Diluted '

Common dividends declared per share

$ 29,176

t,164

r,827

2t3

$ 26,308

r,t44
r,623

44

$ 19,210

t,t46
1,447

1,105

97

295

(e4)

(184)

41

t,260

t

$ 4.65

g 4.59

$ 0.04

$ 50,697

$ 4,990

$ 7,994

$ 28.00

285,533

8,178

3l,400

$ 18,528

1, l0t
r,420

940

84

305

lll
(2r 1)

50

1,279

4

62 75

$ 2r,865 $ 2r,r28

r,5r7
t/)

(3e4)

(222)

t4l

1,418

r42
279

82

(32e)

3l

$

$

1,476

2

5.28

5.18

r,o z)
I

5.70

5.6r

q

D

Total assets

Long-term debt

Shareholders' equity

Per share

Common shares outstanding (in thousands)

Shareholders of record

$ 0.04

$ 54,336

$ 5,014

$ 10,567

$ 38.35

275,526

7.535

$ 0.04

$ 53,734

$ 4,986

$ 9,769

$ 34.18

285,829

7,885

$ 4.69

$ 4.65

$ 0.04

$ 45,393

$ z,zes

$ 6,356

$ 23.38

27r,880

8,568

(l)Beginningin20]4,uecombinedtheresultofoarran.ofreinsurancergmentwithotheroperatior'Prior7earrgtnentixfomationbubeenconfomednthec
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ITEM 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Index

Management! Discussion and Anallsis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations ('MD&A) is intenled to prouidz information to assht you in
better understanding and eualuating our fnancial condition and resuhs of operations. lVe encourage you to read tbis MD4A in conjunction with our

Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part II, Item 8 oftbis Annual Report on Form I0-K and the "Rish Factori' contained in Part I ltem IA of
thit Annual Report on Form I0-K ("Forn I}-K).

(Jnhss otherwise indicated, fnancial information in the MDhA is presented in dccorddnce with accounting pinciplzs generally accepud in the United

States of America ('GAAP). See Note 2 to the Couolidnted Financial Stdtemettsfor additional information regarding the Companyi signifcant

accountingpolicies. W? measure the fnancial resubs of our segments using "segrnent eamings (hss)", def.ned as shareholdzri net income (hs) before

after+ax realized inuestment results. In this MD&A, ue also present infortnation using adjuxed income fom operations on both a consolidated and

segment basis. Adjusted income (loss) fom operations is another measure ofproftability used by our management because it presents the undzrlying renhs

of operations of our busineses and permits analysis of trends in undlrlying reuenue, expenret and shareholders'net income. Adjusted income (los) from
operations is defned as segment earnings (loss) excluding special items (dzsoibed in tbe table on page 36 of this Form I0-IO and resuhs of the GMIB
business. This measure is not drtermined in accordance with GAAP an/ should not be uiewed as a substitute for the most directly comparable GAAP

measures, which are shareholdzri net income on a consolidated. basis and segrnent earnings (los) on a segment basis. lVe exclade special itemt because

management does not belieue the! arc representatiue of our underfiingresubs of operations. We ako exclude the resulu of the GMIB busines because, prior
to February 4, 2013, the changes in the fair ualue of GMIB asets and liabilities were uolatile and unpredictabh. In some of our fnancial tables in this

MD&A, we present either percentage changes or "MM'uhen those changes are so lnrge as to become not medningfiil, and changcs in percentages are

expressed in basis points (bpi).

Overview

Cigna Corporation, together with its subsidiaries (either individually
or collectively referred to as "Cigna," the "Company," "we," "our" or
"us") is a global health services organization dedicated to a rnission of
helping individuals improve their health, well-being and sense of
security. To execute on our mission, Cigna's strategy is to "Go Deep",
"Go Global" and "Go Individual" with a differentiated set of medical,

dental, disability, life and accident insurance and related products and

services offered by our subsidiaries.

For further information on our business and srategy, please see

Item 1. "Business" in this Form 10-K.

Our Segments

fu explained in Note 22 to the Consolidated Financial Statements,

effective with the first quarter of 2014, we began combining the

results of our run-off reinsurance business with other immaterial

operating segments in Other Operadons for segment reporting
purposes. Prior year segment information has been conformed to the

current vear oresentation.
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W'e present the financial results of our businesses in the following three reponable segments:

Global Health Care Aggregates the Commercial and Government operating segments:

Commercial
. Encompasses both our U,S. commercial and certain international

health care businesses.
. Serves employers and their employees, including globally mobile

individuals, and other groups (e.g., governmental and

non-governmental organizations, unions and associations). In
addition. our U.S. commercial health care business also serves

individuals.
. Offers insured and self-insured medical, dental, behavioral health,

vision, and prescription drug benefic plans, health advocacy programs

and other products and services that may be integrated as part of a
comprehensive global health care benefit program.

Gouernment
. Offers Medicare Advantage, Medicare Part D and Medicaid plans.

Offers supplemental health, life and accident insurance products in selected

international markets and the U.S.

Offers group long-term and short-term disabiliry group life, accident and

specidty insurance products and related services.

PART II
ITEM 7. Managementt Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Ve present the remainder of our segment results in Otber Operatioas, consisting of the corporate-owned life insurance business ("COLI"),
run-offreinsurance and setdement annuity businesses and deferred gains associated with the sales ofthe individual life insurance and annuicy and

retirement benefi ts businesses.

Key Thansactions and Other Significant Items

The following is a summary of key transactions and other significant

items since January 1,2012 affecting period-to-period comparisons of
our results.

Run-offReitrsurance Tiansaction. Prior to February 4,2013, our

run-off reinsurance business had significant exposures, primarily from
our guaranteed minimum death benefits ("GMDB" also known as

"VADBe") and guaranteed minimum income benefits ("GMIB")
businesses. Eflective February 4,2013, we entered into an agreement

with Berkshire to reinsure future exposures For this business, net of
existing retrocessional arrangements, up to a specified limit, for a

payment of $2.2 billion. The reinsurance Fansaction aligned with our
strategy ofincreasing financial flexibility by accomplishing an effective

exit from the GMDB and GMIB businesses. As a result of this

transaction, we recorded an after-tax charge of $507 million in the

first quarter of 2013 that was reported as a special item. See Note 7 to
the Consolidated Financial Statements and the Other Operations

secdon of this MD&A for additional information.

Pharmacy Benef.tManagement ("PBM') SerticesAgreement. In

June 2013, we entered into a 10-year pharmacy benefit management

services agreement with Catamaran Corporation. Under this

agreement, we utilize their technology and service platforms, retail

nework contracting and claims processing services. In the second

quarter oF 2013, we recorded one-cime transaction costs of
$37 million pre-rax ($24 million after-tax) that were reported as a

special item. This arrangement has produced a positive contribution

to earnings in 2014 through improved clinical management,

purchasing and administrative effi ciencies.

Organizational Efficiency Pkns, Ve regularly evaluate ways to
deliver our products and services more efficiently and at a lower cost.

During 2013 and2012, we adopted specific plans to increase our
organizational efficiency, resulting in a charge of$60 million pre-tax
($40 million after-tax) in 2013 md $77 million pre-tax ($50 million
after-tax in 2012, See Note 6 to the Consolidated Financial

Statements for additional information.

Disability Claims Regulatory Matter

During the second quarter of 2013, we finalized an agreement with
the Departments of Insurance for Maine, Massachusetts,

Pennsylvania, Connecticut and California (together, the "monitoring

states") related to our long-term disability claims handling pracrices.

In connection with the terms of the agreement, the Company

recorded a charge of $77 million before-tax ($5t million after-tax) in
the first quarter of 2013. The charge was comprised of two elements:

(1) $48 million of benefit costs and reserves from reassessed claims

expected to be reopened, and (2) $29 million of additional coscs for
open claims as a result of the claims handling changes being

implemented. This charge was reported in the Group Disabiliry and

Life segment. We are actively implementing the terms of the

agreement and continue to communicate with the monitoring states

on progress. If the monitoring states find material non-compliance
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with the terms of the agreement upon re-examination, we may be

subject to additional fines or penalties. In addition to the monitoring
stares, most other jurisdictions have joined the agreement as

participating, non-monitoring states.

Health Care Industry Developments

Health Care Reform and the implementing regulations have resulted

in broad changes that are meaningfully impacting the industry,

including relationships with customers and health care providers, the

design ofproducts and services, and pricing and delivery systems. In
2013, the industry saw government-prescribed reductions to
Medicare reimbursement rates (i.e., sequestration), ongoing payment

The "Regulation'section of this Form l0-Kprovides a detailed and up-to-date description of Health Care Reform provisions and other legislative

initiatives that impact our domestic health care business, including regulations issued by CMS and the Departments of the Tieasury and Health

and Human Services (.'HHS"). The table presented below provides a summary of the financial impacts of key provisions of Health Care Reform

in 2014 and beyond.

reductions for Medicare Advantage plans by the Centers for Medicare

and Medicaid Services ("CMS) and changes in requirements

associated with operational and performance metrics used to
determine Medicare Advantage payments and benefits. For 2014,
there have been further changes resulting from Health Care Reform

and the implementing regulations including public exchanges, a

non-deductible industry tax in addition to fees and assessments, and

minimum medical loss ratio requirements for Medicare Advantage

and Medicare Part D plans. Collectively, these changes have had a

significant impact on our business and customers, requiring

adjustments to our business model to mitigate their effects on our
results of operations and cash flows.

Medicare Advantage C'MA)
and Part D Program Impacs

- Sequestration

-MA Rates

- Medical Loss Ratio (MA
and Part D)

Seqaestration: As a result of sequestration, federal government reimbursement rates for MA and

Part D were lowered by 2% beginningApril 1,2013. This program is expected to run through
2023. \X/hile these rate reductions significantly impact our Government operating segment, their
overall effect on consolidated net income and cash flows was immaterial in 2013 and 2014 and is
expected to continue to be immaterial.

MA Rates: In April 2014, CMS published its notice of final federal government reimbursement rates

for calendar year 2015. Based on industry data, overall MA rates for 2015 are expected to be 2o/o

lower than 2014 for MA carriers. fusuming a similar book of business to 2074, we would expect a
2o/o rate decrease to lower full-year 2015 MA premiums by approximately $100 million. W'e do not
expect these lower rates to have a significant impact on our 2015 net income or cash flows based on

:;..rt0tt 
bid submissions that included adjustments to our programs and services to reflect the 2015

The 2014 federal government reimbursement rates established by CMS included a variery of payment

reductions to Medicare plans. Overall, these rates were reduced by approximately 6% compared with
2013. Assuming a similar book of business to 2013, we estimated this rate decrease would lower

full-year 2014 MA premiums by approximately $300 million. In 2014, premium decreases related to

the CMS rate reductions have been partially mitigated through changes in member risk scores and

customer enrollment mix (in total, and by counry).

These rate reductions, together with the impact of rhe health insurance industry tax, have negatively

impacted margins for the Government operating segment.

Medical Loss Ratio ('MLR): Beginning in 2014, if our MLR for MA or Part D business is less

than the required 85% minimum, we will be required to pay a rebate to CMS. The effect of these

MLR rebates was not material to our results of ooerations or cash flows in 2014.
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Health Care Reform Thxes

and Fees

- Industrv Tax

- Reinsurance Fee

Heahb Insurance Industry Tar. See Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional
information. ln2014, we recognized $238 million in operating expenses for the industry tax. Because

this tax is not deductible for federal income tax purposes, our effective tax rate increased in 2014,

both on a consolidated basis and for the Global Health Care segment. Of the full-year tax,

$134 million relates to our commercial business and the remaining $104 million relates ro our
Medicare business. For our commercial business, we incorporated the 2014 fees into our targeted

pricing actions. For our Medicare business, although we have partially mitigated the effect of the tax

through benefit changes and customer premium increases, the combination of the tax and lower MA
rates in 2014 have contributed to lower margins in the Government operating segment in 2014. See

the Consolidated Results of Operations and Global Health Care sesment sections of this MD&A for
Further discussion.

Reinsurance Fee: This fee is a fixed dollar per customer lery that applies to insurers and self-insured

major medical plans excluding Medicare Advantage and Medicare Part D products. Proceeds from the

fee will be used to fund the reinsurance program for non-grandfathered individual business sold

either on or off the public exchanges beginning in 2014. For our insured business, the amount of the

fee is approximately $110 million in 2014 and, is tax deductible. \7e incorporared the 2014 fees into
our targeted pricing actions. See the Global Health Care section of this MD&A for further
discussion.

Public Health F-xchanges

Risk Mitigation Programs

Commercial MLR

Public Healtb Excharges: For 2014, we offered individual coverage on five public health insurance

exchanges (Arizona, Colorado, Florida, Tennessee and Texas). Beginning in2015, in addition to
those five states, we began offering coverage on exchanges in Maryland, Georgia and Missouri. See

the Global Health Care segment section of this MD&A for further discussion around the results

from our individual business.

Rish Mirtgation Programs'. See Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for a description of
these programs that commenced onJanuary 1,2014 along with our accounting policy. \(e recorded

receivables of approximately $200 million after-tax in 2014 related to these programs.

Cornmercial MLR The effect of the commercial MLR rebate accrual was not material to our results

of ooerations or cash flows in 2014.
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Consolidated Results of Operations

Summarized below are our results of ooerations on a GAAP basis.

Financial Summary For the Years Ended December 31, Increase/(Decrease) Increase/(Decrease)

On mittiorc) 2014 2Ol3 2Ol2 2Ol4 vs.20l3 2013 vs. 2012

Fees and other revenues

Net investment income

Mail order pharmary revenues

Realized investment gains

Total revenues

Global Health Care medical claims expense

Other benefit expenses

Mail order pharmary costs

Orher operati

Benefits and

Income before income tues

Income taxes

Financial Summary
In millions)

3'601 t53,291 540

)?,

(28)

(7)

26

7

1
L

3_

2

7

4

310 9

15,867

4,998

1,509

7,830

1 9)'l

32,380

r,623

44

r4,228

3,672

1,328

7,414

2

412

(5e)

827

(358)

398

539

20

204

r69

3,261

416

3,562

(l 5r)

(r46)

I

z

r3

N/M

ll
t2

36

L4

o

r3

2,477

853

Net income

frss: net income (loss) anribumble to

t,478

noncontrolling interests 2 I

Shareholders' net income t,476 $ r,623 $

A reconciliation of shareholders' net income to adiusted income from oDerations follows:

30,204 26,642 r,406

2,r76

698 <l?

616

(r2)

(l 8)

(e)

r00N/M

42o/o $

For the Years Ended December 31, Increase/(Decrease) Increase/(Decrease)

20t4 2013 2012 2014 vs.20l3 2013 vs.2Ol2

Shareholders' net income

less: realized invesrment net of tues

Segment earnings

$ ,il,rrtlut ;,102 $ 1,476 $

r,335

25

(24)

(507)

(5 t;

(40)

r,623 $

3r

(40)

r,932 $ r,734 $

r4.078 t3,856

ozo

(35)

66r

(25)

24

507

5l

40

42o/o

f?5)

50

04n (efk

Less: GMIB and special items (after-tax):

Results of GMIB business

Cosrs asociated with PBM seruices agreement

Charge related to reinsurance !rmsaction
(See Note 7 to the Consolidated

Financial Statements)

Charge for disabiliry claims regulatory matter
(See Note 23 ro rhe Consolidated

Financial Sratements)

Charges for orgarizational efficienry plans
(See Note 6 to the Consolidated

Financial Statements)

Charges associated with litigation matters discussed

in Note 23 to the Consolidated Financial

Statements

Costs associated with acquisitions
(See Note 3 to the Consolidated

Finmcial Statements)

ADJUSTED INCOME FROM OPERATIONS

Otfier Key Consolidated Financial Data

Global medical customers, excluding limited
beoefits ftn thousands)

(50;

(257)

(4)

(24)

(507)

(5 t1

10

378

40

198

222

(230)bps

re
ffi
,ffi
W

Effective tax rate 36 60/o
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Consolidated Results of Operations: 2014
Compared to 20L3 and 20L3 Compared to
2012
, Retenues: The components of revenue changes are discussed

firrther below:

. Premiums. The increase in 2014 compared with 2013 reflects

premium growth in each of our ongoing reporting segments:

Global Health Care, GlobaI Supplemental Benefits and Group
Disability and Life. These results are primarily attributable to
rate increases to recover both medical cost trend and new taxes

and fees assessed under Health Care Reform. Business growth
in certain of our market segmenrs and producm, including
U.S. commercial individual, stop loss and Medicaid also

contributed to the increase. The increase in 20L3 compared
with 2012 was driven primarily by continued customer growth
in targeted markets of all of the ongoing segments, and, to a

lesser extent, acquisitions in lare 2012 in the Global
Supplemental Benefi ts segment.

. Fees and otlter reuenues. The increase in 2014 compared with
2013 laryely resulted from growh in specialry contributions,
including pharmacy and cost containment. For 2013, the
growth in fees and other revenues over 2012 was due to
customer growth as well as increased specialty contributions.
Fees and other revenues also included pre-tax losses of
$39 million tn 2013 and $ I l9 million in 2012 artributable to
the hedge program associated with the GMDB and GMIB
businesses prior to the reinsurance uansaction with Berlahire
in 2013.

' Net inuestment income, ln 2014, net invesrment income was

flat compared with 2013, reflecing higher average investment
assets offset by lower yields. The slight increase in 2013,
compared with 2012, was primarily due to higher yields driven
in part by higher partnership income, partially offset by lower
average investment assers primarily due to sales of assets to
fund the reinsurance transaction with Berlahire.

' Mail order pharmaql reuenuel Increases in each of 2014 and

2013 compared with the prior year, primarily reflected higher
prescription volume for specialry medicarions (injectibles) and
price increases to recover pharmacy cost trend.

, Realized inresfinent retttbs. ln 2014, realized investment results

decreased compared with 2013, primarily due to significantly
lower gains on sales of fixed maturiries rhat were partially offset
by a gain on the sale of an equiry inrerest in 2014. The
significant increase in 2013, compared with 2012, primarily
resulted from gains on the sales ofreal estate joint ventures and
higher gains on sales offixed maturities. In the firsr quarter of
2013, we realized large gains on sales of fixed maturities
primarily to fund the reinsurance transaction wirh Berkshire.

See Note 14 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for
additional information.

. Global Heahh Care medical chims expensa See the Global
Health Care secdon of this MD&A for further discussion.
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. Otber benefit experces. The decrease in other benefir expenses in
2014 compared with 20 I 3 resulted from the absence of the charges

recorded in the first quarter of 2013 associated with rhe reinsurance

agreement with Berkshire ($727 million pre-tax), partially offset by
continued business growth in the Global Supplemental and Group
Disability and Life segmenrs. ln 2013, the increase compared with
2012 reflecced the charges recorded in the first quarter of 2013
associated with the reinsurance agreement wirh Berlahire and, ro a
lesser extent, conrinued business growth in the Global Supplemental
and Group Disability and Life segments.

. MaiI ordn pbarmacy ro.rtr. The increases in both 2014 ar,;'d,2013

are due to volume increases for specialty medicarions (injectibles)

and higher unit costs.

. Othn operatingeqtenses,In2014, the increase in other operaring
expenses over 2013 was largely driven by new taxes and fees assessed

under Health Care Reform and business growth in all of our
ongoing segments. The increase in 2013 compared with 2012 was

due primarily to business growth in all of our ongoing segments. See

the segment reporcing section of this MD&A for additional
discussion of operating expenses.

. Shareholders' net income. For 2014, the significant increase in
shareholders' net income compared with 2013 is largely due to the
absence of the $507 million after-tax charge associated with the
reinsurance agreement with Berkshire recorded in the first quarter of
2013. The decrease in shareholders'net income in2013, compared
with 2012 was also driven by this after-tax charge, partially offset by
an increase in adjusted income from operations.

. Adjusted income from opentions. ln 2074, the increase in
adjusced income from operations compared with 2013 was largely
driven by higher earnings in our ongoing business segmenrs (Global

Health Care, Global Supplemental Benefits, and Group Disability
and Life), partially offset by higher taxes in Corporare related to
Health Care Reform and the absence of favorable tax benefirs

recorded in the third quarter of 2013. The increase in adjusted

income from operations in 2013 compared wirh2012 was largely
atuibutable to earnings growh in all of our ongoing business

segments (Global Health Care, Global Supplemental Benefits, and
Group Disability and Life). See the segment discussions later in this
MD&A for firrther information.

. Consolidated fficthte tax rate. The increase in the consolidated
effective tax rate in20l4, compared with 2013, was primarily driven
by the non-deductible health insurance industry tax first assessed

under Health Care Reform in 2014. The consolidated effective tax
rate decreased in 2013, compared with 2012, primarily driven by
favorable tax benefits reported in the third quarter of 2013. See

Note 19 to the Consolidated Financial Starements for addidonal
information.

. GIobaI rnedical customers (excluding limited benefits). Ve exited
the limited benefits business in 2014 as required by Health Care

Reform. Excluding limited benefirs cusromers, our medical
cnstomer base increased in both 2014 and 2013 compared with
comparable prior years, primarily driven by continued grou,th in
our targeted market segments.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources
Finmcial Summary
(In milliot) 2014 2013 2012

Short-term investments

Cash and cash equivalents

Short-term debt

I ^."-t"r- d"h.

Shareholders'eouitv $ 10.774

Consolidated short-term investments decreased in 2014 compared with 2013 as a result of the Company reinvesting proceeds from maturities of
short-term investments in longer-term holdings. The increase in short-term investments in 2013 compared with 2012was driven by purchases of
liquid commercial paper and United States Government obligations.

Liquidity
\We maintain liquidiry at two levels: the subsidiary level and the parent company level.

Liquidiry requirements at the subsidiary level generally consist ofi
. claim and benefit payments to policyholders; and

. operating expense requirements, primarily for employee compensation and benefits, information technology and real estate.

Our subsidiaries normally meet their operating requirements by:
. maintaining appropriate levels of cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments;

' using cash flows from operating activities;

' selling investments;

. matching investmenc durations to those estimated for the related insurance and contractholder liabilities; and

. borrowing from the parent company.

Liquidiry requirements at the parent company level generally consist of:
. debt service and dividend payments to shareholders; and
. pension plan funding.

The parent company normally meets its liquidiry requirements by:
. maintaining appropriate levels of cash, cash equivalents and short-term lnvestments;

' collecting dividends from its subsidiaries;

. using proceeds from issuance of debt (including commercial paper) and equity securities; and

. borrowing from its subsidiaries.

Cash flows for the years ended December 31, were as follows:

2013

$ ' ,'r'ir',1i63 $

$ r,420 $

\ t+/ 5

$ 5,005 .$

$ t0.774 $

63t $ r54

2,795 $ 2,978

233 $ 2ol

5,014 $ 4,986

10.567 $ 9.769

Ner cash provided by operating activiries

Ner cash provided by (used in) invesring acrivities

Cash flows from operating activities consist of cash receipts and

disbursements for premiums and fees, mail order pharmacy, other
revenues, investment income, taxes, benefits and expenses, and, prior
to February 4,2013, gains and losses recognized in connection with
our GMDB and GMIB equiry hedge programs. Because certain

income and expense transactions do not generate cash, and because

cash transactions related to revenues and expenses may occur in
periods difFerent from when those revenues and expenses are

recognized in shareholders' net income, cash flows from operating

activities can be significantly different from shareholders' net income.

Cash flows from investing activities generally consist of net
investment purchases or sales and net purchases of properry and

equipment including capitalized sofware, as well as cash used to
acquire businesses.

Cash flows From financing activities are generally comprised of
issuances and re-payment of debt at the parent company level,

$ I,994 i $

$ (1,755) $

7r9 $ 2,350

15 $ (3,857)

l,ic (e3o) $ (228)$t;

proceeds on the issuance of common stock resulting from stock

option exercises, and stock repurchases. In addition, the subsidiaries

report deposits to and withdrawals from investme nt contract liabilities
(including universa-l life insurance liabilitie$ because such liabilides

are considered financing activities with policyholders.

Operating actiaities
Cash flows from operating activities increased substantially in 2014
compared with 2013, primarily due to the absence of the 2013

reinsurance payments totaling $2.2 billion to Berkshire. Excluding

those payments and tax benefits rcalized in connection with the

Berkshire transaction, cash flows from operating activities in 2014
decreased by $0.6 billion, compared with 2013. This decrease was

primarily related to the volume and timing of reimbursements

prescribed by government programs.
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Cash provided by operating activides declined by $1.6 billion in20l3
compared with 2012 primarily due to reinsurance payments totaling

$2.2 billion made in 2073 to Berlahire.

htuesting actiuities

Cash flows from investing activities decreased by $ I .8 billion in 2014
compared with 2013, primarily due to higher net purchases of fixed

maturities. In 2013, net purchases of fixed maturities were lower than

2014 primarily due to funding the Berkshire transaction. Cash flows

from investing activities increased by $3.9 billion in 2013 compared

with 2012 primarily driven by the absence of 2012 payments to

acquire HedthSpring.

Financing actiaities

Cash used in financing activities increased in 2014 compared with the

same period in 2013, primarily reflecting $0.6 billion in higher

repurchases of common stock. Cash used in financing activities in

2013 increased by $0.7 billion compared with 2012 primarily due to

higher repurchases of common stock.

lnterest Expense

lnterest expense on long-rerm debt, short-term debt and capital leases was as follows:

Share repurcbase
'We maintain a share repurchase program that was authorized by our
Board of Directors. The decision to repurchase shares depends on

market conditions and alternate uses of capital. W'e have repurchased,

and may continue to repurchase, shares on the open market through a

Rule l0b5-l plan that permits a company to repurchase its shares at

times when it otherwise might be precluded from doing so under

insider trading laws or because of self-imposed trading blackout

periods. \(e suspend activity under this program from time to time

ili"j:_'..Jove 
such suspensions, generally without public

ln 2014, we repurchased 18.5 million shares for $1.6 billion. From

January I, 2015 through February 25, 2015 we repurchased

1.9 million shares for $217 miilion. On February 25,2015, the
Company's Board of Directors increased share repurchase authoriry by

$500 million. Accordingly, the total remaining share repurchase

authorization as ofFebruary 25, 2015 was $966 million. In 2013, the

Company repurchased 13.6 miilion shares for $1.0 billion and, in
2072,we repurchased 4,4 million shares for $208 million.

Interest

2014 2013 2012

270 $ 268

The weighted average interest rate for outsranding short-term debt
(primarily commercial paper) was 0.27o/o at December 31,2014 and,

0.41.o/o at December 31,2013.

Capital Resources

Our capital resources (primarily retained earnings and proceeds from
the issuance of debt and equity securities) provide protection for
policyholders, Furnish the financial strength to underwrite insurance

risks and facilitate continued business growth.

Management, guided by regulatory requirements and rating agency

capital guidelines, determines the amount of capital resources rhat we

maintain. Management allocates resources to new long-term business

commitments when returns, considering the risla, look promising

and when the resources available to support existing business are

aoequare.

\(/e prioridze our use of capitd resources to:

. provide the capital necessary to support growth and maintain or
improve the financial strength ratings of subsidiaries;

. consider acquisitions that are strategically and economically

advantageous; and

. return capital to invesrors through share repurchase.

The availabiliry of capital resources will be impacted by equiry and

credit market conditions. Extreme volatility in credit or equiry market

conditions may reduce our abiliry to issue debt or equiry securities.

Liquidiry and Capital Resources Outlook
At December 3l, 2014, there was approximately $400 million in cash

and short-term investments available at the parent company level.

In 2015, the parent companyt combined cash obligations are

expected to be approximately $380 million to pay for commercial

paper maturities, interest, dividends and required pension

contributions.

'We expect, based on the parent companyt current cash position,

current projections for subsidiary dividends, and the ability to

refinance its commercial paper borrowing, to have sufficient liquidiry
to meet the obligations discussed above.

Our cash projections may not be realized and the demand for funds

could exceed available cash if our ongoing businesses experience

unexpected shortfalls in earnings, or we experience material adverse

effects from one or rnore risks or uncertainties described more fully in
the Risk Factors section of this Form lO-K. In those cases, we expect

to have the flexibiliry ro satisf, liquidiry needs through a variety of
rneasures, including intercompany borrowings and sales of liquid
investments. The parent company may borrow up to $1.3 billion
from its insurance subsidiaries without additional state approval. As of
December 31, 2014, the parent company had approximately

$165 million of net intercompany loans receivable from its insurance

subsidiaries. Alternatively, to satisfy parent company liquidiry
requirements we may use short-term borrowings, such as the

commercial paper program, the committed revolving credit and letter

of credit agreement of up to $1.5 billion subject to the maximum debt

leverage covenant in its line of credit agreement. fu of December 31,
2014, $1 .5 billion of short-term borrowin g capacity under the credit
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agreement was available to us. Within the maximum debc leverage

covenant in the line of credit agreement, we have $6.5 billion of
borrowing capacity in addition to the $5.2 billion of debt

outstanding.

Though we believe we have adequate sources o[ liquidity, continued

significanr disruption or volatility in the capital and credit markets

could affect our ability to access those markets for additional

borrowings or increase costs associated with borrowing funds.

rWe maintain a capita.l management strategy to retain overseas a

significant portion ofthe earnings from our foreign operations. These

undistributed earnings are deployed outside ofthe U.S. in support of
the liquidiry and capital needs oF our foreign operations. As o[
December 31, 2014 undistributed earnings were approximately

$1.8 billion. Approximately $15 million of cash and cash equivalents

held overseas would, ifrepatriated, be subject to a charge representing

the difference becween the U.S. and foreign tax rates. This strategy

does not materially limit our abiliry to meet our liquidiry and capiral

needs in the United States. Cash and cash equivalents in foreign

operations are held primarily to meet local liquidiry and surplus needs

::r*T:r.:r 
funds generally invested in longer duration, high qualiry

Unfundcd Pension Phn Liability. As of December 31,2074, o,tr
unfunded pension liabiliry was $1.1 billion, reflecting an increase of

approximately $0.5 billion from December 31,2013. The year over

year increase in the unfunded liabiliry reflected $0.6 billion in higher

projected benefit obligations primarily as a result of a decrease of 75

basis points in the assumed discount rate, and changes to our
mortalicy assumptions based on an updated pension mortaliry table.

These impacts were partially offset by $0.1 billion in asset growth

driven by pension contributions and strong asset returns. In 20 I 5, we

do not expect to make pension contributions in excess of the

$5 million minimum required under the Pension Protection Act of 2006.

See Note 9 for additional information regarding our pension plans.

Soluency II. Our businesses in the European Union will be subject

to the directive on insurance regulation, solvency and governance

requirements known as Solvency II. This directive will impose

economic risk-based solvency and governance requirements and

supervisory rules and becomes e{itctive in20l6, although certain EU
country regulators are requiring companies to demonstrate technical

capabiliry and comply with increased capital levels in advance of this

effective date. Our European insurance companies are capitalized at

levels consistent with projected Solvency II requirements and in
compliance with anticipated governance and technical capabiliry

requlrements.

Aker 5
yetrs

Guarantees and Contractua-l Obligations
'We 

are contingently liable For various contractual obligations entered into in the ordinary course oF business. The maturities of our primary
contractual cash obliqations, as of December 31,2014, are estimated to be as follows:

(h millions, ou an undiscounred brcis) Total
Less thm

I year
t-3

yeils
4-5

years

On-Balmce Sheet:

Insurance liabiliries:

Conuactholder depos.it funds

Future policy benefits

Global Health Care medical claims payable

Unpaid claims and claims expenses

Short-term debt

Long-term debr

Other long-rerm liabilities

Off-Balarce Sheet:

Purchase obligations

Operating leases

6,693 $

1r,665
t tql
4,776

r47

6,45>

695

)45
604

744 $

459
', 11<

r,463

147

263

154

4bz

139

966 $

I,TI4
24

927

1,383

121

284

207

777 $

1,091

11

624

828

87

r39
130

4,206

9,001

33

t,762

5,96r
333

60

128

$ 36.153 $ 5.956 $ 5,026 $ 3,687 $ 2r,484

The expected future cash flows for GMDB and GMIB conrracrs

included in the table above (within future policy benefits and other

long-term liabilities) do not consider any of the related reinsurance

arrangemenrs.

On-Balance Sheet:

. Insurance liabilities. Contractual cash obligations for insurance

liabilities, excluding unearned premiums, represent estimated net

benefit payments for health, life and disabiliry insurance policies

and annuity contracts. Recorded contractholder deposit funds

reflect current fund balances orimarilv from universal life customers.
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Contractual cash obligations for these universal life contracts are

estimated by projecting future payments using assumptions for
lapse, withdrawal and mortaliry. These projected future payments

include estimated future interest crediting on current fund balances

based on current investment yields less the estimated cost of
insurance charges and mortaliry and administrative fees. Acrual

obligations in any single year will vary based on accual morbidiry
mortaliry lapse, withdrawal, investment and premium experience.

The sum of the obligations presented above exceeds the

corresponding insurance and contractholder liabilities of $20 billion
recorded on the balance sheet because the recorded insurance

liabilities reflect discountinq for interest and the recorded
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contractholder liabilities exclude future interest crediting, charges

and fees. Ve manage our investment portfolios to generate cash

flows needed to satisry contractual obligations. Any shortfall from
expecced investment yields could result in increases to recorded

reserves and adversely impact results of operations. The amounts

associated with the sold retirement benefits and individual life
insurance and annuiry businesses, as well as the reinsured workers'

compensation, personal accident and supplemental benefits

businesses, are excluded from the table above as net cash flows

associated with them are not expected to impact us. The total
amount of these reinsured reserves excluded is approximately

$5 billion.

, Short-tenn debt represents commercial papet current maturities of
long-term debc, and current obligations under capital leases.

. Long-tenn debt includes scheduled interest payments. Capiml

leases are included in long-term debt and represent obligations for
IT network storage, servers and equipment.

. Other long-term liabilities. This table includes estimated

payments for GMIB contracts, pension and other postretirement

and postemployment benefit obligations, supplemental and

deferred compensation plans, interest rate and foreign currency

Fixed maturities

Commercial mortgage loans

Real estate

Limited liabiliry entities (other long-term investmenrs)

swap contracts, and certain tax and reinsurance liabilities. These

items are presented in accounts payable, accrued expenses and other

liabilities in our Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Estimated payments of $76 million for deferred compensation,

non-qualified and international pension plans and other

postretirement and postemployment benefit plans are expected to
be paid in less than one year. Our best estimate is rhar conuibucions

to the qualified domestic pension plans during 2015 will be

approximately $5 million. W'e expect to make payments subsequent

ro 2015 for these obligations, however subsequent payments have

been excluded from the table as their timing is based on plan

assumptions that may materially differ from actual activities. See

Note 9 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further
information on pension and other postretirement benefit

obligations.

The above table also does not contain $26 million of liabilities for
uncertain tax positions because we cannot reasonably estimate the

timing of their resolution with the respective taxing authorities. See

Note 19 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year

ended Decembet 31,2014 for further information.

74

65

682

Off-Balance Sheet:

Parcbae obligations. As of December 31, 2014, purchase obligadons consisted of estimated payments required under contractual
arrangements for future services and investment commitments as follows:

(Ir million)

Total investment commitments
Future service commitments

82r
r24

TOTAL PIJRCHASE OBLIGAIIONS 945

\(e had commitments to invest in limited liabiliry entities that hold
real estate, loans to real estate entities or securities. See Note I l(C) to
the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information.

Our estimated future service commitments primarily represent

contracts for certain outsourced business processes and IT
maintenance and support. !(i'e generally have the ability to terminate
these agreements, but do not anticipate doing so at this time. Purchase

obligations exclude contracts that are cancelable without penalry and

those that do not specifr minimum levels of goods or services ro be

purchased.

Openting bases. For additiona-l information, see Note 2l to the
Consolidated Financial Statemencs.

Guarantees

Ve are contingently liable for various financial and other guarantees

provided in the ordinary course of business. See Note 23 to rhe

Consolidated Financial Statements for additional informacion on

guarantees.

CIGNA CORPOMTION - 2014 Form ll-K 4r



PART II
ITEM 7. Managementt Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Critical Accounting Estimates

The preparation ofConsolidated Financial Statements in accordance

with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions

that affect reported amounts and related disclosures in the

Consolidated Financial Statements. Management considers an

accounting estimate to be critical if:

. it requires assumptions to be made that were uncertain at the time
the estimate was made; and

. changes in the estimate or different estimates that could have been

selected could have a material effect on our consolidated results of
operations or financial condition.

Management has discussed the dwelopment and selection of its
critical accounting estimates with the Audit Committee of our Board

of Directors and the Audit Committee has reviewed rhe disclosures

presented below

In addition to the estimates presented in the following table, there are

other accounting estimates used in the preparation of our

Consolidated Financial Statements, including estimates of liabilities
for future policy benefits, as well as estimates with respect to unpaid

claims and claim expenses, postemployment and postretirement

benefits other than pensions, certain compensation accruals, and

income taxes,

Management believes the current assumptions used to esrimate

amounts reflected in our Consolidated Financial Stacemenrs are

appropriate. However, if actual experience differs from the

assumptions used in estimating amounts reflected in our
Consolidated Financial Statements, the resulting changes could have a

material adverse effect on our consolidated results ofoperations and,

in certain situations. could have a material adverse effect on our
liquidiry and financial condition.

See Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further
information on signifi cant accounting policies.
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Balance Sheet Caption / Nature of Critical Accounti.g Estrmate Effect if Difierent fusumptions Used

Goodwill

At the acquisition date, goodwill represents the excess of the cost of
businesses acquired over the hir value of their net assets.

'We completed our annual evaluations of goodwill for impairment
during the third quarter of 2014. These evaluations were performed at

the reporting unit level, based on discounted cash flow analyses. The
evaluations indicated that no impairment was required.

Fair value of a reporting unit was estimared using models and

assumptions that we believe a hypothetical market participant would
use to determine a current transaction price. The significant

assumptions and esdmates used in determining fair value include the

discount rate and future cash flows. A range ofdiscount rates was used,

corresponding with the reporting unit's weighted average cost of
capital, consistent with that used for investment decisions considering

the specific and detailed operating plans and strategies within the

reporting units. Projections of future cash flows were consiscent with
our annual planning process for revenues, claims, operating expenses,

taxes, capital levels and long-term growth rates.

Our Cigna-HealthSpring business (reported in the Government

operating segment that is also the reporting unit) contracts with CMS
and various state governmental agencies to provide managed health

care services, including Medicare Advantage plans and Medicare-

approved prescription drug plans. Estimated future cash flows for this

business incorporated the potential effects of sequesrration and

Medicare Advantage reimbursement rates for 2015 and beyond as

discussed in the "Overview" section of this MD&A. Revenues from
the Medicare programs are dependent, in whole or in part, upon

annual funding from the federal government through CMS. Funding

for these programs is dependent on many factors including general

economic conditions, continuing government efforts to contain health

care coscs and budgecary constraints at the federal level and general

political issues and priorities.

Goodwill as of December 3l was as follows (in millions):

. 2014 - $5,989

. 2013 - $6,029

See Notes 2(H) and 8 to rhe Consolidated Financial Statements for
addidonal discussion of our goodwill.

Ifwe do not achieve our earnings objectives or the cost ofcapital rises

significantly, the assumptions and estimates underlying these

impairment evaluadons could be adversely affected and result in future
impairment charges that would negatively impacr our operaring
results. Future reductions in the funding for our Medicare programs by
the federal government would reduce Cigna-HealthSpringt revenues

and profitabiliry and adversely impact the fair value of the Government
oPeraung segmenr.

The estimated fair value of each reporting unit exceeded its carrying

value by a substantial margin based on our annual evaluations of
goodwill for impairment during the third quarter of 2014.
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Balance Sheet Caption / Nature of Critical Accountinq Estimate Effect if Difierent fusumptions Used

Accounts pqlubh, aecrued erptenses and other liabilities - pension
liabilities

These liabilities are estimates of the present value of the qualified and

nonqualified pension benefits to be paid (attributed to employee

service to date) net of the fair value ofplan assets. The accrued pension

benefit liabiliry as of December 31 was as follows (in millions):

. 2Ot4 - $L,O99

. 2013 - $611

See Note 9 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for assumptions

and methods used to estimate oension liabilities.

The discount rate is rypically the most significant assumprion in
measuring the pension liability. \7e develop the discount rate by
applying actual annualized yields at various durations from a discount
rate curye constructed from high qualiry corporate bonds.

If discount rates for the qualified and nonqualified pension plans

decreased by 50 basis points, the accrued pension benefir liability
would increase by approximately $240 million as of December 31,
2014 resulting in an after-tax decrease to shareholders' equiry of
approximately $155 million.

If the Decembe r 31, 2014 fair values of domestic qualified plan assets

decreased by l0%, the accrued pension benefit liability would increase

by approximately $415 million as of December 31,2014 resulting in
an after'tax decrease to shareholders' equity of approximately

$270 million.

The impacts of these hypothetical changes on pension expense or
minimum funding requirements would not be material to our results

ofoperations, financial condition or liquidiry in 2015.

An increase in these key assumptions would result in impacts to,

the accrued pension liabiliry and shareholders' equity in an

opposite direction, but similar amounts.

Global Heabh Care medical ckins payablc

Medical claims payable for the Global Health Care segment include

both reported claims and estimates for losses incurred but not yet
reported.

Liabilities for medical claims payable as of December 31 were as

follows (in millions):

. 2OI4 - gross $2,180; net $1,928

. 2013 - gross $2,050; net $1,856

These liabilities are presented above both gross and net of reinsurance

and other recoverables and genera[y exclude amounts for
administrative services only business.

See Notes 2 and 5 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for
additional information regarding assumptions and methods used to
estimate this liabiliry.

ln 2014, actual experience differed from our key assumptions as of
December 31,2013, resulting in $159 million of favorable incurred

claims related to prior years' medical claims payable or 1.00/o of the
current year incurred claims as reported in 2013. In 2013, actual

experience differed from our key assumptions as of December 31,

2012, resulting in $182 million of favorable incurred claims related to
prior years' medical claims, or 1.3% of the current year incurred claims

reported in 2012. Specifically, the favorable impact is due to faster than

expected completion factors and lower than expected medical cost

trends, both of which included an assumption for moderately adverse

exPeflence.

The impact of this favorable prior year development was an increase to
shareholders' net income of $53 million in 2014. The change in the

arnount of the incurred claims related to prior years in the medical

claims payable liabiliry does not directly correspond to an increase or
decrease in shareholders' net income as explained in Note 5 to the

Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Balance Sheet Caption / Nature of Critical Accounting Estinate Effect if Different Assumptions Used

Valaartor of fo"d mataity intest nents

Most fixed maturities are classified as available for sale and are carried

at fair value with changes in fair value recorded in accumulated other

comprehensive income (loss) within shareholders' equity.

Fair value is defined as the price at which an asset could be exchanged

in an orderly transection between market participants at the balance

sheet date.

Determining fair value for a financial instrument requires management

judgment. The degree ofjudgment involved generally correlates to the

lwel of pricing readily observable in the markets. Financial instruments

with quoted prices in active markets or with market observable inputs

to determine fair value, such as public securities, generally require less

judgment. Conversely, private placements including more complex

securities that are traded inFrequently are typically measured using

pricing models that require more judgment as to the inputs and

assumptions used to estimate fair value. There may be a number oF

alternative inputs to select, based on an understanding ofthe issuer, the

structure of the securicy and overall market conditions. In addition,

these flactors are inherentlyvariable in nature as they change frequently

in response to market conditions. Approximately two-thirds of our
fixed maturities are public securities, and one-third are private

placement securities.

See Note 10 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for a discussion

of our fair value measurements and the procedures performed by

management to determine that the amounts represent appropriate

estlmates.

Typically, the most significant input in the measurement of fair value is

the market interest rate used to discount the estimated future cash

flows from the instrument. Such market rates are derived by calculating

the appropriate spreads over comparable U.S. Tieasury securities, based

on the credit qualiry industry and structure of the asset.

Ifthe interest rates used to calculate fair value increased by 100 basis

points, the fair value of the total fixed maturiry portfolio of
$19.0 billion would decrease by approximately $1.2 billion.

,4ssessrnent of "otber-than-temporary" impairtnents of fxed
maturities

To determine whether a fixed maturityt decline in fair value below its

amortized cost is other than temporary, we must evaluate the expected

recovery in value and our intent to sell or the likelihood ofa required

sale of the fixed maturiry prior to an expected recovery. To make this

determination, we consider a number of general and specific factors

including the regulatory, economic and market environments, length

oftime and severity ofthe decline, and the financial health and specific

near term prospects of the issuer.

See Notes 2 (C) and 11 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for
additional discussion of our review of declines in fair value, including
information regarding our accounting policies for fixed maturities.

Segment Reporting

For all fixed maturities with cost in excess of their fair value, if this

excess was determined to be other-than-temporary shareholders' net

income for the year ended December 31,2014 would have decreased

by approximately $28 million after-tax.

The following section of this MD&A discusses the results of each of
our reporting segments. We measure the financial results of our
segments using "segment earnings (loss)", defined as shareholders' net

income (loss) before after-tax realized investment results. In the

following segment discussions, we also present information using
"adjusted income (loss) from operations", defined as segment earnings
(loss) excluding special items and results of the GMIB business.

Adjusted income (loss) from operations is another measure of

profitabiliry used by our management because it presents the

underlying results ofoperadons ofour businesses and permits analysis

of trends in underlying revenue, expenses and shareholders' net

income. This measure is not determined in accordance with GAAP

and should not be viewed as a substitute for the most directly
comparable GAA-P measure that is shareholders' net income. \tre

exclude special items because management does not believe rhey are

representative of our underlying results of operations. 'We also exclude
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the results ofthe GMIB business because, prior to the reinsurance transaction with Berkshire on February 4, 2013, the changes in the fair value of
GMIB assets and liabilities were volatile and unpredictable.

The tables presented below summarize results from operations by segment.

For the Years Ended December 31, Increase/(Decrease) Increase/(Decrease)

20L4 2013 2012 2014vs.2013 2013 vs,20l2
Shareholders' Net Income
(In milliow)

Segment earnings (loss)

Global Health Cre

Global Supplemental Benefis

Group Disabiliry and Life

Other Operations

Corporate

Total

Net realized investment net of taxes

net lncome

Mjusted Income (Loss) From Operations
(In miltiorc)

$ 1616

230

317

68

r,4r 8 $ r29 90/o $ 99 70/o

r42 55 31 33 23

279 58 22 (20) (7)

82 ' 462 rr7 (476) N/M
(222) (329) (43) ( 19) t07 33

1,5T7 $

175

259

(394)

1,335

r4r

I <q?

3r

(257)

r10

(16)

N/M

66r

(35)

5o

(25)

r,476 $ 1,623 $ 626 42o/o $ r47)

For rhe Yers Ended December 31, Increase/(Decrease) Increase/(Decrease)

2014 2013 2012 20l4vl20l3 2Ol3 vs.20l2

Global Health Care

Global Supplemental Benefi ts

Group Disabiliry and Life

f)rh". O^"..ti^."

$ 1646

210

317

68

1,572 $

183

311

88

1,480$ 74::50/o$
r48 47 26

28r62
53 (20) (23)

(228) (43) ', 09)

92

35

30

35

60/o

24

l1

66

(222)

r.932 t.734 S

Global Health Care Segment
'W'e measure the operating effectiveness of the Global Health Care segment using the following key factors:

. segrnent earnings and adjusted income from operauons;

. cr.rstomer growth;

. sales of specialry products;

. operating expense as a percentage of segment revenues (operating expense ratio); and

. medical expense.rs a percentage of premiums (medical care ratio or "MCR').

6

1983o/o $64 llo/oTotd

3
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Results of Operations

Financial Summary
In

Premiums

Fees and other revenues

Net inveitment income

Mail order pharmacy revenues

Segment revenues

Medical claims expense

Mail order pharmacy costs

nses

Benefics and expenses

Income before tues

Income tues

Loss attributable to noncontroll

SEGMENT EARMNGS

Less: special items (after-tx) included in segment earnings:

Charge for organizational efficiency plan
(See Nore 6 ro rhe Consolidared Financial Statemens)

Costs associated with PBM servlces agreement

Costs associated with acquisitions

related to litisation matter

INCOME FROM OPEMIIONS

Realized invescment net of tues

Effective tax rate
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For the Years Ended December 31, Increase/(Decrease) Increase/(Decrease)

20r4 2012 2Ol4vs.2013 vs. 2012

19,626 $ 17,877 $ 1,083 60/o $ r,749 70o/o

3,518 3,321 487 14 197 6

337

WIHiWHI
Wffiffifi

325

t,827

, <c)

t,623 4r2

r,328 398

5,313 428

t2

2r1 34r

793 213

- 
(l)

466
23 204

128

)<l

1S

13

12

T4

5

r.907

1,035

25,296 23,080 r,994 I 2,216

t5,867 14,228 827 5 t,639

r,509

5,5 8l

22,957 20,869 r,653 2,088 10

o

4

26

8

7

15

)l

t29

t lxo

822

(3t;

(24)

99r,5t7

ll
(24)

7

r,572 $ $ 5o/o

73$ 9$ (26)0/o $ N/M

35.1o/o 15.9o/o

Earnings Discussiont 2013 compared to 2012
The increase in Global Health Cares segment earnings and adjusted

income From operations in 2013, compared wich 2012, reflected

revenue growth from a higher customer base and rate increases

consistent with underlying medical cost trends. Results in 2013 also

benefited from increased specialry contributions and hieher net

investment income.

These favorable effects were partially offset by a higher MCR in
Medicare Advan tagein 2013 driven by lower per member government

reimbursements and higher inpatient and outpatient medical costs. In
2013, results also included higher operating expenses associated with
customer growth and enhancements to our capabilities, partially offset
by operating cost efficiencies.

92

64

Earnings Discussion: 2014 compared to 2013
Excluding the special items reported in 2013, segment earnings and

adjusted income from operations increased in 2014, compared with
2013. This growth was primarily driven by increased specialry

contributions, including strong pharmacy results, partially offset by

lower earnings in our government segment primarily due to taxes and

fees mandated by Health Care Reform and a higher medical care ratio

in our Medicare Part D business. In addition, results include the

impact ofhigher operating expenses reflecting investment spending to
enhance our capabilities, and lower margins in our U.S. Commercial

group risk business, including our exit from the limited benefits

business. Results in the U.S. commercial individual business (after

considering receivables from the government risk mitigation
programs) were flat.
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Reuenues

The table below shows premiums by product line for the Global Health Care segment:

For the years ended December 31,
(In milliot) 2Ol4 2013 2012

Guaranteed cost $ 4,463 $ 4,256

Experience-rated

Stop loss

Internarional health care

Denta.l

Medicare

Medicaid

Medicare Part D

Other

TOTAL PREMIUMS

Premiaml The increase in 2014 compared with 2013 was primarily
driven by rate increases on most products in the Commercial segment

to recover underlying medical cost trends and taxes and fees mandated

by Health Care Reform. In addition, premiums reflect customer

growth in our U.S. commercial individual business, as well as in
targeted markets for srop loss and Medicaid products. These increases

were partially offser by a decline in group commercial risk customers

including a shift from our insured to self-insured products and our

exit from the limited benefits business.

Premiums increased in 2013, compared with 2012, in the U.S.
Commercial segment due to customer growth and rate increases

consistent with underlying medical cost trends. In addition, Medicare

Guaranteed cost medical care ratio

Medicare Advantage medical care ratro

Medicare Parr D medical care ratio

Operating expense ratio - including special items

r,r39 1,005

5,639 4,969

317

r,387

730

Advantage premiums were higher due to timing of the HealthSpring

acquisition and customer growth.

Fees and otber let)enues. The increase in2014, compared with 2013,

largely resulted from growth in specialty contributions, including
pharmacy and cost containment. In 2013, rhe growth in fees and

other revenues compared rc 2012 was due to customer growth as well

as increased cost containmenr revenues.

Net itaestmmt income. The increases in both 2014 and, 2013,
compared with each prior year, were due to higher assets and higher

income from partnership investments, with the 2014 increase partially
offset bv lower vields.

83.>orb

86.3oio

22.0o/o

2,292 2,022

r,907 r,672

r,752 r,648

81.5o/o 80.2o/o

84.8o/o 80.9%

82.3o/o 81.2o/o

22-l% 23.0o/o

27.7o/o 22.60/o

Benefits ntd Erytenses

Global Health Care segment benefits and expenses consist of the followrng:

(n milliou) 2014 2013 2012

Medical claims expense 15,867 14,228

Operating expenses, excluding special items 5,$7 5,217

Special items 84 96

TOTAL BENEFITS AND HOENSES $ 22,957 $ 20,869

Selected ratios

Operating expense rado - excluding special ttems
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Medical cltims e4tense. The 5% increase in 2014 compared with
2013 primarily reflecrs medical cost inflation and customer growth,

partially offset by our exit from the limited benefits business.

Medical claims expense increased l2o/o in 2013 compared with 2012,

primarily due to medical cost inflation, the timing of the

HealthSpring acquisition, and customer growth. Higher Medicare

Advantage inpatient and outpatient medical costs also contributed to
the increase.

The guaranteed cost medical care ratio increased slighdy in 2014,

compared with 2013, due to a higher medical care tatio in the U.S.

individual business and the exit from the limited benefits business,

offset by rate increases to cover new taxes and fees mandated by

Health Care Reform.

The Medicare Advantage medical care tatio decreased in 2014,
compared to 2013, reflecting improved per-customer revenues. The
ratio increased in 2013, compared with 2012, driven by lower

government reimbursement rates as well as higher medical costs.

The Medicare Part D medical care ratio increased tn2014, compared

with 2013, primarily due to higher pharmacy costs including some

impact from the mix and channel of customer drug purchases as well

as increased specialry medication costs.

Operating eqrenses. Operating expenses increased 8o/o in 2014
compared with 2013. Excluding the 20L3 special items and the

Health Care Reform taxes and fees that became effective in 2014,
operating expenses increased 3o/o in 2014 compared with 2013. The

Other Items Affecting Health Care Results

Ghbal Heahh Care Medical Claims Payable

Medical claims payable increased 60/oin2014 compared with 2013, primarily driven by growth in the individual and stop loss books of business.

Medical claims payable increased 70o/o in 2073 compared with 2012, primarily reflecting growth in the stop loss and HealthSpring books of
business.

Medical Customers

A medical customer is defined as a person meeting any one of the following criteria:

. is covered under an insurance policy or service agreement issued by the Company;

. has access to the Company's provider nerwork for covered services under their medical plan; or

. has medical claims that are administered by the Company.

increase primarily reflects higher volume-related expenses and greater

spending to enhance our capabilides, partially offset by cost

efficiencies.

Operating expenses increased 5o/o in 2Ol3 compared with 2012,

primarily reflecting customer growth, increased spending to enhance

our capabilities, including costs associated with our new PBM
arangement, and the timing of the HealthSpring acquisition,

partially offset by cost efficrencres.

The operating expense rarios, both including and excluding special

items, are essentially flat in 2014, compared with 2013. Excluding the

Health Care Reform taxes and fees that became effective in 2014, the

operating expense ratios decreased in 2014 compared with 2013,

reflecting cost efficiencies and higher revenue, partially offset by

higher spending to enhance our capabilities.

The operating expense ratios including and excluding special items

decreased in 2013, compared wirh 2012, primarily driven by revenue

growth and cost efficiencies partially offset by higher spending to
enhance our capabilities, including 2013 costs associated wich our
new PBM arrangement.

Effe*ite Tax Rates. The increase in the segmentk effective nx rare in
2014 compared with 2013 was attributable to the 2014 health

insurance industry tax that is not tax deducdble. The slight decline in
the effective tax rate in 2013 compared with2012 primarily reflected

the recognicion of tax benefits in certain of the segment's foreign

oPerations.
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As of December 31, estimated medical customers were as follows:

U.S. Guaranteed cost(l)

U.S. Experience-rated

lnternational hedth care - Risk

Total commercial risk(l)

Medicare

Medicaid

Total

Total risk(r)

Service, includins international health care

TOTAL MEDICAL CUSTOMERS (excluding limited benefits)

Limited benefits

960

794

742

14,078

139

946

786

744

13,856

189

2,496 2,476

467 426

)1

492 449

2,988 t ot<

1 1,090 10,931

TOTAL MEDICAL CUSTOMERS t4.217

(l) 2013 and 2012 excludz limited beneft mttomers

fu required by Health Care Reform, we exited the limited benefits business effective December 31,2013. Excluding this impact, our medical

cusromer base increased 3o/o in2014, primarily driven by continued grovrth in the middle market, select, individual, and government market

segments, partially offset by a decline in the national market segment.

Excluding limired benefits customers, medical customers increased 27o in2013 compared to 2012, primarily reflecting continued ASO customer

growth due to strong retention and sales in targeted market segments

Global Supplemental Benefits Segment

Segment Description

The key faccors affecting segment earnings and adjusted income from operations for this segment are:

. premium growth, including new business and customer retention;

. benefits expense as a percentage of earned premium (loss ratio);

. operating expense and acquisition expense as a percentage of segment revenues (expense ratio and acquisition cost ratio);

. the impact of movements in foreign currenry; and

. the effective tax rate.

Throughout this discussion, prior period currency adjusted income from operations, revenues, and benefits and expenses are being calculated by

applying the current periodt exchange rates to reported results in the prior period. A strengthening U.S. Dollar against foreign currencies will
decrease segment earnings, while a weakening U.S. Dollar produces the opposite effect.

fu described in Note 3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, the Global Supplemental Benefits segment acquired two businesses during the

second half of 2012: GreatAmerican Supplementd Benefits and Finans Emeklilik (also referred to as the "TurkeyJV"). Collectively, throughout

this discussion these two transactions are referred to as "the acquisitions."
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Results of Operations

Finmcial Summary For tle Yers Ended December 31, Increase/(Decrease) Increase/(Decrease)

ffn millioni 2Ol4 2Ol3 2Ol2 2Ol4 vs.20l3 2Ol3 vs. 2Ol2

Premiums ,8 $ 2,496 $ 1,975 $ 348 l4o/o g 521 260/o

Fees and other revenues

Net invesrment income

,2 43 30 t3 4392r
99t09 100 90 l0 1l

Segmenr revenues 3,005 2,639 2,095 366 14 544 26

Benefit expenses

Operating expenses

Total benefirs and expinses

Income before tues

Income raxes

Income (loss) attributable to redeemable noncontrolling incerest

lncome attributable to other noncontrolling interest

SEGMENT EARNINGS

Less: special items (after-tx) included in segment earnings:

Charges for organizational efficiency plans (See Note 6 ro rhe

Consolidared Financial Statemen rs)

1,005 234

88

)zz IJ

44 19

(2) (4)

(e) N/M

30

2l

48 27

14 39

2 N/M

t8
8

..:rtli,

2,412

227

50

2

175

26496

3l))

(6)(8)

INCOME FROM OPERATIONS

Adjusted income from operations, using actual 2014 currency

exchange rares

Rea.lized investment gains, net of taxes

$ 210$ 183 $ r48 $ 47 260/o $

190 152 $ 40 2lo/o $

1$
q

$S3
Effective tu rate 22.0o/o 20.1o/o (410) bps

Loss ratio 54.3o/o 52.5o/o 50.9o/o 180 bos 160

Acquisition cost ratio 21.4o/o 23.60/o 25.1o/o (220) bps (150) bps

E"p.nr. .r,io (.*.luding 
".quirili-.or,r; |lillilldl:rtlil 18.2o/o 18.4o/o - bps (20) bps

Earnings Discussiont 2014 compared rc 2Al3

The increase in segment earnings and adjusted income from
operations was driven in parr by a lower acquisition cost ratio and

continuing business growth, primarily in South Korea, partially offset

by a higher loss ratio driven by a business mix shift and higher

incurred claims. 2014 results also included favorable tax-related items

of $21 million recorded in the third quarter o[2014 (see effective tax

rate discussion below).

Earnings Discussiont 2013 compared to 2012

The increase in segment earnings and adjusted income from
operations was primarily driven by business growth, primarily in
South Korea, lower acquisition costs in Europe reflecting a decision to

cease selling activities in certain markets, and earnings of the

acquisitions during the second halfof2013, partially oflset by higher

acquisition and benefits expenses.

Reuemes

Premiums increased in both 2014 and 2013 compared with each

prior year. Vhen applying 2014 exchange rates ro 2013 and,2012
results, premiums increased by I3o/o in 2014 and,25o/o in 2013. These

increases were primarily attributable to new sales, particularly in
South Korea and the U.S. reflecting both customer growth and sales

of higher premium products. In 20 I 3, the increase was also due to the

impact of the acquisitions in the second half of 2012.

Net intestment income, ln 2014, net investment income increased

compared with 2013, primarily due to asset growth in Sourh Korea.

Net investment income increased in 2013 compared with 2012,

primarily due to the impact of the acquisitions in the second half of
2012.

Benefits mrd Expenses

Beneft erl,enses increased in both 2014 and 2013, compared with
each prior year. Applying actual 2014 currency exchange rates to 20 I 3

results, benefit expenses increased by 160/o. These increases were

primarily due to business growth and higher claims primarily in South

Korea and rhe U.S. Applying acrual 2014 currency exchange rates to

prior year results, benefit expenses increased 2\o/o in 2013, compared

with 2012, primarily due to the acquisitions in the second half of
2012 and business growth.

Loss ratios increased in 201,4 and 2013 compared with each prior year.

In 2014, the increase is due primarily to a business mix shift toward

products with higher loss ratios and higher incurred claims. For 2013,

the increase primarily results from the inherently higher loss ratios of
the acquisitions ir.r the second half of 2012.
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Operuting er:perltes. Included in operating expenses for the Global

Supplemental Benefits segment are both policy acquisition costs and

other operating expenses. Overall operating expenses were higher in
2014 and 2013 compared with each prior year, reflecting increases in
both policy acquisition costs and other operating expenses. For 2014,
the increase in policy acquisition costs reflects higher commissions in
Hong Kong, the U.K. and the U.S., primarily driven by higher sales.

For 2013, the increase in poliry acquisition costs was largely

attributable to the acquisitions and business growth, partially offset by

lower acquisition costs in Europe reflecting a decision to cease selling

activities in certain markets &ting 2012. The increases in other

operating expenses in both 2014 and 2013 compared with each prior
year rvere largely driven by strategic business investments.

Acquisition cost ratios decreased in both 2014 and 2013 compared

with each prior year. For 2014, the decline in the ratio largely

represents a shift toward higher premium products and more

disciplined acquisition cost spending. The decrease in the ratio in
2013 was primarily driven by lower acquisition costs in Europe

reflecting a decision to cease selling activities in certain markets during
20L2 and, to a lesser extent, the impact of the lower acquisition cost

ratios associated with our supplementa-l benefits business in the U.S.

The expense ratio (excluding acquisition costs) was flat in 2014
compared with 2013 reflecting strategic business investments largely

offset by operating efficiencies. In 2013, the expense ratio decreased

compared with 2012 primarily due to the lower expense ratios

associated with our supplemental benefits business in the U.S.,

partially offset by strategic business investments.

Effectiae tat rates. The effective tax rate for the Global Supplemental

Benefits segment decreased in 2014 compared with 2013, due to
favorable tax related items reported in the third quarter of 2014,
primarily the favorable effect of expanding our capital management

suategy to retain a significant portion of our foreign operations'

earnings overseas. Effective tax rates in 2013 and 2Ol2 largely reflect

the continuing favorable impact of this capital management stratery.

Other Items Affecting Global Supplemental
Benefits Results

For our Global Supplemental Benefits segment, South Korea is rhe

single largest geographic market. South Korea generated 52o/o of the
segmentt revenues artdT60/o of the segmentt earnings in 2014. Due

to the concentration of business in Sourh Korea. the Global
Supplemental Benefits segment is exposed to potential losses resulting

from economic, regulatory and geopolirical developments in that
country as well as foreign currency movements affecting the South

Korean won, that could have a significant impact on the segmentt
results and our consolidared financial results. In South Korea and

certain other geographic markets, we continue to innovate and

broaden our product and channel distribution capabilities to support

business growth and mitigate potential adverse effects of increased

data privacy regulatory requirements and other risks to telemarketing

distribution. ln 2014, our Global Supplemental Benefits segment

operations in South Korea represented 4o/o of our total consolidated

revenues and 8% of shareholders' net income.

Group Disability and Life Segment

Key factors for this segment are:

. premium growth, including new business and customer retention;

. net lnvestment rncome;

. benefit expenses as a percentage ofearned premium (loss ratio); and

. other operating expense as a percentage of earned premiums and

fees (expense ratio).
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For the Years Ended December 31, Increase/(Decrease) Increase/(Decreroe)

Results of Operations

Finmcial Summary
(In mitlion)

Premiums

Fees and other revenues

Net investment income

Benefit expenses

Operating expenses

78

32r

65

300

8

t4

10

4

20

7

J,/4/ 3,409 223

2,621

766

t0

2,716

797

2,D0

724

95

3\

331

+t
t4

6

(In millions) 2014 2013 2012 2Ol4 vs.2$l3 2Ol3 vs. 2Ol2

Premiums $ 3,5 $ 3,348 $ 3,044 $ 201 60/o $ 304 l0o/o

Total benefirs and

Income before taxes

Income taxes

SEGMENT EARNINGS

Less: special items (after-tu) included in segment earnings:

Charge for disabiliry claims regularory matcer (See Note 23 to
the Consolidared Financial Statements)

Charge for organizational efiicienry plans (See Note 6 ro the

Consolidated Financial Statements)

3,513

r4

3 387

360

3,0r4 r26

(35) (e)

(15) (13)

259

(5 l1

(20)

(5 l)5l

(r) (2)

INCOME FROM OPERATIONS $3n$28r$ 2o/o $

Realized investment gains, net of tues I $ 40 $ 18 (65)% $ 22 't22o/o

Effective tax rate ,'il.i0. :: 28.1o/o 2g.4o/o 250

Loss ratio ', idi 78.3o/o 75.2o/o (180)bps 310bos

Loss ratio, excluding special items 76.5%;,.; 76.00/o 75.2o/o 50bps 80bps

Operating expense ratio 2L9o/a 22.4o/o 23.3o/o (50)bps (90)bps

Earnings Discussion: 2014 compared ta 20L3
Segment earnings increased in 2014 compared with 2013 due

primarily to the absence of the $51 million after-tax charge related to a

disabiliry claims regulatory matter. See rhe Overview secrion of this
MD&A lor further in[ormation. The increase in adjusted income
from operations reflected favorable life results, higher net invesrmenr

income and a lower expense ratio partially oflset by higher disabiliry
claim costs largely due to a lower discount rate. Disabiliry claim costs

were lower in2073 in part due to the $29 million favorable after-tax

effect of a higher discount rate on claims incurred in2013, resulting

from the reallocation ofhigher yielding assets to the disability and life
portfolio that had previously supported liabilities in the run-off
reinsurance business. The favorable after-tax efFects ofreserve reviews

were $52 million in 2014 and $60 million in 2013.

Earnings Discussiont 2013 compared to 2012
Segment earnings decreased in 2013 compared wirh 2012 primarily
due to the charge associated with the disabiliry claims regulatory
matter. Adjusted income from operarions increased reflecting lower
disability claim costs, a lower expense ratio and higher net investmenr
income partially offset by unfavorable life claims experience. Lower
disabiliry claim costs included the $29 million favorable after-rax
effect of a higher discount rate on claims incurred during 2013 as

discussed above. Results included the favorable afrcr-ax effect of
reserve reviews of $60 million in 2013 and $43 million in 2012.

Reuenues

Premiums, The increases in both 2014 and in 2013 reflected new

!;;::rui,$u..,o 
Otr"Ott'ty and life sales and continued strons

Net inuestment income. The increases in both 2014 and in 2013
were primarily due to higher assets partially oflset by lower yields.

Bewefx nnd Expenses

Beneft ex?enses. The increase in 2014 compared with 2013 was

due primarily to premium growth and higher disabitiry claims costs

including the effect of a lower discount rate, paftially offset by the
absence of rhe $77 million before-tax charge for the disabiliry claims

regulatory matter and favorable life results. Disabiliry claim costs .in

2013 benefited from the $40 million before-tax impact oF higher
discount rates driven by the reallocation of higher yielding assers to
the disability and life portfolio as noted above. The favorable life
results reflected lower new claim incidence. Benefit expenses included
the before-tax favorable impact oF reserve reviews of $75 million in
2014 compared with $84 million in 2013.

The increase in benefit expenses in 2013 compared with 2012 was

primarily due to the $77 million before-tax impact of the disability
claims regulatory mattet premium growth and unfavorable life claims

experience partially offset by lower disability claim costs. The
unfavorable life claims experience wx driven by higher new claim sizes

and the lower disabiliry claim costs were driven by discount rate changes

in 2013 as discussed above and the lavorable impao ofreserve reviews.

Benefit expenses in 2013 included the before-tax favorable impact of
reserve reviews of $84 million compared with $60 million in 2012.
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Operating erpense ratio, The decrease in the operating expense ratio in both 2014 and 2013 reflected continued expense discipline.

Efectiae tax rate. The segmentt effective tax rate is generally lower than the federal tax rate of 35o/o, primarily due to tax-exempt interest

income on bonds. The increase in the effective tax rate in 2014 compared with 2013 resulted from a decline in the proportion of the segmentt

income that was atrriburable to to(-exempt interest and, to a lesser extent, the absence of rhe tax benefir reported in 2013 related to the

completion of IRS tax audits. The decline in the effective tax rare in 2013 compared with 20l2was due to the tax benefit reported in 2013 related

ro rhe completion of IRS tax audits.

Other Operations

Description

Cignat COLI business contributes the majority of earnings in Other Operations. In the first quarter of 2014, we combined the results of the

Run-offReinsurance segment with other immaterial segments in Other Operations, because the results are expected to be immaterial subsequent

ro rhe reinsurance transaction with Berkshire in 2013. Cignat Other Operations segment also includes the results from the run-off setdement

annuity business, as well as the remaining deferred gains recognized from the sale of the individual life insurance and annuiry and retirement

benefits businesses. Prior year information has been conformed to the current year presentation.

Results of Operations

Finmcial Summary
(In milliorc)

Fees and other revenues

Ner investment income

Segmenr revenues

Benefit expenses

Benefits and expenses

Income (loss) before taxes

Income taxes (benefits)

: 4.a (24) (101)

408 490 (24)

489 510

r,067

38 158 77 76

2t (4)

r83

(707) (63) 735

266

r15 (756) N/M

rr2,: (280) N/M

(82)(6)

4

(64)(687)377

385

||ll H$ (237)

tz)
.IJ

SEGMENT EARNINGS (LOSS)

Less: results of GMIB business

Less: special irems (after+u) included in segment earnings:

Charee related to reinsurance transacron

INCOME FROM OPERATIONS

Realized investment gains, net of tues

EFfective tu rate

Earnings Discussiont 2014 compared to 2013
Segment earnings increased significantly in 2014 compared with
2013, due primarily to the absence ofthe 2013 charge related to the

reinsurance transaction with Berkshire. Adjusted income from
operations decreased in 2014 compared with 2013, primarily
reflecting the absence oF the $14 million favorable impact of the

2009-2010 IRS examinations completed during the third quarter of
2013 and higher COLI claims experience in 2014.

Earnings Discussion: 2013 compared to 2012
The decrease in segment results in 2013 compared with 2012 was

driven largely by the 2013 charge related to the reinsurance

transaction with Berlahire. The increase in adjusted income from
operations in2013, compared with 2012, pimerily resulted from the
absence of rhe 2012 reserve strengthening in the GMDB business of
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(394)

25

(507)

$88
2 J

rr7 (476) N/M

(4)

1507)

(23)Vo $ 35

$

82

29

462

(25)

20

37,60/o 34.4o/o

$27 million and the $14 million favorable impact of completing the

2009-2010 IRS examinations during the third quarter of2013. See

Note 19 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional
information on the IRS examinations.

Reuenues

Premiums reflect revenue primarily on universal and whole life
insurance policies in rhe COLI business. Premiums increased in 2014
compared with 2013 driven primarily by strong persistency as well as

rhe impact of higher mortaliry in 2014 on experience-rated business.

In 2013, premiums decreased compared with 2012, due to the

absence of VADBe premium in 2013 because of the reinsurance

transaction, partially offset by higher COLI premium.

Fees and otber reaenues included losses of $39 million in 2013 and,

$119 million in 2012 associated with a dynamic hedge program for
the run-offreinsurance business that was discontinued in 2013 with
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the effective exit from the GMDB and GMIB businesses. Excluding

this hedge activity, other revenues were slightly lower in both 2014

and 2013 compared with each prior year, primarily due to the

continued decline in deferred gain amortization related to the sold

retirement benefits and individual life insurance and annuiw
businesses.

Net iwestment income decreased in 2014 and, to a much more

significant degree, in 2013 compared with each prior year. These

decreases were primarily due to lower average yields and the selling or
reallocating of investment assets in 2013 as a result of the reinsurance

transaction with Berkshire,

Benefits and. expenses

Benefit er?enses decreased in 2014 compared with 2013 primarily
due to the absence of the $727 million charge resulting from the

Corporate

Desciption

Corporate reflects amounts not allocated to operating segments, such as net interest expense (defined as interest on corporate debt less net
investment income on investments not supporting segment operations), interest on uncercain tax positions, certain litigation matters,
intersegment eliminations, compensation cost for stock options, expense associated with our frozen pension plans and certain overhead and
prolecr cosrs.

For dre Years Ended December 31, Increase/(Decrease) Increase/(Decrease)

Berlshire transaction as well as GMDB activity prior to the

transaction, partially offset by higher claims experience in the COLI
business. Excluding the $727 million charge resulting from the
Berkshire transaction, benefit expenses decreased in 2013 compared

with 2012 largely due to the GMDB activiry prior to the Berkshire

transaction, that was favorable in early 2013 and unfavorable in 2012.

Operatingeqtenses decreased in 2014 compared with 2013 primarily
due to the absence of expenses associated with the Berkshire

transaction and lower ongoing expenses subsequent to the transacrion.

Operating expenses in2012 included GMIB fair value gains of $(41)
million. Excluding this GMIB activity, operating expenses increased

in 2013 compared with 2012 primarily due to expenses associated

with the Berkshire transaction.

2014 2Ol3 2012 20l4vs.20l3 2013 vs.2Ol2
Financial Summary
(In milliow)

$ (265)

USTED IrOSS FROM OPEMTIONS $

Realired investment gains, net of taxes 24 N/M

Corporatet segment loss and adjusted loss from operations increased The decrease in Corporatet segment loss in 2013 compared with
in 2014 compared with 2013, primarily due to an increase in taxes 2012 is primarily attributable to the absence of special irem costs

related to certain employee stock compensation costs that are not associated with both litigation matters and the HealthSpring
deductible for income tax purposes under Health Care Reform. acquisition in 2012,

Investment Assets

The following table presents our invesced asset portfolio, excluding separate account assets, as oF December 31,2014 and 2013. Additiond
information regarding our investment assets and related accounting policies is included in Noces 2, 10,ll,12, 13,14 and l7 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

(Ir miltiow) 2Ol4 2Ol3

Segment loss

kss: special items (after-tax) included in segment loss:

Cost associated with HealthSpring acquisition (See Note 3 to
the Consolidated Financid Statemenrs)

Charge related to a litigation mater discussed in Note 23 to
the Consolidated Financial Statements

Equiry securities

Commercial mortgage loans

Policy loans

Other long-term investments

Short-rerm investments

(222) $ (329) $ (43) (19)o/o $ r07 33%

3o/o

-o/o

33

68

6

189 t4l
) )<J

I,4d)

r.370

TOTAL
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Fixed Maturities
Investments in fixed maturities include publicly traded and privately placed debt securities, mortgage and other asset-backed securities, and

preferred stocks redeemable by the investor. These investments are classified as available for sale and are carried at fair value on our balance sheec.

Additional information regarding valuation methodologies, key inputs and controls is included in Note 10 of the Consolidated Financial

Statements.

The following table reflects our fixed maturity portfolio by type of issuer as of December 31,2014 and,2013,

2013

Federal government and agency

State and local government

Foreign government

Corporate

Mortgage-backed

Other asset-backed

TOTAL

$ 880

2,r44

r,444

10,98 I

The fixed maturity portfolio increased approximately $2.5 bitlion
during 2014, reflecting increased investment in fixed maturities and

the impact of decreased market yields on asset valuations. Although
overall asset values ate well in excess of amortized cost, there are

specific securities with amortized cost in excess of fair value by

$42 million in aggregate as of December 31,2014. See Note 11 to the

Consolidated Financial Statements for further information.

As of December 31,2014, $17.1 billion, or 90o/o, o[ the fixed

maturities in our investment portfolio were investment grade (Baa and

above, or equivalent), and the remaining $1.9 billion were below

investment grade. The mqoriry of the bonds that are below

investment grade are rated at the higher end of the non-investment

grade spectrum. These qualiry characteristics have not materially

changed during the year.

Our investment in state and local government securities, with an

average quality rating of Aa2 is diversified by issuer and geography

with no single exposure greater than $28 million. We assess each

issuerk credit qualiry based on a fundamental analysis of underlying
financial information and do not rely solely on statistical radng

organizations or monoline insurer guarantees.
'We 

invest in high qualiry forelgn government obligations, with an

average qualiry rating of Aa3 as of December 31, 2014. These

Commercial Mortgage Loans

Our commercial mortgage loans are fixed rate loans, diversified by

property type, location and borrower. Loans are secured by high

qualiry commercial properties and are generally made at less thanT5o/o

of the property's value at origination of the loan. Properry value, debt

service coverage, quality, building tenancy and stabiliry ofcash flows

are all important financial underwriting considerations. Ve hold no

direct residential mortgage [oans and do not securitize or service

mortgage loans.

\(e completed an annual in-depth review of our commercial mortgage

loan portfolio during the second quarter of 2014. This review

included an analysis of each properry's year-end 2013 financial

statements, rent rolls, operating plans and budgets for 2014, a physical
inspection of the properry and other pertinent factors. Based on

properry values and cash flows estimated as part of this review and

subsequent fundings and repayments, the portfolio's average

loan-to-value ratio improved to 630/o at December 31, 2014, from
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13,4)8

153

884

investments are primarily concentrated in Asia consistent with the

geographic distribution of our international business operations.

Foreign governmenr obligations also include $218 million of
investments in European sovereign debt, none of which are in
countries with significant political or economic concerns (Portugal,

Italy, Ireland, Greece, and Spain).

Corporate fixed maturities include private placement investments of
$5.2 billion that are generally less marketable rhan publicly-traded

bonds. However, yields on these investments tend to be higher than

yields on publicly-rraded bonds wirh comparable credit risk. We

perform a credit analysis of each issuer, diversifr investments by

industry and issuer and require financia.l and other covenants that

allow us to moniror issuers for deteriorating financial strength and

pursue remedial actions, if warranred. Corporate fixed maturities

include $343 million of investments in companies that are domiciled
or have significanr business interesrs in Iraly, Ireland, and Spain. These

investments have an average qualiry raingof Baa2 and are diversified

by industry sector, including approximately 2olo invested in financial

institutions. Corporare fixed maturities also include investments in
the energy and natural gas sector of$1.4 billion that have an average

qualiry rating of Baa and are diversified by issuer with no single

exposure grearer rhan $45 million.

640/o as of December 3 l, 2013, reflecting a modest increase in values

for high qualiry commercial real estate. The portfoliot average debt

service coverage ratio also improved, increasing to 1.66 et

December 31, 2014 from 1 .62 as o[ December 3l, 2013. See Note I I
to rhe Consolidated Financial Statements for further information.

Commercial real estate capital markets remain most active for well

leased, qualiry commercial real esrate located in strong insriturional
investment markets. The vast majoriry of properties securing the

mortgages in our morrgage pordolio possess rhese characteristics.

Vhile commercial real estate fundamentals continued to improve, the

improvement has varied across geographies and properry types.

The commercial mortgage loan portfolio contains approximately 80

loans, including five impaired loans with a carrying value totaling

$ I 66 million that are classified as problem or porenrial problem loans.

Two of these loans totaling $86 million, net of $4 million in reserves,

are current based on restructured terms and three loans totaling
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$80 million, net of $8 million in reserves, are current. All of the

remaining loans continue to perform under their contractual terms.
rVe have $247 million oiloans maturing in the next rwelve monrhs.

Given rhe qualiry and diversiry of the underlying real estate, positive

debt service coverage and significant borrower cash investment

averaging 30o/o, we remain confident that the vast majoriry of

i.H::." 
will continue to perform as expected under the contract

Other Long-term Investments
Other long-term investments of $1.5 billion primarily include

investments in securiry partnership and real estate funds as well as

direct investments in real estate joint ventures. The funds typically
invest in mezzanine debt or equiry of privately held companies
(securiries partnerships) and equiry real estate. Given our subordinate

position in the capital structure of these underlying entities, we

assume a higher level of risk for higher expected returns. To mitigate

risk, investments are diversified across approximately 110 separate

partnerships, and approximately 65 general partners who manage one

or more of these partnerships. Also, the funds' underlying investments
are diversified by industry sector or properry rype, and geographic

region. No single partnership investmenr exceeds 60lo of our securities

and real estate partnership portfolio.

Although the total fair values of investments exceeded their carrying
values as of December 31, 2014, the hir value of our ownership
interest in certain funds that are carried at cost was less than carrying
value by $t7 million. \7e expect ro recover our carrying value over the
average remaining life of these investments of approximately 5 years.

Given rhe current economic environment, future impairments are

possible; however, management does not expect those losses to have a

materia-l effect on our results of operations, financial condition or
liquidiry. See Note 11 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for
further information regarding Other Long-term Investments.

Problem and Potential Problem Investments
"Problem'bonds and commercial mortgage loans are either
delinquent by 60 days ot more or have been restructured as to terms,

including concessions by us for modification of interest rate, principal
payment or maturity date. "Potential problem' bonds and commercial

mortgage loans are considered current (no payment more than

59 days past due), but management believes they have certain
characteristics that increase the likelihood that they may become

problems. The characteristics management considers include, but are

not limited to, the following:
. request from the borrower for restructuring;

. principal or interest payments past due by more than 30 but fewer

than 60 days;

. downgrade in credit rating;

. collateral losses on asset-backed securities; and

. lor commercial mortgages, deterioration of debt service coverage

below 1.0 or value declines resulting in estimated loan-to-value
ratios increasing to 100% or more.

rVe recognize interest income on problem bonds and commercial
mortgage loans only when payment is actually received because of the
risk profile of the underlying investment. The amount that would
have been reflected in net income i[ interest on non-accrual

investments had been recognized in accordance with the original
terms was not significant for 2014 or 2013.

The following table shows problem and potential problem investments at amortized cost, net of valuation reserves and write-downs:

December 31,2Ol4 December 31,2013
(In millions) Gross Rserye Net Gross Reserve Net

Problem bonds

Problem commercial mortgage loans(lj

Foreclosed real esrate

TOTAL PROBLEM INVESTMENTS

C

E6

) s-s
90 (4)

2$
4t

30$
t35

(2) $

(3) 38

29

67

1q

72$ (

Potential problem bonds

Potential problem commercial mortgage loans

::.',,:..1

I

(e)

(8)

2l
t27

TOTAL POTENTIAL PROBLEM II{VESTMENTS $ r52 $ (r7) $ r35 $ 165 $ (L7) $ r48
(1) Other long-term inuestmexts included $7 nillion at December 31, 2013 ofresnuctxred loans that uere ?reu;outbt reported in commercial mortgage loaw.

Net problem and potential problem investments representing

approximarely 17o of total investments, excluding policy loans at

December 31, 2014, increased by approximately $30 million from
December 31,2013, primarily due to the addition of one commercial
mortgage loan to problem investments.

Included in realized investment gains (losse$ were increases in
valuation reserves related to commercial mortgage loans and

other-than-temporary impairments on fixed maturities and

partnership investments of $52 million. See Note l l to the

Consolidated Financial Statements for further information.

Investment Outlook
Although financial markets in the United States continued to stabilize

during 2014, they have more recenrly been impacred by continuing
global uncertainry. Fixed income asset values have appreciated broadly

since the beginning ofthe year, however the changes in valuation have

varied amongst investment sectors depending on perceived risk in the
global markets. Future realized and unrealized investment results will
be driven largely by market conditions that exist when a transacrion
occurs or at the reporting date. These future conditions are not
reasonably predictable. Ve believe that the vast majoriry of our fixed

maturity investments will continue to perform under their contractual
terms and that the commercial mortgage loan portfolio is positioned
to perform well due to its solid aggregate loan-ro-value ratio and

strong debt service coverage. Based on our strategy to match the

duration of invested assets to rhe duration of insurance and

contractholder liabilities, we expect to hold a significant portion of
these assets for the long term. Although future impairment losses

resulting from credit deteriorat.ion and interest rate movements

remain possible, we do not expect these losses to have a material
adverse effect on our financial condition or liouidiw.
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Market Risk

Financial Instruments

Our assets and liabilities include financial instrumencs subject to the

risk of potential losses from adverse changes in market rates and

prices. Our primary market risk exposures are:

. Interest-rate risb on fixed-rate. medium-term instruments.

Changes in market interest rates affect the value oFinstruments that

promise a fixed return and our employee pension liabilides.

. Foreign cuTTency exchange rate rhh of rhe U.S. dollar primarily to
the South Korean won, Euro, British pound, Chinese yuan

renminbi and tiwan dollar. An unfavorable change in exchange

rates reduces the carrying value ofnet assets denominated in foreign

currencres.

Our Management of Market Risks

Ve predominantly rely on three techniques to manage our exposure

to market risk:

. Inaestrnentlliability matching Ve generally select investment

assets with characteristics (such as duration, yield, currency and

liquidiry) that correspond co the underlying characteristics of our
related insurance and contractholder liabilities so that we can marcn

the investments to our obligations. Shorter-term investments

support generally shorter-term life and health liabilities.
Medium-term, fixed-rate investments support interest-sensitive and

health liabilities. Longer-term investments generally support

products with longer pay out periods such as annuities and

long-term disabiliry liabilities.

, Ue of hcal currencies for foreign operations. 'We generally

conduct our international business through foreign operating

entities that maintain assets and liabilities in local currencies. \fhile
this technique does not reduce foreign currency exposure on our net

assets, it substantially limits exchange rate risk to those net assets.

. Ue of deriuathtes. Ve generally use derivative financial

instrumenrs to minimize certain market risks. In 2014, we entered

into interest rate swap contracts to convert a pordon ofour interest

rate exposure on long-term debt fiom fixed rates to variable rates to
more closely align interest expense with interest income received on

our cash equivalent and short-term investment balances.

See Notes 2(C) and 12 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for
additional information about financial instruments, including
derivative fi nancial instruments.

Effect of Market Fluctuations

The examples that follow illustrate the adverse effect of hypothetical

changes in market rates or prices on the fair value ofcertain financial

instruments including:

. a hypothetical increase in marker interest rates, primarily for fixed

maturities and commercial mortgage loans, partially offset by

liabilities for long-term, fixed-rate debt; and

. a hypothetical strengthening of the U.S. dollar to foreign currencies,

primarily for the net assets of foreign subsidiaries denominated in a

foreign currency.

Management believes that actual results could differ materially from
these examples because:

. these examples were developed using estimates and assumptions;

. changes in the fair values ofall insurance-related assets and liabilities
have been excluded because their primary risks are insurance rather

than market risk:

. changes in the fair values ofinvestments recorded using the equity

method of accounting and liabilities for pension and other

postretirement and postemployment benefit plans (and related

assets) have been excluded, consistent with the disclosure guidance;

and

. changes in the fair values of other significant assets and liabilities
such as goodwill, deferred policy acquisition costs, taxes, and various

accrued liabilities have been excluded; because they are not financial

ins$uments, their primary risks are other than market risk.

The effects ofhypothetical changes in market rates or prices on the fairvalues ofcertain ofour financial instruments, subject to the exclusions

noted above (particularly insurance liabilities), would have been as follows as of December 3l:

lnss in fair value

Market scenario for certain non-insurance finmcial instruments 6n milliore) 2014 20t3

100 basis point increue in interest rares .$lll: $ 5S5

,$285

The effect of a hypothetical increase in interest rates was determined

by estimating the present value of future cash flows using various

models, primarily duration modeling. The impact of a hypothetical

increase to interest rates at December 3l,2Ol4 was greater than that
at December 31, 2013 reflecting increased asset purchases as well as

valuation increases resulting from lower market yields of fixed

maturities during 201 4.

The effect of a hypothetical strengthening of the U.S. dollar relative to
the foreign currencies held by us was estimated to be 10% of the U.S.
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dollar equivalenc fair value. Our foreign operations hold investment

assets, such as fixed maturities, cash, and cash equivdents, that are

generally invested in the currency ofthe related liabilities. Due to the

increase in2014 of rhe amount of these investments that are primarily
denominated in the South Korean won, the effect of a hypothetical

10% strengthening in the U.S. dollar to foreign currencies at

December 31, 2014 was greater than that effect at December 31,

2013.
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ITEM 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About

The information contained under the caption "Market Risli' in the MD&A section of this Form l0-K is incorporated by reference.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

ITEM 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

To the Board of Directors
and Shareholders of Cigna Corporation

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and

the related consolidated statements of income, comprehensive

income, changes in total equicy and cash flows present fairly, in all

material respects, the financial position of Cigna Corporadon and its

subsidiaries at December 31, 2014 and 2013, and the results of their
operations and their cash flows for each oFthe three years in the period

ended December 31, 2014 in conformity with accounting principles

generally accepted in the United States of America. Also in our
opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective

inrernal conrrol over financial reporting as of December 31, 2014,
based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated

Framework 201i issued, by the Committee of Sponsoring

Organizations of the Tieadway Commission (COSO). The
Companyt management is responsible for these financial statements,

for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and

for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial

reporting, included in Management's Annual Report on Internal
Control over Financial Reporting appearing under Item 9A. Our
responsibiliry is to express opinions on these financial statements and

on the Companys internal control over financial reporting based on

our integrated audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with
the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the
audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial

starements are free of material misstatement and whether effective

internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material

respects. Our audits of the financial stat€ments included examining,

on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the

financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and

significant estimates made by management and waluating the overall
financial statement presentation. Our audit of internal control over

financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal
control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material

weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating
effectiveness ofinternal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits

also included perForming such other procedures as we considered

necessary in the circumstances. li?'e believe that our audits provide a

reasonable basis for our opinions.

A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process

designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting

principles. A companyt internal control over financial reporting
includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the

maintenance ofrecords that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly
reflect the transactions and dispositions ofthe assets ofthe company;
(ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as

necessary to permit preparation offinancial statements in accordance

wirh generally accepted accounring principles, and that receipts and

expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with
authorizations of management and directors of the company; and

(iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely
detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the

:"":Oj:J,:."rt.ts 
that could have a material effect on the financial

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial

reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections
ofany evaluation ofeffectiveness to future periods are subject to the

risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in
conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or

procedures may dereriorate.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania

February 26,2015
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Cigna Corporation
Consolidated Statements of Income

(ln miltiow, .ftEt lfr thav Mountr)

For the vears ended December 3

Revenues .

Premiums

Fees and other revenues

Net investment income

Mail order pharmary revenues

Realized investment gains (losses):

Other-thm-temporary impairments on fixed maurities

Other realized investment gains

Total realized investment

TOTAL REVENUES

Benefits md Expenses

Global Health Care medical claims expense

Other benefit expenses

Mail order pharmacy costs

Other operati

TOTAL BEI.{EFITS AND E)(PENSES

Income before Income Taxes

Income taxes:

Current

Defe rred

TOTAL TAXES

Net Income

I:ss: Net Income (hss) Attributable to

STIAREHOLDERS' NET INCOME

Shareholders' Net Income Per Share:

Basic

Diluted

Dividends Declared Per Share

r,166

$ 25,575 $

3,601

1,164

r,827

(t l)
224

213

3,672

1,328

7,4r4

509I

7

23,017

1?ql

r,t44

(l l)

44

119

r ),do/

4,998

2,r76

501

r97

719

134

698 853

t,478

2

r,624

I

70

5.6r

0.04

The accompaxying Notet t0 the Clntllidnted Financial Statemeiltt are an integral part of thete ttateneiltr
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Cigna Corporation
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income

For the vears ended December 3l 20

Shareholders' net income $ t,476

Shareholders' other comprehensive income (loss):

Net unrealized appreciation (depreciarion) on securities

Net unrealized appreciation (depreciation), derivatives

Net transladon of foreign currencies

Postretirement benefits liabili

Sharcholders' other l5l
Shareholders' comorehensive income r,627

Comprehensive income attributable to noncontrolling interests:

Ner income attributable to redeemable noncontrolling interests

Ner loss attributable to other noncontrolling interest

Other comprehensive income (loss) attributable to redeemable noncontrolling interests

L

ive income attributable to other

TOTAL COMPREHENSTVE INCOME

143 : (410) t+/
(5)

66

(e2)

L16

,739

I

I

9

l)

539

2

r.742

(h nilliow)

Thc arcompanyirg Notcs to the Coreolidtted Financial Sutwa are an integal part of thete ttatenntt.

62 CIGNA CORPOMIION - 2014 Form r}-K



ITEM 8.

PART II
Financial Sratements and Supplementary Data

Cigna Corporation
Consolidated Balance Sheets

(In milliorc, ucept pr shtre amounts)

fu of December 3l

Fixed maturities, at fair value (amortized cosr, $17,278; $15,273)

Equity securiries, at fair value (cost, $199; $146)

Commercial mortgage loans

Policy loans

Otheq long-term investments

Short-term investments

Total investments

Cash and cash equiva.lents

Premiums, accoun$ and notes receivable, net

Reinsurance recoverables

Deferred poliry acquisition costs

Property and equipment

Deferred income taxes, net

Goodwill

Other assem, including other intangibles

1,438

1,48E ,

16,486

t41

) )<)

|,485

1,370

63r

)', 1A<

? 7q<

1,99r

7,299

r ?q<

1,464

ct)

6,029

2,654

$ 54,336

8,470

9,306

4,298

2,050

7,080

1,502

1,502'rll

293

5,9 89

2,683

account ess€rs

TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES

Contractholder deposit funds

Future policy benefits

Unpaid claims and claim expenses

Global Health Care medical claims payable

Unearned premiums 580

24,704Total insurance and contractholder liabilities

Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities

Short-term debr

Long-term debt

account liabilities

TOTAL LIABILITIFS

Contingencies - Note 23

Redeemable noncontrolling interescs

SFTAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

Common stock (par value per share, $0.25; shares issued, 296, 366; authorized, 600)

Additional paid-in capiral

Accumulated other comprehensive loss

Retained earnings

stock, at cost

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

Noncontro.llins inrerest

Total liabilities and

SIIAREHOLDERS' PER SHARE

92

J,J)O

(520)

13,676

(6,037)

ro,567

I4

10,581

'.' :: :a:::, :ia::a::::::l: 5,456

233

5,014

90

al

2 769

The accompanying Notes to tbe Consolidated Financial Statementt are an integral part of thue ttatemeiltt.
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Cigna Corporation
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Total Equity

fuqnulated
Additional Other Redcemeble

Common Paid-in Comprchensive Retained Tmur', Shueholders' Noncontrolling Total Noocontrolling
Stock Caoital Loss Eamincs Stock Equity Intcrst Equiw Intcrqt(In mitliorc, accot Der share amount)

Balme ac Jmuary l, 2012

2Ol2 A(riNityt

Efcct of ising srock for cmplopc boc6r plans

Effecrs of acquisition of joint venrure

Orher ompreheroive incomc

Net income

Common dividcnds dcclarcd (pcr share: $0.04)

Repurchase of common stock

92 $ 3,188 $ (787) $ 10,787 $(5,286) $ 7,994 $

r07 (69) 2r7 255

116 116

1,623 1,623

(1l) 01).
(208) (208)

- $ 7,994 $

255

r16
r,623

(1 l)
(208)

lll
2

I

BAI-IINCE AT DECEMBER 3I, 2OI2 (67r) r2,33o (5,277\ - 9,769

2013 Acivitlr
Effcc of issuiog srock for cmploycc bmcfit plans

Effecs of acquisition of joinr venrure

Orher comprehensive income (loss)

Ner income

Common divideods declarcd (pcr share: $0.04)

Repurchase of common srock

Disrribution to noncontrolling inrerest

(l re)

l5l
|,476
(l 1)

243 185

1t1

1,476

(1 1)

(r,003) (1,003)

185

t4 14

l5l
1,476

(11)

(1,003)

6
(19)

2

(7\

BAI.IINCE AT DECEMBER 3T. 2OT3

Effect of issuing srock for employee benefit plans

Orher comprehensive incomc (loss)

Net income (loss)

Common dividends declared (per shae: $0.04)

Repurchoe of common srock

Retirement of uesury stock

Capital conrriburion by nonconrrolling interer

BAI.ANCE AI DECEMBER 3I. 2OT4

The atcompanying Notct to the Cowolidttd FiMncial Stat.mcntt are an integral part of thet. ttatcment!
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Cigna Corporation
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(It nilliorc)
For the yeas ended Decenber Jl, 2014 2013 2012

Cash Flows from Opemting Activities

Net income

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cmh provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization

Realired invatment gains

Deferred income rues

Nec chmges in assets and liabilities, net of non-operating effecrs: .

Premiums, accounts and nores receivable

Reinsurmce recoverables

Defered policy acquisition costs

Other mses

Insurance liabiliries

Accomts payable, accrued *penses and other liabilitia

Current income tues

Crh ued to exit the Run-off Reinsurance Busineis

Proceeds lrom sdes of mortgage loans held for sale

Other, net

s 2.094

588

, 
(lt4),,

-'Q2|,

(780)

)2
(r76)

(26>)

202

.:.,1iI

,':,:

,:ili

NET CASH PRO}IIDED BY OPERATING ACTII'ITIES ... .".::.,,,1,994: 7I9 2,350

Croh Flows from Investing Activitia
Proaeds From investmens sold:

Fixed maturitis md equiry securities

Investmenr marurities and repayments:

Fixed maturities md equiry securiries

Commercial mortgage loans

Other sales, miturities and repayments (primarily short-term and other long-tern investments)

Investments purchased or originated:

Fixed maturiris and equiry securiries

Commercial mortgage loans

Other (primaily short-rerm and other long-term investments)

Properry and equipment purchases

Acquisitions, net of cash acquired

Orher, net

r,478

597

(2r3)

197

(1 l0)

369

(227)

405

1,040

(483)

(56)

(2,r96)

(8 (82)

1,624

560

tnA

134

(711

62

(l 59)

3r
245

032)
)9

6r

10

1,r',O)

1,64t0

453

2,706

l).4 t4)

(28;j

(2,1 rt)
iL14\

1,775 591

r,621 r,507

653 722

t,66r 831

(3,062)

(58)

(1,930)

(527)

(76)

(2,334)

(364)

(82 1)

(408)

(3,58 1)

NET CASH PROVIDED BY / (USED IN INVESTING ACTTVITIES

Cah Flows from Finmcing Activitis
Deposits and interesi credited to contractholder deposit funds

Vithdrawals and benefit payments from contractholder deposit funds

Net change in short-term debt

Repayment of long-rerm debr

Repurchxe of common stock

lssuance of ommon stock

Common dividends paid

Orher, net

NET CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Effect of foreign currency rare changes on cash and cxh equivalents

Ner decreuq in,cmh and esh equivalenc

Cash and crh equivalents, January l,
Cash and cash equi December 3l
Supplemental Disclosue of Cch Infomation:

Income axs paid, net of refunds

Interest oaid

1,4Q2.r'

(r,4t6)

(r l2)

(1,612)

It0
i1 t)

r,399

(1,358)

(r0r)

(15)

(1,003)

t50

(11)

9

42

r5

(930)

(183)

2,978

r,337

(1,264)

98

(326)

(208)

121

(l 1)

(2

L) z)

2

\1,7r2)
4,690

2.978

5t9
265

655

248

The accompanying Notes to the Cowolidated Financial Statement! are an integral part of thete rtatementr,
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

NOTE I Description of Business

Cigna Corporation, together with its subsidiaries (either individually

or collectively referred to as "Cigna," the "Company," "we," 'bur" or
"us") is a global health services organization dedicated to a mission of
helping individuals improve their hedth, well-being and sense of
security. To execute on our mission, Cignat strategy is to "Go Deep",

"Go Global" and "Go Individual" with a differentiated set of medical,

dental, disabiliry, life and accident insurance and related products and

services ofFered by our subsidiaries. The majoriry of these

producs are offered through employers and other groups

(e.g. governmentd and non-governmental organizations, unions and

associations). Cigna also offers commercial he alth and dental

insurance, Medicare and Medicaid products and health, life and

accident insurance coverages to individuals in the U.S. and selected

international markets. In addition to its ongoing operations described

above, Cigna also has certain run-off operations,

NOTE 2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

A. Basis of Presentation

The Consolidared Financial Statements include the accounts of Cigna

Corporation and its subsidiaries. Intercompany transactions and

accounts have been eliminated in consolidation. These Consolidated

Financial Statements were prepared in conformity with accounting

principles generally accepted in the United States of America
(.'GAAP). Amounts recorded in the Consolidated Financial

Statements necessarily reflect management's estimates and

assumptions about medical costs, investment valuation, interest rates

and other factors. Significant estimates are discussed throughout these

Notes; howevet actual results could differ from those estimates. The
impact o[a change in estimate is generally included in earnings in the

period of adjustment. Certain reclassifications have been made to
prior year amounts to conform to the current presentation. Beginning

in the first quarter of 2014, the Company combined the results of its

run-off reinsurance business wirh Other Operations for segment

reporting purposes. See Note 22 for additional information.

Variable interest entirtes, As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, the

Company determined it was not a primary beneficiary in any material

variable interesr entities.

Recent Accounting Changes

Accoutting for Healtb Care Reform's Rish Mitigation Programs.

Beginning in 2014, as prescribed by the Patient Protection and

Affordable Care Act (referred to as "Health Care Reforn'), programs

wenr into effect to reduce the risk for participating health insurance

companies selling coverage on the public exchanges.

. A three-year (20 I 4-20 I 6) reinsurance progran is designed to provide

reimbursement to insurers for high cost individual business sold on

or off the public exchanges. The reinsurance entity established by

the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services ("HHS") is

funded by a per-customer reinsurance fee assessed on all insurers,

HMOs and self-insured group health plans, excluding certain

products such as Medicare Advantage and Medicare Part D. Only
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B.

non-grandfathered individual plans are eligible for recoveries if
claims exceed a specified threshold, up to a reinsurance cap.

Reinsurance contributions associated with non-grandfathered

individual plans are reported as a reduction in premium revenue,

and estimated reinsurance recoveries are established with an

offsetting reduction in Global Health Care medical claims expense.

Reinsurance fee contributions for other insured business are

reported in other operating expenses. Final recoverable arnounts are

determined and setded with HHS in the year following the policy
year.

. A premium xabilization prograz is comprised of nvo components:

l) a permanent component that reallocates funds from insurers with
lower risk populations to insurers wirh higher risk populations based

on the relative risk scores ofparticipants in non-grandfathered plans

in the individual and small group markets, both on and off the

exchanges. Ve estimate our receivable or payable based on the risk

of our members compared to the risk of other members in the same

state and market, considering data obtained from industry studies;

and2) a tefltpordry Q0I4-2016) component designed to limit insurer

gains and losses by comparing allowable medical costs co a target

amount as defined by HHS. This program applies to individual and

small group qualified health plans, operating on and off the

exchanges. Variances from the target amount exceeding certain

thresholds may result in amounts due to or due from HHS.

For the premium stabilization program, the Company records

receivables or payables as adjustments to premium revenue based on

our year-to-date experience when the amounts are reasonably

estimable and collection is reasonably assured. Final revenue

adjustments are determined by HHS in the year following the policy
yeil.

Reuenue from Conltacts uitb Castomers (Accounting Standards
Update (ASU) 2014-09), InMay 2014, the Financial Accounting
Standards Board ("FASB") issued new revenue recognition guidance

that will apply to various contracts with customers to provide goods or
services, including the Companyt non-insurance, administrative

services contracts. It will not apply to certain contracts within the



scope ofother GAAB such as insurance conuacts. This new guidance

introduces a model that requires companies to estimate and allocate

the expected contract revenue among distinct goods or services in the

contract based on relative standalone selling prices. Revenue is

recognized as goods or services are delivered. This new method

replaces the current GAAP approach of recognizing revenue that is
fixed and determinable primarily based on conttact terms. In
addition, extensive new disclosures will be required including the

presentation of addirional categories of revenues and information

about related contmct assets and liabilities. This new guidance must

be implemented onJanuary 1,2017; early adoption is not permitted.

The Company may choose to adopt these changes through

retrospective restatement with or without using certain practical

expedients or with a cumulative effect adjustment on adoption. The

Company continues to monitor developing implementation guidance

and evaluate these new requirements for its non-insurance custorner

contracts to determine the method of implementation and any

resuldng estimated effects on the financial statements.

Amendments to tbe Couolidation Analjtsis (ASU 2015-2). In
February 201 5, the FASB issued guidance to improve targeted areas of
consolidation guidance for legal entities such as limited partnerships,

limited liability companies and securitization structures. In addition
to reducing the number of consolidation models, the new standard

aims to simplifr and improve U.S. GAAP by placing more emphasis

on risk of loss when derermining a controlling financial interest. This
new standard is effective beginning on January l, 2016, with early

adoption permitted. The Company is evaluating this guidance for

applicable legal entities to determine any resulting estimated effects on

the financial statements.

Fees Paid to the Federal Goaemment hy Heahh Insarers (ASU

2011-06). Effective January l, 2014, the Company adopted the

FASBT accounting guidance for the health insurance industry
assessment (the "tax") mandated by Health Care Reform. This
non-deducdble tax is being levied based on a ratio ofan insurert net

health insurance premiums written for the previous calendar year

compared to the U.S. healrh insurance industry total. fu required by

the guidance, the Company reports a liabiliry at the beginning ofeach

year in accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities and a

corresponding deferred cost in other assets, including other

intangibles based on a preliminary assessment of the full year. The
Company recognizes the tax in operating expenses on a straight line
basis and reduces the deferred cost correspondingly. For full-year

2014, the Company recognized $238 million in operating expenses

for the tax. As of December 31, 2014, there were no such remaining

balances in deferred costs or accounts payable, accrued expenses and

other liabilities. This accounting will be reflected for the 2015 tax

beginning in the first quarter of 2015.

Inuestnent Company Accounting (ASU 2013-08). Effective

January l, 2014, the Company adopted the FASBT amended

accounting guidance to change the criteria for reporting as an

investment company, clarifr the fair value measurement used by an

investment company and require additional disclosures. This
guidance also confirms that parent company accounting for an

investment company should reflect fair value accounting. \trflhile this

guidance applies to cerrain of the Companyt securicy and real estate
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partnership investments, its adoption did not have a material impact

on the Companyt financia.l statements.

Reporting of Amounts Reclnssified Oat of Accamakted Otber
Cornpreltensiae Incorne (AOCI) (ASU 2013-02). Effective

January 1,2013, the Company adopted new requirements to disclose

the effect of items reclassified out of AOCI into net income for each

individual line item impacted in the statemenr of income. See Note 17

for the Companyt disclosures.

Disclosures about OffseningAsse* and Liabilities (ASU 20ll-ll),
The FASBs new requirements ro disclose informacion related to
certain investments on both a gross and net basis became effective

January l, 2013. The Company had no transactions or arrangements

subject to these new disclosure requiremenrs.

C. Investments

Fixed mntaities and eqaity sectities. Fixed maturities (including

bonds, mortgage and orher asset-backed securities and preferred

stocks redeemable by the investor) and most equity securities are

classified as available for sale and are carried at fair value with changes

in fair value recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income
(loss) within shareholders' equiry. The Company records impairment
losses in net income for fixed rnaturities with fair value below

amortized cost that meet either of the following conditions:

. If the Company intends to sell or determines rhat it is more likely
than not to be required to sell these fixed maturities before their fair
yalues recover, an impairment loss is recognized For the excess ofthe
amortized cost over fair value.

. If the net present value of pro.iected future cash flows of a fixed

maturity (based on qualitative and quantitative factors, including
the probabiliry of default, and the estimated timing and amount of
recovery) is below the amortized cost basis, that difference is

recognized as an impairment loss. For moftgage and asset-backed

securities, esdmated future cash flows are also based on assumptions

about the collateral attributes including prepayment speeds, default

rates and changes in value.

Commercial mortgage loans. These loans are made exclusively to

commercial borrowers at a fixed rate of interest. Commercial

mortgage loans are carried at unpaid principal balances or, ifimpaired,
the lower ofunpaid principal or fair value ofthe underlying real estate.

If the fair value of the underlying real estate is less than unpaid

principal of an impaired loan, a valuation resetve is recorded.

Commercial mortgage loans are considered impaired when it is

probable that the Company will not collect amounts due according to
the terms oF the original loan agreement. The Company monitors
credit risk and assesses the impairment of loans individually and on a

consistent basis for all loans in the portFolio. The Company estimates

the fair value of the underlying real estate using internal valuations

generally based on discounted cash flow analyses. Certain commercial

mortgage loans without valuation reserves are considered impaired

because the Company will not collect all interest due according to the

terms of the original agreements; however, the Company expects to
recover the unpaid principal because it is less than the fair value ofthe
underlying real estate.
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PoIiE loans. Policy loans are carried at unpaid principal balances plus
accumulated interest, the total of which approximates fair value. The
loans are collateralized by life insurance policy cash values and
therefore have no exposure to credit loss. Interest rates are reset

annually based on an index.

Otber long-term inaestments. Other long-term investments include
investments in unconsolidated entities. These entities include certain
limited partnerships and limited liabiliry companies holding real

estate, securities or loans. These investments are carried at cost plus
the Companyt ownership percentage of reported income or loss in
cases where the Company has significant influence, otherwise the
investment is carried at cost. Income from cerrain enriries is reporred
on a one quarter lag depending on when their financial information is

received. Other long-term investments are considered impaired, and

written down to their fair value, when cash flows indicate thar the
carrying value may not be recoverable. Fair value is generally
determined based on a discounted cash flow analysis.

Other long-term investments also include investment real estate

carried at depreciated cost less any impairment write downs to hir
value when cash flows indicate that the carrying value may not be

recoverable. Depreciation is generally recorded using the straightJine
method based on the estimated useful life of each asset. Investment
real estate as of December 31,2014 and,20l3 is expected to be held
longer than one year and includes real estate acquired through the
foreclosure of commercial mortgage loans.

Additionally, other long-term investments include interest rate and
foreign currency swaps carried at fair value. See Note 12 for
informacion on the Companyt accounting policies for these derivative
financid instruments.

Sbort-tern inaestments. Securiry investments with maturities of
greater than 90 days but less than one year from time ofpurchase are

classified as short-term, available for sde and carried at fair value,

which approximates cost.

Deiuatiae financial instruments. The Company applies hedge

accounting when derivatives are designated, qualified and highly
effective as hedges. Effectiveness is formally assessed and documented
at inception and each period throughout the life of a hedge using
various quantitative methods appropriate for each hedge, including
regression analysis and dollar offset. Under hedge accounting, the
changes in fair value of the derivative and rhe hedged risk are generally
recognized together and offset each other when reported in
shareholders' net income.

The Company accounts for derivative instrumen$ as follows:

. Derivatives are reported on the balance sheet at fair value with
changes in fair values reported in shareholders' net income or
accumulated other comprehensive income.

. Changes in the fair value of derivatives that hedge market risk
related to Future cash flows and that qualifr for hedge accounting are

reported in accumulated other comprehensive income ("cash flow
hedges").

. Changes in the fair value of a derivative instrument may not always

equal changes in the fair value of rhe hedged item (referred to as
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"hedge ineffectiveness"). The Company generally reports hedge

ineffectiveness in realized investment gains and losses.

. On early termination, the changes in fair value of derivatives that
qualified for hedge accountinB are reported in shareholders' net
income (generally as part of realized investment gains and losses).

Net iwestment incorne. \When interest and principal payments on
investments are current, the Company recognizes interest income
when it is earned. The Company recognizes interest income on a cash

basis when interest payments are delinquent based on conrractual
terms or when certain terms (interest rate or maturiry date) of the
investment have been restructured,

Inoestment gahr and losses. Realized investment gains and losses are

based on specifically identified assets and result from sales, investment
asset write-downs, changes in the fair values ofcertain derivatives and
changes in valuation reserves on commercial mortgage loans.

Unrealized gains and losses on fixed maturities and equiry securities

carried at fair value and certain derivatives are included in
accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), net of deferred

income taxes and amounts required to adjust future policy benefits for
the run-off setclement annuiry business.

D. Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash equivalents consist of short-term investments with maturities of
three months or less from the time of purchase. The Company
reclassifies cash overdraft positions ro accounrs payable, accrued

expenses and other liabilides when the legal right of offset does not
exist.

E. Premiums, Accounts and Notes
Receivable and Reinsurance

Recoverables

Premiums, accounts and notes receivable and reinsurance recoverables

are reported net of allowances for doubtful accounts and
unrecoverable reinsurance of $105 million as of December 31,2014
and,$47 million as of December 31,2013. The Company estimates

these allowances for doubtful accounts and unrecoverable reinsurance

using managementt best estimates of collectabiliry taking into
consideration the age of the outstanding amounts, historical
collection patterns and other economic factors.

Deferred Policy Acquisition Costs

Costs eligible for deferral include incremental, direct costs of
acquiring new or renewal insurance and investment contracts and
other costs directly related to successful contracr acquisirion.
Examples of deferrable costs include commissions, sa[es compensarion
and benefits, policy issuance and underwriring costs and premium

F.



taxes. The Company records acquisition costs differently depending

on the pioduct line. Acquisition costs for:

. Unitersal W products are deferred and amortized in proportion to

the present value of total estimated gross profits over the expected

lives of the contracts.

. Supplamental heahb, Iife and accident insnance (pimaily
indfuidaal products) and group heahb and accident insurance

products erc deferred and amortized, generally in proportion to the

ratio of periodic revenue to the estimated total revenues over the

contract periods.

, Otber products are expensed as incurred.

Deferred policy acquisition costs also include the value of business

acquired with the supplemental benefits business in 2012.

Each year, deferred policy acquisition costs are tested for

recoverability. For universal life and other individual products,

management estimates the present value of future revenues less

expected paymen$. For group health and accident insurance

products, management estimates the sum of unearned premiums and

anticipated net investment income less future expected claims and

related costs. If managementt estimates of these sums are less than the

deferred costs, the Company reduces deferred policy acquisition costs

and records an expense. The Company recorded amortization for
policy acquisition costs of $289 million in 2014, $255 million in
2013 nd $218 million in 2012 in other operaring expenses.

G. Property and Equipment

Property and equipment is carried at cost less accumulaced

depreciation. \(hen applicable, cost includes interest, real estate taxes

and other costs incurred during construction. Also included in this

category is internal-use sofrware that is acquired, developed or
modified solely to meer the Company's internal needs, with no plan to

market externally. Costs directly related to acquiring, developing or
modifring internal-use software are capitalized.

The Company slculates depreciation and amortization principally
using the straight-line method generally based on the estimated useful

life of each asset as follows: buildings and improvements, 10 to
40 years; purchased sofware, one to five years; internally developed

software, three to seven years; and furniture and equipment (including

computer equipment), three to 10 years. Improvements to leased

facilities are depreciated over the lesser ofthe remaining lease term or
the estimated life of rhe improvement. The Company considers events

and circumstances that would indicate the carrying value ofproperty,
equipment or cap.italized software might not be recoverable. If the

Company determines rhe carrying value of any of these assets is not
recoverable, an impairment charge is recorded. See Note 8 for
additional information.

H. Goodwill

Goodwill represents rhe excess of the cost of businesses acquired over

the fair value of their net assets. The resulting goodwill is assigned to
those reporting units expected to realize cash flows from the

acquisition, allocated to reporting units based on relative fair values
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and reported in the Global Health Care segment ($5.7 billion) and

the Global Supplemental Benefits segment ($331 million). The
Company evaluates goodwill for impairpent at least annually during
the third quarter at the reporting unit level and writes it down through

results of operations if impaired. Fair value of a reporting unit is

generally estimated based on a discounted cash flow analysis using

assumptions that the Company believes a hypothetical market

participanr would use to determine a current transaction price. The
significant assumptions and estimates used in determining fair value

include the discount rate and future cash flows. A range ofdiscount
rates is used that corresponds with the reporting unitt weighted

average cost of capital, consistent with that used for investment

decisions considering the specific and detailed operating plans and

strategies within the reporting units. Projections offuture cash flows

for the reporting units were consistent with our annual planning

process for revenues, claims, operating expenses, taxes, capital levels

and long-term growrh rates. Cash flows for the Cigna-HealthSpring

business incorporate the effects of sequestrarion and, 2015 government

reimbursement rates. In 2014, the resulting discounted cash flow
analyses indicated that estimated fair values for the reporting units

significantly exceeded their carrying values, including goodwill and

other intangibles. See Note 8 for additional information.

I. Other Assets, including Other
Intangibles

Other assets primarily consist of guaranteed minimum income

benefits ("GMIB") assets and various insurance-related assets. The
Companyt other intangible assets include purchased customer and

producer relationships, provider networks and trademarks. The fair
value of purchased customer relationships and the amortization

method were determined using an income approach that relies on

projected future net cash flows including key assumptions for the

customer attrition rate and discount rate. The Company amortizes

other inmngibles on an accelerated or straightJine basis over periods

from 3 to 30 years. Management revises amortization periods if it
believes there has been a change in the length of time that an

intangible asset will continue to have value. Cosrs incurred to renew or
extend the terms of these intangible assets are generally expensed as

incurred. See Notes 8 and 10 for additional information.

I. Separate Account Assets and Liabilities

Separate account assets and liabilities are contractholder funds

maintained in accounts with specific investment objectives. The assets

ofthese accounts are legally segregated and are not sub.iect to claims

that arise out ofany ofthe Companyt other businesses. These separate

account assets are carried at fair value with equal amounts For related

separate account liabilities. The investmenr income, gains and losses

ofthese accounts generally accrue to the contractholders and, together

with their deposits and withdrawals, are excluded from the Companyt
Consolidated Statements of Income and Cash Flows. Fees and charges

earned for mortaliry risks, asset management or administrative

X;::r:rO 
are reported in either premiums or fees and other
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K. Contractholder Deposit Funds

Liabilides for contractholder deposit funds primarily include deposits

received from customers for investment-related and universal life
products and investment earnings on their fund balances. These

liabilities are adjusted to reflect administrative charges and, for
universal life fund balances, mortaliry charges. In addition, chis

caption includes: 1) premium stabilization reserves under group
insurance contracts representing experience refunds left with the
Company to pay future premiums; 2) deposit administration funds
used to fund non-pension retiree insurance programs; 3) retained asset

accounts; and 4) annuities or supplementary contracts without
significant life conringencies. Interest credited on rhese funds is

accrued ratably over the contract period.

L. Future Policy Benefits

Future policy benefics represent the present value ofestimated future
obligations under long-term Iife and supplemental health insurance

policies and annuity products currently in force. These obligations are

estimated using actuarial methods and primarily consist of reserves for
annuity contracts, life insurance benefits, guaranteed minimum death

benefit ("GMDB") contracts (see Note 7 for additional informarion)
and certain health, life and accident insurance products ofour Global
Supplemental Benefi ts segment.

Obligations for annuities represent specified periodic benefirs to be

paid to an individual or groups of individuals over their remaining
lives. Obligations lor life insurance policies and GMDB conrracts

represent benefits to be paid to policyholders, net of future premrums
to be received. Management estimates rhese obligations based on
assumptions as to premiums, interest rares, mortaliry or morbidiry,
future claim adjudication expenses and surrenders, allowing for
adverse deviation as appropriate. Mortaliry, morbidity and surrender
assumptions are based on rhe Company's own experience and/or
published actuarial tables. Interest rate assumptions are based on
managementt judgment considering the Companyt experience and
future expectations, and range from 0.1% to 10.0%. Obligations for
the run-off seftlement annuity business include adjustments for
realized and unrealized investment rerurns consistent with
requirements of GAAP when a premium deficiency exists.

M. Unpaid Claims and Claims Expenses

Liabilities for unpaid claims and claim expenses are estimates of future
paymen$ under insurance coverages (primarily long-term disabiliry,
life and health) for reported claims and for losses incurred but nor yet
reported. rWhen estimates of these liabilities change, the Company
immediately records the adjustment in benefirs and expenses.

The Company consistently estimates incurred bur not yet reported
losses using actuarial principles and assumptions based on historical
and projecced claim incidence patterns, claim size and the expected

payment period. The Company recognizes the actuarial best estimate

of the ultimate liability within a level of confidence, consistent with
actuarial standards of practice that the liabilides be adequate under
moderately adverse conditions.

The Companyt liabiliry for disabiliry claims reported but not yet paid
is the present value of estimated future benefit payments over rhe

expected disabiliry period. The Company projects the expected

disabiliry period by using historical resoludon rates combined with an

analysis of current trends and operational factors to develop current
esdmates of resolution rates. Using the Companys experience,

expected claim resolution rates may vary based upon the anricipated
disabiliry period, the covered benefit period, cause of disabiliry,
benefit design and the policyholder's age, gender and income level.

The gross monthly benefit is reduced (offset) by disabiliry income
received under other benefit programs, such as Social Security
Disability Income, workers' compensation, sraturory disabiliry or
other group benefit plans. For offsets not yet finalized, the Compaly
estimates the probabiliry and amount of the offset based on the
Companyt experience over the past rhree to five years.

The Company discounts certain unpaid claim liabilities because

benefit payments are made over extended periods. Substantially all of
these liabilities are associated with the group long-term disabiliry
business. Discount rate assumptions for that business are based on
projected investment returns for the asset portfolios that support these

liabilities and range from 4.7o/o to 5.5o/o. Discounted liabilities were

$3.9 billion at December 31,2014 and $3.5 billion at December 31,
2013.

N. Global Health Care Medical Claims
Payable

Medical claims payable for the Global Health Care segment include
reported claims, estimates for losses incurred but not yet reported and
liabilities for services rendered by providers as well as liabiliries under
risk-sharing and quality management arrangemenrs with providers.
The Company uses actuarial principles and assumptions consistently
applied each reporting period and recognizes the actuarial best

estimate of the ultimate liability within a level of confidence. This
approach is consistent with actuarial standards of pracice rhat the
liabilities be adequate under moderately adverse conditions.

The liabiliry is primarily calculated using "completion facrors"

developed by comparing the claim incurral date ro the date claims

were paid. Completion factors are impacted by several key items
including changes in: l) electronic (auto-adjudication) versus manual
claim processing, 2) provider claims submission rates, 3) membership
and 4) the mix of products. The Company uses hisrorical completion
factors combined with an analysis of current trends and operadonal
factors to develop current estimates of completion factors. The
Company estimates the liabiliry for claims incurred in each month by
applying the current estimates of completion factors to the current
paid claims data. This approach implicidy assumes that historical
completion rates will be a useful indicator for rhe current period.

For the more recent months, the Company relies on medical cost

trend analysis that reflects expected claim payment paterns and other
relevant operadonal considerations. Medical cost trend is primarily
impacted by medical service utilization and unit costs that are affected

by changes in the level and mix of medical benefits offered, including
inpatient, outpatient and pharmacy, the impact of copays and
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deductibles, changes in provider practices and changes in consumer

demographics and consumption behavior.

For each reporting period, the Company compares key assumpdons

used to establish the medical claims payable to actual experience.
'When actual experience differs from these assumptions, medical

claims payable are adjusted through current period shareholders' net

income. Addidonally, the Company evaluates expected future

developments and emerging trends that may impact key assumptions.

The estimation process involves considerable judgment, reflecting the

variabilicy inherent in forecasting future claim payments. These

estimates are highly sensitive to changes in the Companyt key

assumptions, specifically completion factors and medical cost trends.

O. Redeemable Noncontrolling Interest

The Company offers products and services in Tirrkey and India

through joint venture entities. The redeemable noncontrolling

interest on our consolidated balance sheet represents out joint venture

partners' preferred and common stock interests in these entities. Our

.ioint venrure partners may, at their election, require the Company to

purchase rheir redeemable noncontrolling interests. We also have the

right to require our joint venture partners to sell their redeemable

noncontrolling interescs to us. The redeemable noncontrolling

interests were recorded at fair value on the dates of purchase. 'When

the estimated redemption value for a redeemable noncontrolling

interest exceeds its carrying value, an adjustment to increase the

redeemable noncontrolling interest is recorded and is effect is

included in shareholders' net income per share.

Accounts Payable, Accrued Expenses

and Other Liabilities

Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities consist

principally of liabilities for pension, orher postretirement and

postemployment benefits (see Note 9), GMIB contracts (see

Note 10), self-insured exposures, management compensation, cash

overdraft positions and various insurance-related liabilities, including

experience-rated refunds, the minimum medical loss ratio rebate

accrual under Health Care Reform and reinsurance contracts. Legal

costs to defend the Companyt litigation and arbitration matters are

expensed when incurred in cases where the Company cannot

reasonably estimate the ultimate cost to defend. In cases where the

Company can reasonably estimate the cost to defend, a liabiliry for

these costs is accrued when the claim is reported.

a. Thanslation of Foreign Currencies

The Company generdly conducts its international business through
foreign operatlng entities that maintain assets and liabilities in local

currencies that are generally their functional currencies. The

Company uses exchange rates as ofthe balance sheet date to translate

assets and liabilities into U.S. dollars. Tianslation gains or losses on

functiond currencies, net of applicable taxes, are recorded in

accumulated other comprehensive income (loss). The Company uses

average monthly exchange rates during the year to translate revenues

and exoenses into U.S. dollars.
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R. Premiums and Related F-xpenses

Premiums for group life, accident and health insurance and managed

care coverages are recognized as revenue on a pro rata basis over the

contract period. Benefits and expenses are recognized when incurred,

and for our Global Health Care business, medical claims expense is

presented net of pharmaceutical manufacturer rebates. For

experience-rated contracts, premium revenue includes an adjustment

for experience-rated refunds which is calculated according to confiact

terms and using the customert experience (including esdmates of
incurred but not reported claims).

Premium revenue also includes an adiustment to reflect the estimated

effect of rebates due to customers under the commercial minimum

medical loss ratio provisions of Health Care Reform. These rebates are

setded in the year following the policy year.

Premiums received for the Companyt Medicare Advantage Plans and

Medicare Parr D products from customers and the Centers for

Medicare and Medicaid Services ("CMS) are recognized as tevenue

ratably over the contract period. CMS provides risk-adjusted

premium payments for Medicare Advantage Plans and Medicare

Part D produca, based on the demographics and health severiry of
enrollees. The Company recognizes periodic changes to risk-adjusted

premiums as revenue when the amounts are determinable and

collection is reasonably assured. Additionally, Medicare Part D
includes payments from CMS for risk sharing adjustments. The risk

sharing adjustments that are estimated quarterly based on claim

experience, compare actual incurred drug benefit costs to estimated

costs submired in original contracts and may result in more or less

revenue from CMS. Final revenue adjustments are determined and

setded with CMS in the year following the contract year. Premium

revenue also includes an adjustment to reflect the estimated effect of
rebates due to CMS under the Medicare Advantage and Medicare

Part D minimum medical loss ratio orovisions of Health Care

Reform.

Premiums for individual life, accident and supplemental health

insurance and annuiry products, excluding universal life and

investment-related products, are recognized as revenue when due.

Benefits and expenses are matched with premiums.

Revenue for universal life produca is recognized as follows:

. Net investment income on assets supporting universal life products

is recognized as earned.

. Charges for mortaliry administration and policy surrender are

recognized in premiums as earned. Administrative fees are

considered earned when services are provided.

Benefits and expenses for universal life products consist of benefit

claims in excess of policyholder accounr balances. Expenses are

recognized when claims are submitted, and income is credited to

policyholders in accordance with contract provisions.

The unrecognized portion of premiums received is recorded as

unearned premiums.

P
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s. Fees, Related Expenses and Mail Order
Pharmary Revenues and Costs

Contract fees for administrative services only ('hSO") programs and

pharmacy programs and services are recognized in fees and other

revenues as services are provided, net ofpharmaceutical manufacturer

rebates payable to clients and estimaced refunds under performance

guarantees. In some cases, the Company provides performance

guarantees associated with meeting certain service standards, clinical

outcomes or financial metrics. If these service standards, clinical

outcomes or financial metrics are not met, the Company may be

financially at risk up to a stated percentage ofthe contracted fee or a

stated dollar amount. The Company establishes deferred revenues for
estimated payouts associated with these performance guarantees.

Approximarely 72o/o of ASO fees reported for the year ended

December 31, 2014 were at risk, with reimbursements estimated to be

approximately l%0. Expenses associated with these programs and

services are recognized in other operating expenses as incurred, net of
pharmaceutical rebates from manufacturers.

Revenue for investment-related products is recognized as follows:

. Net investment income on assets supporting investment-related

products is recognized as earned.

. Contract fees based upon related administrative expenses are

recognized in fees and other revenues as they are earned ratably over

the contract period.

Benefits and expenses for investment-related products consist

primarily of income credited to policyholders in accordance with
contract provisions.

Mail order pharmacy revenues and the cost of prescriptions are

recognized as each prescription is shipped.

T. Stock Compensation

The Company records compensation expense for stock awards and

options over their vesting periods primarily based on the estimated fair
value at the grant date. For stock options, fair value is estimated using

an option-pricing model, whereas for restricted stock grants and units,

fair value is equal to the market price of rhe Companyt common stock

on the date of grant. Compensation expense For strategic performance

shares is recorded over the performance period. For strategic

performance shares with payment dependent on a market condidon,
fair value is determined at the grant date using a Monte Carlo

simulation model and not subsequently adjusted regardless of the final

outcome. For strategic performance shares with payment dependent

on performance conditions, expense is inidally accrued based on the

most likely outcome, but evaluated for adjustment each period for
updates in the expected outcome. At the end of the performance

period, expense is adjusted to the actual outcome (number ofshares

awarded times the share price at the grant date),

U. Participating Business

The Companyt participating life insurance policies entitle
policyholders to earn dividends that represent a portion of the

earnings of the Company's life insurance subsidiaries. Participating

insurance accounted for approximately lolo of the Companys total life
insurance in force at the end of 2014,2013 and 2012.

V Income Thxes

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are recognized for differences

between the financial and income tax reporting bases of the

underlying assets and liabilities and established based upon enacted

tax rates and laws. Deferred income tax assets are recognized when

available evidence indicates that realization is more likely than not,

The deferred income tax provision genera.[y represents the net change

in deferred income tax assets and liabilities during the year, exclusive

of amounts reported as adjustments to accumulated other

comprehensive income or amounts initially recorded due to business

combinations. The current income tax provision generally represents

the estimated amounts due on the various income tax returns for the

year reported plus the effect ofany uncertain tax positions. Uncertain

tax positions are evaluated in accordance with the model set forth in
FASB guidance.

Income tax provisions related to the Company's foreign operations are

generally determined based upon the local country income tax rate.

Note 19 contains deailed information about the Companyt income

taxes.

\( Earnings Per Share

The Company computes basic earnings per share using the weighted-

average number of unrestricted common and deferred shares

outstanding. Diluted earnings per share also includes the diludve
effect ofoutstanding employee stock opdons and unvested restricted

stock granted after 2009 using the treasury stock method and the

effect of strategic performance shares.
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NOTE 3 Acquisitions and Dispositions

The Company may from time to time acquire or dispose of assets,

subsidiaries or lines of business. The three significant transactions

described below were completed in 2012. The combined pro forma

effect of these transactions was not material to rhe Companys 2012

consolidared revenue and net income.

A. Joint Venture Agreement with
Finansbank

On November 9, 2012, the Company acquired 5lo/o of the total
shares of Finans Emeklilik ve Hayat A.S. ("Finans Emeklilik'), a

Turkish insurance company for a cash purchase price ofapproximately

$l16 million. Finans Emeklilik operates in life insurance, accident

insurance and pension product markets. Results ofthis business and

the related goodwill and intangible assets (see Note 8 for additional

information) are reported in the Global Supplemental Benefits

segment. The redeemable noncontrolling interest is classified as

temporary equicy in the Companyt Consolidated Balance Sheet

because Finansbank has the right to require the Company to purchase

its 49o/o interest for the value of its net assets and the inforce business

in 15 years.

B. Acquisition of Great American

supplemental health insurance products in the U.S. for a cash

purchase price of $326 million. Results of this business and the related

goodwill and intangible assets (see Note 8 For additional information)
are reported in the Global Supplemental Benefits segment.

C. Acquisition of HealthSpring, Inc.

On January 31,2012 the Company acquired the outstanding shares

of HealthSpring, Inc. ("HealthSpring') for $55 per share in cash and

Cigna stock awards, representing a cost of approximately $3.8 billion.
At the time of rhe acquisition, HealthSpring provided Medicare

Advantage coverage in 15 states and the District of Columbia, as well
as a large, nationd stand-alone Medicare prescription drug business.

Results of this business and the related goodwill and intangible assets

(see Note 8 for additional information) are reported in the Global

Health Care segment. During 201.2, the Company recorded

$53 million pre-tax ($40 million after-tax: $7 million in Global

Health Care and $33 million in Corporate) of acquisition-related

costs in other operating expenses.

During the three years ended December 3I, 2014, the Company

entered into other acquisition and divestiture transactions, the results

of which were not material to the Companyt results of operations,

liquidiry or financial condition.

Supplemental Benefits Group

On August 31, 2012, the Company

Supplemental Benefits Group, one of
acquired Great American

the largest providers of
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NOTE 4 Earnings Per Share

Basic and diluted earnings per share were computed as follows:

(Shares in thotandt, dolhn in milliont shan amoants)

20t4

Shareholders' net income

Shares

Common stock

Total shares

EPS

Effect of
Dilution

'Weighted 
average

20t3

Shareholders' net income 1,476 $

Shares
'\?'eighted 

average

Cornmon stock equiva-lenrs

279,296

5,389

279,296

5,389

Total shares 279,296 5,389 284,685

EPS 5.28 $ (0.10) $ 5.18

2012

Shareholders' net income r,623 $ -$ 1,623

Shares

\Teighted average

Common stock equivalents

284,819
4,7rr

284,819
4,7r1

Total shares 284,8t9 4,7t1 289,530

EPS $ 5.70 $ (0.09) $ 5.61

The following outstanding employee stock opdons were not included in the computation of diluted earnings per share because their effect was

anti-dilutive.

(Ir millioz) 2014 2013 2012

Anti-dilurive 2.50.9
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NOTE 5 Global Health Care Medical Claims Payable

Medical claims payable for the Global Health Care segment reflects estimates of the ultimate cost of claims that have been incurred but not yet
reported, those that have been reported but nor yet paid (reported claims in process), and other medical expenses payable that is primarily
comprised of accruals for incenrives and orher amounts payable to health care professionals and facilities, as follows:

(Ix millions) 2014 2013

Incurred but not yet reported

Reported claims in process

ician incentives and other medical

MEDICAL CI.AIMS PAYABLE

Activiry in medical claims payable was as follows:

(In milliow)

Ba.lance at January 1,

Less: Reinsurance and other amounrs recoverable

Ba-tance at Jmuary I, net

Acquired net:

Incurred claims related to:

Current year

Prior years

Total incurred

Paid claims related to:

4,,..-^.,,--.

Balance at December 31, n€t

Add: Reinsurance and other amounrs recoverable

20r4

1.,856

16,8i-l

q 1t7t

201

1,856

242

1,614

t5,867

t4,267

115

t,615

355

80

2,050

20t2

1,056

504

14,428

(200)

12.854

1,305

249

I,b l4

242

Balance at December 3l $ l,856

Reinsurance and other amounts recoverable reflect amounts due from
reinsurers and policyholders to cover incurred but not reported and

pending claims for minimum premium products and certain ASO

business where the right of offset does not exist. See Note 7 for
additional information on reinsurance. For the year ended

December 3I,2014, actual experience differed from the Companyt
key assumptions resulting in favorable incurred claims related to prior
years'medical claims payable of $159 million, or l.0o/o of the current

year incurred claims as reported for the year ended December 31,

2013. Actual completion factors accounted for $61 million, or 0.4o/o,

while actual medical cost trend resulted in the remainins $98 million,
or 0.60/o.

For the year ended Decembe.r 3I,2013, actual experience differed
from the Companyt key assumptions, resulting in favorable incurred
claims related to prior years' medical claims payable of $182 million,
or l.3o/o ofthe current year incurred claims as reported for the year

ended December 31,2012. Actual completion factors accounted for
$74 million of favorability, or 0.5o/o, while actual medical cost trend
resulted in the remaining $l0B million, or 0.8%.

The impact of prior year development on shareholders' ner income

was $53 million For the year ended December 3l,2Ol4 compared
with $77 million for the year ended December 31,2013. The

favorable effect of prior year development for both years primarily
reflects low utilization of medical services. The change in the amount

of the incurred claims related to prior years in the medical claims

payable liabiliry does not directly correspond to an increase or
decrease in the Companyt shareholders' net income recognized for
the Following reasons:

Firsr, the Company consistendy recognizes fhe acruarial best estimate

of the ultimate liabiliry within a level of confidence, as required by
actuarial standards of practice that require the liabilities be adequate

under moderately adverse conditions. As the Company establishes the
liabiliry for each incurral year, the Company ensures rhar irs

assumptions appropriately consider moderately adverse conditions.

VAen a portion of the development relates to a release of the prior
year's provision for moderately adverse conditions, the Company does

not consider that amount as impacting shareholders' net income to
the extent that it is oflset by an increase determined appropriate to
address moderately adverse conditions for the current year incurred

claims.

Second, as a result of the medical loss ratio ("MLR") provisions of
Health Care Reform, changes in medical claim estimates due to prior
year development may be offset by a change in the MLR rebate

accrual.

CIGNA CORPOMTION - 2014 Form 10-K 75



PART II
ITEM 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

Third, changes in reserves for the Companyt retrospectively

experience-rated business for accounts in surplus do not usually

impact shareholders' net income because such amounts are generally

offset by a change in the liability to the policyholder. An account is in

surplus when the accumulated premium received exceeds the

accumulated medical costs and administrative charges, including
profit charges.

NOTE 6 Organizational Efficienry Plans

The determination of liabilities for Global Health Care medical

claims payable requires the Company to make critical accounting

estimates. See Note 2(N) for further information about the

assumptions and estimates used to establish this liabiliry.

The Company is regularly evaluating ways to deliver its products and

services more efficiently and at a lower cost. During 2013 and 2012,

the Company adopted specific plans to increase its organizadonal

efiiciency as follows:

20Ii Phn. During the fourth quarter of 2013, the Company

committed to a plan to increase its organizational efficiency and

reduce costs through a series of actions that includes employee

headcount reductions. As a result, the Company recognized charges in
other operaring expenses of $60 million pre-tax ($40 million after-tax)

Summarized below is the activity for the 2013 plan described above.

(In millions)

in the fourth quarter of 2013, primarily for severance costs. The
Company expects most ofthe severance to be paid by the end of20l5.

2012 Plan During the third quarter of 2012, in connection with the

execution of irs srraregy, rhe Company committed to a series of actions

to further improve its organizational alignment, operational

effectiveness, and efficiency. As a result, the Company recognized

charges in other operating expenses of $77 million pre-tax
($50 million after-tax) in the third quarter of 2012 consisting

primarily of severance costs. The costs associated with this plan were

substantially paid as of March 31, 2014.

Severance ReaI estate Total

Fourth quarter 2013 charge

Less: 2013 payments

60

2
$47$

I
r3
I

Bafance, December 31, 2013
kss: 2014 payments

58

28

46

26

T2

2

Balance, December 31, 2014 30

NOTE 7 Reinsurance

The Companyt insurance subsidiaries enter into agreements with
other insurance companies to assume and cede reinsurance.

Reinsurance is ceded primarily to limit losses fiom large exposures and

to permit recovery of a portion of direct or assumed losses.

Reinsurance is also used in acquisition and disposition transactions

when the underwriring company is not being acquired. Reinsurance

does not relieve the originating insurer of liabiliry. The Company

regularly evaluates the financial condition of its reinsurers and

monitors concentrations of its credit risk.

Effective Exit of GMDB and GMIB Business

On February 4,2013, the Company entered into an agreement with
Berkshire Hathaway Life Insurance Company of Nebraska
("Berlahire") co effectively exit the GMDB and GMIB businesses via

a reinsurance transaction. Berkshire reinsured 100% of the

Company's future claim payments in these businesses, net of
retrocessional arrangements existing at that dme. The reinsurance

agreement is subject to an overall limit with approximately

$3.7 billion remaining.

Th.is transaction resulted in an after-tax charge to shareholders' net

income in the first quarter of 2013 of $507 million ($781 million
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pre-tax reported as follows: $727 million in other benefit expenses;

$45 million in GMIB fair value loss; and $9 million in other operating

expenses). The payment to Berkshire under the agreement rvas

$2.2 billion and was funded from the sale of investment assets, t2rx

benefits related to the transaction and available parent cash.

Because this effective exit was accomplished via a reinsurance contract,

the amounts related to the reinsured GMDB and GMIB contracts

cannot be netted, so the gross assets and liabilities must continue to be

measured and reported. The following disclosures provide further
context to the methods and assumptions used to determine these

assets and liabilities.

GMDB
The Company estimates this liability with an internal model based on

the Company's experience and future expectations over an extended

period, consistent with the long-term nature ofthis product. Because

rhe product is premium deficient, the Company records increases to

the reserve if it is inadequate based on the model. Prior to the

reinsurance transaction with Berlshire, any such reserve increases were

recorded as a charge to shareholders' net income. Reserve increases

after the reinsurance transaction are expected to have a corresponding



increase in the recorded reinsurance recoverable, provided the

increased recoverable is not capped due to the overall Berkshire limit
(including the GMIB assets).

The Companyt dynamic hedge programs were discontinued at the

time of the Berkshire reinsurance transaction in 2013. These hedee

Activiry in future policy benefit reserves for the GMDB business was as follows:

Balance at January l,
Add: Unpaid claims

Less: Reinsurance and other amounts recoverable

Balance at January I, net

Add: Incurred benefits

the $1,647 payment for Berkshire reinsurance transaction)kss: Paid benefia (includ

Ending balance, net

Less: Unpaid claims

Add: Reinsuranci and other amounts recoverable
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programs generated losses (included in Other Revenues) of
$32 million in 2013, and $105 million in 2012.

2013 2012

$ l,o9o

24

42

t,072 t,r57

699

t,674 t02

$ 1,170

40

53

97

18

1,3r7

t,072

24

42

Balance at

Benefits paid and incurred are net of ceded amounts, including the The majoriry of the exposure arises under annuities that guarantee

impact of the 2013 reinsurance transaction with Berkshire. The that the benefit received at death will be no less than the highest

ending net retained reserve as of December 31, 2014 and historical account value of the related mutual fund investments on a

December J 1, 20 13 covers ongoing administrative expenses, as well as contractholdert anniversary date. Under this type of death benefit,

the few claims retained by the Company. Prior to 2013, incurred theComparyisliableto theextentthehighesthistoricalanniversary
benefits reflected the favorable or unfavorable impact of a rising or account value exceeds the fair value of the related mutual fund
falling equiry market on the liabllity, and included reserve investments at the time of a contractholdert death.

strengrhening of $43 million in 2012.

The table below presents the account value, net amount at risk and average attained age ofunderlying contractholders for guarantees assumed by

the Company in the event of death. The net amount at risk is the amount that the Company would have to pay if all contractholders died as of the

specified date. Unless the Berkshire reinsurance limit is exceeded, rhe Company should be reimbursed in full for these payments.

(Dollars ir millions, excluds imorct of reireurance cedzd) 2Ol4 2Ol3

Account vaftie l

Net amount at risk

Average anained age of contractholders (weighted by exposure)

li i.'rrrI

$ 2,763,rij $ :,OZl

73 73

Number of contractholders
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Effects of Reinsurance

The following table presents direct, assumed and ceded premiums for both short-duration and long-duration insurance contracts. It also presents

reinsurance recoveries that have been netted against direct benefits and expenses in the Companys Consolidated Staternents oflncome.

(In milliots) 2014 2013 2012

Premiums

Shorr-duration contracts:

Direct

Assumed

Ceded

Long-duration conEacrs;

Direct

Assumed

Ceded:

Individual life insurance and annuiry business sold

Other

Individual life insurance and annuiry business sold

Other

TOTAL

Recoveries were higher in 2074 primarily due to the absence of the

2013 activity related to the Berlshire fiansaction, including the initial
payment. The increase in long-duration assumed premiums in 2013
largely results from the acquisition of Great American Supplemental
Benefits in 2012.

The effects of reinsurance on written premiums for short-duration
contracts were not materially different from the recognized premium
amounts shown in the table above.

t' )! D Zr,U)b

394

(252)

23,1)8

$ 20,792

385

(2r6)

20,161

2,485

183

(r76)

(ll5)

) )77

86

(180

(66)

2,377 2,056

7

3r6

201
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Reinsurance Recoverables

The majority of the Companyt reinsurance recoverables resulted fiom acquisition and disposition $ansactions in which the underwriting

company vr'as not acquired. Components of the Companyt reinsurance recoverables are presented below:

(In milliow)

GMDB

Individual Life and Annuity (sold in
1998)

Retirement Beneffts Business (sold in
2004)

Supplemental Beneffts Business (2012

acquisition)

Global Health Care, Global Supplemental

Benefits, Group Disability and Life

Other run-off reinsurance

Berkshire

Other

Lincoln National Life md
Lincoln Life & Annuity
of New York

Prudential Retirement

Insurance and Annuiry

Great American Life

Various

Various

r,t47

39

3,8r7

t,092

336

56r

1,276 l00o/o were secured by assets in a trust.

41 960/o were secured by assets in a trust or
letter of credit.

3,905 Both companies' ratings were sufficient to

avoid triggering a contractual obligation to

fully secure the outstanding balance.

1,200 100% were secured by assets in a trust.

363 99o/o were secured by assers in a trust.

407 Recoverables were from more than 80

reinsurers used in the ordinary course of
business. Balances ranged from less than

$l million up to $167 million, witlr 97o

secured by assets in trusts or letters of
credit.

107 1000/o of this balance was secured by assets

in a trust, and other deposits.

88

Total reinsurance recoverables $ 7,080 $ 7,299

Over 90% of the Company's reinsurance recoverables were from
companies that are rated A or higher by Standard & Poort at

December 31,2014, The Company reviews its reinsurance

arrangements and establishes reserves against the recoverables in the

event that recovery is not considered probable. As of December 31,
2014, the Companyt recoverables were net of a reserve of $4 million.

The Company bears the risk of loss if its reinsurers and

retrocessionaires do not meet or are unable to meet their reinsurance

obligations to the Company.

NOTE 8 Goodwill, Other Intangibles, and Property and Equipment

Goodwill is primarily reported in the Global Health Care segment ($5.7 billion) and, to a lesser extent, the Global Supplemental Benefits segment
($331 million).

Activity in Goodwill during 2014 and 2013 was as follows:

20r4 2013

Balance at January l,
Goodwill acquired:

Finars Emeklilik

Other

$ 6,001

3

33

currcncy translation (8)

$ 6,029Bdance at December 3l
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Other intangible assets were comprised of the following at December 3l:

(Dollan in

20L4

Customer relationships

Other

Total reported in other assets, including other intangibles

Value of business acquired (reported in deferred policy acquisition costs)

Internal-use software

TOTAL OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

2013

Customer relationships

Orher

Accumulated Net C-arrying
Anortization Value

and

$ 1289 $ 635 $ 654

324 76 248

Total repotted in other assets, including other intangibles

Value of business acquired (reported in deferred policy acquisition costs)

Internal-use software (reported in propercy and equipment)

r,613
168

r,942

7rr
20

1,307

902
r48

635

TOTAL OTHER INIANGIBLE ASSETS 3,723$2.038$r.685
Properry and equipment was comprised of the following as of December 3l:

(Doltzrs in milliou)

20r4

Internal-use software

TOTAL PROPERTYAND PMENT

2013

Internal-use software

Other properry and equipment

andOther

Accumulated Net Carrying
Amortization Vdue

t,307

918

r,942

t,747

635

829

TOTAL PROPERTY AND EQI.IIPMENT 3,689 2,225 r,464

Other property and equipment includes assets recorded under capiral

leases with a cost of $84 million, accumulated amortization of
$36 million, and a net carrying value of $48 million as of
December 31,2014. Other property and equipment includes assers

recorded under capital leases with a cost of $306 million, accumulated
amortization of $16 million, and a net carrying value of $290 million

as of December 31, 2013. The reduction in assets recorded under

capital leases in 2014, compared with the prior year, was primarily
related to the Companyt purchase of a building in South Korea that it
had previously leased. Current capita.l lease agreements are for
equipment and generally have a term of 48 months with the

equipment returned to the lessor at the end of the term.

Depreciadon and amortization was comprised of the following for the years ended December 3l:

Internal-use software

Other property and equipment

Value of business acquired (reported in deferred poliry acquisition cosa)

Other i

TOTAL DEPRECIATION AND AMORTIZATION

Other property and equipment includes amonization on assets

recorded under capital leases of $20 million in 2074 and $16 million
in 2013.

The Company estimates annual pre-tax amortizarion for intangible
assets, including internal-use software, over the next five calendar

$ 597 560

years ro be as follows: $425 million in2015, $348 million in2016,
$237 million ln 2017, $154 million in 2018, and $129 million in
2019.

20L4 2013

160

19

193

2012

209

r44

2

205
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NOTE 9 Pension and Other Postretirement Benefit Plans

A. Pension and Other Postretirement Benefit Plans

The Company and cerrain of its subsidiaries provide pension, health

care and life insurance defined benefits to eligible retired employees,

spouses and other eligible dependents through various domestic and

foreign plans. The effect of its foreign pension and other

postretirement benefit plans is immaterial to the Companyt results of
operations, liquidity and financial position. The Company froze its

defined benefit postretirement medical plan in the first quarter of
2013 and its primary domestic pension plans in 2009.

As further discussed in Note 23, the Company and the Cigna Pension

Plan are defendants in a class action lawsuit that has yet to be resolved.

Change in benefit obligation

Benefit obligation, January i
Service cost

lnterest cost

(Gain) loss from past experience

Effect of plan amendment

Benefits paid from plan assets

Benefits paid - other

Curtailment

rVhen the parties agree on a final plan amendment, the pension

benefit obligarion will be updated to reflecr additional benefits

resulting from this litigation.

In the first quarter of20l3, the Company also announced a change in
the cost sharing arrangement with retirees for pharmacy subsidy

payments received from the U.S. Government effective January 1,

2014, resulting in a reduced other postretirement benefit obligation of
$57 million. This reduction was recorded in accumulated other

comprehensive income, net ofdeferred taxes, resulting in an after-tax

increase to shareholders' equity of $37 million.

The Company measures the assets and liabilities of its domestic pension and other postretirement benefit plans as of December 31. The following
table summarizes the projected benefit obligations and assets related to the Companyt domestic and international pension and other
postretirement benefit plans as of, and for the year ended, December 3l:

Pension Benefits
Other Postretirement

Benefits

20t4

106

679

2

(2et)

Qe)

$ 5,267

3

181

(464)

(262)

(25)

$ 442

I
t2

(37)

(57)

(3)

Benefit obligation, December 3l

Change in plan assets

Fair value of plan assets, January I

Actual return on plan assets

Benefits paid

Contributions

Fair value of plan asets, December 31

Funded Status

The postretirement benefits liabiliry adjustment included in accumulated other comprehensive loss consisted of the following as of December 31:

Pension Benefits
Odrer Postretirement

Benefits

(In milliorc) 20r4 20t3 2014 20t3

Unrecognized net gain (loss) $ (1,696) $14
servlce cost

(28)

(7)

323

20

POSTRETIREMEI\IT BENEFITS LIABILITY

During 2014, the Companyt postretirement benefits liability
adjustment increased by $656 million pre-tax ($426 million after-tax)

resulting in a decrease to shareholders' equity. The increase in the

3,665

488

(262)

198

16

7

7r

liability was primarily due to a change in the mortality assumption (as

discussed further in the assumptions section of this note) and a

decrease in the discount rate.

4 039

257
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Pension benefits. The Company's pension plans were underfunded

by $t.t billion in 2014 and $0.6 billion in 2013 and had related

accumulated benefit obligations of $5.3 billion as of December 31,
2014 and $4.7 billion as of December 31, 2013.

The Company funds its qualified pension plans at least at the

minimum amount required by the Employee Retirement Income

Components of net pension cost for the years ended December 31 were as follows:

(In million)

Security Acr of 1974 and rhe Pension Protection Acr of 2006. For
2015, the Company expects to make minimum required
contributions totaling approximately $5 million. Future years'

contributions will ultimately be based on a wide range of factors

including but not limited to asset returns) discount rates, and funding
targets,

2014 2013 2012

Service cost

Interest cost

Expected long-term rerurn on plan assets

Amorrizarion of:

Net loss from pasr experience

Settlement loss

S2
206

:,::-.:.:... (2641

)
t8l

(272)

$3
198

(270)

58

b

74

NET PENSION COST

The Company expeccs to recognize pre-tax losses of $70 million in
201 5 from amortization of past experience. This estimace is based on a
weighted average amortization period for the frozen and inactive plans

that is based on the average expected remaining life of plan
participants of approximately 29 years.

Other postretirement benert$, Unfunded retiree health benefit plans

had accumulated benefit obligations of $206 million at December 31,
20),4 and $190 million at December 3I,2013. Retiree life insurance

plans had accumulared benefit obligations of $129 million as of
December 31,2014 and $133 million as of December 31.2013.

2013 2012

I

Components of net other postrerirement benefit cost for the years ended December 31 were as follows:

(In millions) 2014

Service cost

Interest cost

Expected long-term rerurn on plan assets

Amortizarion of:

Prior service cost

Curtailment

NET OTHER POSTRETIREMENT BENEFIT COST

The Company expects to recognize $3 million pre-tax gains related to
amortization of prior service cost and no pre-tax gains from
amortization of past experience in 2015. The amortization period is
based on an average expected remaining life of plan participants of
29 years,

The estimated rate offuture increases in the per capita cost ofhealth
care benefits is 6.750/o in 2015, decreasing 6y 0.25o/o per year to
4.75% ln 2023 and beyond. This estimate reflects the Company's

current claim experience and managemenrt estimare that rates of
growth will decline in the Future. A lolo increase or decrease in the

estimated rate in 2074 would have no impact on postrerirement
benefit costs, and $l million on the posrreriremenr benefit obligation.

PIan assets. The Company's current targer investment allocation
percentages (50% fixed income, 25o/o public equiry securiries, and

25o/o in other invesrments, including securities partnerships, hedge

funds and real estate) are developed by management as guidelines,

although the fair values ofeach asset category are expected to vary as a

result of changes in market conditions. The Company would expect

to further reduce the allocation to equiry securities and move further
into fixed income investments as funding levels improve.

As of Decembet 31, 201,4, pension plan assets included $3.8 billion
invested in the separate accounts of Connecticut General Life
Insurance Company ("CGLIC") and Life Insurance Company of
North America, that are subsidiaries of the Company, as well as an

additional $361 million invested directly in funds offered by the buyer
o[ the retirement benefirs business.

I

T2

(1)

2

lo

(1)
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The fur values of plan assets by category and by the fair value hierarchy as defined by GAAP are as foilows. See Note l0 for further details

regarding how the Company determines fair value, including the level within the fair value hierarchy and the procedures the Company uses to

validate fair value measurements.

December 31,2014
(In milliow)

PIan asscts at fiir aalae:

Fixed maturities:

Federal government and agency

Corporate

Mortgage and ocher asset-backed

Fund investments and accounts(l)

TOTAL FD(ED MAIURIIIES

Equity securities:

Domestic

]nrernation funds and accourts(l)

TOTAL SECURITIES

Real estate, including pooled separare accounts(l)

Commercial mortgage loans

Securities partnerships

Hedge funds

Guaranteed deposit account contract

Cash eoui

TOTAL PI^AN ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE

December 31,2013

Quoted Prices in
Active Markets for

Identical Assets
(Ir milliore) 0,evel 1)

Quoted Prices in
Active Markets for Significant Otf,er

Identiml Assers Observable Ioputs

Significant
Unobservable

Inputs

Signiffcant
Significant Other Unobservable

Observable Inputs Inputs
[evel 2) Gevel 3) Total

(l) A qoohd scparate account hat seucral participating beneft plans and eaclt owns a ilare of the total pool of inuesnent.

PIzr assets at fab oalae:

Fixed maturities:

Federal government and agency

Corporate

Mongage and other asset-backed

$$ 2

725

l8
24

5

3

$z
749

23

1.022Fund investments and oooled seoarate accounts(l) - 1,019

TOTAL FDGD MATURITIES r,764 32 r.796

Lqurry securItres:

Domestic 824 - 35 859

International, including funds and pooled separate accounts(r) 187 124 7 318

TOTAL EQUITY SECURITIES 1,011 42 r,r77r24

TOTAL PI.AN ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE r.01r$r.957$r,121 $4.089
(l) A pooled reparate dccoant ha tncrdl participating beneft pkns and each oww a sbare of tbe total pool of inuethnents.
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Plan assets in Level I include exchangeJisted equiry securities. Level 2

assets primarily include:

. fixed income and international equiry funds priced using their daily

net asset value that is the exit price; and

. fixed maturities valued using recent trades of similar securities or

pricing models as described below.

Fixed
Maturities
& Eq"ity
Secuities

Plan assets classified in Level 3 include investments primarily in
securities partnerships, equity real estate and hedge funds generally

valued based on the pension plant ownership share of the equiry of
the investee including changes in the fair values of its underlying

The fof lowing table summarizes the changes in pension plan assets classified in Level 3 for the years ended December 3 1,2014 and December 31 ,

20 I 3. Actual rerurn on plan assets in this table may include changes in fair value that are attributable to both observable and unobservable inputs.

Real Estate
& Mortgage

Loans

Balaace at January

Actual return on plan assets:

Assets still held ar the reporting date

Assets sold

TOTAI ACTUAL RETURN ON PI.{N ASSETS

Purchases, sales, setdements, net

Tiansfers into/out of Level 3

Balance ar December 31.2014

Fixed Guaranteed
Maturities Real Btate Deposit
& Equity & Mortgage Securities Account

Or millioni Securities Loms Putnerships Hedge Fmds Contract

Securities

Guaranteed
Deposit
Account

Funds Contract

Total

Balance at Ianuary 1, 2013 $ 44 $ 352 $ 328 $ 327 $ 47 $ 1,098

Actud return on plan assets:

Assets still held at rhe reporting date

Assets sold durine rhe period 7

r6 I 84

7

38,q

TOTAL ACTUAL RETURN ON PI.IIN ASSETS 9r38r629

Purchases, sales, settlemenrs, net

Tiansfers into/out of l,evel 3

(42)

Balance ar December 31,2013 $ 74 $ 339 $ 304 $ 360 $ 44 $ 1,121

As*mptions for pe?tsioil and otber posfietbemmt benefit phrc. Management determined the present value of the projected benefit obligation

and the accumulared other postretiremenr benefit obligation and related benefit costs based on the following weighted average assumpdons as of
and for the years ended December 3l:

2014 2013

(66)

(2)

(5)25
(2)

(40) (4)

Discount rate:

Pension benefit obligation

Other postretirement benefit obligation

Pension benefit cost

Other postretirement benefit cost

Expected long-rerm return on plan assets:

3 719it

3 5(lo/o

4 50o/o

4 00oio

4.500/o

4.00o/o

3.50o/o

3.250/o

8.00%o

5.000/o

Pension benefit cost

Other oostreriremenr benefit cost

Based on a 2014 study of the Companyk mortality experience over the

past several years, it was determined that the new Society ofActuaries
mortaliry table and projection scale published in the fourth quarter of

2014 should be adopted for the Companyt defined benefit pension

and other postretirement plans as of December 31, 2014.
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In measuring the benefit obligation, the Company sets discount rates

by applying actual annudized yields at various durations from a

discount rate curve to the expected cash flows of the pension and

other postretirement benefi$ liabllities. The discount rate curve is

construcred using an array of bonds in various industries throughout

the domesric market for high qualiry bonds, but only selects those for

the curve rhat have an above average return at each duration. The

bond porrfolio used to construct the curve is monitored to ensure that

only high qua.liry issues are included. The Company believes that this

curve is representative of the yields that the Company is able to

achieve in its plan asset investment strategy. As part ofits discount rate

setting process, the Company rev.iewed alternative indices and

determined that they were not mater.ially different than the result

produced by the curve used.

Expected long-term rates of return on plan assets were developed

considering actual long-term historical returns, expected long-term
market conditions, plan asset mix and managementt investment

strategy, that continues a significant allocation to domestic and

(In nilliow)

PART II
ITEM 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

foreign equity securities as well as real estate, securities partnerships

and hedge funds. Expected long-term market conditions take into
consideration certain key macroeconomic trends including expected

domestic and foreign GDP growth, employment levels and inflation.
The expecced return assumption was considered reasonable for 2014.
The Company will reconsider its expected return assumption for
2015 given some changes in asset mix and re-evaluation of future
return expectations among various asset classes.

To measure pension costs, rhe Company uses a market-related asset

valuation for domestic pension plan assets invested in non-fixed

income investments. The market-related value of these pension assets

recognizes the difference berween actual and expected long-term
returns in the portfolio over 5 years, a method that reduces the

short-term impact of market fluctuations on pension cost. At
December 31,2014, the market-related asset value was approximately

$3.9 billion compared with a market value of approximately

$4.2 billion.

Other
Postretirement

Pension Benefits Benefits

Benef.t paymen*. The following benefit payments, including expected Future services, are expected to be paid in:

2015
20r6
2017

2018

20rg
2020-2024

$

)

J

399 $ 3l
334 $ 30

336 $ 29

337 $ 28

338 $ 27

1,63r $ 115

B. 401(k) Plans

The Company sponsors a 401(k) plan in which the Company

matches a portion of employees' pre-tax contributions. Another
401(k) plan with an employer match was frozen in 1999. Participants

in the active plan may invest in various funds that invest in the

Companyt common stock, several diversified stock funds, a bond

fund or a fixed-income fund. In coniunction with the action to freeze

the domestic defined benefit pension plans, effective January 1, 2010,

the Company increased its matching contributions to 401(k) plan

parricipants.

The Company may elect to increase its matching contributions if the

Company's annual performance meets certain targets. The Company's

expense for these plans was $98 million for 2014, $91 million for
2013 and $78 million for 2012.
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NOTE l0 Fair Value Measurements

The Company carries certain financial instruments at fair value in the
financial statements including fixed maturities, equiry securities,

short-term investments and derivatives. Other financial instruments
are measured at fair value under certain conditions, such as when

impaired.

Fair value is defined as the price at which an asset could be exchanged

in an orderly fiansaction between market participants ar rhe balance

sheet date. A liabiliryt fair value is defined as the amounr that would
be paid to transfer the liabiliry to a market participant, not the

amount that would be paid to settle the liability with the creditor.

The Companyt financial assets and liabilides carried at fair value have

been classified based upon a hierarchy defined by GAAP The
hierarchy gives the highest ranking to fair values determined using
unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and
liabilities (Level l) and the lowest ranking to fair values determined
using methodologies and models with unobservable inputs (kvel 3).
An assett or a liabilityt classification is based on the lowest level of
input that is significant to its measurement. For example, a financial
asset or liabiliry carried at fair value would be classified in Level 3 if
unobservable inputs were significant to the instrument's fair value,

even though the measurement may be derived using inputs that are

both observable (Levels I and 2) and unobservable (Level 3).

The Company estimates fair values using prices from third parties or
internd pricing methods. Fair value estimates received from third-
party pricing services are based on reponed trade activiry and quoted
market prices when available, and other market information that a

market participant may use to estimate fair value. The internal pricing

methods are performed by the Company's investment professionals

and generally involve using discounted cash flow analyses,

incorporating current market inputs for similar financial instruments
with comparable terms and credit qualiry as well as other qualirarive
factors. In instances where there is little or no market activiry for the
same or similar instruments, fair value is estimated using methods,
models and assumptions that the Company believes a hyporhedcal
market participant would use to determine a current transaction price.
These valuation techniques involve some level of esrimation and
judgment that becomes significant with increasingly complex
instruments or pricing models.

The Company is responsible for determining fair value, as well as the
appropriate level within the fair value hierarchy, based on the
significance of unobservable inputs. The Company reviews

methodologies, processes and controls of third-parry pricing services

and compares prices on a test basis to those obtained from other
external pricing sources or internal estimares. The Company performs
ongoing analyses of both prices received from third-parry pricing
services and those developed internally to determine that rhey
represent appropriate estimates of fair value. The controls completed
by the Company and third-party pricing services include reviewing to
ensure that prices do not become stale and whether changes from
prior valuations are reasonable or require additional review. The
Company also performs sample testing of sales values to confirm the
accuracy of prior fair value estimates. Exceptions identified during
these processes indicate that adjustments to prices are infrequent and

do not significantly impact valuations.
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Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities Carried at Fair Value

The following tables provide information as of December 31, 2014 ard, 2013 about the Companyt financial assets and liabilities carried at fair
value. Separate account assets that are also recorded at fair value on the Company's Consolidated Balance Sheets are reported separately under the

heading "Separate account assets" as gains and losses related to these assecs genera.lly accrue directly to policyholders.

December 31,2014
(Ir nillior)

Quoted Prices in
Active Markets for Significant Other

Identicd Assec Observable Inputs

Signiffcant
Unobservable

Inpurc

Financial assets ac fair value:

Fixed maturities:

Federal government and agenry

State and local government

Foreign government ' .,

Corporate

Mortgage-backed

Other assecbacked

Total fixed maturities(rl

Equiry securities

Subtotal

Short-term investments

GMIB assets9)

Other derivative assets€)

TOTAL FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE D(CLUDING
SEPARAIE ACCOT'NTS

Finmcial liabilities at fair value:

GMIB liabilities

Other derivative liabilides(3)

TOTAL FINANCIAI LIABILITIES AT FAIRVALI,]E
(l)Findrnitiesincladed$756nillionofnetappreciationreqliredtoa/jutfanrepolic7beneftsforthcmn.ofsenhmentlnnuitlbuiie''inchding$65nillio

securitiet clrcsifed in Lnel 3-

(2) The GMIB 6sett repretented retrocessional contracts in 2kce fon three utemal reiruuren that cover the exposwes on thet contracts,

(3)othqdeivatileuetsincludzd$5millionofinterestrateandforeignunmc7rapsqualifingucuhflwhedgaand$InillionofintrettrateswapquIifingufa
dtiuative liabilitio refeoed interest rate mdforeign efteul swn?t qulifiing u utb fou bedges. Se Non 12 for additional infomation.

CIGNA CORPOMIION - 2014 Form 10-K 87



PART II
ITEM 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

December 3l,2Ol3

Quoted Prices in
Active Markets for Signifimt Other

Identical fusets Obseruable Inputs
(In millions) (Level l) (Level 2)

Significmt
Unobservable

Inputs
(Level 3) TotaI

Financial assets at fair Yalue:

Fixed marurities:

Federal government and agency

Stare and local government

Foreign government

Corporare

Mortgage-backed

Orher asser-backed

'rq-7 { 583

2,t44
| 4)1

r0,476

r52

282

23

505

I

602

$ sao

2,144

r,444

10,981

r53

884

Toral fixed maturities(r)

Equity securities

)<11

8

r 5,058

74

1,13 l
59

16,486

r4r

Subtotal

Short-term investments

GMIB assets(2)

Other derivative assets(3)

305 r5,r32

63r

3

1,190

75r

16,627

63r

75r

3

TOTAL FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAJR VALUE, EXCLUDING
SEPARATE ACCOT]NTS 305 $ 15,766 1,941 $ 18,012

Financial liabiliries ar fair value,

GMIB liabilities

Other derivative liabilitieso)

-D 741 74r

t6
-D

16

TOTAL FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE -$ 16$ 74r $ 757

(])Fixedmaturitiesincluded$458millionofnetappreciationrequiredtoadjustftturepolic7bexeftforthern.ofsettlementannuibusinesincludi
secritiet clasifed in Leuel 3.

(2) The GMIB asetr repretented retroce$iondl contlac* in place from three external reinturers tltat couer the uposuret on tlJese contrdct.

(3)otherdcriuatiueageBrefectedinterestrateandforeigncurrenrswdpqidliflingascashJlowhedgu
lwapt qualif,ing at catb flow hedgu and $1 million of interest rate ard foreigx currenry twapt not designated as accounting hedges. Sre Nox 12 for additional information.

Level I Financial Assets

Inputs For instruments classified in Level 1 include unadjusted quoted

prices for identical assets in active markets accessible at the

measurement date. Active markets provide pricing data for rades

occurring at least weekly and include exchanges and dealer markets.

Assets in Level I include actively-traded U.S. government bonds and

exchangeJisted equiry securities. Given the narrow definition of
Level I and the Companyt investment asset straregy to maximize

investmenc returns, a relatively small portion of the Companyk

investment assets are classified in this category.

Level2 Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities

Inputs for instruments classified in Level 2 include quored prices for
similar assets or liabilities in active markets, quoted prices from those

willing to trade in markets that are not active, or other inputs that are

market observable or can be corroborated by market data for the term
o[the instrument. Such other inputs include market interest rates and

volacilities, spreads and yield curves. An instrument is classified in
Level 2 if the Company determines that unobservable inputs are

insignificant.

Fixed maturities and equity secarities. Approximately 94o/o ol the
Companyt investments in fixed maturities and equity securities are

classified in Level 2 including most public and private corporate debt

CIGNA CORPORAIION - 2014 Form r}-K

and equity securities, federal agency and municipa-l bonds,

non-government mortgage-backed securities and preferred stocks.

Because many fixed maturities do not trade daily, third-parry pricing
services and internal methods often use recent trades ofsecurities with
similar features and characteristics. rVhen recenr trades are noc

available, pricing models are used to determine these prices. These

models calculate fair values by discounting future cash flows at

estimated market interest rates. Such market rates are derived by

calculating the appropriate spreads over comparable U.S. Tieasury

securities, based on the credit qualiry industry and structure of the

asset. Typical inputs and assumptions to pricing models include, but
are not limited to, a combination of benchmark yields, reported

trades, issuer spreads, liquidiry, benchmark securities, bids, offers,

reference dara, and industry and economic events. For mortgage-

backed securities, inputs and assumptions may also include

characteristics of the issuer, collateral attributes, prepayment speeds

and credit raring.

Nearly all of rhese instruments are valued using recent trades or
pricing models. Less than 10lo of the fair value of investments classified

in Level 2 represents foreign bonds that are valued using a single

unadjusted market-observable input derived by averaging multiple
broker-dealer quotes, consistent with local market practice.

Short-tenn inuestments are carried at fair value which approximates

cost. On a regular basis the Company compares market prices for



these securities to recorded amounts to validate that current carrying

amounts approximate exit prices. The short-term nature of the

investments and corroboration of the reported amounts over the

holding period support their classification in Level 2.

Otber deriaatioes classified in Level 2 represent over-the-counter

instruments such as interest rate and foreign currency swap contracts,

Fair values for these insffuments are determined using market

observable inputs including forward currency and interest rate curves

and widely published market observable indices. Credit risk related to
the counterparry and the Company is considered when estimating the

fair values of these derivatives. Howevet the Company is largely

protected by collateral arrangements with counterparties and

determined that no ad.justment for credit risk was required as of
December 31, 2014 or December 31, 2013. Level 2 also includes

exchange-traded interest rate swap contracts. Credit risk related to the

clearinghouse counterparty and the Company is considered minimal
when estimating the fair values of these derivatives because of upfront
margin deposits and daily settlement requirements. The nature and

use ofrhese other derivatives are described in Note 12.

Level 3 Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities

Certain inputs for instruments classified in Level 3 are unobservable

(supported by little or no market activity) and significant to their
resulting fair value measurement. Unobservable inputs reflect the

Cornpanyt best estimate of what hypothetical market participants

would use to determine a transaction price for the asset or liabiliry at

the reporting date.

The Company classifies certain newly issued, privately-placed,
complex or illiquid securities, as well as assets and liabilities relating to
GMIB, in Level 3. Approximately 5o/o of fxed maturities and equiry

securicies are priced using significant unobservable inputs and

classified in this category.

Fair values of other asset and mortgage-backed securities, corporate

and government fixed maturities are primarily determined using

pricing models that incorporate the specific characteristics of each

asset and related assumptions including the investment rype and

structure, credit qualiry, industry and maturiry date in comparison ro

current market indices, spreads and liquidiry of assets with similar

characteristics. For other asset and mortgage-backed securities, inpurs

and assumptions for pricing may also include collateral attributes and

fu ofDecember 3l,2Ol4
(Fait ulue in million)

Fixed maturities:

Other asset and mortgage-backed securities

fixed maturiries

Total fixed maturities

Equiry securities

Subtotal

Pricinq exem securities(r)

Tota] Level

PART II
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prepayment speeds. Recent trades in the subject securiry or similar
securities are assessed when available, and the Company may also

review published research, as well as the issuert financial statements,

in its evaluation.

Quantitative Informacion about Unobservable Inputs

The following tables summarize the fair value and significant
unobservable inputs used in pricing Level 3 securities that were

developed directly by the Company as of December 31, 2014 and

2013. The range and weighted average basis point amounts for fixed

maturiry spreads (adjustment to discount rates) and price to earnings

multiples for equity invesrments reflect the Company's best estimates

of the unobservable adjustments a market participant would make to
calculate the fair values.

Other astet and mortgdge-bached securities. The significant

unobservable inputs used to value the following other asset and
mortgage-backed securities are liquidicy and weighting of credit

spreads. \flhen there is limited trading activiry for the security, an

adjuscment for liquidiry is made as of the measurement date that

considers current market conditions. issuer circumscances and

complexity of the security structure. An adjustment to weight credit
spreads is needed to value a more complex bond structure with
multiple underlying collateral and no standard market valuation
rechnique. The weighting of credit spreads is primarily based on the

underlying collateralt characteristics and their proportional cash flows

supporting the bond obligations. The resulting wide range of
unobservable adjustments in the table below is due to rhe varying
liquidiry and qualiry ofthe underlying collateral, ranging from high
credit quality to below investment grade.

Corporate and gouernment fixed maturities. The significant

unobservable input used ro value the following corporate and

government fixed maturities is an adjustment for liquidiry. \iMhen

chere is limited trading activiry for the securiry an adjustment is

needed to reflect current market conditions and issuer circumsrances.

Equity securities. The significant unobservable input used to value

the following equiry securities is a multiple of earnings before interest,

taxes, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA). These securities are

comprised of private equity investments with limited trading activity
and therefore a ratio of EBITDA is used to estimate vdue based on
company circumstances and relative risk characteristics.

Unobservable Adjustment
Unobseryable to Discomt Rates

Fair Value

andCor

(l) The fair ualuet for these tcarities ue singlt, unadjusted non-binding broher quotes not dzvehped dirrct$ fu the Coupany.
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fu of December 31,2Ol3
Unobservable Adjustment

Unobservable to Discount Rates
(Fair ualue in millions) Fair Value Input Ruge (Weighted Average)

Fixed maturities:

Other asset and mortgage-backed securities

Corporate and government fixed maturities

$ 593 Liquidiry

Veighti;g of credit sprlads

416 Liquidiry

60 - 620 (170)

120 - 2,090 (290)

80 - 930 (310)

Toral fixed maturities

Equity securities

1,009

59 Price-to-earnings multiples 4.2 - 9.8 (8.r)

Subtotal

Pricing exemption securities(r)

r,068

122

Total Level 3 securities $ 1,190

(l) The fair values for these semiia ue singlz, unadjuted non-binding broher quotes not dtuelnped dirrtl by the Company.

Significant increases in fixed maturiry spreads would result in a lower liabilities for GMIB contracts by calculating the results for many

fair value measurement while decreases in these inputs would result in scenarios run through a model utilizing various assumptions that

a higher fair value measurement. Significant decreases in equity price include non-performance risk, among other things.

to earnings multiples would result in a lower fair value measurement

while increases in these inputs would result in a higher fair value

measurement. Generally, the unobservable inputs are not interrelated

and a change in the assumption used for one unobservable input is not
accompanied by a change in the other unobservable input. See the

preceding discussion regarding the Companys valuation processes and

controls.

Guaranteed minimum income benefi.t contTacts, As discussed in
Noce 7, the Company effectively exited the GMIB business in 2013.
Although these GMIB assets and liabilities must continue to be

reported as derivatives at fair value, the only assumpcion rhat is

expected to impact future shareholders' net income is the risk of
non-performance. This assumpdon reflects a market participantt
view of (a) the risk of the Company not fulfilling its GMIB
obligations (GMIB liabilities) and (b) the credit risk that the

reinsurers do not pay their obligations (GMIB assets). As of
December 31, 2014, there were three reinsurers for GMIB, with
colfateral securing 70o/o of the balance.

The Company reports GMIB liabilities and assets as derivatives at fair
value because cash flows of these liabilities and assets are affected by

equiry markets and interest rates, but are without significant life
insurance risk and are settled in lump sum payments. Under the terms

of these written and purchased contracts, the Company periodically

receives and pays fees based on either contractholders' account values

or deposits increased at a contractual rate. The Company will also pay

and receive cash depending on changes in account values and interest

rates when contractholders first elect to receive minimum income

payments. The Company estimates the fair value of the assets and

The non-performance risk adjustment is incorporated by adding an

additional spread to the discount rate in the calculation ofboth (a) the

GMIB liabilities to reflect a market participantt view of the risk of the

Company not fulfilling its GMIB obligations, and (b) the GMIB
assets to reflect a market participantt view of the credit risk of the

reinsurers, after considering collateral.

Other assumptions that affect GMIB assets and liabilities include

capital market assumptions (including market returns, interest rates

and market volatilities of the underlying equity and bond mutud fund
investments) and future annuitant behavior (including mortality,

lapse, and annuiry election rates). As ceftain assumptions used to
estimate fair values for these contracts are largely unobservable

(primarily related to future annuirant behavior), the Company

classifies GMIB assets and liabilities in Level 3.

The Company regularly evaluates each of the assumptions used in
establishing these assets and liabilities. Significant decreases in
assumed lapse rates or spreads used to calculate non-performance risk,

or increases in assumed annuity election rates, would result in higher

fair value measurements. A change in one of these assumptions is not
necessarily accompanied by a change in another assumprion.

GMIB liabilities are reported in the Company's Consolidated Balance

Sheets in accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities.

GMIB assets associated with these contracts represent net receivables

in connection with reinsurance that the Company has purchased from
three external reinsurers and are reported in the Companys

Consolidated Balance Sheers in orher assets, including other

intangibles.

Changes in Level 3 Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities Carried at Fair Value

The following tables summarize the changes in financial assets and financial liabilities classified in Level 3 for the years ended Decembe r 31, 2014
and,2013, Separate account asset changes are reported separately under the heading "Separate account assets" as the changes in fair values ofthese
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assers accrue directly to the policyholders. Gains and losses reported in these tables may include net changes in fair value that are attributable to

both observable and unobservable inputs.

Fixed
Maturities &

(In milliorc) Securities GMIB Asses GMIB Liabilities GMIB Net

Balance at Janutry 1,2014

Gains (losses) included in shareholders' net income:

GMIB fair value gain/(loss)

Orher

Toial gains (lossis) included in shareholders' net income

Gains included in other comprehensive income

Gains required to adjust luture policy benefits for setdement annuitis(l)

Purchases, sales, settlements:

Purchases

Sales

Settlements

Total ourchases, sales and serdements

Trarsfers into/(out of) Level 3:

Tiansfers into lrvel 3

Jiansfers oui of Level 3

Tord transfers into/(out o0 Level 3

Balance at December 31,2014

Total gains (losses) included in shareholders' net income anributable to

instrumenc held at the reoordns date

(l) Amounts dt not accme to thareholfun.

Gains (losses) included in shareholders' net income:

GMIB fair value gain/(loss)

Other t6
(380)

17 (6J

380

123)

Total gains (losses) included in shareholders' net income (o357(363)t6

losses included in other comprehensive income

losses required ro adjust future policy benefits for setdement annuities(r)

Purchages, sales, settlemens:
i Purchases

Sales

.', r Settlemenis

(l e)

(50;

110

(64)
(r2l) 492 72 564

Total transfers into/(out o0 Level 3 (33)

Balance at December 3I,2013 $ r,190 $ (741)

Total gains (losses) included in shareholders' net income attributable to
instruments held at the reponing date $ 7 $ (363) $ 357 $ (6)

(I) Anounts do not ume to sharehol*ru.

l0$

CIGNA CORPOMIION - 2014 Form l0-K 9l



PART II
ITEM 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

fu noted in the tables above, total gains and losses included in
shareholders' net income are reflected in the following caprions in rhe

Consolidated Sratements of Income:

. Realized investment gains (losses) and net investment income for
amounts related to fixed maturities and equiry securities and realized

investment gains (losses) for the impact of changes in
non-performance risk related to GMIB assets and liabilities
beginning February 4, 2013, similar to hedge ineffectiveness; and

. Other operating expenses for amounts related to GMIB assets and

liabilities (GMIB fair value gainlloss), except for the impact of
changes in non-performance risk subsequcnt to February 4,2013.

In the tables above, gains and losses included in other comprehensive

income are reflected in net unrealized appreciation (depreciation) on

securities in the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income.

Reclassifications impacting Level 3 financial instruments are reported

as transfers into or out ofthe Level 3 category as ofthe beginning of
the quarter in which the transfer occurs. Therefore gains and losses in
income only reflect activiry for the period the instrument was

classified in Level 3.

Separate account assets

Fair values and changes in the fair values of separate account assets generally accrue directly to the policyholders and are excluded From the

Companyt revenues and expenses. At December 31, separate account assets were as follows:

Tiansfers into or out of the Level 3 category occur when unobservable

inputs, such as the Companyt best estimate oF what a market

participant would use to determine a current transacrion price,
become more or less significant to the fair value measurement. For the

years ended December 31,2014 and 2013, transfers between Level 2

and Level 3 primarily reflect the change in significance of the

unobservable inputs used to value certain public and private corporate

bonds, principally related to liquidiry ofthe securiries and credit risk

of the issuers.

Because GMIB reinsurance arrangements remain in effecr at the
reporring date, the Company has reflected the total gain or loss for the

period as the total gain or loss included in income attributable to
instruments still held at the reporting date. However, the Company

reduces the GMIB assets and liabilities resulting from these

reinsurance arrangem€nts when annuitants lapse, die, elect their
benefit, or reach the age after which the right to elect their benefit
explres.

20r4
(In nilliow)

Guaranteed separate accounts (See Note 23)

accounts(l)

TOTAL SEPARATE ACCOI.]NT ASSETS

Quoted Prices in
Active Mrkets for

Identical Assets

)42.

1,609

Signifimt
Significant Other Unobservable

Obseruable Inputs Inputs

Significant
Significmt Other Unobservable

Observable Inputs Inputs
(Level 2) (Level 3) Total

Quoted Prices in
Active Mukets for

2013 Identical Assets
(In nillions) (Lwel l)

(1)AtofDecember31'2014'xon.guaranteedseparate4cc0uit!included$3'8billioninasetssupportingtheCompan7!perionplaw,inclading$1

Gualanteed separat€ accounrs (See Note 23) $ 264 $

Non-guaranteed seDarate accounm \') 1,844

284 $

4.825

- $548
1.035 7 .704

TOTAL SEPARATE ACCOIJNT ASSETS $ 2,108 $ 5,109 $ 1,035 $8,252
(})AsofDecemberj],20l3'non.glaranteedsepar4te4ccountsincluded$3.8billioninatsets*pportingtbeCom1an7Ipeniolphns,including$98j

Separate account assets in Level I primarily include exchange-listed

equicy securities. Level 2 assets primarily include:

. corporate and structured bonds valued using recent trades ofsimilar
securities or pricing models that discounr future cash flows at

estimated market interest rates as described above; and

. actively-traded insticutional and retail mutual fund investments and

separate accounts priced using the daily net asset value which is the

exlt Pnce.

Separate account assets classified in Level 3 include investments

primarily in securities partnerships, real estate and hedge funds

generally valued based on the separate accounrb ownership share of
the equiry of the investee including changes in the fair values of its
underlying investments.
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The following table summarizes the change in separate account assets reported in Level 3 for the years ended December 31,2014 and201'3.

(h milliorc)

Balance ar January I

Policyholder gains (r)

Purchases, issuances, settlements:

Purchases

Sales

Settlemenrs

Total sales and settlements

Tiansfers into/(out of) Level 3:

Tiansfers into Level 3

Tiansfers our of Level 3

Total transfers into/(out o0 Level

Balance ar December 31

(1)IncIadedinthisamoantueregdinsof$85millionattrib*abletoin'trument'cillheldatDecember3],20}4andgainsof$76millionattributabletoinstrumen
Decercber 31, 2013.

173

(r4)

70

Decernber 31,2014 December31,2Ol3

Fair Carrying Fair Crrying
Value Value Value Value

Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value under
Certain Conditions

Some financial assets and liabilities are not carried at fair value each

reporting period, but may be measured using fair value only under

certain conditions, such as investments in real estate entities and

commercial mortgage loans when they become impaired. Impaired

real estate entities and commercial mortgage loans representing less

than 17o of total investments were written down to their lair vdues,

resulting in realized investment losses of $ I 0 million, rfrcr-nx in 20 1 4

and $12 million, after-tax in2013.

Fair Value Disclosures for Financial Instruments Not
Carried at Fair Value

The following table includes the Companyt financial instruments not
recorded at fair value that are subject to fair value disclosure

requirements at December 3l, 2014 and 2013. Financial instruments

that are carried in the Companyt Consolidated Financial Statements

at amounts that approximate fair value are excluded from the

[ollowing table.

Classification in
Fair Value

(In milliorc) Hierarch

s 2, i68 $ 2,08 1 2,338 $ 2,252Commercial mortgage loms

Contractholder deposit funds, excluding universal life products

debt, current matutities. excludins caoital leases

The fair values presented in the rable above have been estimated using

market information when available. The following valuation

methodologies and inputs are used by the Company to determine fair
value.

Commercial mortgage loans, The Company estimates the fair value

of commercial mortgage loans generally by discounting the

contractual cash flows at estimated market interest rates that reflect

the Companyt assessment o[ the credit quality of the loans. Market
interest rates are derived by calculadng the appropriate spread over

comparable U.S. Tieasury rates, based on the property rype, quality
rat;ng and average life of the loan. The qualiry ratings reflect the

relative risk of the loan, considering debt service coverage, the

loan-to-value ratio and other factors. Fair values ofimpaired mortgage

loans are based on the estimated fair value oFthe underlying collateral

generally determined using an internal discounted cash flow model.

The fair value measurements were classified in Level 3 because the

cash flow models incorporate significant unobservable inputs.

Contractbolder deposit funds, excluding unh)ersal life products.
Generally, these funds do not have stated maturities. Approximately
60% of these balances can be withdrawn by the customer at any time

without prior notice or penalty. The fair value for these contracts is the

amount estimated to be payable to the customer as of the reporting

date, which is generally the carrying value. Most of the remaining

contractholder deposit funds are reinsured by the buyers of the

individual life and annuiry and retirement benefits businesses. The
fair value for these contracts is determined using rhe fair value ofthese

buyers' assets supporting these reinsured contracts. The Company had

reinsurance recoverables equal to the carrying value ofthese reinsured

contracts. These instruments were classified in Level 3 because certain

inputs are unobservable (supported by little or no market activiry) and

significant to their resulting fair value measurement.

Lotg-term debt, including cilrrent maturities, excluding ca?ital
Ieases.The fair value of long-term debt is based on quoted markec

prices for recent trades. \(hen quoted market prices are not available,

fair value is estimated using a discounted cash flow analysis and the

Companyt estimated current borrowing rate for debt of similar terms

Level 3

Level 3

Level 2

$

$

$

$ 1,072

5.550 $ 4,997
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and remaining maturities. These measurements were classified in
Level 2 because the fair values are based on quoted market prices or
other inputs that are market observable or can be corroborated by

market data.

NOTE 1l Investments

Fair values of off-balance-sheet financial instruments were nor

materid as of December 31, 2014 and,2013.

A. Fixed Maturities and Equity Securities

The amortized cost and fair value by concractual maturity periods for fixed maturities were as follows at December 31,2014:

(In milliow)
Amortized Fair

Cost Value

Due in one year or less

Due after one year through five years

Due after five years through ten years

Due after ten years

Mortgage and other asset-backed securities

$ 1,152

5,681

o,)J r

3,267
647

$ I,166

6,05r

6,891

4,r40
735

TOTAL $ 17,278 S 18,983

Actual maturities ofthese securities could differ from their contractual maturities used in the table above. This could occur because issuers may

have the right to call or prepay obligadons, with or without penalties, or because in certain cases the Company may have the option to unilaterally
extend the contracrual maturity date.

Gross unrealized appreciation (depreciation) on fixed maturities by rype' of issuer is shown below.

December 3l 20t4
Amortized

Cost
Unrealized Unrealized

Federal government and agency

State and local government

Foreign government

Corporate

Mortgage-backed

Other asset-backed

TOTAL

(In miltiou) December 31,2013

Federal government and agency

State and local government

Foreign government

Corporate

Mortgage-backed

Other asset-backed

TOTAL $15,273 $ r,3r2 $ (99) $16,486

$ 640

1,983

r,392

10,306

r53
799

242 $

167

64

749

3

87

$ 880

2,144

r,444
10,981

r53
884

(2)

(6)

(12)

(74)

(3)

o\

The above table includes invesrments with a fair value of $3. I billion
supporting liabilities of the Company's run-off setrlemenc annuity
business, with gross unrealized appreciation of $758 million and gross

unrealized depreciation of $2 million at December 31, 2014. Such

unrealized arnounts are reported in firture policy benefit liabilities
rather than accumulated other comprehensive income. At
December 31,2013, investments supporting this business had a fair
value of $2.6 billion, gross unrealized appreciation of $478 million
and gross unrealized depreciation of $20 million.

As of December 31, 2014, the Company had commitments to

purchase $74 million of fixed maturities, all of which bear interest at a

fixed market rate.

Reaiew of lcclines in fair talue, Management reviews fixed
maturities with a decline in fair value from cost for imoairment based

on criteria that include:

' length of time and severity of decline;

' financial health and specific near term prospects of the issuer;
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. changes in the regulatory, economic or general market environment ' the Companyt intent to sell or the likelihood of a required sale prior
oF the issuert industry or geographic region; and to recovery.

The table below summarizes fixed maturities with a decline in fair value from amortized cost as of December 31,2014. These fixed maturities are

primarily corporare securities with a decline in fair value that reflects an increase in market yields since purchase.

December 3l 2014

Unrealized Number
(Dolkrs in millioa) Depreciation of Issues

Fair
VaIue

Amortized
Cost

Fixed maturities:

One year or less:

Investment grade

Below invesrmenc grade

More than one year:

Investment grade

Bilow investment grade

$ 999

$ 293

$ I,010

$ 307

$ (ll) 25r

$ (14) 236

$ 256

$zs
)

There were no available for sale equiry securities with a significant realized investment gains (losses) and dividends reported in net

unrealized loss reflected in accumulated other comprehensive income investment income. As of December 31, 2014, fair values of these

at December 31, 2014. Equiry securities also include hybrid securities were $57 million and amortized cost was $69 million. As of
investments consisting of preferred stock with call features that are December 31,2013, fair values of these securities were $56 million
carried at fair value with changes in fair value reported in other and amortized cost was $68 million.

B. Commercial Mortgage Loans

Mortgage loans held by the Company are made exclusively to commercial borrowers and are diversified by properry rype, location and borrower.

Loans are generally issued at a fixed rate of interest and are secured by high qualiry primarily completed and substantially leased operating

PfoPerties.

At December 31, commercial mortgage loans were distributed among the followingproperty types and geographic regions:

264 $ (8)

87 $ (9)

93

22

(In millions) 20r4

Property type

Office buildings

Apartment buildings

Industrial

Hotels

Retail facilities

Other

rorAl .$-llirillilll,t I ,g 2,252

Geographic region

$700$
264

466

3i1

272

28

76r

32r

450

407

285

28

Paci6c

South Adantic

New England

Central

Middle Atlantic

Mountain

$ 637 $ 805

)b4

379

260

201

43

<41

277

7r4

287

94

$ 2,252

At December 31, 2014, scheduled commercial mortgage loan

maturities were as follows (in millions): $247 in 2015, $533 in 2016,

$229 in 2017, $179 in 2018 and $893 thereafter. Actual maturities

couid differ from contractud marurities for several reasons: borrowers

may have che right to prepay obligations with or withouc prepayment

penalties; the maruriry date may be extended; and loans may be

refinanced.

As of December 31,2014, the Company had commitments to extend

credit under commercial mortgage loan agreements of $65 million.

Credit quality. The Company regularly evaluates and monitors credit

risk, beginning with the initial underwriting o[a mortgage loan and

continuing throughout rhe investment holding period. Mortgage

origination professionals employ an internal credit qualiry rating

system designed to evaluate the relative risk of the transaction at

origination that is then updated each year as part of the annual
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portfolio loan review The Company evaluates and monitors credit

qualiry on an ongoing basis, classifring each loan as a loan in good

standing, potential problem loan or problem loan,

Qualicy ratings are based on our evaluation of a number of key inputs
related to the loan, including real estate market-related factors such as

rental rates and vacancies, and property-specific inputs such as growth

rate assumptions and lease rollover statistics. However, the nvo most

significant contributors to the credit quality rating are the debt service

coverage and loan-to-value ratios. The debt service coverage ratio

measures the amount of property cash flow available to meet annual
interest and principal payments on debt, with a ratio below 1.0

indicating that there is not enough cash flow to cover the required
loan payments. The loan-to-value ratio, commonly expressed as a

percentage, compares the amount of the loan to the fair value of the

underlying property collateralizing the loan.

The following tables summarize the credit risk profile of the Companyt commercial mortgage loan portfolio based on loan-to-value and debt
service coverage ratios, as of December 31,2014 and 2013:

December 31,2014

0n million)
Inm-to-Value Ratios

Debt Service Coverage Ratio

l.30x or Greater 1.20x to 1.29x Ll0x to l.l9x l.00x to 1.09x Less thar l.O0x Total

Below 507o

50o/o ro 59o/o

600/o to 69Vo

70o/o to 79o/o

80o/o to 89o/o

900/o to l00o/o

TOT{L

0n milliorc)

Loan-to-Value Ratios

December 31,20L3

Debt Service Coverage Ratio

1.3(k or Greater l.20x to 1.29x l.lOx to 1.19r l.00x to 1.09r Lqss thm 1.0& Total

Below 50olo

50o/o ro 59o/o

600/o to 690/o

70o/o to 79o/o

80o/o ro 89o/o

90o/o ro l00o/o

3r4 $

581

438
70

o)

-$
131

16

r13

42

29

34

58

6$
18

28

50

24

143

83

320

730

507

192

312

191

TOTAL 1,477 $ 302 $ r2r $ 102 $ 250 $ 2,252

The Companyt annual in-depth review of its commercial morrgage

loan investments is the primary mechanism for identifring emerging

risla in the portfolio. The most recent review was completed by the

Company's investment professionals in the second quarter of 2014

and included a-n ana.lysis of each underlying properryt most recent

annual financial statements, rent rolls, operating plans, budgets, a

physical.inspection ofthe property and other pertinent factors. Based

on historical results, current leases, lease expirations and rental

conditions in each market, the Company estimates the current year

and future stabilized property income and fair value, and categorizes

the investments as loans in good standing potential problem loans or
problem loans. Based on properryvaluations and cash flows estimated

as part ofthis review, and considering updates for loans where material
changes were subsequently identified, the portfolio's average

loan-to-value ratio improved slightly to 630/o at December 31,2074
from 640/o at December 31, 2013. The portfoliot average debt service

coverage ratio was esdmated to be 1.66 at December 31,2014, a

modest improvement from 1.62 at December 31,2013.

The Company will reevaluate a loan's credit qualiry beween annual
reviews if new property information is received or an evenr such as

delinquency or a borrowert request for restructure causes

management to believe that the Companyt estimate of financial

performance, fair value or the risk profile of the underlying property
has been impacted.

During 2013, the Company restructured its subordinate incerest in
two cross-collateralized pools of industrial loans totaling $31 million
by extending the maturiry dates and reducing the interest rates. This
modification was considered a troubled debt restructuring and the

loans were classified as problem mortgage loans because the borrower

was experiencing financial difficulties and an interest rate concession

was granted. No valuation reserves were required because the fair
values ofthe underlying properties exceeded the carrying values ofthe
outstanding loans.

Certain other loans were modified during 2014 and,2013. However,

these were not considered troubled debt restrucrures and rhe impact of
such modifications was not material to the Companyt results of
operationsr financial condition or liquidity.
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Potential problem mortgage loans are considered current (no payment

more than 59 days past due), but exhibit certain characteristics that

increase the likelihood of future default such as the deterioration of
debt service coverage below 1.0, estimated loan-to-value ratios

increasing to I 00%o or more, downgrade in qualiry rating and requests

from the borrower for restructuring. In addition, loans are considered

potential problems if principal or interest Payments are Past due by

more than 30 but less than 60 days. Problem mortgage loans are either

in defaulc by 60 days or more or have been restructured ar to terms,

which could include concessions on inrerest rate, principal payment
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or maturiry date. The Company monitors each problem and potential

problem mortgage loan on an ongoing basis, and updates the loan

categorization and qualiry rating when warranted.

Problem and potential problem mortgage loans, net of valuation

reserves, totaled $208 million at December 31, 2014 and

$158 million at December 31, 2013. At December 31, 2014 and

December 31, 2013, industrial loans located in the Sourh Adantic
region represented the most significant component of problem and

pocential problem mortgage loans.

Impaired commercial mortgage loans,The carrying value of the Companyt impaired commercial moftgage loans and related valuation reserves

were as follows:

20t4

Reserves Net Gross Reseryes

lmpaired commercial mortgage loans with valuation reserves

2013

$89
)t

$(8)$
aired commercial mortgage loans wirh no valuation reserves

TOTAL $ 120 $ rr2

The average recorded investmenr in impaired loans was $t55 million income iF interesr on non-accrual commercial mortgage loans had

during 2014 and $727 million during 2013. Because of the risk beenreceivedinaccordancewiththeoriginaltermswasnotsignificant

profile of rhe underlying invesrmenr, the Company recognizes interest for 2014 or 2013.lnterest income on impaired commercial mortgage

income on problem mortgage loans only when payment is accually loans was not significant for 2014 or 2013. See Note 2 for further

received. Interest income that would have been reflected in net information on impaired commercial mortgage loans.

The following table summarizes the changes in valuation reserves for commercial mortgage loans:

In milliow) 2014 2013

Increase in valuarion reserves i',tlltttt'Ll: 4

,r:)::,::tt.it}lt.l (3)Charge-offs upon sales and repavments, net of recoveries

RESERVE BAI,/\NCE, DECEMBER 3I, 
,.TZ.' 

$ 8

C. Other Long-Term Investments

fu of December 31, other long-term investments consisted of the following:

(Ir miltions) 2014 2013

Real estare investments

Securities partnerships

$' i,916,, $ 909

4>b J>/

Other

TOTAL

Real estate investments and securities partnerships with a carrying

value of $264 million at December 31, 2014 and, $217 million at

December 31, 2013 were non-income producing during the

preceding twelve months.

As of December 31, 2014, the Company had commitments to

contribute:

. $207 million to limited liabiliry entities that hold either real estace

or loans to real estate entities that are diversified by properry rype
and geographic region; and

$l
. $476 million to entities that hold securities diversified by issuer and

maturiry date.

The Company expects to disburse approximately 40% of the

committed amounts in 2075.

D. Short-Term Investments and Cash

Equivalents

Short-term investments and cash equivalents included corporate

securities of $509 million, fede ral government securities of
$274 mlllion and money market funds of $33 million as of

t04
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December 3 I , 2014. The Companyt short-term investments and cash

equivalenrs as of December 31, 2013 included corporate securities of
$2.2 billion, federal government securities of $323 million and money

market funds of $35 million.

NOTE 12 Derivative Financial Instruments

E. Concentration of fusk
fu of December 31,2014 and 2013, the Company did not have a

concentration ofinvestments in a single issuer or borrower exceeding

10o/o of shareholders' eouiw.

The Company uses derivative financial instruments to manage the

characteristics of investment assets (such as duration, yield, currency

and liquidiry) to meet the varying demands of the related insurance

and contractholder liabilities (such as paying claims, investment

returns and withdrawak) and to hedge interest rate risk of its

long-term debt, The Company has written and purchased Guaranteed
Minimum Income Benefit (GMIB) reinsurance contracts in its

run-off reinsurance business that are accounted for as freestanding

derivatives. The Company also used derivative financial instruments
to manage the equiry foreign currency, and certain interest rate risk

exposures of its run-off reinsurance bus.iness until the time of the
Berkshire reinsurance transaction in 2013. For information on the

Company's accounting policy for derivative financial instruments, see

Note 2. Derivatives in the Companyt separate accounts are excluded

from the following discussion because associated gains and losses

generally accrue directly to separate account policyholders.

Collateral and terminntion features, The Company routinely
monitors exposure to credit risk associated with derivatives and

diversifies the portfolio among approved dealers ofhigh credit qualiry
to minimize this risk. fu of December 31, 2014, the Company had

$21 million in cash on deposit representing the upfronr margin
required for the Company's centrally-cleared derivative instruments.

Certain of the Companyt over-the-counter derivative instruments
contain provisions requiring either the Company or the counterparry
to post collateral or demand immediate payment depending on the

amount ofthe net liabiliry position and predefined financial strength

or credit rating thresholds. Collateral posting requirements vary by

counterparry. The net liabiliry positions of these derivatives were not
material as of December 31, 2014 or 2013.

Inuestynent Cash FIou Hedges.

Purpose. The Company uses interest rate, foreign currency, and

combinat.ion (interest rate and foreign currency) swap contracts to

hedge the interest and foreign currency cash flows ofits fixed maturity
bonds to match associated insurance liabilities.

Accounting polig,. Using cash flow hedge accounting, fair values are

reported in other long-term investments or other liabilities. Changes

in lair value are reporred in accumulated other comprehensive income

and amortized into net investment income or reported in other
realized investment gains and losses as interest or principal payments

are received.

Cash flows. Under the terms of these various contracts, the Company

periodically exchanges cash flows between variable and fixed interest

rates and/or between rwo currencies for both principal and inrerest.

Foreign currency and combination swaps are primarily Euros,

Australian dollars, Canadian dollars, Japanese yen and British pounds

and have terms for periods of up to seven years. Net interest cash flows
are reported in operating activities.

Volume of actiuiry. The following table provides the notional values o[these derivative instruments as of December 31:

Notional Amount 0n nillions)

Instrumenl 20r4

Interest rare swaps l;ll1l1tl'l1l;.l,ltliliitltttii1t'l $ 45

Foreign currency swaps llllll.i lliliiiiiii. I ttg
Combination inrerest rate and foreign currency waps F;..l,t:, I :r.)di 40

TOTAL ):,:,.),,:),,.: 
: ,..1 $ 203

The following table provides the effect of these derivative instruments on the financial statements for the indicated periods:

Fair Value Effect on the Finmcial Statements On millions)

2013

Other Long-Term
Investments (2)

Accomts Payable, Accrued
Expenses

and Other Liabilities (2)

Gain (Loss) Recognized in
Other

Comprehensive Income (l)

fu of December 31, As of December 31,
For the years ended

December 31,

Instrument

Interesr rare swaps

Foreign currency swaps

Combination interest rate and foreign

2013 20t3

(2)

I

2

l3

3

- t.a

t0

TOTAL 3$r$15$
(1) Other comprehensiue income for foreign cilrrenqt studps ucludes amounts raquired to adjust future policl beneft: for the run-ofsenlament annui4t businer.

(2) There oere n0 amountt ofiet in the Consolidtted Balance Sheets at December 31, 2014 or 2013
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For the years ended Decembet 31, 2014 and 2013, the amounts of
gains (losses) reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive

income into shareholders' net income were not material. No amounts

were excluded from the assessment oFhedge effectiveness and no gains

(losses) were recognized due to hedge ineffectiveness,

Interest Rate Fair Value Hedges,

Purpose, Beginning in 2014, the Company entered into centrally-

cleared interest rate sr,vap contracts to convert a portion ofthe interest

rate exposure on its long-term debt from fixed to variable rates to

more closely align interest expense with interest income received on its

cash equivalent and short-term investment balances. The variable

rates are benchmarked to LIBOR

Accounting Policy. Using fair value hedge accounting, the fair values of
rhe swap contracts are reported in other assets or other liabilities. As

the critical terms of these swaps match those of the long-term debt

being hedged, the carrying value of the hedged debt is adjusted to

reflect changes in its fair value driven by LIBOR. The effects of those

adjustments on other operating expenses are offset by the effects of
corresponding changes in the swaps' fair value, including interest

expense for the difference between the variable and fixed interest rates.

Casb flowl Under the terms of these contracts, the Company provides

upfront margin and settles fair value changes and net interest between

variable and fixed interest rates daily with the clearinghouse. Net
interest cash flows are reported in operating activities.

NOTE 13 Variable Interest Entities

PART II
ITEM 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

Wlame of dctiuity. As of December 31, 2014, the notional value of
these derivative instruments was $750 million. As of December 31,
2014, the effects of these derivative instruments on the Consolidated

Financial Statements l\'ere not material.

Guaranteed Minimurn Income Benefits
(GMrB).

Purpose. The Companyt run-off reinsurance business has written
reinsurance contracts with issuers of variable annuity contracts that
provide annuitants with certain guarantees of minimum income

benefits resulting from the level of variable annuiry account values

compared with a contractually guaranteed amount (.'GMIB
liabilities"). According to the conffactual terms of the written
reinsurance conuacts, payment by the Company depends on the

actual account value in the underlying mutual funds and the level of
interest rates when the contraccholders elect to receive minimum
income payments.

The fair value effects of GMIB contracts on the financial statements

are included in Note l0 and their volume of activity is included in
Note 23. Further information on these contracts is also presented in
Note 7. Cash flows on these contracts are reported in operating

activities.

Vhen the Company becomes involved with a variable interest entiry
and when the nature of the Company's involvement with the entiry
changes, to determine if the Company is the primary beneficiary and

must consolidate the entity, it evaluates:

. the structure and purpose of the entiry;

. the risks and rewards created by and shared through the entity; and

. the entiryt participants' abiliry to direct its activities, receive its

benefits and absorb its losses. Participancs include the entiryt
sponsors, equicy holders, guarantors, creditors and servicers.

In the normd course of its investing activides, the Company makes

passive investments in securities that are issued by variable interest

entities for which the Company is not the sponsor or manager. These

investments are predominandy assecbacked securities primarily
collateralized by foreign bank obligations or mortgage-backed

securities. The asset-backed securities are largely fixed-rate debt

securities issued by trusts that hold perpetual floating-rate

subordinated notes issued by foreign banks. The mortgage-backed

securicies are senior interests in pools of commercial or residential

mortgages created and held by special-purpose entities to provide

investors with diversified exposure to these assets. The Company owns

senior securities issued by several entities and receives fixed-rate cash

flows from the underlying assets in the pools.

To provide certain services to its Medicare Advantage customers, the

Company contracts with independent physician associations ('IPAs")

that are variable interest entities. Physicians provide health care

services to the Medicare Advantage customers and the Company

provides medica.l management and administrarive services to the IPAs.

The Company is not the primary beneficiary and does not consolidate

these entities because either.

. it has no power to direct the activ.ities that most significantly impact

the entities' economic performance; or

. it has neither the right to receive benefits nor the obligation to

:*il3r.4"" 
that could be significant to these variable interest

The Company has not provided, and does not intend to provide,

financial support to these entities that is not contractually required.
The Company performs ongoing qualitative analyses of its

involvement with these variable interest entities to determine if
consolidation is required. The Companyt maximum potential

exposure to loss related to the investment entities is limired to the

aggregare carrying arnount of its investments of $762 million as of
December 31,2014 reported in fixed maturities and equiry securities;

the Companyt combined ownership interests are insignificant relative

to the cotal principal amounts issued by these entities. The Companyt
maximum exposure to loss related to the IPA arrangements is limited
to the liability for incurred but not reported claims for the Company's

Medicare Advantage customers. These liabilities are not material and

are generally secured by deposits maintained by the IPAs.
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NOTE 14 Investment Income and Gains and Losses

A.

The

Net Investment

components of pre'tax net

Income

investment income for the years ended December 31 were as follows:

201 20t2

823 $ 843Fixed maturiries

Equiry securiries

Commercial mortgage loans

Policy loans

Other long-term investmens

Short-term invesrments and cash

Investment

b

174

l0l
22

4

r92

/11

57

t4

Total investment income

Less investmenc 36 40

NET INVESTMENT INCOME r,164 1.t44

Net investment income for separate accounts that is excluded From the Companyt revenues was $225 million for 2014, $232 million for 2013,

and $t8l million for 2012.

B. Realized Investment Gains and Losses

The following realized gains and losses on investments for the years ended December 31 exclude amounts required to adjust future policy benefits

for the run-off sertlement annuity business.

20r4 2013 20t2

Fixed maturities

Equity securities

Commercial morrgage loans

Other investments, including derivatives 95

Realized investmenr gains, before income taxes

Less income tues

NET REALIZED II.MSTMENT GAINS t4l

Included in these realized investment gains (losses) were pre-tax asset write-downs as foilows:

2013 2012

Credit related (1)

Other

TOTAL
(l)Crdineh*dlosoircludeother-than-temporardeclixesinfaitaalueofequit7rerrities'inreuelinualuationreserueson

inuestments in real esute entities.

ln 2014 and, 2013, rea-lized investment gains in other investments, including derivatives, primarily represented gains on sale of real estate

properties held in joint ventures.

Realized investment gains thac are excluded from the Companyt revenues for the years ended December 31 were as follows:

20r3 2012

Separate accounts

$ 113

8

$48
4

(6) (3) (9)

213

72

$,(8) $ (20)

(2r) (2)

benefits for the run-offsettlemenr ann

$ 4r7

$9
$ 206

$2r
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Sales information for available-for-sale fixed maturities and equiry securities for the years ended December 31 were as follows:

2014 20 2012

Proceeds from sales

Gross gains on sales

Gross losse! on sales

NOTE 15 Debt

{
$

$

r,775

102

59r

37

2014

Short-term:

Commercial paper

Orher, includ

TOTAL SHORT-TERM DEBT

[.ong-term:

Uncollateralized debt:

$600 million, 2.75% Notes due 2016

$250 million, 5.3750lo Notes due 2017

$tJt million; 6.350lo Nores due 2018

$251 million, 8.5% Nores due 2019

$250 million, 4.3750lo Notes due 2020(r)

$300 million, 5.125% Notes due 2020(r)

$78 million, 6.37% Notes drc 2021

$300 million, 4 5% Notes due 2021(t)

$750 million, 4% Notes dne 2022

$100 million, 7.6570 Notes due 2023

$17 million, 8.3% Notes due2023

$300 million, 7.875o/o Debenttres drc 2027

$83 million, 8.30lo Step Down Notes due 2033

$500 million, 6.15% Noces due 2036

$300 million, 5.875% Notes due 2041

$750 million, 5.375% Notes due 2042

In December 2014, the Company entered into an updated revolving

credit and letter of credit agreement for $1.5 billion, that permits up

to $500 million to be used for letters of credit. This agreement extends

through December 2019 and is diversified among 16 banla, with
three banks each having l2o/o of rhe commitment and the remainder

spread among 13 banla. The credit agreement includes options,

subjecr to consent by the administrative agent and the committing
banks, to increase the commitment amount to $2 billion and to
extend the term past December 2019. The credit agreement is

available for general corporate purposes, including for the issuance of
letters of credit. This agreement has certain covenanrs, including a

financial covenant requiring the Company to maintain a leverage ratio

of total consolidated debt-to-consolidated capitalization (each as

defined in the credit agreement) at or below 0.50. As of December 31,

2014, the Company had $6.5 billion of borrowing capacity within the

maximum debt coverage covenant in the agreement, in addition to the

$5.2 billion of debt outstanding. Lrtters of credit outstanding as of
December 31, 2014 totaled $23 million. The Company was in
compliance with its debt covenants as of December 31,2014.

Maturities of long-term debt, excluding capital leases, are as follows
(in millions): $25 in 2015, $600 in 2016, $250 in 2017, $131

in 2018, $251 in 2019 and the remainder in years after 2079.
Maturities of debt under capital lease arrangements are as follows (in

millions): $22in2015,$22in2016, $11 in 2017, $4 in 2018, none

in 2019 and the remainder in years after 2019. Interest expense on

long-term and short-term debt was $265 million in 2014,

$270 million in 2013, and $268 million in 2012.

$600$
250

131

251

600

250

131

251

249

299

78

)9q

744

100

17

300

83

500

298

750

Other, includi leases

TOTAL LONG.TERM DEBT
(l)In20]4'theCompan7enteredintointerertratesuapcontractshedgingaportionoftheufued-ratedebtinstruments.SeNote12forfub

rfuh managcment and rhctc dcriuariue iutruments.

65

4
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NOTE 16 Common and Prefened Stock

As of December 31, the Company had issued the following shares:

(Sbm in *mdt)

Cbmmon: Par value $O25 600;006 shares authorized

Outstanding - January l,
Issued for stock option and other benefit plans

of common stock

Outstanding-D beti-1,

Tieasury stock

The Company maintains a share repurchase program, authorized by
its Board of Directors. Under this program, we may repurchase shares

from time to time, depending on market conditions and alternate uses

of capital, \?'e may suspend activiry under our share repurchase

program from time to time and may also remove such suspensions,

generally without public announcement. $0'e may also rcpurchase

shares at times when we otherwise might be precluded from doing so

under insider trading laws or because of self-imposed trading
black-out periods by using a Rule l0b5-l trading plan.

In 2014, the Company repurchased 18.5 million shares for

$1.6 billion. The Company repurchased 13.6 million shares for

80,316

$1.0 billion during 2013 and 4.4 million shares for $208 million
during 2012.

ln 2014, the Company redred 70 million shares of treasury stock
This transaction had no effect on totd shareholders'equity.

The Company has authorized a. tovl of 25 million shares of $l par

vdue preferred stock. No shares ofpreferred stock were outstanding at
December 31,2014,2013 ot 2012.

285,829 285,533

4,695

(4,399)(r3,622)
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NOTE 17 Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Accumulated other comprehensive loss excludes amounts required to adjust future policy benefits for the run-offsettlement annuiry business and

a portion of deferred acquisition costs associated with the corporate owned life insurance business. As required by GAAB the Company

parenthetically identifies the income statement line item affected by reclassification adjustments in the table below. Changes in the components of
accumulated other comprehensive loss were as follows:

(In milliou)
20r4 After-Tax

Net unrealized appreciation securities, January l,
Net unrealized appreciarion on securities arising during the year

Reclalsifia:ation for (gains) included in shueholders' net income (realized investment

Net unrealized ton. secutrtres arNl the year

Net unrealired December

Net unrealized depreciation, derivatives, Jmuary I,
Net unrealized appreciation, derivatives arising during the year

Net unrealized derivative.s, December 3 I

Net translation of foreign currencies, fmuary l,
Net translation of foreign currencies arising during the year

Net trmslation of is, Deember 3l
Postretirement benefits liability adjustment, Jmuary l,
Reclassification adjustment for amordzation of net losses from pasr experience md prior service costs (other

oPeratrng €xPenses,

Reclassifi cacion adjustment for settlement (other operating expenses)

Ner

Net

due ro valuation

benefits liabiliw adiustment arisi

Postretirement benefi ts December 3l
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(In milliow)
20t3 Pre-Thx

Tax
(Expense)

Benefit After-Tax

Net unrealized appreciation, securities, January I,
Ner unrealized depreciation on securities arising during the year

Reclassification adjustmenr for (gain$ included in shareholders' net income (realized investment gains)

1,352 $

(4e8)

(12 r)

(465) $

t66

43

887

(332)

(78)

Net unrealized depreciation, securities arising during the year (619) (4ro)

Net unrealized appteciation, securities, December 31, 733 $ Q5.') $

Net unrealized depreciation, detivatives, Jmuuy I,
Net unrealized appreciation, derivatives, arising during the year

(43) $

I4

15$
(5)

(28)

9

Net unrealized depreciation, derivatives, Decernber 31, $ (29) $ r0$ ( 19)

Net translation of foreign currencies, January l,
Net rranslation of foreign currencies, arising during the year

9t$ (22) $

t3

69

13

Net translation offoreiqn currencies, December 31, 91 $ (9) $ 82

Postretirement benefis liability adjustment, Jmuary l,
Reclassification adjusrmenr for amordzation ofner losses from past experience and prior sewice costs (orher

operating expenses)

Reclassificarion adjusrmenr lor curtailment gain (other operating expenses)

$ (2,460) $

70

(19)

$ (1,599)

4)
(12)

861

(25)

7

Total reclassification adjustment to shareholders' net income (other operating expenses)

Net change due to valuation update and plan amendments '7'70

(18)

(273)

J)

506

Net postretirement benefits liabiliry adjustment arising during the year 830 (2er)

Postretirement benefits liability adiustment, December 31, $ (1,630) $ 570 $ (1,060)

539

(In milliorc)
2012 Pre-Tax

Til
Expense)
Benefit After-Tax

Net unrealized appreciation, securities, January I,
Ner unrealized appreciarion on securities arising during the year

Reclassification adjustment for (gain$ included in net income (realized invesrment gains)

1,133 $

271

(52)

(3e3) $

(eo)

18

740

l8l
(34)

Net unrealized appreciation, securities arising during the year 219 (721

Net unrealized appreciation, securities, December 31, $ 1,352 $ (465) $ 887

147

Net unrealized depreciation, derivatives, Jmuary I,
Ner unrealized depreciarion, derivatives arising during the year

$ (36) $

(7)

t3$
2

(23)

(5)

Net unrealized depreciation, derivatives, December 31, $ (43) $ 15 $ (28)

Net ttanslation of foreign currencies, January l,
Net translation of foreign currencies arising during rhe year

13$
78

(10) $

(12)

3

66

Net translation offoreign curtencies, December 31, $ 91 $ (22) $ 69

Postretirement benefis liability adjustment, January l,
Reclassification adjustment for mortization of net losses from pmr experience and prior service costs and

setdement charges (other operating expenses)

Net change due to valuarion update and Dlan amendments

$ (2,331) $

(l8r)

824 $

( l8)

55

(1,507)

34

(126)

Net postretirement benefits liability adjustment arising during the yeu (12e) (e2)

Postretirement benefits liability adiustment, December 31, $ (2,460) $ 861 $ (1,599)

NOTE 1S Shareholders' Equity and Dividend Restrictions

State insurance deparrments and [oreign jurisdictions rhat regulate certain oIthe Companyt subsidiaries prescribe accoundng practices (dilfering
in some respects from GAAP) to determine statutory net income and surplus. The Company's life insurance and HMO company subsidiaries are
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regulated by such statutory requirements. The statutory net income of the Companyt life insurance and HMO subsidiaries for the years ended,

and their statutory surplus as of December 31, were as follows:

(n millioni 2Ol4 2013 2012

Net income i,,)ir,"A-0r:: $ 1,631 $ 1,520

The minimum statutory surplus required by regulators for the

Companyt life insurance and HMO company subsidiaries was

approximately $2.5 billion as of December 31, 2014. fu of
December 31, 2014, statutory surplus for each of the Companyt life

insurance and HMO subs.idiaries is sufficient to meet the minimum

required by regulators. For one of the Company's foreign insurance

subsidiaries, the regulatory authoriry has permitted deferral ofcertain

policy acquisition costs that increased statutory capital and surplus by

approximately $0.2 billion as of December 31, 2014. There were no

other permitted practices for the Companyt insurance subsidiaries

that significandy differed from prescribed regulatory accounting

practices. As of December31,20l4, the Companyt life insurance and

HMO subsidiaries had investments on deposit with state departments

NOTE 19 Income Thxes

of insurance and other regulatory bodies with statutory carrying

values of approximately $0.4 billion. The Company's life insurance

and HMO subsidiaries are also subjecr to regulatory restrictions that
limit the amount of annual dividends or other distributions (such as

loans or cash advances) insurance companies may extend to the parent

company without prior approval of regulatory authorities. The

maximum dividend distribution that the Company's life insurance

and HMO subsidiaries may make during 2015 without prior approval

is approximately $1.0 billion. Resricred net assets of the Company as

of December 31, 2014, were approximately $8.8 billion. Certain life
insurance subsidiaries oF the Company are permitted to loan up to
approximately $1.0 billion to the parent company without prior
aooroval.

A. Income Tax Expense

The components of income taxes for the years ended December 3l were as follows:

(In millions) zot4 2013 2012

Current taxes

U.S. income tues

Foreign income taxes

State income rues

Foreign income taxes

State income txes

lilli:r ri: . ,

nia

):)::L:1: ,:,::t:

lilliti 11:1.:.:l).::

382

77

42

46

(1)

604

7',)

+5

4

(l)

197 134

TOTAL INCOME TAXES 598 853

Total income taxes for the years ended December 3l were different from the amount computed using the nominal federa-l income tax rate of 35o/o

for the following reasons:

(In nillions) 2014 2013 2012

Deferred taxes (benefits)

U.S. income taxes

Other

TOTAL INCOME TAXES

Consolidated pre-tax income from the Company's Foreign operations was approximately l0% ln 2014, 12o/o in 2013 and 8olo in 2012.

Thx expense at nominal rate

Effect of undistributed foreign earnings

Health insurance industry tax

State income tu (net of federal income ta benefit)

Effectiae Tizx Rates

The consolidated effective tax rate of 36.60/o ]n 2014 has increased

from historical levels due to the health insurance industry tax that

$ 867

$7)

took effect in2014 and that is not deductible for federal income tax
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purposes. Other matters having a significant impact on the effective

tax rate included:

. Undistribated foreign eanings. As part of its global capital

management strategy, the Companyt foreign operations retain a

significant portion of their earnings overseas. These undistributed
earnings are deployed outside of the U.S. in support of rhe liquidiry
and capital needs ofour foreign operations. The Company does not
intend to repatriate these earnings to the U.S. and as a result,

income taxes are provided using the respective foreign jurisdictions'

tax rate. The Company has accumulated undistributed foreign

earnings of $1.8 billion as of December 31,2014.If the Company

B. Deferred Income Taxes

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities as of December 31 are as follows:

intended to repatriate these foreign earnings to the U.S., the

Company's consolidated balance sheet would have included an

additional $218 million of deferred tax liabilities as of
December 31,2014.

, Completion of IRS eraminations/otber 2013 impacts, In 2013,
the Internal Revenue Service ("lRS") completed its examination of
the Companyt 2009 and 2010 tax years, resulting in an increase to
shareholders' ner income of $18 million. In addition, income tax
expense was reduced in 2013 due to certain other rax benefits

related to rhe Companys foreign operations.

Deferred tax assets

Employee and retiree benefit pians

Other insurance and contractholder liabilities

Policy acquisition expenses

Other accrued liabilities

Orher

2014

$ t94
lti

, 1/+1 ,r

).04

98

2013

422

407

r42

r57

128

Delerred til assets before valuation allowance 1,256

Valuation allowance for deferreo rax assers

Deferred tax assets, net of valuation allowance

Deferred tu liabilities

Deoreciation and amortiation

Foreign operations, net ililll,itltltll:'iilli.ii 162

Unrealized appreciarion on investmens and foreign currency rranslation Liilii.'. 253

Management believes that future results will be suficient to realize the determines that realization of a deferred tax asset does not meer the
Companyt deferred tax assets. Substantially a.ll of the Companyt more likely than not standard. Valuation allowances have been

deFerred tax benefits may be carried forward indefinitely. As of established against cerrain federal, foreign and state deferred rax assers,

December 3I, 2014, net operating loss related benefits were generally due to the requirement to assess them on a separate entity
$71 million, the majoriry o[which relate to foreign jurisdictions and basis.

do not expire. The Company establishes a valuation allowance when it

r 452

r4qi I

700

C. Uncertain Thx Positions

A reconciliation of unrecognized tax benefits for the years ended December 31 is as follows:

(In millior) 2014 2013 2012

I, 51

(35)

6

(5)

52

(5)

7

(3)

BAIANCE AT DECEMBER 31, $':::,"', 26 $ 17 5L

Unrecognized tax benefits increased $9 million in 2014 of which
$6 million impacted shareholders' net income. The prior year decrease

was primarily arrributable to comoletion of an IRS examination.

The Company classifies net interest expense on uncertain tax

positions as a component of income tax expense, but excludes this

amount from the liabiliry for uncertain tax positions. The Companyt
liabiliry for net interest was immaterial at December 31, 2014, 2013
and,2012.
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D. Other Thx Matters

In 2013, the IRS completed its examination of the Companyt 2009

and 2010 tax years, resulting in two issues that could not be resolved

at the examination level. The Company subsequently filed a formal

protest challenging the IRS positions on the cwo disputed matters.

The IRS previously withdrew its challenge relating to the first of these

matters, and the parties have since agreed on a resolution of the

second matter. The resolution of these matters did not materially

impact shareholders' net income.

NOTE 20 Employee Incentive Plans

PART II
ITEM 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

The IRS began its examination of the Companyt 201 I and 2072 rax

years in the third quarter of 2014 that is expected to continue through

2015.

The Company conducts business in numerous state and foreign
jurisdicrions, and may be engaged in multiple audit proceedings at

any given time. Generally, no further state audit activiry is expected

for tax years prior to 20 I 0, and prior to 2008 for foreign audit activity.

The People Resources Committee ('the Committee") of the Board of
Directors awards stock options, restricted stock, deferred stock and

strategic performance shares to certain employees. The Committee
has issued common stock instead of cash compensation and dividend

equivalent rights to a very limited extent, as part of restricred and

deferred stock units. The Company issues shares from Tieasury stock

for option exercises, awards ofrestricted stock grants and payment of

Compensation cost and rekted tax benef.ts for these awards were as follows:

srrategic performance shares, deFerred stock units and restricted stock

units.

In connection with the HealthSpring acquisition on January 31,

2012, HealthSpring employees' awards of options and restricted

shares of HealthSpring stock were rolled over to Cigna stock options

and restricted stock. Unless otherwise indicated, information in this

footnote includes the effect of the HealthSpring rollover awards.

2014 2013 2012

$88Compensation cost

Tu benefits
rli!1

,r.rii $ 25

$98
$26

The Company had the following number of common stock shares available for award at December 31: 10.3 million in 2014, 13.2 million in
2013 and 8.4 million in 2012.

Stoch options. The Company awards options to purchase the Company's common stock at the market price of the stock on the grant date.

Options vest over periods ranging from one to five years and expire no later than 10 years from grant date.

The table below shows rhe status o[, and changes in, common stock options during the last three years:

2014 2012

Outstanding - January I

Granted

Exercised : ':

or canceled

W'eighted Average
Exercise

Price

|i lilui{

Weighted Average
Exercise

Price

D

$

Weighted Average
Exercise

Price

33.92

28.29

22.72

7

$109 $ 85

$23$15

8,951

1,890

Q,107)

36.29

58.84

9,581 $

3,446 $

34.e9 0,740) $

43.86 $

ING _ 7,350 $ 42.24 r$ 36.29

exercisable at )19 $ 4.217 $ 84 731 .93

Compensation expense of $32 million related to unvested stock options at December 31, 2014 will be recognized over the next Nvo years

(weighted average period).

The table below summarizes information [or stock options exercised during the last three years:

Cash received for options exercised $76
Excess tu benefits realized from options exercised $'i"tt

Intrinsic value of ootions exercised
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The following table summarizes information for outstanding common stock options at December 31, 2014:

Number (in thousands)

Total intrinsic value (in millions)
'Weighted average exercise price

remaining contractual life

The weighted average fair value of options granted under employee incentive plans was $23.56 for 2014, $19.84 for 2013 and $ 14.99 for 2012
(excluding the HealthSpring rollover options issued in2012) using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model and the assumptions presented in the

following table.

2012

Dividend yield

Expected volariliry

Risk-Free interest rate

0.lo/o

40.00/o

0.7o/o

0.lo/o

40.0o/o

0.80/o

The expecced volatility reflects the Companyt past daily stock price

volatility. The Company does not consider volatiliry implied in the

market prices of traded options to be a good indicator of future

voladliry because remaining maturities of traded options are less than

one year. The risk-free interest rate is derived using the four-year U.S.

Tieasury bond yield rate as of the award date for rhe primary grant.

Expected opdon life reflects the Companyt historical experience.

Resrtcted stoch. The Company awards restricted stock ro its

employees or directors with vesting periods ranging from cwo to five

years. These awards are generally in one of two forms: restricted stock

grants or restricted stock units. Restricted stock grants are the most

widely used form of restricted stock award and are used for

subsmntially all U.S.-based employees receiving such awards.

Recipients of restricted stock grants accumulate dividends and can

vote during the vesting period, but forfeit their awards and

accumuiated dividends if their employment terminates before the

vesting date. Awards of restricted stock units are generally limited to
overseas employees. A resrricted stock unit represents a right to receive

a commorr share of stock when the unit vests. Recipients of restricted

stock units are enrided to accumulate hypotheticd dividends, but
cannot vote during the vesdng period. They forfeit their units and

accumulated dividends if their emolovment terminates before the

vesting date.

2012

The table below shows the status of, and changes in, restricted stock grants and units during the last three years:

2014 2013

(Auar* in thorcand) Grmts/Units Awrd Date Grmts/Units Award Date Grms/Units Awrd Date

Outstanding-January | 2,844, 1,$.,L.,. ..1,:tr11:; ,lS6 4,064 $ 35.00 4,246 $ 28.88

525 $

Veighted Average
Fair Value at

\$fleighted Average
Fair Value at

59.36

Veighted Average
Fair Value at

r,563 $ 44.37Awarded

The fair value of vesred resrricted stock was: $85 million in 2014,

$94 miflion in 2013 and $66 million in 2012.

At the end of 2014, approximately 3,400 employees held 2.1 million
restricted stock grants and units with $54 million of related

compensation expense to be recognized over the next three years

(weighted average period).

Stategic Paformarce Sbates. The Company awards strategic

performance shares to executives and certain other key employees

generally with a performance period of three years. Strategic

performance shares are divided into two broad groups: 50ol0 are

subject to a market condition (total shareholder return relative to
industry peer companies) and 50% are subject to performance

conditions (revenue growth and cumulative adjusted net income).

These targets are set by the Committee. At the end of the performance

period, holders of strategic performance shares will be awarded

anywhere from 0 to 200o/o of the original grant of strategic

performance shares in Cigna common stock.

(1,485) $

OUTSTANDING - DECEMBER 31
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The table below shows the status o[ and changes in, strategic performance shares during the last three years:

2014 20t3 2012

Weighted Average
Fair Vdue at

Weighted Average
Fair Value at

59.84

36.88

47.52

Weighted Average
Fair Value at

44.49616 $

(448) $

842 $Awarded

Vested

Forfeited

OUTSTANDING - DECEMBER 3I

The fair value of vested strategic performance shares was $57 million
in 2014 and $42 million in 2013. No strategic performance shares

vested in 2012.

At the end of 2014, approximately 1,200 employees held 1.5 million
strategic performance shares and $32 million of related compensation

NOTE 2l Leases and Rentals

196\ $ 43.39

r,572 $ 49.67 41.92

expense is expected to be recognized over the next two years. For

strategic performance shares subject to a performance condition, the

amount of expense mey vary based on actual performance in 2075
and 2016.

(Auar& in thowands) Granc/Units Award Date Grmts/Units Awrd Date Grants/Units Award Date

Ourstanding - January I l. 49,67 1,600 $ 41.92 834 $ 39.45

The Companyt operadng leases are primarily for office space. Some

of these leases include renewal options and other incentives that are

amortized over the life of rhe lease. Office space leases active in 2014

had terms ranging from I month to 18 years. Rental expenses for
operating leases amounted to $150 million in 2014, $137 million in
2013 and. $144 million in2012. As of December 31,2014, future net

minimum rental payments under non-cancelable operating leases

NOTE 22 Segment Information

were approximately $605 rnillion, payable as follows (in millions):

$ 140 in 2015, $120 in 2016, $87 in 2017, $71 in 201 8, $59 in2019
and $128 thereafter.

The Company also has capital lease arrangements. See Note 8 and

Note 15 for further information on assets recorded under caoital

leases and rhe related obligations.

Beginning in the first quarter of 2014, the Company combined the

results of its run-off reinsurance business with other immaterial

operating segments in Other Operations. Prior year segment

information has been conformed to che current presentadon.

The financial results of the Companyt businesses are reported in the

following segments:

Global Heahb Carc aggregares the Commercial and Government

operating segments due to their similar economic characteristics,

products and services and regulatory environment:

. The Commercial openting segment encompasses both the U.S.

commercial and certain international health care businesses serving

employers and their employees, other groups, and individuals.

Products and services include medical, dental, behavioral health,

vision, and prescription drug benefit plans, health advocacy

programs and other products and services to insured and

self-insured customers.

. The Gooernment opereting segment offers Medicare Advantage

and Medicare Part D plans to seniors and Medicaid plans.

Global Sapplemental Benefits includes supplemental health, life
and accident insurance products offered in selected international
markets and in the U.S.

Grorp Disability and Life provides group long-term and shon-term
disability, group life, accident and specialry insurance products and

related services.

Other Operatiozs consist of:

' corporate-owned life insurance ("COLI");

. run-off reinsurance business that is predominantly comprised of
GMDB and GMIB business that was effectively exited through

reinsurance with Berkshire in 2013;

. deferred gains recognized from the 1998 sale ofthe individual life
insurance and annuiry business and the 2004 sale ofthe redremenc

benefits business; and

. run-off setdement annuity business.

Corporate reflects amounts not allocated to other segments, such as

net interest expense (defined as interest on corporate debt less net

investment income on investments not supporting segment

operations), interest on uncertain tax positions, certain litigation
matters, intersegment eliminations, compensation cost for stock

options, expense associated with its frozen pension plans, and certain

corporate project and overhead costs.

The Company measures the financial results of its segments using
"segment earnings (loss)", defined as shareholders'net income (loss)

before after-tax realized investment results. The Company determines

segment earnings (loss) consistent with accounting policies used in
preparing the consolidated financial statements, except that amounts

included in Corporate are not allocated to segments. The Company

allocates certain other operating expenses, such as systems and other
key corporate overhead expenses, on systematic bases. Income taxes

are generally computed as if each segment were filing a separate

income tax return. The Company does not report total assets by

segment because rhis is not a metric used to allocate resources or

evaluate segment performance.
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Summarized segment financial information for the years ended December 31, was as follows:

(Ir milliorc)

Guaranteed cost

Experience-rated

Stop loss

Internacional health care

Dental

Medicare

Medicaid

Medicare Part D

Other

Total premiums

Fees and other revenues

Mail order pharmary revenues

Ner investment income

$ 4,600

2,322"

2,318

\,827

r,257

5,660

2013 2012

$ 4,463 $ 4,256

2,292 2,022

r,907 r,672

r,752 1,648

1,139 1,005

5,639 4,969

317

r,387

730

207

1,421

677

19,626

3,5 r8

t,827

17,877

3,321

1,623

Segment revenues

Depreciation and amortization

Income taxes

Global Supplemental Benefits

Premiums

Fees and other revenues

Ner invescment income

Segment revenues

Depreciation and amortizadon

Income tues

Equity in income o[ investees

eatnl

Group Disability and Life

Premiums:

Life

Disabiliry

Other

Total

Fees and other revenues

Net investment income

Segmenr revenues

Depreciation and amortizadon

lncome taxes

Ottrer Operations

Premiums

Fees md other revenues

Net investment income

Segmen r revenues

Depreciation and amortization

Income raxes (benefits)

')<c)

$ 25,296 $ 23,080

$ 5r3',,,$ 529 $ 516

$ 822 $ 793

$ 1.517 l.418

(

{

$

$

D

D

$

D

$

2,496

45

100

50

t0
17

175

1,975

30

90

1 A1O 2,095$

D

$

$

29

,t)

10

t42

$ 1,629:,,,, $ 1,552 $ 1,426

1,539

')<'l

3,348

78

32r

3,747

t4

101

(24)

408

t
(237)

r,348

270

3,044

65

300

3,409

ll
r16

279t<q

105 $ l2r
(r 0l)

490

489 $ 510
q

$

2

43

82
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2013

Corporate

Other revenues and eliminations

Ner investment income

Segment revenues

Depreciation and amortization

Income tax benefits

loss

Realized investment gains

Realized investment gains

lncome taxes

Realized investment sains, net of taxes

TotaI

Premiums

Fees and orher revenues

Mail order pharmary revenues

Net investment income

(r4)

10

(24)

(4)

D

(1 10) (148)

2

'r 14

72

44

r3

r41 3r

25,575 $

3,60r

1,827

1,164

(l e)

23,0r7

3,291

1,623

1,144

Realized investment gai

Tota] revenues

Depreciation and amortization

]ncome raxes

Segment earnings

Realized investment gains, net of tues

Medical

Disabiliry

Supplemental Health, Life, md Accident

Mail order pharmary

213 44

32,380 $ 29,rr9

s 58tt

$ t 2ILl

$ r 9lr,

Shareholders' net income r.476 $

Revenue from external customers includes premiums, fees and other revenues, and mail order pharmary revenues. The following table presents

these revenues by product type for the years ended December 3l:

(ln nillions) 2012

Other

TOTAL $3r 27,93r

Foreign and U.S. revenues from external customers for the 3 years ended December 3l are shown below. In the periods shown, no foreign country

contributed more than 5olo of consolidated revenues from external customers.

(In 20t3 2012

u.s. 27,868 $ 25,2r7

3,135 2,714

$3 $ 27,93r

As a percentage of consolidated revenues, premiums from CMS were 210/o in 2014 and,22o/o in both 2013 and 2012. These amounts were

repofted in the Global Health Care segment.

$

$

597 $

698 $

1,335 $

r4r $

22,933 $

r,616

4,322

1,827

305

560

853

r,592

31

20,973

|,413

3,680

t,623

242

2014

20r4
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NOTE 23 Contingencies and Other Matters

The Company, through its subsidiaries, is contingently liable for
various guarantees provided in the ordinary course of business.

A. Financial Guarantees: Retiree and Life
Insurance Benefits

Separate account assets are contractholder funds maintained in
accounts with specific investment objectives. The Company records

separate account liabilities equal to separate account assets. In certain

cases, the Company guarantees a minimum level of benefits for
retirement and insurance contracts written in separate accounts. The
Company establishes an additional liability if management believes

that the Company will be required to make a payment under these

guarantees.

The Company guarantees that separate account assets will be

sufficient to pay certain life insurance or retiree benefis. The
sponsoring employers are primarily responsible for ensuring that assets

are sufficient to pay these benefits and are required to maintain assets

that exceed a certain percentage of benefit obligations. This
percentage varies depending on the asset class within a sponsoring
employert portfolio (for example, a bond fund would require a lower

percentage than a riskier equiry fund) and thus will vary as the

composition of the porfolio changes. If employers do not maintain
the required levels of separate account assets, the Company or an

affiliate of the buyer of the retiremenr benefits business (see Note 7 for
additional information) has the right to redirect the management of
the related assets to provide For benefit payments. As of December 3 l,
2014, employers maintained assets that exceeded rhe benefit
obligations. Benefit obligations under these arrangements were

$496 million as of December 31, 2014 and approximately l3Vo of
these are reinsured by an affiliate of the buyer of the retirement
benefits business. The remaining guarantees are provided by the
Companywith minimal reinsurance from third parties. There were no
additional liabilities required for these guarantees as of December 31,

2014. Separate account assets supporting these guaranrees are

classified in Levels I and 2 of the GAAP fair value hierarchy. See

Note 10 for further information on the fair value hierarchy.

The Company does not expect that these financial guarantees will
have a material effect on the Companyt consolidated results of
operations, liquldity or financial condition.

B. Guaranteed Minimum Income Benefit
Contracts

Under these guarantees, the future payment amounts are dependent
on underlying mutual fund investment values and interest rate levels

prior to and at the date of annuitization election that must occur
within 30 days of a policy anniversary after the appropriare waiting
period. Therefore, the future paymen$ are nor fixed and determinable
under the terms of these contracts. Accordingly, the Company
calculated exposure, without considering retrocessional coverage,

using the following hypotheticd assumptions as a prory for maximum
potential undiscounted future payments.

. no annuitants surrendered their accounts;

. all annuitants lived to elect their benefir;

. all annuitants elected to receive their benefit on rhe next available

date (2015 through 2020); and,

. all underlying mutual fund investment values remained ar the
December 31,2014 value of $1.1 billion with no furure rerurns.

Using these hypothetical assumptions, GMIB exposure is

$754 million. The recorded liabiliry for GMIB is calculated using fair
value assumptions. The Company has retrocessional coverage in place

that covers the exposures on these contracts. See Notes 7, l0 and 12

for further information on GMIB contracts.

C. Certain Other Guarantees

The Company had indemnification obligations to lenders of up to

$208 million as of December 31, 2014, related to borrowings by

certain real estate joint ventures that the Company either records as an

investment or consolidates. These borrowings, that are nonrecourse to
the Company, are secured by the joint ventures' real estate properties

with fair values in excess of the loan amounts and mature ar various

dates beginning in 2015 through 2021. The Companyt
indemnification obligations would require payment to lenders for any
actual damages resulting from certain acts such as unauthorized
ownership transfers, misappropriation of rental payments by others or
environmental damages. Based on initial and ongoing reviews of
property management and operations, the Company does not expect

that payments will be required under these indemnification
obligations. Any payments that might be required could be recovered

through a refinancing or sale of the assets. In some cases, the

Company also has recourse to partners for their proportionate share of
amounts paid. There were no liabilities required for these

indemnification obligations as of December 31,2014.

As of Decembe r 31, 2014, the Company guaranteed that it would
compensate the lessors for a shorrfall of up to $41 million in the

market value of certain leased equipment at the end of the lease.

Guarantees of $16 million expire in 2016 and $25 million expire in
2025.The Company had liabilides for these guarantees of $7 million
as of December 31, 2014.

The Company had indemnification obligations as of December 31,

2014 in connecdon with acquisition, disposition and reinsurance

transactions. These indemnification obligations are triggered by the
breach of representations or covenants provided by the Company,
such as representations for the presentation of financial staternents,

actuarial models, the filing of tax returns, compliance with law or the

identification of outstanding litigation. These obligations are typically
subject to various time limitations, defined by the contract or by

operation of law, such as statutes of limitation. In some cases, rne

maximum potential amount due is subject to conrractual limitations
based on a percentage of the transaction purchase price, while in other
cases limitations are not specified or applicable, The Company does

not believe that it is possible to determine the maximum potential
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amount due under these obligations, because not all amounts due

under these indemnification obligations are subject to limitation.
There were no liabilities for these indemnification oblisations as of
December 31, 2014.

The Company does not expect that these guarantees wiil have a

material adverse effect on the Company's consolidated results of
operations, financial condition or liquidicy.

D. Guaranty Fund Assessments

The Company operates in a regulatory environment that may require

the Company to participate in assessments under state insurance

guaranty association laws. The Companyt exposure to assessments for
certain obligations of insolvent insurance companies ro policyholders

and claimants is based on its share of business wrirten in the relevant

jurisdictions. For the year ended December 31, 2014 and 2013,
charges relaced to guarancy fund assessments were immaterial to the

Company's resulm of operations.

The Company is aware of an insurer that is in rehabilitati on.In 2012,
the state court denied the regulatort amended petitions for
liquidation and set forth specific requirements and a deadline for the

regulator to develop a plan of rehabilitation without liquidating the

insurer. The regulator has appealed the courct decision. Ifthe actions

taken in the rehabilitation plan fail to improve this insurert financial

condition, or if the state court's ruling is overturned on appeal, this

insurer may be forced into insolvency. In that event, the Company

would be required to pay guaranty fund assessments related to this

insurer. Due to the uncertainties surrounding this matter, the

Company is unable to estimate the amount of any potential guaranty

fund assessments and is monitoring the situation.

Legal and Regulatory Matters
The Company is routinely involved in numerous claims, lawsuits,

regulatory audits, investigations and other legal matters arising, for the

most part, in the ordinary course of managing a health services

business. These actions may include benefit disputes, breach of
contract claims, tort claims, provider disputes, disputes regarding

reinsurance arrangements, employment and employment

discrimination-related suits, employee benefit claims, wage and hour
claims, privacy, intellectual property claims and real estate related

disputes. There are currently, and may be in the future, attempts to
bring class action lawsuits against the industry. The Company also is

regularly engaged in IRS audits and may be subject to examinations
by various state and foreign taxing authorities. Disputed income tax

matters arising from these examinations, including those resulting in
litigation, are accounted for under the FASBT guidance for uncertain
tax positions. Further information on income tax matters can be

found in Note 19.

The business of administering and insuring health services programs,

particularly health care and group insurance programs, is heavily

regulated by federal and state laws and administrative agencies, such as

state departments of insurance and the U.S. Departmenrs of Health
and Human Services, Tieasury Labor andJustice, as well as rhe courts.

Health care regulation and legislation in its various forms, including
the implementation o[Health Care Reform, other regulatory reform

E.
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initiatives, such as rhose relating to Medicare programs, or additional
changes in existing laws or regulations or their interpretations, could

have a material adverse effect on the Companyt business, results of
operations and financial condition.

In addition, there is heightened review by federal and state regulators

of the health care, disabiliry and life insurance industry business and

related reporting practices. Cigna is frequendy the subject of
regulatory market conduct reviews and other examinations of its

business and reporting practices, audits and investigacions by state

insurance and heahh and welfare departments, state attorneys general,

the CMS and the Office of Inspector General ("OIG).'!flith respect

to Cigna's Medicare Advantage business, the CMS and OIG perform
audits to determine a health plan's compliance with federal regulations

and contractual obligations, including compliance with proper coding

practices (sometimes refered to as Risk Adjustment Data Validation
audits or RADV audits), that may result in retrospecrive adjustments

to payments made to health plans. Regulatory actions can result in
assessmen$, civil or criminal fines or penalties or other sanctions,

including loss of licensing or exclusion from participating in
governmenr Programs.

As a global company, Cigna is also subject to the laws, regulations and
rules of the foreign jurisdictions in which it conducts business.

Foreign laws and rules, and regulatory audit and investigation

practices, may differ from or be more stringent than, similar
requirements in the United States.

Regulation, legislation and judicial decisions have resulted in changes

to industry and the Companyt business practices, financial liabiliry or
other sanctions and will continue to do so in the future.

\flhen the Company (in the course of its regular review of pending
litigation and legal or regulatory matters) has determined that a

material loss is reasonably possible, the matter is disclosed. In
accordance with GAAB when litigation and regulatory matters

present loss contingencies that are both probable and esrimable, the

Company accrues the estimated loss by a charge to income. The
amount accrued represents the Companyt best estimate of the

probable loss at the time. If only a range of estimated losses can be

determined, the Company accrues an amount within the range that,
in the Companyt judgment, reflects the most likely outcome; if none
of the estimates within that range is a better estimate than any other
arnount, the Company accrues the minimum amount of the range. In
cases when the Company has accrued an estimated loss, the accrued

amount may differ materially from the uldmate amount of the loss. In
many proceedings, it is inherently difficult to determine whether any
loss is probable or even possible or to estimate the amount or range of
any loss. The Company provides disclosure in the aggregate for
material pending litigation and legal or regulatory matters, including
accruals, range ofloss, or a statement that such information cannoc be

estimated. As a litigation or regulatory matter develops, the Company
monitors the matter for further developments that could affect the
amount previously accrued, ifany, and updates such amount accrued

or disclosures previously provided as appropriate.

The outcome of litigation and other legal or regulatory matters is

always uncertain, and unfavorable outcomes that are not justified by

the evidence or existing law can occur. The Company believes that it
has valid defenses to the matters pending against it and is defending

itself vigorously. Except as otherwise noted, the Company believes
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that the legal actions, regulatory matters, proceedings and

.investigations currently pending against it should not have a material

adverse effect on the Company's results of operation, financial

condition or liquidicy based upon current knowledge and taking into

consideration current accruals. The Company had pre-tax reserves as

of December 31,2014 of $189 million ($123 million after-tax) for

the matters discussed below. Due to numerous uncertain factors

presented in these cases, it is not possible to estimate an 
"ggregete

range of loss (if any) for these matters at this dme. In light of the

uncertainties involved in these matters. rhere is no assurance rhat their
ultimate resolution will not exceed the amounts currently accrued by

the Company. An adverse outcome in one or more of these matters

could be material to the Companyt results of operations, financial

condition or liquidicy for any particular period.

Litigation Mntters

Amara casb balance petsion pkn litigatiott. In December 2001,

Janice Amara filed a class action lawsuit in the U.S. District Court for
the District of Connecticut against Cigna Corporation and the Cigna

Pension Plan (the "Plan') on behalf of herself and other similarly
siruated participants in the Plan affected by the 1998 conversion to a
cash balance formula. The plaintiffs allege various ERISA violations,

including, that the Plant cash balance formula discriminates against

older employees; that the conversion resulted in a wear-away period
(when the pre-conversion accrued benefit exceeded the

posc-conversion benefit); and that the Plan communications

contained inaccurate or inadequate disclosures about these

conditions.

In 2008, the District Court (1) found for plaintiffs on the disclosure

claim only; (2) affirmed the Company's right to convert to a cash

balance plan prospectively beginning in 1998; and (3) required the

Company to pay pre-1998 benefits under the pre-conversion

tradidonal annuity forrnula and post-1997 benefits under the

post-conversion cash balance formula. The Second Circuit upheld

this decision. In 2011, the Supreme Court reversed the lower court
decisions in this matcer and returned the case to the District Court,
which ordered the Company to pay substantially the same benefits as

had been ordered in 2008 and denied the Company's motion to

decertifr the class. The parties again appealed, with the plaintiffs
challenging the District Courtt denial oftheir request to return to the

prior annuiry benefit plan formula, and Cigna and the Plan appealing

the District Courtt order and the denial of a motion to decertifr the

class. In December 2014, the Second Circuit upheld the District
Court ruling. In January 2015, the plaintiffs filed a petition for
re-hearing with the Second Circuit. The Company will continue co

vigorously defend its position.

Ingenix, In April 2004, the Company was sued in a number of
putative nationwide class actions alleging that the Company
improperly underpaid claims for out-of-network providers through
the use of data provided by Ingenix, Inc., a subsidiary of one of the

Companyt compedtors. These actions were consolidatedinco Franco

u. Connecticut General Life Insurance Company, eral., pending in the

U.S. District Court for the District of New Jersey. The consolidated

amended complaint, filed in 2009 on behalfofsubscribers, health care

providers and various medical associations, asserted claims related to
benefits and disclosure under ENSA, the Racketeer Influenced and

Corrupt Organizations ("RICO) Act, the Sherman Antitrust Act and

New Jersey state law and seela recovery for alleged underpayments

from 1998 through the present. Other major health insurers have

been the subject o[, or have setded, similar litigation.

In Seprember 201l, the District Court (l) dismissed all claims by the

health care provider and medical association plaintiffs for lack of
standing; and (2) dismissed the antitrust claims, the New Jersey state

law claims and the ENSA disclosure claim. In January 2013 and again

in April 2014, rhe District Court denied separate motions by the

plaintiffs to certit/ a nationwide class of subscriber plaintiffs. The
Third Circuit denied plaintiffk request for an immediate appeal of the

January 2013 ruling. As a result, the case is proceeding on behalFof
the named plaintiffs only. In lune 2014, the Discrict Court granted

the Companyt motion for summary judgment to terminate all claims,

and denied the plaintiffs' partial modon for summary judgment. In

July 2014, the plaintiffs appealed all of the District Courtt decisions

in favor of the Company, including the class certification decision, to
the Third Circuit. The Company will continue to vigorously defend

its position.

Reguktory Mdtters

Disability ckims regahtory matter. During the second quarter of
2013, the Company finalized an agreement with the Departments of
Insurance for Maine, Massachusetts, Pennsylvania, Connecticut and

California (together, the "monitoring states") related to an

examinarion of the Company's long-term disabiliry claims handling
practices. The agreement requires, among other things: (l) enhanced

claims handling procedures related to documentadon and disposition;
(2) monitoring the Companyt implementation of these procedures

during a two-year period following the execution date of the

agreement; and (3) a reassessment of claims denied or closed during a

rwo-year prior period, except California for which the reassessment

period is three years.

In connection with the terms of the agreement, the Company

recorded a charge of $77 million before-tax ($5t million after-tax) in
the first quarter of 2013. The charge is comprised of two elements:
(1) $48 million of benefit costs and reserves from reassessed claims

expected to be reopened, and (2) $29 million in additional costs for
open claims as a result of the claims handling changes being

implemented. The Company is actively implementing the terms of
the agreement and continues to communicate with the monitoring
states on progress. If che monitoring states find material

non-compliance with the agreement upon re-examination, the

Company may be subject to additional costs and penalties. Most other
jurisdictions have joined the agreement as participating,
non-monitoring states.
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PART II
ITEM 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

Quarterly Financial Data (unaudited,)
The following unaudited quarterly financial data is presented on a consolidated basis for each of the years ended December 31,2014 and,

December I l, 2013. Quarterly financial results necessarily rely heavily on estimates. This and certain other hctors, such as the seasonal nature of
porrions of the insurance business, suggest the need to exercise caution in drawing specific conclusions from quarterly consolidated results.

Three Months Ended

March 3l

Consolidated Results

2014

Total revenues

Income before income tues

Shareholders' net income

Shareholders' net income per share:

Basic

2013
Total revenues

Income before income taxes

Shareholders' net income

Shareholders' net income per share:

Basic

Diluted
Stock and Dividend Data

20t4

Price range of common stock - high

- low

Dividends declared per common share

2013
Price range of common stock - high

-low $

Dividends declared per common share $

(1)Thefrtquarterof20t3includesanaf*+ugainof$25nillionfortheGMIBbatines,anafer-nxchargeof$507nillionforthereinurancetransdctionwithBerhsb
tbe Run-of Rcinsurance buines, and. an afier-tu charge of $51 million rehted to the disability ckims reguhtory matter in tbe Group Disability and Life segnent.

(2) Thesecondqaanrof20l3includesanafer+uchargeof$24millionforthePharmaryBeneftsManager("PBM)parneringagreementwithCatamaran.
(3) The fourth qaarter of 2013 includet an afr+u charge of $40 nillion for an organiutional effciency phn.

$ 8183 $

/4
57

0.20

0.20

7,980 $

767

505\21

1.79

1.,/ O

8,066

799

553

1.99

r.95

8,151

536

JOI'-',

11)
r.29

c

$

6319 $

539r $

004 $

73.r3
61.88

84.68 $ 88.57

7r.12 $ 72.64
_D
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PARI II
ITEM 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.

ITEM 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants
on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

ITEM 9A. Controls and Procedures
A. Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Based on an evaluation of the effectiveness of Cignat disclosure

controls and procedures conducted under the supervision and with
the participation of Cignat management, Cignat Chief Executive

Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that. as of the end of
the period covered by this report, Cignat disclosure controls and

procedures are effective to ensure that information required to be

disclosed by Cigna in the reports that it files or submits under the

Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported,

within the time periods specified in the SEC's rules and forms.

B. Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Managementt Annual Report on Internal
Control over Financial Reporting

Management of Cigna Corporation is responsible for establishing and

maintaining adequate internal controls over financial reporting. The
Companyt internal controls were designed to provide reasonable

assurance to the Companyt management and Board of Directors that
the Company's consolidated published financial statements for
external purposes were prepared in accordance with accounting

principles generally accepted in the United States. The Company's

internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and

procedures that:

(i) pertain to the maintenance ofrecords that, in reasonable detail,

accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of
the assets and liabilities of the Company;

(ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as

necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the

United States, and that receipts and expenditures of the

ITEM 98. Other Information
None.

Company are being made only in accordance with authorization

of management and directors of the Company; and

(iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely
detection ofunauthorized acquisitions, use or disposition ofthe
Companys assets that could have a material effect on the

financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial

reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.

Management assessed the effectiveness of the Companys internal

controls over financial reporting as of December 31,2014.In making

this assessment, management used the criteria set forth by the

Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Tieadway

Commission ('COSO") in Internal Control-Integrated Framework

(2013). Based on managementt assessment and the criteria set forth
by COSO, it was determined that the Company's internal controls

over financial reporting are effective as of December 31,2014.

The Companyt independent registered public accounting firm,
PricewaterhouseCoopers, has audited the effectiveness of the

Companyt internal control over financial reporring, as stated in cheir

report located on page 60 in this Form l0-K.
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ITEM 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the
Registrant

A. Directors of the Registrant

The information under the captions "Corporate Governance Matters - Process for Director Elections," "- Board of Directors' Nominees,"

"- Directors \Vho'Will Continue in Office" and "- Board Meetings and Committees" (as it relates to Audit Committee disclosure) in Cignat
definitive proxy statement related to the 2015 annual meeting ofshareholders is incorporated by reference.

B. Executive Officers of the Registrant

See PARI I - "Executive Officers of the Registrant" on page 28 in this Form 10-K.

C. Code of Ethics and Other Corporate Governance Disclosures

Cigna's Code of Ethics is the Companyt code of business conduct and

ethics, and applies to Cignat directors, officers (including the Chief
Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and Chief Accounting
Officer) and employees. The Code of Ethics is posted on the

Corporate Governance section found on the 'About Cignd' page of
the Companyt website, www.cigna.com. In the event the Company

substantively amends its Code of Ethics or waives a provision of the

Code, Cigna intends to disclose the amendment or waiver on the

Coroorate Governance section of the Comoanv's website.

In addition, the Company's corporate governance guidelines (Board

Practices) and the charters of its board committees (Audit, Corporate

Governance, Executive, Finance and People Resources) are available

on the Corporate Governance section of the Companys website.

These corporate governance documents, as well as the Code of Ethics,

are available in print to any shareholder who requests them.

D. Section l6(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance

The information under the caption "Ownership of Cigna Common Stock - Section l6(a) Beneficid Ownership Reporting Compliancd' in
Cigna's definitive proxy statement related to the 2015 annual meeting ofshareholders is incorporated by reference.

ITEM 11. F.>recutive Compensation
The information under the captions "Corporate Governance Matters - Non-Employee Director Compensation," "Compensation Matters -
Report of the People Resources Committee," "- Compensation Discussion andAnalysis" and "- Executive Compensation Thbles" in Cignat
definitive proxy statement related to the 2015 annual meeting ofshareholders is incorporated by reference.
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ITEM 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial
Owners and Management and Related
Stockholder Matters

The following table presents information regarding Cignat equiry compensation plans as oFDecember 31,2014:

(b) tzr

Weighted Average

Plan Category Warrants And Rights I7arrants And Rights Reflected In Column (a))

Plans Not

Total

(l)Includes,inadditionto0it'tmdingrt0choptions,l69,963restrictedsochxnits,97,745ffened:hareldnd3,093,054ttrategicperfomance
200o/o|4!outrdte.Aboinclufs724'329sharesofcommonoochmdr$ingrochoptionawardsgrantedunfrtheHealthSpringInc.Amended'andRutavd2006Equ
and 18,776 shares ofcommon stoch tndzrlying toch option awdrds granted uder the NewQuest HoAings, Inc. 2005 Stoch Option Phn, euh ofwhich wa approued by the applicabh
comparyt shareholden beforc Cignai acqukition ofHeabhSping in Janury1 2012.

(2)Tbeweigh*d-avcrageucrciscpiceitbaedonfonoutstlndinglocho2tions,Theoutst4iing't0choptionsasumcdduetoCigniacquisiion
xercise price of$17.74. Exclading these asamed options resubs in a weighted-averagc *ercir price of$55.69.

(j) Includa 285,176 sbares ofcommon stoch avaihble as ofthe close ofbusines December 31, 2014 forfu*re iruance undzr the Cigna Directors Equity Phn zd 10,331,408 thars of
common $och aaaihble u of the chse of buines on Decmber 31, 2014 forfutare issaance under the Cigna Long-Tlrm Incentiue Plan.

The information under the captions "Ownership of Cigna Common Stock - Stock held by Directors, Nominees and Executive Officers" and
"Ownership of Cigna Common Stock - Largest Security Holders" in Cignat definitive proxy statement related to the 2015 annual meeting of
shareholders is incorporated by reference.

ITEM 13.Certain Relationships and Related Thansactions
The information under the captions "Corporate Governance Matters - Director Independence" and "- Certain Tiansactions" in Cignat
definitive proxy statement related to the 2015 annual meeting ofshareholders is incorporated by reference.

ITEM 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services
The information under the captions 'hudit Matters - Policy for the Pre-Approval ofAudit and Non-Audit Services" and "- Fees to Independent
Registered Public Accounting Firm' in Cignat definitive proxy statement related to the 2015 annual meeting of shareholders is incorporated by
reference.

PART III
ITEM 12. Securiry Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

OutstandingOptions, OurctandingOptions,

(c) {rr

Securities Remaining
Available For Future

Exercise Price Per Issuance Under Equity
Share Of Compensation Plans

(Excluding Securities

(a) or

Securities To Be Issued

Upon Frercise Of
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ITEM 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules
(a) (l) The following Financial Statements appear on pages 60

through l14:

Report of Independent Registered PublicAccounting Firm.

Consolidated Statements of Income for the years ended

December 31,2014,2013 and 2012.

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income [or the

years ended December 31,2014,2013 and,2012.

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2014 and

2013.

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Total Equiry for the
years ended December 31,2014,2013 and2012.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended

December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

(2) The financial statement schedules are listed in the Index to
Financial Statement Schedules on page FS-1.
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PART ry
ITEM 15. Signatures

Signatures

Pursuant to the requirements ofSection 1 3 or I 5(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed

on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunco duly authorized.

CIGNA CORPORAIION

Date: February 26,2015
By' /s/ Thomas A. McCarthy

Thomas A, McCartty
Executiue Vice President and Chief Financial Officer (Principdl Financial Officer)

Pursuant to the requirements ofthe Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalfofthe
registrant and in the capacities indicated as ofFebruary 26,2015.

Signature Tide

/s/ David M. Cordani Chief Executive Officer and Director (Principal Executive Officer)

David M. Cordani

/s/ Thomas A. McCanhy Executive Vice Presidenr and Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer)

Thomro A. McCarthy

/s/ Marv T. Hoeburl Vice President and Chief Accounting Officer (Principal Accounting Ofticer)

M".y I Hoeltzel

/s/ Eric J. Foss Director

Eric J. Foss

/s/ Michelle D. Gass

Michelle D. Gass

/s/ Isaiah Harris, Jr. Chairmaa of the Board

Isaiah Harris, Jr.

/s/ Jane E. Henney, M.D

fane E. Henney, M.D.

/si Roman Martinez IV

Roman Martinez fV
A/ John M. Parrridge

Director

Director

Direccor

Director

John M. Partridge

/s/ James E. Rogers

Jma E. Rogerc

/s/ Eric C. Wiseman Director

Eric C. r!/iseman

/s/ Donna F. Zarcone , , D.irector

Donna F. Zxcone

/s/ \Tilliam D. Zollars Director

William D. Zollars
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INDD( TO FINANCI.AL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
ITEM 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

Cigna Corporation and Subsidiaries

PAGE

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firtn on Financial Statement Schedules ......................FS-2

Schedules

I - Summary of Investments - Other Than Investments in Related Parties as of December 3lr 2Ol4 ..........FS-3
II - Condensed Financial Information of Cigna Corporation (Registrant)... .......FS-4

V - Valuation and Qualifing Accounts

Schedules other than those listed above are omitted because they are not required or are not applicable, or the required information is shown in
the financial statements or notes thereto.
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PART IV
ITEM 15. Repon of Independent Registered PublicAccounting Firm on Financid Statement Schedules

on Financial Statement Schedules

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Cigna Corporation

Our audits ofthe consolidated 0nancial statements and ofthe effectiveness ofinternd control over financial reporting referred to in our report

dated February 26,2015 (which report and consolidated financial staternents are included under Item 8 in this Annual Report on Form lO-K)

also included an audit of the financial setement schedules listed in hem l5(aX2) of this Form l0-K. In our opinion, these financial statement

schedules present fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein when read in conjunction with the related consolidated financial

statements.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Philadelphia, Pennsylvania

February 26,2015

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
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PART IV
ITEM 15. Exhibits and Financial Satement Schedules

Cigna Coqporation and Subsidiaries

Schedule I - Summary of Investments - Other Than Investments in Related Parties

December 31,2014

Amount at
which shown in

Type of Invstment Fair the Consolidated
(ln millions) Cost Value Balmce Sheet

Fixed maturities:

Bonds:

United States government and government agencies and authorities

Public utilities
All othet orporate bon&

Asset backed securities:

t,682
t,824

437

::::ii..i;:i:::. t"t""s"r.bid<idit; , ,,:::j:,ii:ii::ii::i::i;i i'i;,i:,i:,' ', ' : .":i;iift
Orher mset-backed 564 650 650

38 39 39

Common stocks:

Industrial, miscellaneous and all other

Commercial mortgage loans on real estate

Policy loans

Other long-term investments

Short-term investments

1,856

r,940
447

13,012

TOTAL INVES'TMENTS $ 22,653 24,42
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PARI IV
ITEM 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

Cigna Corporation and Subsidiaries

Schedule II - Condensed Financial Information of Cigna Corporation - (Registrant)

Statements of Income

Operating expeirses:

Interest

Intercompany interest

Other

TOTAL OPEMflNG EXPEI\SES

Loss before income tues

]ncome tax benefit

Loss of parenr compmy

itv in income of subsidiaries

SHARJHOLDERS' NET INCOME

Shareholders' other conprehensive income (loss):

Ner unrealized appreciation (depreciation) on securities

Ner unrealized appreciation (depreciation), derivatives

Net translation of foreign currencies

Postretirement benefi ts liabiliry

Shareholders' other comorehensive income

SHAREHOLDERS' COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For tfie years ended Deccmber 31,

il

143 : (410)

$ 264 $ 262

1

452

(452)

(r43)

(309)

1,932

r,623

335

(335)

(109)

(226)

r,702

r,476

147

(5)

66

(92)

See Notet to Firuncial Sutements on tbe follouing pages.
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PART ry
ITEM 15. Exhibis and Financial Statement Schedules

Cigna Corporation and Subsidiaries

Schedule II - Condensed Financial Information of Cigna Corporation (Registrant)

Balance Sheets

fu of December 3l
(In miltiou) 2014 2Ol3

ASSETS:

Cash and cash equivalents

Investments in subsidiaries

Intercompany

Orher asses

TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES:
Intercompany

Short-term debt

Long-term debt

Other liabilities

TOTAL LIA3ILITIES
STIAREHOLDERS' EQUITY:

Common stock (shares issued, 296; authorized, 600)

Additional paid-in capital

Accumulated other comprehensive loss

Retained earnings

Less treasurv stocl(. at cost

TOTAL SIIAREHOLDERS'
TOTAL LIAsILITIES AND STIAREHOLDERS'

$-
r6,932

1,043

100

4,871

826

1:tll';tt',:t::',ti;tt:ttl]i,;::,i1,:,

ll rlliltillllllt tii

92

3,t>o
(520)

r J,o/ o

0

567

See Notet to Fimncial State ments on tbe following pages.
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PART IV
ITEM 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

Cigna Corporation and Subsidiaries

Schedule II - Condensed Financial Information of Cigna Corporation (Registrant)

Statements of Cash Flows

For the years ended December 31.

(In milliow) 2Ol4 2Ol3 2Ol2
Cash Flows From Operating Activities:

Shareholders' Net Income

Adjustments to reconcile sha.eholJeis' net income to net cash provided by operating
. acuvtues:

Equiry in income of subsidiaries

Dividends received from subsidiaries

Other liabilities

Other, net

Net cash operating activities

Cash Flows from Investing Activities:

Orher, ner

Net cash provided by / (used in) investinp

Cash Flows from Financing Activities:

Ner change in amounts due to / from affiliates

Net change in short-term debt

Issuance of common stock

Common dividends paid

of coirmon stock

Net cash used in financing activities

Net increxe (decrease) in qsh md cash equivalenr

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year

Cash and cash end of vear

$ r,476 $ 1,623

(1,702)

506
(245)

(r,932)

671

(2r3)
r,618

(73)

o,
98

Orher, ner - (19)

Net cash provided by / (used in) investing activities . - (19)

See Notet t0 Financial Statement on the following page:.

FS-6 CIGNA CORPORAIION - 2014 Form r}-K



PART IV
ITEM 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

Cigna Corporation and Subsidiaries

Schedule II - Condensed Financial Information of Cigna Corporation (Registrant)

Notes to Condensed Financial Statements

The accompanying condensed financial statements should be read in

coniunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements and the

accompanying notes thereto contained in this Form 10-K.

Note I - For purposes of these condensed financial statements, Cigna

Corporationt (the "Company'') wholly-owned and majority-owned

subsidiaries are recorded using the equity basis o[ accounting.

Note 2 - Short-term and long-term debt consisted of the followinq at December 3l:

(In niltiow)

Short-term:

Commercial

TOTAL SHORT.TERM DEBT

l.ong-term:

Uncollaieraliied debt:

$600 million, 2.75% Notes due 2016

$250 million, 5.375olo Notes due 2017

$131 million, 6.350lo Notes due 2018

$251 million, 8.5%o Notes due 2019

$250 million, 4.375o/oNores due 2020(rr

$300 million, 5.125% Nores due 2020(L)

$300 million, 4.5% Notes due 2021(r)

$750 million, 4% Notes due 2022

$100 million, 7.650lo Notes drc 2023

$17 million, 8.3% Notes drc 2023

$300 million, 7.875o/o Debentures drc 2027

$83 million, 8.370 Step Down Notes drc 2033

$500 million, 6.150/o Notes dte 2036

$300 million, 5.8750lo Notes due 2041

million Notes due 2042

December 3l.2Ol4 December 31,2013

100

r00

251

131

25r

249

, c)q

?gq

744

100

17

300

83

500

298

750

600

t5n

TOTAL IONG-TERM DEBT 4,87L

(l) In 2014, tbe Company entered into interert rate tua? coiltrdctt hedging a portion of thue fxed+ate debt nstruments.

In December, 2014, the Company entered into an updated revolving 2014, rhe Company had $6.5 billion of borrowing capacitywithin the

credit and letter of credit agreement For $1.5 billion, that permits up maximum debt coverage covenant in the agreement, in addition to the

to $500 million to be used for letters ofcredit. This agreement exrends $5.2 billion of debt outstanding. Letters of credit outstanding as of
through December 2019 and is diversified among 16 banks, with December 31, 2014 totaled $23 million. The Company was in
three banks each having 72o/o of the commitment and the remainder compliance with its debt covenants as of December 31,2014.
spread among l3 banks. The credit agreement includes options, rr^_..-:.:^^ ^.._r^L- -_^ -- r^r^--.- /:_ _:r:^_^\. _^_^ :_ rn | < ttA^.
subject to consent by the administrative agent 

"nd 
th. 

-r"-"*' Marurities of debt are as follows (in millions): none in 2015' $600 rn

bank, to increase the commitmenr amounr to g2 bil in20l7, $131 in 2018' $251 in 2019 and the remainder

extend the term pasr December 2019. The credit 12019'lnterestexPenseonlong-termandshort-termdebt

available for general corporare purposes, including for the illion in 2014' $264 million in 2013' and $262 million rn

letters of credit. This agreement has certain .ou..r"n,r, 'rest paid on long-term and short-term debt was

financial covenant requiring the company to maintain a leverage ratro )ot) 
n rn 2014' $259 million in 2013' and $242 million in

of toral consolidated debt-to-consolidated capitalizatirn (each as

defined in the credit agreement) at or below 0.50. As of December 31,

CIGNA CORPOMTION - 2014 Form l}-K FS-7



PART
ITEM Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

Note 3 - Intercompany liabilities consist primarily of loans payable to
Cigna Holdings, Inc. of $877 million as of December 31,2014 and,

$1,043 million as of December 31,2013.lnterest was accrued at an

average monthly rate of 0.52o/o for 2014 and,0.59o/o for 2013.

Note 4 -As of December 3l ,2014, the Company had guarantees and

similar agreements in place to secure payment obligations or solvency

requirements of certain wholly-owned subsidiaries as follows:

. The Company has arranged for bank letters of credit in the amount
of $4 million to provide collateral in support of its indirect wholly-
owned subsidiaries.

. Various indirect, wholly-owned subsidiaries have obtained surety

bonds in the normal course ofbusiness. Ifthere is a claim on a surety

bond and the subsidiary is unable to pay, the Company guarantees

payment to the company issuing the surery bond. The aggregate

amount of such surety bonds as of December 31, 2014 was

$79 million.

. The Company is obligated under a $6 million letter of credit

recuired by the insurer of its hieh-deductible self-insurance

programs to indemnify the insurer for claim liabilities that fall
within deductible amounts for policy years dating back to 1994.

. The Company also provides solvency guarantees aggregating

$34 million under state and federd regulations in support of its
indirect wholly-owned medical HMOs in several states.

' The Company has arranged a $13 million letter of credit in supporr

of Cigna Europe Insurance Company, an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary. The Company has agreed to indemnifr the banls
providing the letters of credit in the event of any draw. Cigna

Europe Insurance Company is the holder of the letters of credit.

. The Company has agreed to indemnifr payment of losses included

in Cigna Europe Insurance Companyt reserves on the assumed

reinsurance buiness transferred from ACE. As of December 31,

2014, the reserye was $22 million.

In 2014, no payments have been made on these guarantees and none

are pending. The Company provided other guarantees to subsidiaries

that, in rhe aggregate, do not represent a material risk to the

Companyt results of operations, Iiquidiry or financial condition.

ry
r5
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PARI TV
ITEM 15. Exhibits and Financial Satement Schedules

Cigna Corporation and Subsidiaries

Schedule III - Supplementary Insurance Information

(In milkot)

Year Ended December 31,2014:

Global Healrh Care

Global Supplemental Benefi ts

Group Disabiliry and Life

Orher Operations

Year Ended December 31,2013:
Global Health Care

Global Supplemental Benefits

Group Disability and Life

Other Operations

Corporare

Deferred
policy

acquisition
costs

Future policy
benefits and

contractholder
deposit

filnds

Medical claims
payable and

unpaid
claims

Unearned

20

I

2,050 $ 1 16

305 419

3,739 23

260 22

(6)

$ r97
2 525

| 615

t3 439

$ r,395 $ 17,776 $ 6,348 580

Year Ended December 31,2072:
Global Health Care

Global Supplemental Benefi ts

Group Disabiliry and Life

Other Operations

$19$175
1,113 2,227

t 1,5)9

65 13,772

$ 1,856 $ ill
306 388

3,482 26

295 24

5,918
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ITEM
PART IV

15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

Premiums (l)

19,626

2,496
4 449,

105

Benefit
o)o)

32' $ 15,867

100 1,310

321 ' 2,621

408 r,067

l0

Amottization
of deferred

Poliry
acquisition

69

178

I
7

Net
inYestment
income (2)

Year Ended Decembei 31,:2014

Globd Health Care

Group Disability and Life

Orher Operations

Corporate

TOTAL

Year Ended December 31,2013:
Global Health Care

Global Supplemenral Benefi ts

Group Disability 4nd Life,
Other Operations

Corporate l

7,021
924

765

46

328

Global Supplemental Benefi ts

TOTAL 25,575 r,164 $ 20,865 255 9,084

Year Ended December 31,2012:
Global Health Care

Global Supplemental Benefits

Group Disability and Life

Other Operarions

Corporate

TOTAL
(l) Amountt presnted are shrun net of the Sects of reinsuronce, See Note 7 to tbe Couolidtted Financidl Sutmnts included in thit Fom 10-K

(2) The allncation of net inustmnt income is b*ed apon thc inueshnent ledr method, the idatifcation of certain porrfolios with sprcifc vgnents, or a combindtion of botb.

(3) Beneft expeue: include Global Heabh Care nedical claims expeue and other beneft expenrcs.

(4) Other operaing expenses include mail order phamary costs and other operating 
^pew6, 

and exclxdes anlrti%tizn of fufened policl acquitiion expenscs.

17,877

r,975

3,044

121

$68$
t4l

3

6

$25e$
90

300

490

5

14,228

1,005

2,290

377

6,573

770

721

458
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Cigna Corporation and Subsidiaries

Schedule [V - Reinsurance

Ceded to other Assumed from

725,509

Percentage
of amount

assumed to net

0.50/o

(ln milliow)

Year Ended December 31,2014..

Life insurance in force

Premiums:

Life insurance and annuities

Accident and hedth insurance

TOTAL

Year Ended December 31,20132
Life insurance in force 78r,053 $

Premiums:

Life insurance and annuities

Accident and health insurance

2,r40
23,40r

279 $

264, ,'

$ 1,889

, .,,23,686
28

549

t.50/o

2.3o/o

Premiums:

Life insurance and annuities

Accident and health insurance

2,013 $

21,001

$ 29 $ r,774

442 2r,243

1,60/o

2.lo/o

268

200

TOTAL 23,Or4 $ 468 $ 47r $ 23,or7 2.Lo/o
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Cigna Corporation and Subsidiaries

Schedule V - Valuation and Quatifring Accounts and Reserves

Charged
Balance at (Credited)

beginning of to costs and

Charged
(Credited)

to oth€r
accounts

Other
deductions(r)

Balance at
end of

(In nillions)

20142

Investment asset valuation reseryes: Commercial morrgage loans

Allowance for doubtful accounts: Premiums, accounts and notes receivable

Deferred tax asset valuation allowance

Reinsurance recoverables

2013:
Investment asset valuation reserves: Commercial mortgage loans $
Allowance for doubtful accounts: Premiums, accounts and notes receivable $

D

7$
51 $

42$
4$

19$
4) .'

4> ,t

4$
-$
7$
-D

10 $

4$
4$

(l) $

/r) (

-$
-D

(3) $ 8

(6) $ 43

-$49
-$4

Deferred tax asset valuation allowance

Reinsurance recoverables

2012:
Investment asset valuation reserues: Commercial mortgage loans

Allowance for doubtfrrl accoirnts; Premiums, accounts and notes receivable $

Deferred tax aJset valuation allowance $

-D
l$

(7\ (

-0

(22) $ 7

I $ 5r

-$42
-$4Reinsurancerecoverables $ 5 $

(1)Amoan*forcommcrcialmortgdgeharprimri$reJIeocharge-ofapon'ah5andrpa1ments,twelIastrawfertoforcchsedrale:tan.20]2amolntakoincladesrolru
to Otbq Lonftem Inuettmnts.
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ITEM 15. Exhibits and Financial
PART IV

Statement Schedules

Index to Exhibits

Number Description Method of Filing

3.1 Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the registrant s lmt
amended October 28, 2011 I

3,2 By-Laws of the registrant as Iast amended and restated December 6,

2012
4.1 (a) Indenture dated August 16,2006 between Cigna Corporation and

U.S. Bank National Association
(b) Supplemental Indenture No. 1 dated November 11, 2006 beween

Cigna Corporation and U.S. Bank National Association
(c) Supplemental Indenture No. 2 dated March 15, 2008 between Cigna

Corporation and U.S. Bank Narional Associarion

Cigna Corporation md U.S. Bank National Associated
4.2 Indenture dated January 1, 1994 beween Cigna Corporation and

Marine Midland Bank
4.3 Indenture dated June 30, 1988 between Cigna Corporation and

Bankers Tiust

Filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the registrant's Foim l0-Qfot the quarterly
period ended September 30,2011 and incorporated herein by
rererence.

Filed as Exhibir 3.2 ro the registrant's Form 10-K for the year ended

December 31,2012 and incorporated herein by reference.

Filed as Exhibit 4.1(a) ro the registrant's Form 10-K for the year

ended December 31, 2012 and incorporated herein by reference.

Filed as Exhibit 4.1(b) ro rhe registranrt Form l0-K for the year

ended December 31,2012 and incorporated herein by reference.

Filed as Exhibit 4.1(c) to the registrantt Form 10-Qfor the
quarterly period ended March 31, 20ll and incorporated herein by
reference

(d) Supplemental Indenture No. 3 dared March 7, 2008 berween Cigna Filed u Exhibit 4.1 ro rhe registranr's Form 8-K on March 10,2008
Corporation and U.S. Bank National Association and incorporated herein by reference.

(e) Supplemental Indenture No. 4 dated May 7, 2009 beween Cigna Filed as Exhibit 99.2 rc the registrmt's Form 8-K on May 12, 2009
Corooration and U,S. Bmk National Association and incoroorated herein bv refercnce

(f)

(q)

(h\

(i)

Supplemental Indenture No. 5 dated Mzy 17,2010 berween Cigna Filed as Exhibit 99.2 to the registranis Form 8-K on May 28, 2010
Corporation and U.S. Bank National Association and incorporated herein by reference.

Supplemenral Indenture No. 6 dated December 8, 2010 beoveen Filed as Exhibit 99.2 to the registrantt Form 8-K on December 9,
Cigna Corporadon and U.S. Bank National .Association 2010 and incorporated herein by reference.

Supplemental Indenture No. 7 dated March7,2011 between Cigna Filed as Exhibit 99.2 to rhe registrantt Form 8-K on March 8, 2011
Corporation and U.S. Bank Nadonal Association and incoroorated herein bv refercnce.

Supplemental Indenture No. 8 dared November 10, 20ll between Filed as Exhibit 4.1 ro the registrantt Form 8-K on November 14,

Exhibits l0.l through 10.31 are identified as compensatory plans, management contracts or arrangements pursuanr to Item 15 of Form 10-K.
10.1 Deferred Compensation PIan for Directors of Cigna Corporation, m Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the registranti Form l0-K for the year

amended and restated laruary l, 1997 ended December 31, 2011 and incorporated herein by reference.

10.2 Deferred Compensation Plan of 2005 for Directors of Cigna Filed as Exhibit 10.2 ro the registrantt Form 10-K for the year

Corporation, amended and restated effective April 28,2010 ended December 3I, 2010 and incorporared herein by reference.

Cigna Corporation Non-Employee Director Compensation Program Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the registrant's Form 10-Qfor the quarterly
amended and restated eflective Februarv 26.2014 period ended March 31, 2014 and incorporated herein by reference.

Cigna Restricted Share Equivalent Plan for Non-Employee Directors Filed as Exhibit 10.4 to the registrantt Form 10-K for the year

as amended and restated effective January l, 2008 ended December 31,2012 and incorporated herein by reference.

10.3

10.4

10.5 Cigna Corporation Director Equity Plan

10.6 Cigna Corporation Stock Plan, as amended and restated through July
2000

10.7 (a) Cigna Stock Unit Plan, as amended and restated effeaiveJdy 22;
2008

(b) Amendment No. I to the Cigna Stock Unit Plan, as amended and
restated effective J:uJry 22,2008

10.8 Cigna Executive Severance Benefis Plan as amended and restated

effective April 27,2010
10.9 Description of Severance Benefits for Executives in Non-Change of

Control Circumstances
10.10 Cigna Executive Incentlve Plm amended and restated as of

January 12,2012
10.11 (a) Cigna Long-Term Incentive Plan as amended and restated efFective as

ofApril 28,2010
(b) Amendment M. I to the Cigna Long-Term Incentive Plm as

amended and restated effective as ofApril 28,2010
(c) Amendment No. 2 to the Cigna Long-Term Incentive Plan as

amended and restated effective as ofApril 28,2010
10.12 Cigna Defered Compensarion Plan, as amended and restared

October 24,2007
10.13 Cigna DeFerred Compensation Plan of 2005 effective as of

Ianuary 1, 2005

20ll and incorporated herein by reference.

Filed as Exhibit 4.2 ro the registrantt Form 10-K for the year ended

December 31,2009 and incorporated herein by reference.

Filed as Exhibit 4.3 to the registrantt Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31,2009 and incorporared herein by reference.

Filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the registrantt Form 10-Qfor the quarterly
period ended March 31, 2010 and incorporated herein by reference.

Filed as Exhibir 10.7 to the registrantt Form 10-K for the year

ended December 31, 2009 and incorporated herein by reference.

Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the registrantt Form l0-Qfor the quuterly
period ended September 30, 2008 and incorporated herein by
relefence,
Filed as Exhibit 10.3 ro rhe regisrranrt Form 10-Qfor the quarterly
period ended June 30, 2010 and incorporated herein by reference.

Filed as Exhibit 10.2 ro the regisrrantt Form l0-Qfor the quarrerly
period ended June 30, 2010 and inorporated herein by reference.

Filed as Exhibit 10.I0 ro the registranrt Form l0-K for the year

ended December 31,2009 and incorporated herein by reference.

Filed as Exhibit l0.l to the registrantt Form l0-Qfor the quarterly
period ended March 31, 2012 znd incorporated herein by reference.

Filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the registrantt Form 10-Qfor the quarterly
period ended March 31, 2010 and incorporated herein by reference.

Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the registrantt Form 10-Qfor the quarterly
period ended June 30, 2010 and incorporated herein by reference.

Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the registrant's Form 10-Qfor the quarterly
period ended March 31, 201I and incorporated herein by reference.

Filed as Exhibit 10.14 to rhe registrant's Form lO-K for the year

ended December 31,2011 and incorporated herein by reference.

Filed as Exhibit 10.15 ro the registrantt Form 10-K For the year

ended December 31,2012 and incorporated herein by reference.
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Number Description Merhod of Filinq

10.14 (a)

(b)

Filed as Exhibit 10.15(a) to the registrantt Form 10-K for the year

ended December 31,2009 and incorporated herein by reference.

Filed as Exhibit 10.15(b) to the registrant\ Form 10-K for the year

ended December 31,2009 and incorporared herein by reference.

Filed as Exhibir 10.16(c) to the registrantt Form 10-K for the year

ended December 31,2011 and incorporated herein by reference.

Filed as Exlribit 10.15 to the registrant's Form 10-K for the year

ended December 31,2007 and incorporated herein by reference.

Filed as Exlibit I0.1 to the registrantt Form 10-Qfor the quarterly
period ended June 30, 2009 and incorporated herein by reference.

Filed as Exhibit 10.17 to the registrant's Form 10-K for the year

ended December 31,2009 and incorporated herein by reference,

Filed as Exhibit 10.18 to thi registrantt Form 10-K for the year

ended Deiember 31,2009 and incorporated herein by reference.

Filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the registrantt Form 10-Qfor the period
ended March 31,2014 and incorporated herein by reference.

Filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the registrantt Form lO-Qfor the period
ended Much 31,2014 and incorporated herein by reference.

Filed as Exhibir 10.4 to the registranr's Form 10-Qfor the period
ended March 31,2014 and incorporated herein by reference.

Filed as Exhibit 10.5 to the registrant's Form l0-Qfor the period
ended March 31,2014 and incorporated herein by reference.

Filed as Exhibit 10.20 to the registrant's Form 10-K for rhe year

ended December 31, 2008 and incorporated herein by reference.

Filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the registrmt's Form 10-Qfor the period
ended March 31,2012 and incorporated herein by reference.

Filed as Exhibit 10.I to the registrant's Form 8-K filed on June 4,
2014 and incorporated herein by reference.

Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the registrantt Form 8-K filed on May 13,

2013 and incorporared herein by reference.

Retention Agreement with Herbert Fritch dated Ocrober 24,2011 Filed as Exhibir l0.l to the registrant's Form lO-Q for the period
ended March 31,2013 and incorporated herein by reference.

Agreement dated December 7, 2011 with Herberr Frirch Filed as Exhibit 10.2 ro the registrantt Form l0-Qfor the period
ended Maich 31,2013 and incorporated herein by refetence.

Rerenrion Agreement with Herbert Fritch dated Seprember 15,2014. Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the registrantt Form 8-K filed on
Seotember 19,2014 and incoroorated herein bv reference.

HealthSpring, Inc. Amended and Restated 2006 Equity Incencive FiLd as Exhibir 10.3 to rhe regist.-r's Form lb-Q foi the period
Plan (the "HealthSpring Equiry Incentive Plan') ended March 31,2013 and incorporated herein by reference.

HeakhSpring Equity Incentive Plan: Form of Restricted Share Award Filed as Exhibit 10.4 to the registrant's Form 10-Q for rhe period
ended March 31,2013 and incorporated herein by reference.

HeafthSpring Equity Incentive Plan: Form of Non-Qualified Stock Filed as Exhibit 10.5 to the registrant's Form 10-Qfor the period
Option Agreement ended March 31,2013 and incorporated herein by reference.

Ralph Nicoletcit Offer of Employment dated April 27,2011 Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the registrantt Form 8-K filed on May 31,
20ll and incorporated herein by reference.

Agreement and Release with Ralph J. Nicoletti dated July 10,2013 Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the registrant's Form 8-K filed on July 17,

2013 and incoroorated herein by reference.

Cigna Supplemental Pension Plan as amended and restated effective
August l, 1998

Amendment No. I ro rhe Cigna Supplemenral Pension Plan,
amended and restated effective as of Seotember 1, 1999
Amendment No. 2 dared December 6, 2000 to the Cigna
Supplemental Pension
Cigna Supplemental Pension Plan of 2005 effective as of January I ,

2005
Amendment No. I to the Cigna Supplemental Pension Plan of 2005

Cigna Supplemental 401(k) Plan effective January 1, 2010

Description of Cigna Corporation Financial Services Program

Form of Cigna Long-Term Incentive Plan: Nonqualified Stoct<

Option Grant Agreement
Form ofCigna long-Term Incentive Plan: Restricted Stock Grant
Agreement
Form of Cigna Long-Term Incentive Plan: Resrricted Stock Unit
Grant Agreement
Form of Cigna Long-Term Incentive Plan: Strategic Performance
Share Grant Agreement
Schedule regarding Amended Deferred Stock Unit Agreements
effective December 31, 2008 with John M. Murabito and Form of
Amended Deferred Srock Unit Asreemenr
Nicole Jones' Offer of Employme-nt dated April 27,2011

Matrhew Manders' Promotion Letter dated l:ir,e 2, 2014

Thomas A. McCarthy's Offer Letter dated May 9, 2013

Master Transaction Agreement, dated February 4,2013 among
Connecticut General Life Insurance Company, Berkshire Hathaway
Lile Insurance Company of Nebraska and, solely for purposes of
Sections 3.10, 6.1,6.4,6.6, 6.9 and Articles II, Y MI, and \4II,
thereof, National Indemniry Company (including the Forms of
Rerrocession Agreement, the Collateral Tiust Agreement, the Securiry
and Control Agreemenr, the Surery Policy and the ALC Model
Purchase Option Agreement as ex}ibits)
Computation of Ratios of Earnings to Fixed Charges

Subsidiaries of the Registranr
Consent of Independenr Registered Public Accounting Firm
Certification of Chief Executive Officer of Cigna Corporation
pursuant to Rule lla-14(a) or Rule l5d-14(a) of the Securities
Exchange Act oF 1934
Certification of Chief Fjnancial Officer of Cigna Corporation
pursuant to Rule l3a-14(a) or Rule l5d-14(a) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934
Certification oF Chief Executive Officer of Cigna Corporation
pursuant to Rule l3a-14(b) or Rule l5d-14(b) and 18 U.S.C.
Scction 1350

Filed as Exhibir 10.29 to the registrantt Form 10-K for the year

ended December 31,2012 and incorporared herein by reference.

Filed herewith.
Filed herewith.
Filed herewith.
Filed herewith.

Filed herewith.

Furnished herewith.

10.1 5

10.16

10.17

10.18

10. l9

10.20

10.21

10.22

10.23

r0.24

r0.25

10.26

(c)

(a)

(b)

(a)

(b)

(cl

10.27

10.28

10.29

10.30

10.31

10.32

ta

2l
23

31.1

4t ',

32.r
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The registrant will furnish to the Commission upon request of any other insuuments defining the rights of holdcrs of long-term debt.

Shareholders may obtain copies of exhibits by writing to Cigna Corporation, Shareholder Services Department, 160l Chcsmut Street,

Philadelphia, PA 19192.

Sdredules I, II, UI, IV and Y

CIGNA CORPOMIION - 2014 Form 10-K E-3
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EXHIBIT 12 Cigna Corporation - Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges

(Dolhn in milliou)

Year Ended Deenber 3l 2012 20tl 20102014 2013

Income before income taxes

Adjustments:

Income from equity investee

(Income) loss attributable to noncontrolling interests

Income before income taxes, as adiusted,

Fixed charges included in income:

Inrerest expense

Inrerest pordon of rental expense

Inrerest credired to contractholders

Income available for fixed

RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FDGD CTIARGES:

$ 2,477 $ 1,876 $ 1,802

(17)

(3)

(10)

(l)

$ 2,156 $ 2,466 $

$ 270 $ 268 $ 202 $ 182

43

4

38

5

229

2,009

8.8

313

,469

7.9

$ 315 $245$
$ 2,78r $ 2,105 $

8.8 8.6
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PART IV
ITEM 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

Exhibit 21 Subsidiaries of the Registrant

Listed below are subsidiaries of Cigna Corporation as of December 31, 2014 with their jurisdictions of organization. Those subsidiaries not listed

would not, in the aggregate, constitute a "significant subsidiary' of Cigna Corporation, as that term is defined in Rule 1-02(w) of Regulation S-X.

Entiw Name Jurisdiction

AJlegiance Life & Health Insurance Company, Inc.

AJlegiance Re, Inc.

American Rerirement Life Insurance Company

Benefits Managemenr Corp.

Bravo Health Mid-Atlanric, Inc.

Bravo Health of Pennsylvania, Inc.

Bravo Health, LLC, ,

Central Reserve Life Insurance Company

Ceres Sales of Ohio, LLC

Cigna & CMB LiFe Insurance Company Limited

Cigna Alder Holdings, LLC
Cigna Apac Holdings Limited

Cigna Arbor Life Insurance Company

Cigoa Beechwood Holdings, MTS
Cigna Behavioral Health of California, Inc.

Cigna Behavioral Health of Texas, Inc.

Cigna Behavioral Health, Inc.

Cigna Bellevue Alpha, LLC
Cigna Benefits Financing, Inc.

Cigna Brokerage & Marketing (Thailand) Limited

Cigna Chestnut Holdings, Ltd.

Cigna Corporate Services, LLC
Cigna Data Services (Shanghai) Company Limited
Cigna Denral Heahh of California, Inc.

Cigna Dental Health of Colorado, Inc.

Cigna Denral Health of Delaware, Inc.

Cigna Dental Health of Florida, Inc.

Cigna Denral Heahh of Illinois, Inc.

Cigna Dental Health of Kansas, Inc,

Cigna Dental Health of Kentucky, Inc.

Cigna Dental Health of Marylmd, Inc.

Cigna Dental Health of Missouri, Inc.

Cigna Dental Health of New Jersey, Inc.

Cigna Dencal Health of North Carolina, Inc.

Cigna Dental Health of Ohio, Inc.

Cigna Dental Health of Pennsylvania, Inc.

Cigna Dental Health of Texas, Inc.

Cigna Denral Healrh of Virginia, Inc,

Cigna Dental Health Plan of fuizona, Inc.

Cigna Dental Health, Inc.

Cigna Elmwood Holdings, SPRL

Cigna Europe Insurance Company S.A.-N.V
Cigna European Services (UK) Limited

Cigna Finans Emeklilik ve Hayac A.S.

Cigna Global Holdings, Inc.

Cigna Global Insurance Company Limited

Cigna Global Reinsurance Company, Lrd.

Cigna Health and Life Insurance Company
Cigna Health Corporation

Cigna Heakh Management, Inc.

Cigna Health Solutions India Pvt. Ltd.
Cigna Healthcare Holdings, Inc.

Cigna Healthcare Mid-Atlantic, Inc.

Cigna Healthcare ofArizona, Inc.

Cigna Healthcare of California, Inc.

Cigna Healthcare o[ Colorado, Inc.

Montana I

Montana

Ohio
Montana

Maryland

Pennsylvania

Delaware

Ohio

Ohio

China
Delaware

Bermuda

Connecticut

Belgium

California

Texas

Minnesoa
Delaware

Delaware

Thailand

United Kingdom

Delaware

China
CaliFornia

Colorado

Delaware

Florida
Illinois

Kansas

Kentucky

Maryland

Missouri

New Jersey

North Carolina

Ohio
Pennsylvania

Tixas

Virginia

fuircna
Florida

Belgirim

Belgium

United Kingdom

Turkey

Delaware

Guernsey, C.l
Bermuda

Connecdcur

Delawue

Delaware

India

Colorado

Maryland
Arizona

California

Colorado

CIGNA CORPOMIION - 2014 Form 70-K E-5
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Entity Name Jurisdiction

Cigna Healthcare of Connecticut, Inc.
Cigna Healthcare of Florida, Inc.

Cigna Healthcare of Georgia, Inc.

Cigna Healthcare of Illinois, Inc.

Cigna Healthcare of Indiana, Inc.

Cigna Healthcare of Majne, Inc.

Cigna Healthcare of Massachusetts, Inc.

Cigna Healthcare of New Hampshire, Inc.

Cigna Healthcare of New Jersey, Inc.

Cigna Hea.lthcare of New York, Inc.

Cigna Healthcare of North Carolina, Inc.

Cigna Healthcare of Pennsylvania, Inc.

Cigna Healthcare of South Carolina, Inc.

Cigna Healthcare of St. Louis, Inc.

Cigna Healthcare of Tennessee, Inc.

Cigna Healthcare of Texas, Inc.

Cigna Healthcare of Utah, Inc.

Cigna HLA Technology Services Company Limited

Cigna Holdings Overseas, Inc.

Cigna Holdings, Inc

Cigna Hong Kong Holdings Company Limited

Cigna Insurance Public Company Limited

Cigna Insurance Services (Europe) Limited
Cigna Inrellectual Property, Inc.

Cigna Inrernational Corpontion
Cigna International Health Services BVBA

Cigna International Services Australia Pty. Ltd.
Cigna Investment Group, Inc.

Cigna Investments, Inc.

Cigna Life Insurance Company of Canada

Cigna Life Insurance Company of Europe S.A.- N.V
Cigna Life Insurance Company of New York

Cigna Life Insurance New Zealand Limited
Cigna Linden Holdings, Inc.

Cigna Myrtle Holdings, Ltd.
Cigna Nederland Alpha Cooperatief U.A.
Cigna Nederland Beta N.V
Cigna Nederland Gamma N.V.

Cigna Palmerto Holdings, Ltd.

Cigna Poplar Holdings, Inc.

Cigna Saico Benefits Services'WLL
Cigna Sequoia Holdings, SPRL

Cigna Taiwan Life Assurance Company Limited
CignaTTK Health Insurance Company Limited

Cigna !(alnut Holdings, Ltd.

Cigna \florldwide General Insurance Company Limited

Cigna Worldwide Insurance Company

Cigna Vorldwide Life Insurance Company Limited
Connecricur General Corporarion
Connecticut General Life Insurance Company
FirstAssist Administration Limited
FirstAssist Group Holdings Limited
FirstAssist Group Limitdd
FirstAssist Legal Protection Limired
Grear-\(i'est Healthcare of Illinois, Inc.

Healthsource, Inc.

HealthSpring, Inc.

HealthSpring of Alabama, Inc

HealthSpring of Florida, Inc.

HeahhSpring Life & Health Insurance Company, Inc.

HealthSpring Management, Inc. 
.
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Connecticut i

Florida

Georgia

Illinois

Indiarii
Maine

Massachusetr

New Hampshire

New Jersey
New York

North Carolina
Pennsylvania

South Carolina
Missouri

Tennessee

Texas

Utah
Hong Kong

Delawle
Delaware

Hong Kong

Thailand

United Kingdom

Delaware

Delaware

Belgium

Australia

Delaware

Delaware

Canada

Belgium .

New York

New Zealand

Delaware

Malta
Nethe rlands

Netherlands

Netherlands

Bermuda

Delaware

Bahrain

Belgium

Thiwan

India

United Kingdom

Hong Kong

Delaware

Hong Kong

Connecticut

Connecticut

United Kingdom

United Kingdom

United Kingdom '

United Kingdom

Illinois
New Hampshire

Delaware

Alabama

Florida

Texas

Terinessee
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Entity Namc Jurisdiction
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EXHIBIT 23 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

,W'e 
hereby consent to rhe incorporation by reference in the and No. 033-5179L) of Cigna Corporation of our reports dated

Registration Statement on Form S-3 (No. 333-183238) and Form S-8 February 26,2015 reladng to the financial statements, the financial
(No. 333-179307, No. 333-166583, No. 333-163899, statement schedules and the effectiveness of internal control over

No. 333-147994, No. 333-64207, No. 333-129395, financial reporting, which appear in this Form lO-K.
No. 333-107839, No. 333-90785, No. 333-2t391, No.033-60053

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Philadelphia, Pennsylvania

February 26, 2015
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EXHIBIT 31.1 Certification

I, DAVID M. CORDANI, certifr that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form l0-K of Cigna

Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue
sratement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact

necessary to make the statements made, in light of the

circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other

financial information included in this report, fairly present in all

material respects the financial condition, results of operations

and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods

presented in this report;

4. The registrantt other certifring officer(s) and I are responsible

for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and

procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules l3a-15(e) and

t;d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as

defined in Exchange Act Rules I 3a- I 5(0 and I 5d-1 5(0) for the

registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused

such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed

under our supervision, to ensure that material information
relating to the registrant, including its consolidated

subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those

entities, particularly during the period in which this report

is being prepared;

b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or
caused such internal control over financial reporting to be

designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable

assurance regarding the reliability offinancial reporting and

the preparation of financial statements for external

purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting

principles;

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure

controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure

controls and procedures, as of rhe end ofthe period covered

by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrantt
internal control over financial reporting that occurred
during the registrantt most recent fiscal quarter (the

registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual

repor$ that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrantt internal control over

financial reporring; and

5. The registrantt other certifring officer(s) and I have disclosed,

based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over

financial reporting, to the registrantt auditors and the audit
committee of the registrantt board of directors (or persons

performing the equivalent functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the

design or operation of internal control over financial

reporting u,hich are reasonably likely to adversely affect the
registrantt abiliry to record, process, summarize and report

financial information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves

management or other employees who have a significant role

in the registrantt internal control over financial reporting.

/s/ David M. Cordani

Chief Exeeutiae fficer
February 26,2015

CIGNA CORPOMIION - 2014 Form r}-K E-9



PART ry
ITEM 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

EXHIBIT 31.2 Certification

I, THOMAS A. MCCARTHY, certifr that:

l. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form lO-K of Ciena

Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue

staternent of a material fact or omit to state a material fact

necessary to make the statements made, in light of the

circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other
financial information included in this report, fairly present in all

material respects the financial condition, results of operations

and cash flows of the registrant as of, and fo5 the periods

presented in this report;

4. The registrantt other certi$ring officer(s) and I are responsible

for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and

procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules l3a-15(e) and

t5d-15(e)) and internd control over financial reporting (as

defined in Exchange Act Rules l3a-15(0 and l5d-15(0) for the

registrant and have:

") designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused

such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed

under our supervision, to ensure that material information
relating to the registrant, including its consolidated
subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those

entities, particularly during the period in which this report

is being prepared;

b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or
caused such internal conrrol over financial reporting to be

designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable

assurance regarding the reliability oFfinancial reporting and

the preparation of financial statements for external

purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting

principles;

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrantt disclosure

controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure

controls and procedures, as ofthe end ofthe period covered

by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's

internal control over financial reporting that occurred

during the registrantt most recent fiscd quarter (the

registrantt fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual

report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrantt internal control over

financial repofting; and

5. The registrantt other certifying ofticer(s) and I have disclosed,

based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over

financial reporting, to the registrantt auditors and the audit
committee of the registrantt board of directors (or persons

performing the equivalent functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the

design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting \Mhich are reasonably likely to adversely affect the

registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report

financial information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, rhat involves

management or other employees who have a significant role

in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

/s/ Thomas A. McCarrhy

Chief Financial Oficer
February 26,2015
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PART ry
ITEM 15. Exhibits and Financial Satement Schedules

D(HIBIT 32.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer of Cigna Corporation pursuant
to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350

I crrify that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, thc Annual Report on Form lO-K of Cigna Corporation for the fiscal period ending

December 31,2014 (thc "Report"):

( I ) complies with the requirements of Section I 3 (a) or I 5 (d) of the Securities Exchange lrct of 1934:' and

(2) the information contained in thc Report Fairly presenu, in dl material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of Cigna

Corporation.

/s/ David M. Cordani

David M. Cordani
Chief Ercc'utiae ffier
February 26,2015

CIGNA CORPOMIION - 2014 Form rD-K E-ll



PART IV
ITEM 15. Exhibits and Financid Statement Schedules

D(HIBIT 32.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer of Cigna Corporation pursuant
to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350

I certify that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, the Annual Report on Form l0-K of Cigna Corporation for the fiscal period ending

December 31,2014 (the "Report"):

(l) complies with the requirements of Section l3(a) or l5(d) of the Securities Exchange lrct of 1934; and

(2) thc information containcd in the Repon fairly presens, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of opcrations of Cigna

Corporation.

/s/ Thomas A. McCarthy

Thomas,4" McC-arthy

ChidFinancial fficn
February 26,2015
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